
By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £5.04 in 
printing costs

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh.

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services

Ein cyf / Our ref:      
Eich cyf / Your ref:      

Dyddiad/Date: Thursday, 20 February 2020

Dear Councillor, 

COUNCIL

A  meeting of the Council will be held in the Council Chamber, Civic Offices Angel Street Bridgend 
CF31 4WB on Wednesday, 26 February 2020 at 15:00.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence  
To receive apologies for absence from Members.

2. Declarations of Interest  
To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest from Members/Officers in 
accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 1 September 
2008.  

3. Approval of Minutes  3 - 18
To receive for approval the minutes of 22/01/20

4. To receive announcements from:  
(i) Mayor (or person presiding)
(ii) Members of the Cabinet
(iii) Chief Executive
(iv) Monitoring Officer

5. To receive announcements by the Leader 

6. Presentation by the South Wales Fire and Rescue Authority 19 - 20

7. Corporate Plan 2018-2022 Reviewed for 2020-21 21 - 66

8. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-24 67 - 182

9. Council Tax 2020-21 183 - 192

10. Treasury Management and Capital Strategies 2020-21 Onwards 193 - 252

Public Document Pack



11. Urgent Items  
To consider any item(s) of business in respect of which notice has been given in 
accordance with Part 4 (paragraph 4) of the Council Procedure Rules and which the person 
presiding at the meeting is of the opinion should by reason of special circumstances be 
transacted at the meeting as a matter of urgency.  

Yours faithfully
K Watson
Chief Officer, Legal, HR & Regulatory Services 

Councillors: Councillors Councillors
S Aspey
SE Baldwin
TH Beedle
JPD Blundell
NA Burnett
MC Clarke
N Clarke
RJ Collins
HJ David
P Davies
PA Davies
SK Dendy
DK Edwards
J Gebbie
T Giffard
RM Granville
CA Green
DG Howells

A Hussain
RM James
B Jones
M Jones
MJ Kearn
DRW Lewis
JE Lewis
JR McCarthy
DG Owen
D Patel
RL Penhale-Thomas
AA Pucella
JC Radcliffe
KL Rowlands
B Sedgebeer
RMI Shaw
CE Smith
SG Smith

JC Spanswick
RME Stirman
G Thomas
T Thomas
JH Tildesley MBE
E Venables
SR Vidal
MC Voisey
LM Walters
KJ Watts
CA Webster
DBF White
PJ White
A Williams
AJ Williams
HM Williams
JE Williams
RE Young



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD IN COUNCIL CHAMBER, CIVIC 
OFFICES ANGEL STREET BRIDGEND CF31 4WB ON WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020 AT 
15:00

Present

Councillor SE Baldwin – Chairperson 

S Aspey TH Beedle JPD Blundell NA Burnett
MC Clarke N Clarke RJ Collins HJ David
P Davies PA Davies SK Dendy DK Edwards
T Giffard RM Granville CA Green DG Howells
A Hussain RM James B Jones MJ Kearn
DRW Lewis JE Lewis JR McCarthy D Patel
RL Penhale-
Thomas

AA Pucella KL Rowlands B Sedgebeer

RMI Shaw CE Smith SG Smith JC Spanswick
G Thomas T Thomas JH Tildesley MBE E Venables
SR Vidal CA Webster DBF White PJ White
A Williams AJ Williams HM Williams JE Williams
RE Young

Apologies for Absence

J Gebbie, JC Radcliffe, MC Voisey, LM Walters and KJ Watts

Officers:

Susan Cooper Corporate Director - Social Services & Wellbeing
Lindsay Harvey Corporate Director Education and Family Support
Gill Lewis Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer
Richard Matthams Development Planning - Team Leader
Adam Provoost Senior Development Planning Officer
Andrew Rees Democratic Services Manager
Mark Shephard Chief Executive
Kevin Stephens Democratic Services Assistant
Kelly Watson Head of Legal & Regulatory Services

387. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The following interests were declared:

Councillor R Shaw declared a personal interest in agenda item 10 – Polling Districts, 
Polling Places & Station Review 2019-20 as he has an association with a local charity 
which runs the William Trigg Community Centre.

Councillor JC Spanswick declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 – Council 
Reduction Scheme 2020-21 as a family member is in receipt of the benefit.

Councillor DBF White declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 – Council Reduction 
Scheme 2020-21 as a close relative is in receipt of the benefit.

Councillor HM Williams declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 – Council 
Reduction Scheme 2020-21 as a close relative is in receipt of the benefit.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

Councillor JE Lewis declared a personal interest in agenda item 10 – Polling Districts, 
Polling Places & Station Review 2019-20 as she is a member of Sarn Community 
Centre.

Councillor DRW Lewis declared a personal interest in agenda item 10 – Polling Districts, 
Polling Places & Station Review 2019-20 as he is a member of Sarn Community Centre.

Councillor RM James declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 – Council Reduction 
Scheme 2020-21 as a family member is in receipt of the benefit and withdrew from the 
meeting during consideration of the item.

Councillor HJ David declared a personal interest in agenda item 10 – Polling Districts, 
Polling Places & Station Review 2019-20 as he is the Chair of the Cefn Cribwr 
Community Centre which is used as a polling station and withdrew from the meeting 
during consideration of the item.    

Councillor P Davies declared a prejudicial interest in agenda item 8 – Council Reduction 
Scheme 2020-21 as a family member is in receipt of the benefit.  Councillor P Davies 
declared a prejudicial interest in agenda item 10 – Polling Districts, Polling Places & 
Station Review 2019-20 as he is a Director at the Caerau Development Trust where a 
polling station is located. Councillor Davies withdrew from the meeting during 
consideration of the items.  

Councillor CE Smith declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 – Council Reduction 
Scheme 2020-21 as a family member runs a business.  

Councillor MJ Kearn declared a personal interest in agenda item 10 – Polling Districts, 
Polling Places & Station Review 2019-20 as he is the Chair of the Talbot Community 
Centre which is used as a polling station.  
     

388. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting of Council of 18 December 2019 be 
approved as a true and accurate record.  

389. TO RECEIVE ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM:

The Mayor

The Mayor announced that he had received a letter of grateful thanks from the Bridgend 
Foodbank for the financial contribution that was made to them by Bridgend County 
Borough Council and the generous food donations made by staff and members over the 
last year.  In the 10 years since Bridgend Foodbank was formed, they have provided 
food for approximately 50,000 people.  The money and donations will be put to good use 
feeding the people of the county borough who are in crisis.  

The Mayor also thanked the 100 plus volunteers of the Bridgend Foodbank who all work 
incredibly hard to fight food poverty within the county borough. He had the pleasure of 
attending their Annual Meeting this evening and look forward to passing on the Council’s 
thanks and gratitude in person.

The Mayor also announced that nominations for the Mayor’s Annual Citizenship Awards 
close on Friday of this week.  All nominations are welcome and an application form can 
be downloaded from the Council’s website or requested via the Mayor’s Office.  He 
urged Members not to miss this opportunity to celebrate the achievements of the people 
and organisations within their communities.

Page 4



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

Deputy Leader

The Deputy Leader announced that the Council had teamed up with Porthcawl Town 
Council to trial an ingenious new solution to the sticky problem of discarded chewing 
gum.  Special ‘Gum Drop’ bins are being attached to lampposts along John Street, and 
people are being encouraged to use them for the disposal of chewing gum instead of 
dropping it on the street and creating an unsightly and difficult-to-remove stain.  As the 
bins are made from recycled chewing gum, they can be removed and recycled along 
with their contents to create a range of products, including new bins and Wellington 
boots.  He stated this is the latest move to tackle litter that the ongoing partnership with 
Porthcawl Town Council has produced, and it will make Porthcawl one of the first Welsh 
towns to feature the innovative bins. 

Discussions have taken place with local takeaways, and three new dedicated bins are 
being added in the Western Promenade, John Street and Griffin Park areas to support 
the recycling of fast-food packaging.  Funding had been from the Welsh Government, 
and shortly, two water fountains will be installed along the seafront to encourage people 
to fill up reusable bottles for free instead of buying single-use plastic bottles.  He hoped 
that these innovations will support efforts to change behaviours and attitudes to waste, 
and will encourage more people to recycle.

Cabinet Member Communities

The Cabinet Member Communities informed Council that the Council has made a 
number of commitments to the Armed Forces Community Covenant, which had been 
recognised with an award from the Defence Employer Recognition Scheme run by the 
Ministry of Defence.  Work to support former and serving members of the armed forces 
is continuing, as demonstrated by the recent establishment of a guaranteed interview 
scheme for veterans at the Council.  This has now resulted in the development of an all-
new initiative designed to provide people who are leaving the armed forces with practical 
experience of working within a civilian environment.  It is intended to help local veterans 
to overcome barriers in finding civilian employment, support them in developing 
transferable skills, acclimatise to working in a non-military setting, and reduce the risk of 
health and welfare problems among members of the armed forces community.  The 
work placement scheme will deliver further benefits as it will also help the Council to 
identify and develop a wider selection of high-quality candidates for council roles from 
people who may otherwise not have considered a career in local government.  He stated 
that the Council remains committed towards supporting members of the military 
community, and he hoped Members will welcome this latest development.

Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help

The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help announced that the Ty Cwm Ogwr 
care home in Pantyrawel will return to the management of the Council on 31 January.  
The home was transferred to an independent care provider in January 2018 as part of 
remodelling plans for adult social care.  He stated that it had become apparent that the 
provider would not be able to meet specific contractual requirements and the home will 
now transfer back to the Council.  He informed Members that none of the contractual 
requirements relate to standards of care at the home, which continue to be very high, 
and the transition will have no impact on either staff or residents.  Residents and their 
families fully informed throughout this process to minimise inconvenience and maintain 
the high standards that they have come to expect.  He stated that Ty Cwm Ogwr has 
also been supporting pressures faced by the Princess of Wales Hospital, and the 
Council has helped to free valuable bed space by enabling the timely discharge of 
patients who have been welcomed into the residential care home.  He announced that 

Page 5



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

the Council remains committed towards expanding this initiative, and to ensuring that 
every opportunity is taken to maximise the number of available beds and reducing the 
amount of time people have to remain within hospital.  Work was already taking place to 
consider further options for Ty Cwm Ogwr, and he would bring Members further news as 
soon as possible.

Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations

The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations announced that a multi-agency 
‘Crisis Café’ has been established at The Zone in Bridgend town centre, to support the 
most vulnerable members of the community, whose issues and extremely disorganised 
lifestyles often mean they are homeless.  The Crisis Café is held on Friday mornings 
and enables vulnerable individuals to access a wide range of services designed to help 
them change and improve their lives, within an environment vulnerable residents will find 
friendly and non-threatening, and is based on models that have been recommended by 
organisations such as Shelter and models that have been successfully trialled in areas 
such as Wrexham.  She stated that one of the main benefits of having a range of 
services available in one place is that it ensures an extremely vulnerable person can 
engage with all the services available at a single location.

Cabinet Member Education and Regeneration

The Cabinet Member Education and Regeneration announced that plans for the next 
phase of the Council’s efforts to protect Porthcawl from flooding and coastal erosion 
have been submitted to Welsh Government.  If approved, Welsh Government will 
provide 75% of the funding, and it will mean that more than £6m will be invested in the 
area to protect 531 homes and 174 businesses.  This follows the £3m project to replace 
sea defences at Town Beach, which has helped to transform the seafront area and 
protect 260 homes, businesses and historic buildings such as the Grand Pavilion.  He 
hoped to bring Members more news soon.  

He also announced that a new ‘market square’ will be revealed in the central area 
Bridgend Indoor Market next Monday.  As part of an ongoing project to give the market a 
new lease of life, the central market area is being made available for specialist events, 
family entertainment, children’s play facilities and other activities designed to encourage 
footfall and support trade.  Over the last year, a series of illustrative panels providing 
information about the market’s rich history have been set up to welcome shoppers, and 
the market bell which dates back to 1837 has been relocated to the main entrance.  
Preparatory work is progressing on the development of new toilets available to the public 
at the market.  It was anticipated these will be made available by the traders later in the 
spring and will be wheelchair-accessible as well as including baby-changing facilities.  
He hoped to bring Members further details of this work, and the indoor market will be 
promoted as the situation develops.

Chief Executive

The Chief Executive announced that a new internal staff survey had been launched this 
week, which is intended to gauge how staff feel about their roles within the council, help 
improve internal processes and practices, and support the authority as it seeks to 
become leaner and more efficient.  The survey will run until 1 March and asks staff to 
give their opinions on issues which include opportunities for learning and development, 
workplace well-being, management, communications and more.  The previous staff 
survey undertaken in 2018 provided a valuable insight into how the Council views itself 
as an organisation, and has enabled the introduction of a number of changes and 
improvements.  The Chief Executive highlighted the headlines from the 2018 staff 
survey, which had been completed by more than 900 staff.  The feedback from the 

Page 6



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

survey was used to inform a number of actions, such as a move to weekly staff emails 
and the launch of a staff suggestion scheme which has resulted in various ideas being 
explored and implemented, while a focus on staff well-being has seen hugely popular 
health-check clinics and workshops introduced which cover a wide range of issues.  
Many of these have had a particular focus upon the mental-well-being of staff, with 
sessions held on mindfulness, stress management, combating depression and more.  
The Chief Executive informed Members that once the new survey is complete and the 
results analysed, he would bring you more news about what fresh insights have been 
revealed.

The Chief Executive officially welcomed Elizabeth Bradfield to Bridgend County Borough 
Council.  He stated that Members will have already seen Liz covering many committee 
meetings as a local democracy reporter, but was delighted to inform that she started 
work this week as the authority’s new communications officer.  He was sure that 
Members will want to congratulate her on her new role.

390. TO RECEIVE ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE LEADER

The Leader announced that one of the Borough’s newest landmark buildings has been 
selected as the venue for the launch of a national strategy outlining Welsh Government’s 
vision for the future of tourism across Wales.  The First Minister and Deputy Minister for 
Culture, Sport and Tourism, will be visiting the new Watersports Centre at Rest Bay 
tomorrow to unveil ‘Welcome to Wales: Priorities For The Visitor Economy 2020-2025’ at 
the EU-funded £1.5m centre.  

The Leader also announced that he was deeply moved to attend this year’s Holocaust 
Memorial Day event yesterday at the Sony Theatre in Bridgend College.  The theme for 
2020 was ‘Stand Together’, and the event reminded all how genocidal regimes 
throughout history have deliberately fractured societies by marginalising certain groups.  
The event encouraged attendees to stand together with their friends, colleagues and 
neighbours, and to speak out against oppression.  It included a moving and 
unforgettable address from Dieu-Donne Ganza Gahizi, a survivor of the 1994 Genocide 
against the Tutsi in Rwanda, who spoke about his personal experiences as a 9 year old 
boy fleeing for his life and losing 50 members of his family before delivering a message 
of peace, hope and forgiveness.  He was grateful Ganza had travelled to the County 
Borough to share his story and message with all who had attended and he thanked 
everyone who worked on making the event.

391. CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE - QUARTER 3 2019-20

The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer presented a report to comply with 
the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance 2018; provided an update of the Capital Programme 
for 2019-20 at 31 December 2019; sought approval for a revised capital programme for 
2019-20 to 2028-29 and for Council to note the projected Prudential and Other 
Indicators for 2019-20.

The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer reported that the Local Authorities 
(Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003, as amended contain 
detailed provisions for capital finance and accounting controls, including the rules on the 
use of capital receipts and what is to be treated as capital expenditure.  Additionally, the 
Council manages its Treasury Management and Capital activities in accordance with 
associated guidance.  The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
requires Local Authorities to have in place a Capital Strategy which demonstrates that 
the authority takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service 

Page 7



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, 
sustainability and affordability.

The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer reported that Council on 20 
February 2019, approved a capital programme, and was last updated on 23 October 
2019.  She stated that the revised programme for 2019-20 totals £33.700m, of which 
£15.057m is met from the Council’s resources, with the remaining £18.643m met from 
external resources.  She summarised the position per Directorate and the current 
funding assumptions for the capital programme for 2019-20.  She provided detail of the 
projected spend on individual schemes within the programme compared to the budget 
available.  A number of schemes had been identified as requiring slippage to future 
years, at quarter 3, the total requested slippage is £5.158m in relation to:

 Maesteg Town Hall (£1.6m)
 Community Hub – Brynteg Comprehensive School (£0.768m) 
 Additional Learning Needs provision at Cefn Cribwr Primary School 

(£0.387m)
 Ravens Court (£0.442m)
 Parks / Pavilions Community Centres CAT (£0.66m)
 Non Operational Assets (£0.48m)

 
The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer reported that a number of new 
externally funded schemes and additional income approved, which have been 
incorporated into the capital programme:

 Community Hub – Brynteg Comprehensive (£0.284m)
 Capital support for the implementation and expansion of separate household 

collections of absorbent hygiene product (AHP) waste (£0.238m)
 Urban Centre Property Enhancement Fund (£0.1m) and Urban Centre Living 

Grant (£0.5m)
 Coastal Risk Management Scheme – Porthcawl (£6.032m)
 21st Century Schools Band B Programme
 Welsh Medium Childcare Provision
 School Maintenance Grant
 Complex and Medical Needs Works in Schools
 Llynfi Valley Loan    

The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer also reported on the monitoring of 
Prudential and other indicators for 2019-20.  The Capital Strategy approved in February 
2019 is intended to give an overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services along with an 
overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future sustainability.  
A number of prudential indicators were included, and approved by Council.  In line with 
the requirements of the Prudential Code, the Chief Finance Officer is required to 
establish procedures to monitor both performance against all forward-looking prudential 
indicators and the requirement specified.  She detailed the actual indicators for 2018-19, 
the estimated indicators for 2019-20 set out in the Council’s Capital Strategy and the 
projected indicators for 2019-20 based on the revised Capital Programme, which shows 
that the Council is operating in line with the approved limits. 

The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer reported that the Capital Strategy 
also requires the monitoring of non-treasury management investments and other long 
term liabilities.  She stated that the Council does have an existing investment portfolio 
which is 100% based within the County Borough and primarily the office and industrial 
sectors.  Income streams are spread between the single and multi-let office investments 

Page 8



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

on Bridgend Science Park, the multi-let industrial estates and the freehold ground rent 
investments.  The total value of Investment Properties was £4.635 million at 31 March 
2019.  She informed Council that it has a number of Other Long Term Liabilities included 
within the Capital Strategy, no new loans have been taken out in Quarter 3.  

A member of Council was pleased to note the funding of works to complete the ALN 
provision at Pencoed Comprehensive School.  The Corporate Director Education and 
Family Support informed Council that changes would be made to the environment of the 
school to enable learners with mobility issues to access all the facilities in the school. 

A member of Council expressed concern that additional survey work and asbestos 
removal work had increased the cost of the Maesteg Town Hall scheme and that the 
Council would have to fund an additional £1.9m increasing the project cost from £6.3m 
to £8.2m.  The member questioned whether the Council should have a report on the 
scheme due to the increase in costs.  The Leader informed Council that Cabinet on the 
previous day had received a report on the revised project budget.  He stated that the 
decision to proceed with the replacement roof would ensure that the Town Hall is carried 
out properly and that the building would be the landmark building the Council want it to 
be as opposed to patching the roof.  He stated that it was important to manage the flood 
risk to the building and that the Council did not want to return in the future to fix the roof.  
He stressed the importance of making the investment in the Town Hall as predecessor 
authorities had not made that investment.  A member of Council whilst welcoming the 
investment in the Town Hall which would benefit the groups who use the facility shared 
concerns at the additional cost to the project.  The Chief Executive informed Council that 
at the time the project was placed in the capital programme it was based on conceptual 
drawings and until such time as tenders are received.  He stated that a range of 
feasibility studies and surveys had been undertaken with the project nearing Royal 
Institute of British Architects stage 4 technical design and cost completion.  There is a 
contingency sum of £500k and the project is subject to a value engineering exercise to 
seek reductions in the total scheme cost where possible, without detriment to the overall 
redevelopment.  He believed the project cost to be realistic and there was always a 
consideration as to whether to incur spend up front or to manage the project as a design 
and build.  The Chief Executive explained that it was a better investment to protect the 
iconic building by replacing the roof as opposed to patching the roof.  

A member of Council believed that Council should have been presented with information 
on the costs of the project and results of the surveys and that a 30% uplift of costs was 
excessive and that the Audit Committee should review this project and other capital 
schemes.  A member of Council also believed that there was a need to ensure value for 
money on construction projects.      

The Leader informed Council that the roof could have been repaired, however the 
project had been re-specified to replace the roof so that future generations would benefit 
from the building and for the project to be of the highest quality.  The Chief Executive 
informed Council that the approach to funding capital projects had been considered in 
that a line could be created in the budget whereby feasibility is done upfront or proceed 
by way of a design and build contract.  If expenditure was incurred upfront, money could 
be spent on a project which did not come to fruition.  The Leader stated that the Audit 
Committee could look at the process for funding capital projects.  The Cabinet Member 
Social Services and Early Help informed Council that the local members had been 
briefed on the expenditure on the project.  

A member of Council referred to the Ewenny Road site being   undevelopable due to the 
presence of mine workings and asked whether officers could work with the Welsh 
Government to fund remediation works to develop the site.  The Chief Executive stated 
that discussions are progressing with the Welsh Government on the site, which remains 

Page 9



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

a priority which could have development potential for a park and ride facility, an 
enterprise hub and housing.  

RESOLVED:            That Council:

 noted the Council’s Capital Programme for 2019-20 for the period to 31 
December 2019;

 approved the revised Capital Programme; 
 noted the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2019-20.    

             
392. TREASURY MANAGEMENT - QUARTER 3 REPORT 2019-20

The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer presented a report, the purpose of 
which was to comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 
Practice (the Code), to produce interim Treasury Management Reports; report on the 
projected Treasury Management Indicators for 2019-20 and sought approval of Treasury 
Management activities for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2019.

The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer reported that Treasury 
management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, borrowing and 
investments, and the associated risks.  The Council is exposed to financial risks 
including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  
Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management 
in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires 
the Council to approve a Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) before the start of each 
financial year.  Advice to the Council on treasury management is provided by 
Arlingclose.  

The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer reported that the interest rate 
views incorporated in the Council’s TMS 2019-20 were based upon officers’ views 
supported by a forecast from Arlingclose.  When the TMS 2019-20 was prepared in 
January 2019, due to the anticipated short time for a Brexit withdrawal deal to be agreed 
and the possibility of an extended period of uncertainty over the possible outcome, 
Arlingclose’s central case scenario was forecasting a 0.25% rise in the Bank Rate during 
2019-20 to take official UK interest rates to 1.00% by December 2019.  The Bank Rate 
started the financial year at 0.75% and the current forecast is that the Bank Rate will 
remain at this level beyond the end of the financial year-end.

The Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer summarised the external debt and 
investment position as at 31 December 2019, whereby the Council held £96.87m of 
external long term borrowing and £38.945m of investments.  She highlighted the 
borrowing strategy and outturn in that it was forecast the Council would need to borrow 
£16m in 2019-20.  It was forecast there would be no long term borrowing requirement in 
2019-20 due to additional grants being received in the last quarter of 2018-19 and a 
change in the capital programme for 2019-20.  The Interim Head of Finance and Section 
151 Officer summarised the investment strategy and outturn in that the main objectives 
during 2019-20 were to maintain capital security;  maintain liquidity so funds are 
available when expenditure is needed and to achieve the yield on investments 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity.  The balance on 
investments at 31 December 2019 was £38.945m.  She summarised the investments 
profile from 1 April to 31 December 2019; the Treasury Management indicator for 
Principal Sums invested for periods longer than a year and the position in relation to 
interest rate exposures on borrowing and investments.  

Page 10



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

A member of Council questioned whether consideration had been given to alternative 
models of investment as favoured by other local authorities.  The Interim Head of 
Finance and Section 151 Officer confirmed there a number of investment initiatives, the 
Council’s first consideration will always be security before yield, however the Council is 
exploring different initiatives and models.

A member of Council questioned the strategy of lending to other local authorities.  The 
Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer stated that inter-lending amongst local 
authorities is a recognised and secure form of investment.                

RESOLVED:                  That Council:-

1. Approved the treasury management   activities for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 
December 2019;

2. Noted the projected Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators for 2019-20 
against the ones approved in the Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20.

393. COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2020-21

The Interim Head of Finance presented a report, the purpose of which was to provide 
Council with information regarding the implementation of the 2020-21 Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (CTR) and to set out the requirement for Councils to adopt a CTR 
scheme by 31 January 2020, together with the funding implications.

The Interim Head of Finance reported that CTR provides assistance for those on low 
incomes with a liability to pay Council Tax.  The Welsh Government has developed a 
single nationally defined scheme set out in regulations for the provision of Council Tax 
support in Wales.  The Council adopted the CTR for 2019-20 in accordance with the 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes and Prescribed Requirements (Wales) Regulations 
2013, which will end on 31 March 2020.  There were currently 13,423 households 
receiving CTR, 8,445 of these were of working age and 4,978 were of pensionable age.  
Of the 13,423 households receiving CTR, 10,017 were entitled to a full CTR reduction.  

The Interim Head of Finance reported that the CTR scheme in Wales is set by 
regulations made under Schedule 1B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as 
inserted by the Local Government Finance Act 2012).  The 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default Scheme) 
(Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 had now been laid and made amendments to:

 Ensure that opposite sex civil partnerships are treated on an equitable basis 
with opposite sex and same sex marriages, and same sex civil partnerships, 
in consequence of the Civil Partnerships, Marriages and Deaths (Registration 
etc.) Act 2019; 

 Provide for the introduction of a specific, statutory entitlement to parental 
bereavement leave in consequence of The Parental Bereavement (Leave 
and Pay) Act 2018.

 Update references to the Immigration (European Economic Area) 
Regulations 2006 with references to the Immigration (European Economic 
Area) Regulations 2016.

 Provide that a number of rights to reside (established for nationals of 
European Economic Area states in connection with the UK’s withdrawal from 
the EU) are not relevant rights to reside for the purposes of establishing 
habitual residence. 

The Interim Head of Finance stated that the new regulations did not contain any 
significant changes from the claimants’ perspective to the current scheme, and the 

Page 11



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

maximum level of support that eligible claimants could receive remained at 100%.  She 
explained the limited discretion given to the Council, to apply discretionary elements that 
were more generous than the national scheme as follows:-

 The ability to increase the standard extended reduction period of 4 weeks 
given to persons after they return to work (where they have previously been 
receiving CTR that is to end as a result of their return to work);

 Discretion to increase the amount of War Disablement Pensions and War 
Widows Pensions which is to be disregarded when calculating income of the 
claimant; and

 The ability to backdate the application of CTR with regard to late claims prior 
to the new standard period of three months before the claim.

The Interim Head of Finance reported that the Council is required to adopt a CTR 
Scheme regardless of whether it applies any of the discretionary elements.  If the 
Council fails to make a scheme, then a default scheme shall apply.  The Council can 
only apply discretion if it makes its own scheme under the Prescribed Requirements 
Regulations.  

The Interim Head of Finance reported that consultation on the Prescribed Requirement 
Regulations was undertaken in 2016 and the results detailed in the Head of Finance’s 
report to Council on the Council Tax Reduction Scheme on 11 January 2017.  As it was 
proposed not to change the discretionary elements, a further consultation exercise had 
not been completed.  It was proposed that the discretionary elements remain as follows:

 The extended payment period is maintained at the minimum standard of 4 
weeks.

 War Disablement Pensions and War Widows Pensions are fully disregarded 
when calculating entitlement to CTR. The estimated cost of this proposal 
within the financial year is £11,100.

 Backdating is maintained at the minimum standard of 3 months.

The Interim Head of Finance reported that the total estimated cost to the Council for 
these three proposals is £11,100 for 2020-21.  The Interim Head of Finance informed 
Council that it must consider whether to replace or revise its CTR scheme and is obliged 
to make a scheme under the requirements of the Prescribed Requirements Regulations.  
The obligation is a statutory duty and applies even if the Council chose not to apply any 
of the discretions available to it.  She stated that the Council's recommended approach 
to the available discretions is to apply the recommendations in Table 1, in paragraph 
4.23 of the report.  There is no additional funding to bridge any gap and each authority 
will be expected to meet any shortfall.  

The Interim Head of Finance reported that the Council is required to adopt a scheme by 
31 January 2020 under the Council Tax Reduction Schemes and Prescribed 
Requirements (Wales) Regulations 2013, regardless of whether it chooses to apply any 
of the discretionary elements.  If the Council fails to make a scheme, then a default 
scheme will apply under the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements 
and Default Scheme) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2013.  The Interim Head of 
Finance informed Council of the financial implications of the scheme in that the 2020-21 
Provisional Local Government Settlement shows that the sum provided for CTR across 
Wales is at the same level as 2019-20.  This Council’s 2020-21 provisional settlement 
from Welsh Government includes £13.184 million to fund the CTR scheme, an increase 
of £104,000 from £13.080 million in 2019-20; this amount does not take into account any 

Page 12



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

increase in council tax charges but is distributed based on expenditure on council tax 
reduction schemes in previous years and is unlikely to change in the final settlement.  
Based on the current caseload the estimated total cost of the scheme for 2020-21 is 
around £15.3 million (including the cost of the discretionary elements), which is £2.116 
million higher than the funding provided by Welsh Government.  The proposed budget 
for 2020-21 is currently £15.254 million, which includes additional funding to meet the 
proposed council tax increase in the MTFS.  Whilst this was currently considered to be 
sufficient to meet demand, it will be kept under review throughout the MTFS period.  

RESOLVED:           That Council: 
 

1. Noted the Council Tax Reduction Schemes and Prescribed Requirements 
(Wales) Regulations 2013, and the 2014 to 2020 amendment regulations  

2. Adopted the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020-21 scheme, set out in 
paragraphs 4.18 to 4.23 of the report.

394. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN PREFERRED STRATEGY CONSULTATION REPORT

The Development Planning Manager reported on the Consultation Report on the Local 
Development Plan (LDP) Preferred Strategy for Council to consider and endorse.  

He reported that Regulation 15 of the LDP Regulations requires the Council to publish 
its pre-deposit proposals (Preferred Strategy) for public inspection and consultation 
before determining the content of its LDP for Deposit.  He stated that the statutory 
consultation period on the Preferred Strategy was held from 30 September 2019 to 8 
November 2019 and a total of 70 formal representations were received.  In preparation 
for the Deposit Stage of the LDP, the Council must draft an initial Consultation Report 
for publishing as soon as reasonably practicable after pre-deposit consultation under 
LDP Regulation 16A.   He informed Council that a Consultation Report has been 
prepared, outlining how the Council has undertaken public participation and consultation 
on the Preferred Strategy itself.  He stated that the Report identified the steps taken to 
publicise plan preparation, in accordance with the Community Involvement Scheme 
(CIS), before outlining the specific bodies engaged, summarising the main issued raised 
and identifying how the responses have been or will be addressed.  The Report 
provided significant detail on how this key period of consultation will influence 
development of the Deposit LDP.

The Development Planning Manager reported that a number of consultation methods 
were utilised to ensure efficient and effective consultation and participation, in 
accordance with the CIS.  He stated that the Consultation Report was not intended to be 
a comprehensive report on each comment received, rather a summary of the key issues 
raised in response to the specific questions on the consultation form.  A significant 
number of representations were also site specific in focus, although the Report did not 
attempt to evaluate the comprehensive merits of candidate sites.  He stated that all 
candidate sites would be evaluated as part of the Candidate Site Assessment 
Methodology, which is separate to the Preferred Strategy Consultation.  He informed 
Council that the Consultation Report was structured around each consultation question, 
sets out the main corresponding points received and details the Council’s subsequent 
responses.  The Consultation Report provides a detailed thematic overview of the main 
comments submitted by representors.  

The Senior Planning Officer informed Council that pressure had been brought on the 
Planning Department by the development industry for the release of greenfield sites for 
development, however this had been rebutted by the Department, supported by 
Inspectors’ reports.  A member of Council commended the approach taken by the 

Page 13



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

Planning Department in rebutting the development of greenfield sites and that there was 
a need to have decent quality development in the County Borough.    

A member of Council questioned whether the Planning Department ensured future 
development was accessible to people with disabilities.  The Development Planning 
Manager informed Council that the Department works with Public Health Wales to 
ensure development is accessible to all and this would be included in the LDP.

A member of Council sought reassurance that a solution is found with the level crossing 
to enable development to the east of Pencoed.  The Development Planning Manager 
informed Council that the moratorium on development will remain, however once the 
findings of the assessment were known they would be the subject of a report to 
Members.

RESOLVED:          That Council endorsed the contents of the report and approval will 
be sought from Council prior to publishing the Deposit Plan for 
formal public consultation.

    
395. POLLING DISTRICTS, POLLING PLACES & STATION REVIEW 2019-2020

The Chief Executive reported on the findings of the Polling Station review and of any 
proposed changes arising from the review.  He stated that under section 16 of the 
Electoral Administration Act 2006, the authority has a duty to undertake a review every 
fifth year of polling districts, polling places and polling stations within its area.  Notice of 
the review was published on 7 October 2019 and representations by 8 November 2019. 
All comments s and suggestions received by this date were then posted online, 
displayed on the Electoral Notice Board, Civic Offices and sent to all Town & Community 
Council Clerks to allow for any further comments on the suggested proposals to be 
received by 22 November 2019.  

The Chief Executive reported that the objective of the review is to have polling district 
boundaries which take into account the changes in population in certain areas (following 
new developments) and to ensure polling stations are both in the best location and in 
suitable premises with good access.  The review requires the Council to seek to ensure 
that all the electors in each Parliamentary constituency have such reasonable facilities 
for voting as are practicable in the circumstances and so far as is reasonable and 
practicable the polling places are accessible to all electors and regard has been given to 
the accessibility needs of disabled persons. 

He reported that most comments received were in support of existing arrangements and 
the premises used with responses from Elected Members and a number of Town & 
Community councilors.  Although concerns were raised on the future arrangements for 
Brackla when new wards are introduced for 2022, this related to the Boundary 
Commission’s review and are outside the remit of the internal electoral review.

RESOLVED: That Council noted the outcome of the review and in particular the 
comments identified in the appendix to the report.

396. TO RECEIVE THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS FROM:

Question from Councillor N Burnett to the Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future 
Generations

Can the Cabinet Member please provide us with an update on our Empty Property 
Strategy and what it has achieved to date?

Page 14



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

Response of the Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations 

Following a public consultation, the Empty Properties Strategy 2019-2023 was endorsed 
and approved by Cabinet in December 2019, so with it only being 4 weeks ago, it hasn’t 
had enough time to embed itself.  The strategy does confirm our commitment to 
reducing the blight of empty properties throughout the borough and I set out below some 
examples of the work that has been carried out:

1. A robust suite of engagement/enforcement letters has been produced which 
enable a targeted and escalating approach to deal with empty properties.

2. An empty property guide has been produced which gives owners of empty 
properties information and advice to assist them in bringing their properties back 
into use.

3. A risk assessment system has been developed which allows us to target both 
properties that have detrimental effect on the area and those which are in areas 
of high housing need allowing us to achieve a blended approach in tackling the 
problem.

4. A dedicated email address has been created which is accessible via our website 
providing a single point of contact for enquiries/complaints in relation to empty 
properties.

5. A data has been created where details of all enforcement action/complaints and 
progress in bringing properties back into use can be logged, allowing us to more 
accurately report on the situation.

6. The discount for council tax in relation to empty properties has been removed.
7. Links have been established with auctioneers to assist owner in the sale of their 

properties.
8. An Enforcement Procedure in relation to Enforced Sale has been produced. 

However, before the strategy was officially endorsed, the administration has been 
working to the strategy with and committed to the appointment of the Empty Property 
officer in October 2018.  Considerable progress has been made in tackling the issue of 
Empty Properties and since their appointment of the officer a total of 219 properties 
have been investigated.  Of the 20 priority properties identified by the risk assessment 
process, 12 properties have been brought back into use, and in relation to the remaining 
8 properties, 5 are subject to Section 215 Notices under the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, 2 have completed expression of interest forms in relation to grants/loans, and 
the remaining property was in the process of being sold but unfortunately this has fallen 
through so we will need undertake further engagement with the owner of this property. 
 The Strategy is about collaboration with the empty property owner, before we do go 
down the legislative route.  As a result of this work the performance of the Council when 
compared to the others councils in Wales has improved from 18th in 2016-17 to 5th 2018-
2019 and in relation to the we have seen this figure more than double from 3.48% in 
2018 to 8.41% 2019.

Councillor Burnett was pleased to see the Council’s performance when compared to the 
other councils in Wales had increased from 5th to 18th in relation to the percentage of 
properties brought back into use and asked a supplementary question as to how such 
properties are identified.  The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations 
informed Council that properties are scored according to two main determinants, namely 
location and need, consideration is also taken account of nuisance, complaints and the 
state of repair.  

A member of Council questioned action being taken to tackle empty properties in valley 
communities which had been empty for a number of years.  The Cabinet Member 
Wellbeing and Future Generations informed Council of an example of a property in a 
valley community which had been a blight for 10 years and that the Empty Properties 

Page 15



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

Officer had worked with the Environmental Health Department and the owner in order to 
bring the property to auction and that the new owner had been able to access grants.  

A member of Council questioned whether the Council was using enforcement powers to 
tackle empty properties.  The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations 
informed Council that the Council has a number of powers at its disposal and that 
Section 215 Notices had been used for the removal of rubbish and to clear paths.         

Question from Councillor A Hussain to the Cabinet Member Communities

Could the Cabinet Member please let us know if we are changing our old Planning Laws 
to help the environment in reducing the waste and is our Council committed to 
environmentally friendly housing and planning policy?  

Response of the Cabinet Member Communities

The statutory planning system is a devolved function of the Welsh Government but is 
largely implemented through local government and as such the Council is also the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA).  A large raft of legislative documents form the basis of 
planning law and this provides the national statutory legal framework around which the 
land use planning system is implemented whilst planning policy, updated on a regular 
basis provides the guidance and direction necessary to make land use planning 
decisions on both a Wales wide and local level.  Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 
(PPW10), published in 2018 together with the associated Technical Advice Notes 
(TANs), sets out the over-arching main national planning policy context and Local 
Development Plans (LDPs) and Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) are produced 
by LPAs for their respective areas.  In planning law the development plan has primacy in 
planning decisions unless specifically overridden by national policy.  The LDP translates 
the Council’s wellbeing objectives and corporate priorities into clear land use planning 
policies and strategies. 

PPW10 has aligned national planning policy with the Wellbeing of Future Generations 
Act and has specific aims in relation to waste, both in the provision of facilities and in the 
reduction of waste in future development. It also requires new development to more 
sustainable with a focus on energy efficiency and smarter use of resources.  The 
replacement Bridgend LDP must be in conformity with PPW10 and this provides further 
opportunity to craft policies and SPG to reflect national policy and to deliver sustainable 
development outcomes.  Furthermore, Bridgend enjoys an above national average 
waste recycling rate.

It should also be noted that the Building Regulations is also a devolved function and is 
seen as a principal means of ensuring that new buildings are as energy efficient as 
possible and proposed changes to Part L of the regulations will further increase the 
standards necessary to provide more environmentally friendly development.  

In addition Bridgend is leading the way in smart energy provision including proposals for 
district heating schemes and the Caerau Minewater.  

Councillor Hussain in asking a supplementary question of the Cabinet Member sought 
assurance that step changes in planning policy were being taken to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions as he believed that this had not been the case at the Hillside 
development in Penyfai where regular flooding was being witnessed.  The Cabinet 
Member Communities referred the Member to the minewater scheme and that a number 
of other projects were being run advancing technology.  He stated that the Council has a 
local area strategy to reduce carbon emissions, being one of the few councils in Wales 
and the UK to have a strategy.  

Page 16



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 22 JANUARY 2020

A member of Council referred to developers following planning legislation and 
questioned whether the Council encouraged developers to meet the Council’s 
aspirations of de-carbonisation.  The Cabinet Member Communities informed Council of 
the Welsh Government’s intention for Wales to be powered by clean energy and that it 
has a budget for zero carbon properties which he hoped would be a catalyst for a 
change in legislation.

A member of Council questioned where is the Council ranked in Wales for low carbon 
properties.  The Cabinet Member Communities informed Council that the local area 
strategy has enabled the Council to develop expertise and work with potential partners.

397. URGENT ITEMS

There were no urgent items.   

The meeting closed at 16:47

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO COUNCIL

26 FEBRUARY 2020

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

PRESENTATION BY THE SOUTH WALES FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY 

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to introduce a presentation to Council by the South 
Wales Fire & Rescue Authority.   

2. Connection to corporate improvement objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priority:  

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, physical, 
human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as possible 
and support the development of resources throughout the community that 
can help deliver the Council’s priorities. 

3. Background

3.1 Arrangements have been made for representatives of the South Wales Fire & Rescue 
Authority to deliver a presentation to Council on the services it delivers in the County 
Borough.  

3.2 Presentations will be made to future meetings of Council by the Council’s partners, 
Valleys to Coast, Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board, the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable of South Wales Police during the course of 
the year on the following dates:

8 April 2020 – Valleys to Coast
17 June 2020 - Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board
21 October 2020 - Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable of South 
Wales Police   

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 Members are requested to receive the presentation by the South Wales Fire &  
Rescue Authority.   

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework and procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report.

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.  

9. Recommendation

9.1 That Members note the presentation by the South Wales Fire & Rescue Authority.   

Mark Shephard 
Chief Executive  
18 February 2020

Contact Officer: Andrew Rees – Democratic Services Manager.

Telephone: (01656) 643147

E-mail: Andrew.rees@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices 
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WP

Background Documents

None

Page 20

mailto:Andrew.rees@bridgend.gov.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO COUNCIL

 26 FEBRUARY 2020

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

CORPORATE PLAN 2018-2022 REVIEWED FOR 2020-21

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
1.1 To seek Council approval of the Corporate Plan 2018-2022 reviewed for 2020-

21 (Appendix A).
 
2. CONNECTION TO CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT OBJECTIVES / OTHER 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives (priorities):-

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a good place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county borough.

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 
taking early steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience and enable them to develop solutions to have 
active, healthy and independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 
physical, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the development of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the Council’s priorities.  

3. BACKGROUND
3.1 The Corporate Plan 2018-2022, describes the council’s vision for Bridgend 

County Borough, our 3 well-being objectives and our organisational values and 
principles that underpin how we will work to deliver our priorities. 

3.2 The Plan represents our contribution to achieving the 7 national well-being goals 
as set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and our 
improvement objectives under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

4. CURRENT SITUATION / PROPOSAL
4.1 The Corporate Plan has been refreshed for 2020-21.  This follows a corporate 

planning process carried out between October 2019 and January 2020 to 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



review progress, streamline the plan to focus on key priority areas and to 
further maximise our contribution to the national well-being goals. 

4.2 The revised Corporate Plan includes minor changes to our well-being 
objectives, new priority areas to effectively direct resources towards shared 
outcomes and new commitments to accelerate the pace of progress, and aims 
to improve alignment with the 7 well-being goals.  

4.3 There are a number of new success measures in the Plan (some of which are 
new national indicators), linked to our commitments to ensure we can monitor 
progress.  Where possible targets have been set to help drive improvement - in 
the case of new indicators with no benchmark information, the target is to 
establish a baseline. 

4.4 On 13th February 2020, the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
considered the revised draft Plan.  The Committee made a series of 
constructive comments for amendment and inclusion.  All the comments have 
been duly considered and wherever feasible, appropriate amendments made to 
the draft Plan.

4.5 On 25th February 2020 Cabinet considered the Corporate Plan 2018-2022, 
revised for 2020-21.

4.6 The Plan will be reviewed annually to take into account changing circumstances 
and progress made against the well-being objectives and to ensure that the 
requirements of Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 are met.

4.7 Once approved, this Plan replaces the current Corporate Plan.  Delivery will be 
supported by the MTFS and directorate business plans.  It will be monitored 
quarterly through the Corporate Performance Assessment process, directorate 
management team meetings and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

5. EFFECT UPON POLICY FRAMEWORK & PROCEDURE RULES
5.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan forms part of the Policy Framework.

6. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
6.1 A full Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken when the Plan was 

developed.  Consideration was given to the potential impact on protected 
groups within the community and on how to avoid a disproportionate impact on 
people within these groups.  Separate EIAs will be undertaken when proposals 
for carrying out the Plan are developed and implemented. 

7.        WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 
IMPLICATIONS 

 7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides a framework 
for embedding sustainable development principles within the activities of 
Council and has major implications for the long-term planning of finances and 

Page 22



service provision. The 7 well-being goals identified in the Act have driven the 
Council’s three well-being objectives. 
 

7.2 A well-being assessment of the impact of the Corporate Plan has been 
completed (Appendix B).

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. The Corporate Plan 

is closely aligned to the Medium Term Financial Strategy which sets out the 
resources for delivering the council’s corporate plan. 

9. RECOMMENDATION
9.1 That Council approves and adopts the Corporate Plan 2018-2022 reviewed for 

2020-21.
 

Mark Shephard, Chief Executive

Contact Officer: Gill Lewis, Interim Head of Finance and 151 Officer
Telephone: 01656- 643224; email: gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk 

Background Documents – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-24

Page 23

mailto:gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

legalF 

 

 

 

 

 

 

One Council Working Together 

to Improve Lives 

Corporate Plan 2018-2022 reviewed for 2020-2021 
 Page 25



 
 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

Welcome to the Council’s revised corporate plan for 2020-21.   

The Council delivers, or enables, many hundreds of services across all the diverse communities 
within the County Borough of Bridgend.  Like all parts of the public sector across the UK, the Council 
is very much a people business.  We are confronted with significant challenges, increased demand, 
such as meeting the needs of a growing number of older residents, new legislation as well as 
challenges such as Brexit and how best to embrace new technology in how we deliver services.   

This corporate plan in no way attempts to include every service that the Council delivers or will 
deliver in the coming years. What it does, is set out our well-being objectives; the long-term 
outcomes that we want to achieve for the county borough and for the people we are privileged to 
serve.  We want to contribute to a place where people love to live, work, study and do business, 
where people have the skills and qualifications they need to improve their life chances, enjoy good 
health and a sense of well-being and independence.  One of the most significant changes in April 
2019 was the transfer of all health services within Bridgend County Borough from Abertawe Bro 
Morgannwg University Health Board to the new Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board. 

We will need to prioritise where we spend our money if we are to make smarter use of our resources.  
It will mean investing in those things that make the most difference to outcomes for local people.  
Enhanced and intelligent collaboration with the private sector, other public sector partners and the 
third sector is crucial, as is ongoing engagement with our citizens, to gain a better mutual 
understanding of what they feel the Council should focus on to enable us to create workable 
solutions together.  Against this backdrop we have to be honest with our communities and partners 
in saying that the Council can no longer deliver all of the services it once did or always to the same 
level as in previous years. However, we remain committed to making smarter use of our resources, 
in supporting and protecting the most vulnerable in our communities and building an economically 
sound county borough that meets the needs of our citizens in the future. 

Our Corporate Plan 2018-22, reviewed for 2020-21 sets out the changes the Council is making 

through its well-being objectives and what its focus will be over the next year, as part of a four year 

plan.  This plan represents our ambitions and commitments to our citizens and our contribution to 

Wales’ seven well-being goals as outlined in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.    

In reviewing this plan for 2020-21, we further developed our well-being objectives and aims.  We 

also reviewed the priority areas which are integral to us meeting our well-being objectives.  A lot of 

the commitments listed in the plan are ambitious and some are in the early stages of development.  

We therefore review these annually to ensure we are progressing with these in line with our long 

term ambitions and the resources available to us.  As part of this year’s review we have also 

introduced a suite of new indicators to better focus on measuring our achievements in improving the 

lives of those we serve. These new measures also support and drive forward our sustainability 

principles.  We check our performance regularly to see how successful we are in achieving what we 

set out to do. 

We welcome your comments on this corporate plan and your suggestions for improvement. Ways 
of providing feedback are found at the back of this report.           
 
 

 
 

 

Councillor Huw David 

Leader of the Council 

 

Mark Shephard 

Chief Executive 

 

Page 26

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiO8MWxkazfAhXDLFAKHfIuBY4QjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.hays.co.uk/jobs/bridgend-county/latestjobs/index.htm&psig=AOvVaw1U5Zf66gNmWYuAHqBWSfdd&ust=1545317132681406


 
 

 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Snapshot of Bridgend County Borough   4 

Our Vision, Principles and Values   5 

Well-being Objectives     7 

Well-being Objective 1: Supporting a successful and 

sustainable economy     10 

Well-being Objective 2: Helping people and  
communities to be more healthy and resilient  14 
 
Well-being Objective 3: Smarter use of resources 18 

Managing our Budget     23 

How the Council Works     27 

Feedback       29 

Corporate Plan on a page    30 

 
 

 

  

Page 27



 
 

 
 

A SNAPSHOT OF BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH  
 

In Numbers 

                                       Population            144,876 
    Size     98.5 square miles  
   Households   64,766  
  Average House Price   £150,412 (UK HPI: April 2019) 
  Active Businesses  4,160  
    People in Employment 72.1% (June 2019) 
   Average (median) salary £28,418 (Welsh average £26,468) 

 

Representation 
Wards    39 
Councillors    54 
Constituency AMs  2  
Regional AMs                 4 
MPs    2  
 

Homelessness 

Homeless hostels  2 
Domestic abuse refuges 2 
Rough sleepers provision  2 
Supported and temporary 
accommodation schemes 8 
 

Education 
Primary schools   39 
Secondary schools   7 
Faith schools   6 
Special schools 2 
Pupil referral unit  1 
Welsh language schools                 5 
 

Leisure and Well-being 
Swimming Pools 5 
Life centres & sports facilities 9 
Libraries 11 
 

Social Care 
Extra Care Homes  3 
Reablement Unit  1 
Resource Centre for  
people with complex needs  1 

  

We develop, manage and maintain 280 hectares of open spaces, including children’s 
play areas, sports pitches, commons, highway verges, landscapes and horticultural 
features.  

Total Council Income (2020-21) 

Council Tax        £83.758m 
Non-Domestic Rates     £49.685m  
Revenue Support Grant (Welsh Government)   £153.442m 
Other funding      £134.615m  
Total Gross Income     £421.500m  

 

We have 4,225 full-time equivalent staff delivering over 800 separate services that 
include: 

Education and schools, social care, safeguarding our most vulnerable adults and children; youth 
justice, planning and building control, housing support, maintaining highways and public transport, 
refuse and recycling, street cleaning and safety, parks, environmental and natural resources 
protection, play areas, food hygiene, licensing, health and safety inspectors, collecting revenues 
and administering benefits, elections, sports, arts and libraries, supporting employment, business 
and tourism, special events and festivals. 

Page 28

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiU5pP45fHcAhXFfFAKHZwcBVkQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.metrofamily.org/programs-and-services/empowerment/success-stories/&psig=AOvVaw0Z5OHhnW89zPFL8M8blYgr&ust=1534516530301819
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiQqYm47vHcAhUkx4UKHbgbDvwQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://icons.webtoolhub.com/icon-n27090-detail.aspx&psig=AOvVaw37m4XICyzXVHDi16x5_-vM&ust=1534518834493001
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwi2wcSMuo3fAhVRxhoKHZJcCVgQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://kidskunst.info/18/06032-green-energy-symbol.htm&psig=AOvVaw08fTEk1yNbWy6pHmdEVoDV&ust=1544262894112728


 
 

 
 

OUR VISION, PRINCIPLES AND VALUES   
 

Our Vision 

In formulating this corporate plan the Council has considered the type of organisation it wants to be.  
Our vision is to act as  

“One Council working together to improve lives”. 

We will do this by delivering our well-being objectives.  Achieving this will improve the quality of life 
of all those living and working in the county borough.  This plan represents our ambitions and 
commitments to our citizens and sets out our contribution to Wales’ seven well-being goals as 
outlined in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

This means that we will become a smaller, more flexible and innovative local authority that works 
with partners and local communities to create a future in which residents have access to a more 
responsive and tailored service.  It will also mean that residents take greater responsibility for making 
that happen, to improve their own resilience and for that of the community as a whole. 

 

Our Principles 

A number of key principles underpin how we work.  They highlight the importance of working in 
partnership with our citizens, our communities and with other organisations to develop and deliver 
sustainable services.  Together, we will identify and meet local need as best we can:  

 To support communities and people to create their own solutions and reduce dependency on 
the Council. 

 To focus diminishing resources on communities and individuals with the greatest need. 

 To use good information from service users and communities to inform its decisions. 

 To encourage and develop capacity amongst the third sector to identify and respond to local 
needs. 

 To not let uncertainty over the future of public services prevent meaningful and pragmatic 
collaboration with other public sector bodies. 

 To work as one Council and discourage different parts of the organisation from developing 
multiple processes or unnecessarily different approaches. 

 To transform the organisation and many of its services to deliver financial budget reductions 
as well as improvements. 

These principles highlight the importance of other organisations in delivering services to meet local 
needs.  The Council has a track record of working with the third sector, the not-for-profit sector and 
the private sector, each of which already provides some services for the Council.  We will continue 
to build on this approach for the duration of this plan.  

These principles, together with the Council’s values, support the principle of sustainable 
development defined by the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  Sustainable 
development is about improving the way in which we can achieve our economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being by focusing on the long term, prevention, integration 
collaboration and involvement. It will underpin everything we do and help us make the county 
borough a great place for people to live, work, study and visit. 

 

Page 29



 
 

 
 

Our Values  

These represent what we stand for and shape how we work: 

Fair - taking into account everyone's needs and situation 

Ambitious - always trying to improve what we do and aiming for excellence 

Citizen-focused - remembering that we are here to serve our local communities 

Efficient - delivering services that are value for money 

 

Our principles, together with our values, support the principle of sustainable development defined by 
the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. Sustainable development is about improving 
the way in which we can achieve our economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being by 
focusing on the long term, prevention, integration collaboration and involvement. It will underpin 
everything we do and help us make the county borough a great place for people to live, work, study 
and visit. 

  

Page 30



 
 

7 
 

WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES 

The Well-being of Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015 has been put in place to make sure that public 
bodies are doing all they can to improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being 
of Wales.  
 
The Act introduces seven long-term well-being goals, puts in place a sustainable development 
principle, and defines five ways of working that public bodies will need to adopt to show they have 
applied the sustainable development principle. 
 
This document sets out a small number of important long-term objectives we want to achieve.  These 
are our well-being objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  They 
are also our improvement objectives under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.   

In setting our well-being objectives we set out what we aim to achieve and why they are important.  
Our well-being objectives are integrated, which ensures we are working together to achieve shared 
outcomes.  This plan sets out the steps we will take and identifies the priority areas to drive 
improvements.  Details on how we have already made progress towards these objectives can be 
found in our Annual Report 2018-19. 

Our well-being objectives 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In this plan, we have laid out the Council’s commitment to the well-being goals and embedded the 

sustainable development principles of the Act.  We have made sure that, when we make decisions, 

we take into account the impact they could have on people living their lives in Wales both today and 

in the future. 

  

Supporting a 

successful 

sustainable economy 

Helping  

people and 

communities  

to be more 

healthy and 

resilient 

Smarter use  

of resources 

One 

Council 

Page 31



 
 

8 
 

Our contribution to the well-being goals 

This report sets out the contribution our well-being objectives make to the seven well-being goals.  
These are set out below: 
 

Well-being Goal Well-being Objective 

Supporting a 
successful 

sustainable 
economy 

Helping people 
and communities 

to be more 
healthy and 

resilient   

Smarter use of 
resources 

A prosperous Wales ✓  ✓ 

A resilient Wales   ✓ 

A healthier Wales ✓ ✓ ✓ 

A more equal Wales ✓ ✓ ✓ 

A Wales of cohesive communities ✓ ✓ ✓ 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh 
language 

✓ ✓  

A globally responsible Wales ✓  ✓ 

 

How we are using the five ways of working  

In addition to the seven well-being goals, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 puts 
in place the sustainable development principle, and defines the five ways of working that public bodies 
must adopt to demonstrate they have applied the sustainable development principle. The five ways 
of working are: 

 
Long term – The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to safeguard the ability to 
also meet long term needs.  
 
Prevention – We are being proactive in resources into preventing problems occurring or getting 
worse. 
 
Integration - Considering how our well-being objectives may impact upon each of the well-being 
goals, or on the objectives of other public bodies.   
 
Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person/organisation or different parts of the 
local authority to deliver our well-being objectives.   
 
Involvement - The importance of involving people with an interest in achieving the well-being goals, 
and ensuring that those people reflect the diversity of the areas which we serve.   

 

We have embedded the five ways of working, as expressed in the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 into our principles. 

Page 32



 
 

9 
 

  

5 Ways of Working 

 L
o

n
g

 t
e

rm
 

P
re

v
e

n
ti
o

n
 

In
te

g
ra

ti
o

n
 

c
o

lla
b

o
ra

ti
o

n
 

In
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 

     

Our Principles 

To support communities and people to create 
their own solutions and reduce dependency on 
the Council.      

To focus diminishing resources on communities 
and individuals with the greatest need.  

  

  

To use good information from service users and 
communities to inform its decisions.  

 

   

To encourage and develop capacity amongst the 
third sector to identify and respond to local 
needs. 

  

 

  

To not let uncertainty over the future of public 
services prevent meaningful and pragmatic 
collaboration with other public sector bodies. 

 

 

  

 

To work as one Council and discourage different 
parts of the organisation from developing multiple 
processes or unnecessarily different approaches. 

 

 

  

 

To transform the organisation and many of its 
services to deliver financial budget reductions as 
well as improvements.  

  

  

 

  

Page 33



 
 

10 
 

WELL-BEING OBJECTIVE 1 

  

SUPPORTING A SUCCESSFUL 

SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY  

 

This means we will take steps to make the county borough a great place to do business, for people to 

live, work, study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 

qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.   

 

Our well-being aims 
 

 To support local people develop skills and take advantage of opportunities to 
succeed. 

 To create conditions for growth and enterprise. 

 To create town centres and communities that improve the quality of life for 
citizens. 

 

Why these are important  

 

Our citizens have told us that a local, vibrant economy is one of their top priorities. We want to build 
a county borough where people have more opportunities to secure a meaningful job, develop a 
career and improve their family income and circumstances.   

 
Helping us to achieve our ambition of a successful sustainable economy, the Council, along with key 
partners, is working on a number of projects which will deliver the outcomes to help Bridgend thrive 
over the long term.  These include: 

 A Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP), which sets out our objectives for the 

development and use of land in the county borough up to 2033, including the need to build 

around 7,500 homes. 

 The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, which the local authority is part of, with the aim of 

creating 25,000 jobs across the entire region and bringing in £4bn of private sector 

investment by 2036.  The City Deal includes four strategic themes which will benefit the 

county borough - skills and employment, innovation, connecting the region and infrastructure. 

 The Valley’s task force programme, an initiative the local authority is committed to, along with 

other South East authorities, which includes supporting the Maesteg Town Hall project, along 

with grant programmes for housing and business and tourism investment across the valleys, 

including the £6.6m Valleys Regional Park programme. 

Page 34



 
 

11 
 

We know that higher levels of prosperity boost health and well-being and create more resilient 
communities needing fewer services.  For future prosperity and long-term resilience, our town 
centres and businesses need to thrive and be profitable to generate wealth, provide better jobs, 
attract investment, reduce economic inactivity and improve skills and encourage visitors.  
 
We will work towards the principles of the foundation economy model – better jobs closer to home 
which will nurture and grow local economies by stimulating meaningful employment in communities 
with high levels of unemployment.  We will seek to boost economic development throughout the 
County Borough through a range of activities including the development of enterprise hubs and 
direct business support packages. 
 
We believe that education remains the most important lever for improving the life chances and 
resilience of young people.  Our future long-term prosperity depends on the skills and knowledge of 
our communities.   
 
Estyn (Her Majesty's Inspectorate for Education and Training in Wales) inspected the local authority 
in March 2019 under the new Local Government Education Services (LGES) Inspection framework, 
introduced in September 2018.  The inspection identified many strengths that the local authority has 
in providing education to its learners, but also recognised some areas that we need to improve in.   
 
We recognise that we must support the diverse needs of our young people and promote their well-
being so they can fulfil their potential, through the medium of English and Welsh.  We have 
prioritised the need to raise standards of achievement for all our young people.  We also recognise 
that we need to improve education for key groups of learners to help them to achieve their full 
potential, focussing on numeracy, literacy, vulnerable young people, those currently in the care 
system as well as our more able and talented pupils.  We know we will need to continue the focus 
on addressing inequality in achievement, participation and progression to further study or equipping 
young people with the skills to move into employment.     
 
It is important to balance these long term projects with activities that address the short and medium 
term needs of Bridgend.  To that end, we have identified two priority areas that will drive these 
forward over the duration of this corporate plan:  

 

Our priority areas to support this well-being objective 

 Improve learner outcomes – To inspire and support children, adults and families to achieve 
better outcomes; leading to prosperous, healthy, safe and happy communities. 
 

 Growth and prosperity - Promote the conditions for growth and prosperity by supporting 
people and business to take advantage of the opportunities to help them succeed.  

Who will help us?    
 
Bridgend Business Forum; City Deal partners; Bridgend College and training providers; schools; 
Careers Wales; Job Centre Plus.   

 
 
 

Page 35



 
 

12 
 

Steps we will take to support this well-being objective  

 
To help improve learner outcomes we will 

Sustain the current good performance of key stage 4. 

Raise standards of literacy in primary schools. 

Improve outcomes for post-16 learners in sixth forms. 

Deliver the priorities in the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) to promote Welsh medium 
education and increase the number of Welsh speakers to support Cymraeg 2050. 

 

To support growth and prosperity we will 
 

As part of regeneration to support the growth and prosperity of the county borough two key 
developments are planned: 

 Redevelopment of Maesteg Town Hall providing improved community facilities to include 
the town library, performance spaces, offering improved accessibility for visitors and 
creating jobs.   

 Complete on the sale of Salt Lake Development for food retail as part of an ambitious 
regeneration scheme in Porthcawl. 

Create better town centres through improving property and the environment. 

Through Employability Bridgend, work with individuals to improve their job opportunities and 
reduce economic inactivity. 

Providing the right infrastructure and support for business to thrive by: 

 Supporting business start ups 

 Supporting resilience of businesses - (enterprise hubs) 

 Developing procurement strategies to boost the foundational economy 

Improving the visitor experience to boost tourism: 

 Enhancing the natural environment through Valleys Regional Park 

 Deliver the Porthcawl Resort Investment Focus (PRIF) programme 

 
  

Page 36



 
 

13 
 

How will we know we are successful?  
 
By monitoring our measures of success, we will be able to keep track of performance to help drive 
improvements to achieve the following outcomes:  

 

Priority area: Improve learner outcomes  
 

 
Success Indicators 

Actual 
2018-19 

Target 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-21 

Average capped 9 score for pupils in Year 11. 357.2 
Establish 

baseline 
363.0 

Percentage of pupils, at end of foundation phase, 
achieving Outcome 5 or above in teacher assessments 
for LLC-E and LLC-W (Language Literacy and 
Communication in English and Welsh). 

84.7% 84.9% 85.1% 

Percentage of pupils assessed at the end of key stage 2, 
in schools maintained by the local authority, achieving the 
expected outcome in English/Welsh first language, as 
determined by teacher assessment. 

90.0% 90.0% 90.2% 

Percentage of pupils at A level achieving 3 A*-C grades. 54.2% 
Establish 

baseline 
55.6% 

Percentage of Year 1 learners being taught through the 
medium of Welsh. 

8.7% 8.7% 8.7% 

 

Priority area: Growth and prosperity 
 

 
Success Indicators 

Actual 
2018-19 

Target 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-21 

The number of participants in the Employability Bridgend 
programme going into employment. 

N/A 180 200 

The number of vacant premises in town centres: 
a) Bridgend 
b) Maesteg 
c) Porthcawl 
d) Pencoed 

a)       60 
b)       10 
c)       11 
d)       6 

a)      60 
b)      10 
c)       11 
d)       6 

a)       60 
b)       10 
c)       11 
d)        6 

The number of visitors to town centres- footfall for 
a) Bridgend 
b) Porthcawl 

a) 2,160,100 

b) 6,761,710 

a) 2.5m 

b) 7.2m 

 

a) 2.5m 

b) 7.3m 

Financial value of externally funded town centre 
regeneration projects underway/in development 

£20.8m £13m £13m 

The number of participants in the Employability Bridgend 
programme going into employment. 

N/A 180 200 

Number of start-up business. 460 461 462 

Total annual expenditure by tourists. 
£347.3m 2% 

increase 

2% 

increase 

Page 37



 
 

14 
 

WELL-BEING OBJECTIVE 2   

 

HELPING PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES TO 

BE MORE HEALTHY AND RESILIENT    

 

This means we will work with our partners, including the people who use our services to take steps to 
reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council and its services.  
We will support individuals and communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions 
to have active, healthy and independent lives.   
 

Our well-being aims  
 

 To give people more choice and control over what support they receive by 
providing early access to advice and information. 

 To reduce demand through targeted early help and intervention programmes. 

 To develop more active, healthy and resilient communities by working in 
partnership with the third sector, town and community councils and community 
groups. 

 

Why these are important 
 
Local authorities have a role to play in helping individuals and communities to develop social capital.  
There is growing recognition that although disadvantaged social groups and communities have a 
range of complex and inter-related needs, they also have assets at the social and community level 
that can help improve health, and strengthen resilience. 
 
The Council is committed to taking asset-based approaches to improving health and building 
resilience for well-being.  By intervening early and focusing on preventative services we can help 
people and communities to be more independent, less reliant on council services and more likely to 
achieve better outcomes.  At the service delivery level, timely and appropriate interventions help 
reduce costs which helps safeguard the sustainability of services ensuring the Council can 
effectively support those with greatest need.  
 
The prevention and well-being focus within the Council has allowed assets such as community centres 
to re-design the service model so that they now offer a wider range of services that support better 
physical health and emotional well-being. 
 
The positive impact of housing on standards of health and overall well-being, means housing is 
increasingly seen as a primary preventative measure in building resilience.  Empty properties are a 
wasted resource and a missed opportunity to improve well-being.  The Council is committed to 
reducing the number of empty properties across the county borough and help contribute towards 
increasing the availability of quality affordable housing for sale or for rent. The additional wider 

Page 38



 
 

15 
 

benefits include improving the aesthetic of the local environment, creating training and job 
opportunities. The Council will work collaboratively with external partners providing responsive, 
creative and innovative approaches to prevent and relieve homelessness, ensuring accessibility to 
suitable accommodation with the appropriate support. 

Our priority areas to support this well-being objective 
 

 Developing and enhancing community support and services – Ensuring there are high 
quality, seamless opportunities, support and services in place for those who need our help to 
enable them to remain independent for as long as possible.   

 Building resilient communities – Working with our partners and communities we will develop 
through co-production new and innovative alternatives to improve well-being and to support 
and sustain delivery.  New service models will be sustainable and less reliant on the Council 
and will reflect a positive shift in responsibility by empowering other organisations and local 
people. 

 Better health and well-being – Improve the physical, mental and emotional well-being of 
children and young people and vulnerable citizens, to ensure they can thrive and fulfil their 
potential.   

 
Who will help us? 
 
We will work with partners to help achieve our aims, in particular the NHS, Police, Awen, Halo and the 
third sector.  Similarly, Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) and private sector landlords are also 
essential partners.  
 
We also work collaboratively on a regional basis as members of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Partnership 
Board.  In addition, our key stakeholders, the people who use social care, play a vital role in helping 
design services that best meet need.  
 

Steps we will take to support this well-being objective  
 

To develop and enhance community support and services we will 
 

Expand a range of integrated community services to 7 days – over an extended day 

Target the use of early intervention services to reduce demand on statutory services. 

 

To build resilient communities we will 

 

Continue the safe reduction of looked after children to ensure young people are supported to 
live with their families and where this is not possible alternative permanence options are 
achieved at the earliest opportunity.  

Enable community groups and the third sector to have more voice and control over community 
assets, supporting sporting clubs and other organisations to transfer assets to the community. 

Page 39



 
 

16 
 

Work with households and partners to provide a range of accommodation options to prevent 
people from becoming homeless, and support vulnerable people to prevent homelessness and 
escalation into statutory services.  

Work with landlords to return empty properties back into use helping to increase the availability 
of affordable housing for sale or rent. 

 

To support better health and well-being we will 

 

Improve the quality of care and support provided to individuals at home through a 
multidisciplinary team around people in our Community Cluster Networks, ensuring timely and 
responsive assessments that are people centred and meet need.  This will also improve our 
ability to anticipate future need and ensure contingency plans are in place.  

Increase participation in leisure and cultural activities by improving accessibility, removing 
barriers to involvement and creating age friendly communities. 

 
How will we know we are successful? 
 
By monitoring our measures of success, we will be able to keep track of performance to help drive 
improvements to achieve the following outcomes:  
 

 
Priority Area: Developing and enhancing community support and services 
 

Success Indicators 
Actual     

2018-19 
Target 

2019-20 
Target      

2020-21 

Number of people aged 65+ referred to Community 
Resource Team. 

N/A N/A 
Establish 
baseline 

Number of referrals to Community Resource Team 
on Saturday, Sunday and Monday. 

N/A N/A Establish 
baseline 

Percentage of reablement packages completed 
that: 
 

a) Reduced the need for support 
b) Maintained the same level of support 
c) Mitigated the need for support  

N/A N/A 
Establish 
baseline 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 
 

17 
 

Priority Area: Building resilient communities  
 

Success Indicators 
Actual     

2018-19 
Target 

2019-20 
Target      

2020-21 

Number of council owned assets transferred to the 
community for running. 

4 5 40 

Percentage of households threatened with 
homelessness successfully prevented from 
becoming homeless. 

70.6% 70% 72% 

Percentage of people presenting as homeless or 
potentially homeless, for whom the local authority 
has a final legal duty to secure suitable 
accommodation. 

8.1% 11.85% 10% 

Number of additional dwellings created as a result 

of bringing empty properties back into use. 
N/A 5 7 

Percentage of private sector dwellings that had 

been vacant for more than 6 months at 1 April that 

were returned to occupation during the year 

through direct action by the local authority. 

8.41% 5% 6% 

The number of children and young people looked 

after. 
381 378 375 

 

Priority Area: Better health and well-being  
 

Success Indicators 
Actual      

2017-18 
Target     

2018-19 
Target      

2019-20 

Percentage of completed TAF (Team Around the 
Family) support plans that close with a successful 
outcome. 

69% 72% 73% 

Percentage of individuals in managed care 
supported in the community. 

N/A N/A 
Establish 

baseline 

Percentage of individuals in managed care 
supported in a care home setting. 

N/A N/A 
Establish 

baseline 

Number of individuals engaged/supported in 
targeted programmes linked to leisure and cultural 
facilities and services. 

N/A N/A 
Establish 

baseline 

Number of people who have improved access to 
leisure and cultural activities by reducing cost as a 
barrier to taking part.  

N/A N/A 
Establish 

baseline 

 

Page 41



 
 

18 
 

WELL-BEING OBJECTIVE 3 

 

SMARTER USE OF RESOURCES  

 
This means we will ensure that all of our resources (financial, physical, ecological, human and 
technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as possible and support the creation of 
resources throughout the community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 

Our well-being aims 

 To ensure that the council is financially sustainable over the longer term. 

 To improve the efficiency of, and access to, services by redesigning our 
systems and processes.  

 To work collaboratively to make the most of natural and physical assets. 

 To develop the culture and skills required to meet the needs of a changing 
organisation. 

 

Why these are important 
 
We recognise we need to continue to make smarter use of our resources, looking at different ways 
of delivering services, embracing technology and working with partners and our communities to 
deliver financially sustainable services for the long term.  In this way we can maximise our 
contribution to achieving our well-being objectives and improving well-being for our citizens while 
achieving those planned savings.   

Over the past four years, we have made budgetary savings of more than £27 million.  Some of the 
ways we have done this include: 

 streamlining senior management and reducing our workforce by more than 400 employees 
 relocating staff and closing some council premises 
 developing more online services 

Also, we have remodelled two children’s homes, removed surplus properties and assets, and 
reorganised our back office services. 

Despite the changes made to date, we still have to make a further £29 million saving by 2024, which 
is currently 10.8% of our net budget.  Some big decisions will need to be made on what we will and 
will not provide as a Council.  Our staff are integral to the delivery of services and we will need to 
increase the capabilities of our workforce as the organisation continues to change, making savings, 
whilst still improving the social, economic, cultural and environmental well-being of our citizens.   
 
Over the longer term this well-being objective is essential for the sustainability of council services 
and for the local economy.  The transition to decarbonisation outlined in the Local Area Energy 

Page 42



 
 

19 
 

Strategy (up to 2025) is one of the largest economic development opportunities Bridgend County 
Borough will have in the next 30 years.  Working with others we also need to better manage our 
natural resources, seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity as well as continuing to consider how 
best to dispose of waste, with an emphasis on reducing, reusing and recycling.   
 
Through our Corporate Landlord model we are transforming the council’s estate, with an on ongoing 
disposals programme to have fewer but better buildings, reducing maintenance backlogs and 
running costs, whilst also reducing our carbon footprint. 
 
By generating capital receipts from our disposals programme, we will continue to build new schools 
and improve the conditions of our existing school buildings to provide better teaching and learning 
environments for our pupils whilst also maximising community usage of these facilities. 
   
We recognise that having access to technology for online study can support positive outcomes for 
learners.  As part of the Learning in Digital Wales Programme funded by Welsh Government, £2m 
will be invested in our schools to provide high speed and quality broadband, together with new and 
replacement classroom-based, end-user devices.    
 

Over the short and medium term this corporate plan will focus on the following priority areas to help 

deliver improvements: 

 

Our priority areas to support this well-being objective 
 

 Transforming the council’s estate - Ensure the Council’s estate is appropriately developed 
and utilised to improve service delivery, reduce running costs, minimise our impact on the 
environment and provide the best possible setting to meet the needs of all users including 
citizens. 

 Areas of corporate change - We will adapt our ways of working to ensure the effective 
delivery of our well-being objectives.  Embracing innovation and technology, developing the 
skills and approaches of staff and adopting alternative ways of working will ensure the 
Council is equipped to respond to future challenges. 

 Environmental sustainability - Programmes of work that protect and safeguard the 

environment for future generations by lowering the Council’s carbon footprint, enhancing 

reduction, re-use and recycling of materials and promoting environmental awareness and 

responsibility with our communities. 

 

Who will help us?  
 

Employees; Schools; Contractors; Trade Unions 

  

Page 43



 
 

20 
 

Steps we will take to achieve our well-being objective 
 
To transform the council’s estate we will 
 

Have fewer better buildings.  Dispose of or release surplus land and buildings to generate 

capital receipts and reduce our financial liabilities and improve those buildings which are 

retained. 

Provide sufficient school places in the right areas by delivering 21st Century Schools’ under the 

council’s schools’ modernisation programme   

 
To support areas of corporate change we will 

 

Work with the regional delivery group to identify and agree regional procurement frameworks fit 
for purpose to deliver economies of scale on common and repetitive spend.  

Provide support to facilitate organisational and cultural change and develop, support and 
engage with our workforce to ensure that they are equipped to meet current and future 
challenges.  

Implement the planned budget reductions identified in the MTFS, in particular for the 2020-21 
financial year, set annual balanced budgets and establish long term financially sustainable 
solutions.  

Embrace and invest in innovation and technology including improvements in connectivity and 
new and replacement classroom-based, end-user devices in our schools.  

 
 
To support environmental sustainability we will 

 

Invest £1.3 million to install energy and cost saving technologies to reduce our energy 
consumption and CO2 emissions  

Implement a sustainable local area energy plan with a programme of work throughout the 

county borough to improve the carbon footprint for all residents, including schemes such as 

the: 

• Caerau Minewater Heat Scheme,   
• Bridgend Heat Network  

Continue to exceed the national recycling targets and increase opportunities for reuse of 

materials by : 

• building a new community recycling centre with a reuse centre,  
• recycling street scene waste,  
• raising public awareness of how to reduce, reuse and recycle by using public campaigns 

and publicity 

Maintain and enhance the natural resources and biodiversity of Bridgend County Borough. 

 

Page 44



 
 

21 
 

How will we know we are successful? 
 
By monitoring our measures of success, we will be able to keep track of performance to help drive 
improvements to achieve the following outcomes:  

 

Priority Area: Transforming the councils’ estate 
 

Success Indicators 
Actual      

2018-19 
Target     

2019-20 
Target      

2020-21 

Percentage surplus capacity in primary schools. 4.9% 10% 10% 

Percentage surplus capacity in secondary schools. 22% 18% 18% 

Realisation of capital receipts targets. £1.821m £2.8m £600k 

Percentage of BCBC operational buildings achieve full 

statutory compliance. 
N/A 100% 100% 

Priority Area: Areas of corporate change 
 

Success Indicators 
Actual      

2018-19 
Target     

2019-20 
Target      

2020-21 

Percentage of staff participating in the staff survey. 41.5% 43% 44.5% 

Percentage of managers attending the Managers 
Induction programme who rated it excellent or good. 

N/A N/A 80% 

Percentage budget reductions achieved  
(Overall BCBC budget). 

91.7% 100% 100% 

Percentage of indoor learning space in primary schools 
benefitting from high speed Wi-Fi connectivity for 30+ 
simultaneous devices. 

N/A N/A 100% 

Percentage of indoor learning space in secondary 
schools benefitting from high speed Wi-Fi connectivity 
for 30+ simultaneous devices. 

N/A N/A 100% 

Priority Area: Environmental sustainability 
 

Success Indicators 
Actual       

2018-19 
Target     

2019-20 
Target      

2020-21 

Annual gas consumption across the local authority - 
kWh 

N/A N/A Establish 

baseline 

Annual electricity consumption across the local 
authority - kWh 

N/A N/A Establish 

baseline 

Page 45



 
 

22 
 

Success Indicators 
Actual       

2018-19 
Target     

2019-20 
Target      

2020-21 

Annual CO2 emissions related to gas consumption 
across the local authority - kWh 

N/A N/A Establish 

baseline 

Annual CO2 emissions related to electricity 
consumption across the local authority - kWh 

N/A N/A Establish 

baseline 

Kilograms of residual waste generated per person. 122.95kg 130kg 130kg 

Percentage of waste reused, recycled or composted 
 

a) reuse 
b) recycled 
c) composted 

 

69.39% 

 

2.56% 

45.96% 

20.87% 

 

69% 

 

3% 

46% 

21% 

 

69% 

 

4% 

46% 

21% 

Percentage of street cleansing waste prepared for 
recycling. 

N/A N/A 20% 

Undertake schemes to increase the County Borough’s 
tree cover 

N/A N/A 
3 schemes 

 

Deliver community biodiversity schemes  
 

N/A N/A 3 schemes 

Undertake Local Nature Reserve Enhancement 
projects 

N/A N/A 4 projects 

Page 46



 
 

23 
 

  

Managing our Budget     

 
The charts below outline our income and spending plans for 2020-21.  The Council’s gross revenue 

income for 2020-21 is £421.5 million. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revenue Support 
Grant & Non 

Domestic Rates 
[from Welsh 

Government] (48%), 
£203.127

Specific 
Government Grants 

(19%), £78.721

Other Grants & 
Contributions (2%), 

£10.887

Council Tax (20%), 
£83.758

Fees, Charges & 
Other Income 
(11%), £45.007

WHERE THE MONEY COMES FROM  
GROSS REVENUE INCOME 2020-21 

(£'000)

Page 47



 
 

24 
 

 

 
 
In addition to spending money on providing day-to-day services, the Council also spends money on 
providing new facilities, improving assets and the infrastructure, enhancing assets or providing 
capital grants to others. Planned capital expenditure for 2020-2021 amounts to £56.434 million. 
 

Schools  (29%), 
£120,854

Central Education & 
Family Support (8%),  

£35,705

Adult Social Care 
(15%), £64,525

Prevention & 
Wellbeing  (1%), 

£5,827

Childrens Services  
(5%), £19,835

Communities (13%), 
£54,100

Housing Benefits 
Admin & Payments to 

Claimants (10%), 
£42,628

Chief Executive's-
Central Support 

Services (5%), £20,890

Housing & 
Homelessness 
(2%), £7,123

Other Council Wide 
Functions (12%), 

£50,013

WHERE THE MONEY IS SPENT 
GROSS REVENUE EXPENDITURE 

2020-21 (£'000)

Note: Other Council Wide Functions includes Capital Financing Costs, Precepts and Levies, Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme and corporate provision for pay and price. Chief Executive's - Central Support 
Services - includes :Finance, Audit, HR ,ICT, Legal & Democratic & Regulatory , Elections  & Partnerships.  
Communities - includes Regeneration, Development, Streetworks, Highways & Fleet, Parks & Open 
Spaces, and Transport & Engineering .

Page 48



 
 

25 
 

 
 
The chart (above) provides details of the service areas where capital expenditure is planned and 
(below) how the expenditure will be financed in the year. 
 

 

Education & Family 
Support (Including 
schools) (11.7%), 

£6,582

Communities– Street 
Scene (31.9%), 

£18,028

Communities–
Regeneration 

(30.8%), £17,403

Communities–
Corporate Landlord  

(19.8%), £11,158

Chief Executive's- ICT 
& Corporate Capital 
Fund  (0.3%), £200

Chief Executive's- Housing 
/ Homelessness (4.2%), 

£2,350

Unallocated (1.3%), 
£713

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
2020-21 (£'000)

General Capital 
Funding -Supported 
Borrowing (7.06%), 

£3,986
General Capital 

Funding -General 
Capital Grant 

(7.08%), £3,997

External Grants & 
Contributions 

(31.11%), £17,554

Prudential Borrowing 
(unsupported) 

(10.31%), £5,816

Loan- Welsh 
Government (2.51%), 

£1,417

Capital Receipts (21.85%), 
£12,331

Earmarked 
Reserves 
(19.99%), 
£11,282

Revenue 
Contribution 
(0.09%), £51

SOURCES OF CAPITAL FINANCING
2020-21 (£'000)

Page 49



 
 

26 
 

The local authority has a net revenue budget of £286.885 million that supports the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate Well-Being Objectives, core services and statutory functions. The net budget is 
financed by the Revenue Support Grant, Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) and Council Tax income. It 
excludes income from other financing streams such as other government grants, customer and client 
receipts, and interest which finance the gross revenue expenditure.  The chart below provides details 
of how the net revenue budget has been allocated for 2020-21. 

 

 

 

  

SUPPORTING A SUCCESSFUL 
SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY  

(18.9%), £54,202

HELPING PEOPLE & 
COMMUNITIES TO BE MORE 

HEALTHY & RESILIENT  
(19.4%), £55,545

SMARTER USE OF 
RESOURCES (1.6%), 

£4,681

FUNDING FOR CORE 
SERVICES & STATUTORY 

FUNCTIONS  (60.1%), 
£172,457

NET REVENUE BUDGET BY 
WELL-BEING OBJECTIVE 2020-21 (£'000)

Page 50



 
 

27 
 

Democracy and Partnership 

How the Council Works 

 
Council 
Made up of 54 councillors representing 39 wards, the full 
Council meets to approve key strategic policies and set 
the Council corporate plan and budget.  The rules for how 
the Council operates are written in the council’s 
constitution. 
 

Cabinet 
Made up of six councillors and chaired by the Leader, the 
Cabinet is responsible for making major decisions and 
policies in Bridgend County Borough. Each councillor has a 
portfolio covering a specialist area. 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Made up of four committees who look at decisions that the Council are making and make sure they 
have been examined properly. 

 

Consultation and Involvement  
Throughout the year we carry out a range of consultations to inform our decisions, including the 
‘Shaping Bridgend’s Future’ 2019 budget consultation.  Building on our experience of previous 
consultations, we developed new ways for people to participate and get involved.  Our methods 
included surveys, social media, community engagement stands, town and community council 
meetings, and community group meetings.  In total there were 7,437 interactions across the different 
platforms which represents an increase of 40.6% (2,149) compared to the previous year.  

Members of the Citizens’ Panel receive up to three surveys per year on diverse service areas; topics 
have included play areas, grass cutting and potential increased charges for the use of sports fields 
and pavilions, adult community learning, the council budget, dog fouling and mental health provision. 
They also receive updates through our 'You said, we did' newsletter.  
 

 
  Our newly revised website:www.bridgend.gov.uk  

  Instagram at www.instagram.com/BridgendCBC/   

  Facebook www.facebook.com/BridendCBC   

 Twitter: @BridgendCBC 

  Email to talktous@bridgend.gov.uk  

 
We also engage with specific groups of people, such as those who use our social care services, to 
ask for their views about the services they receive.  

COUNCIL CABINET

OVERVIEW 
AND 
SCRUTINY

CONSULTATION 
AND 

INVOLVEMENT

 

Page 51

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/
http://www.instagram.com/BridgendCBC/
http://www.facebook.com/BridendCBC
mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj5ndrz4v3cAhWPmbQKHbLBAUsQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.iconfinder.com/icons/208880/address_at_blue_contact_contacts_e-mail_email_mail_message_icon&psig=AOvVaw1V91FBq8niuFytAucl-yfd&ust=1534928026748424
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjEtJeG4v3cAhUMZVAKHU4kBoAQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.freeiconspng.com/img/29484&psig=AOvVaw3Esxkzu-R7qA2xBEvoBGIs&ust=1534927852009229


 
 

28 
 

Working with Others 
 

 The Bridgend Public Services Board (PSB) 
was created as part of a legal requirement for 
each local authority under The Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The 
Council is one of a group of local health, 
education, social care and well-being 
organisations from the public sector and not 
for profit sectors who work together to create a 
better Bridgend County Borough.  The work is 
based on collaboration and consultation with 
local people and communities. 

 
 

 

 Following a Well-being Assessment, the 
Bridgend PSB has developed a Well-being 
Plan to address the issues that influence the 
long-term well-being of Bridgend.  

  
 The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional 

Partnership Board (RPB) brings together 
health, social services, housing, the third 
sector and other partners to deliver strategic 
approaches to deliver integrated Health and 
Social Care services as set out in The Social 
Services and Well-being Act Wales (2014)

The Bridgend Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) brings together professionals to 
provide safeguarding services from both the council and our partners across the community, 
in one place.  The Bridgend MASH is made up of people from: 

 
 Children’s and adult services 
 South Wales Police public protection unit 
 Education 
 Housing 
 Community drug and alcohol team 

 Probation and community rehabilitation 
 Health 
 Early help services 
 Mental health services

 
 
 Shared Regulatory Services is a partnership 

with the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff 
Councils to provide a more efficient services 
covering Trading Standards, Environmental 
Health, Licensing and Private Sector 
Housing. 
 

 Bridgend Community Safety Partnership is a 
sub- board of the Bridgend PSB, which 
brings together public, private and voluntary 
agencies that work together to reduce crime, 
disorder and fear of crime. 

 

 The Council’s Internal Audit Service had 
been delivered under a formal collaborative 
agreement with the Vale of Glamorgan 
Council since 2013.  From April 2019 a 
Regional Shared Internal Audit Service has 
been in existence bringing together Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC, Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC and 
the existing shared service.  An efficient 

Internal Audit service provides independent 
assurance that the Council’s risk 
management, governance and internal 
control processes are operating effectively. 
 

 We have partnered with GLL/Halo Leisure to 
manage eight leisure centres and swimming 
pools.  We have a long term partnership 
with Awen Cultural Trust to run our cultural 
venues and services for 20 years. This 
includes the Bridgend library service, 
Maesteg Town hall, Porthcawl Grand 
Pavilion, four community centres and 
Bryngarw House and Country Park. 

  

 We are one of ten local authorities in South 
East Wales that are part of The Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal, which is a 
programme to bring about significant 
economic growth in the region. 

 

Page 52

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/council-priorities-and-performance/bridgend-public-services-board/
https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/3657/bridgend-wellbeing-bps-plan-e-0518.pdf
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/3657/bridgend-wellbeing-bps-plan-e-0518.pdf
https://cwmtafmorgannwg.wales/how-we-work/plans-and-reports/regional-partnership-board/
https://cwmtafmorgannwg.wales/how-we-work/plans-and-reports/regional-partnership-board/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/health-and-social-care/multi-agency-safeguarding-hub-mash/
http://www.srs.wales/en/Home.aspx
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/community-safety-partnership/about-the-bridgend-community-safety-partnership/
https://haloleisure.org.uk/
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/


 
 

29 
 

Feedback 
 
We welcome your comments on this Corporate Plan and your suggestions for improvement. You 
can give your feedback through  
 

 
    Our website: www.bridgend.gov.uk  

 

     Instagram at  www.instagram.com/BridgendCBC/    

  

     Facebook at  www.facebook.com/BridendCBC   

      

    Twitter: @BridgendCBC   

                          

    Email to talktous@bridgend.gov.uk  

      

     Or by writing to Corporate Performance Team, Bridgend County Borough Council,   

     Raven’s Court, Brewery Lane, Bridgend CF31 4WB  

 

 

This report is available in both Welsh and English. It is also available in another language or format 

on request. 

 

Each year, the Welsh Government publishes a range of national performance 
indicators that enable citizens to compare how their local authority 
performed in comparison with the other 21 Welsh local authorities across a 
whole range of services.  You can see more detail about how councils across 
Wales compare by clicking on  
 

www.mylocalcouncil.info 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 53

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/
http://www.instagram.com/BridgendCBC/
http://www.facebook.com/BridendCBC
mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjEtJeG4v3cAhUMZVAKHU4kBoAQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.freeiconspng.com/img/29484&psig=AOvVaw3Esxkzu-R7qA2xBEvoBGIs&ust=1534927852009229
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj5ndrz4v3cAhWPmbQKHbLBAUsQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.iconfinder.com/icons/208880/address_at_blue_contact_contacts_e-mail_email_mail_message_icon&psig=AOvVaw1V91FBq8niuFytAucl-yfd&ust=1534928026748424
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwie1oHT4_3cAhUHL1AKHRBpAaAQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.freeiconspng.com/images/email-icon&psig=AOvVaw1kyihVqlaon3wi98cuLyJO&ust=1534928292865762


 
 

30 
 

Corporate Plan on a Page 
 

Our vision One Council Working Together To Improve Lives 

Our 
well-being 
objectives 

 
Supporting 

a successful sustainable 
economy 

 
Helping people and 

communities to be more 
healthy and resilient 

 
Smarter use  
of resources 

 
Our  

well-being 
aims 

To support local people 
develop skills and take 
advantage of opportunities to 
succeed. 
 
To create conditions for growth 
and enterprise. 
 
To create town centres and 
communities that improve the 
quality of life for citizens. 

 

To give people more choice and 
control over what support they 
receive by providing early access 
to advice and information. 
 
To reduce demand through 
targeted early help and 
intervention programmes. 
 
To develop more active, healthy 
and resilient communities working 
in partnership with the third 
sector, town and community 
councils and community groups. 

To ensure that the council is 
financially sustainable over the 
longer term. 
 
To improve the efficiency of and 
access to services by 
redesigning our systems and 
processes. 
 
To work collaboratively to make 
the most of public assets. 
 
To develop the culture and skills 
required to meet the needs of a 
changing organisation. 

 

To 
achieve 
these 
aims 

we will 

Continue the physical 
regeneration work to support 
growth and prosperity, 
including the completion of 
Maesteg Town Hall and the 
sale of Salt Lake Car Park. 
 

Grow the value of tourism by 
utilising the Porthcawl Resort 
Investment Focus programme 
and the Valleys Regional Park 
programme. 
 

Create better town centres 
through property 
enhancement. 
 

Improve the resilience of 
business, assist business start 
ups and adopt smarter ways of 
procuring to help boost the 
foundational economy. 
 

Improve the skills and 
employability of individuals to 
increase their job opportunities 
and reduce economic 
inactivity.  
 

Sustain good performance at 
key stage 4.  Raise standards 
of literacy in primary schools. 
 

Improve learner outcomes for 
post-16 learners in sixth forms. 
 
Promote Welsh medium 
education. 

Improve the quality of care and 
support and the timeliness of 
interventions by (a) expanding a 
range of social care and support 
to 7 days as well at night (b) 
extending the multidisciplinary 
working within Community 
Cluster Networks. 
 

Continue the safe reduction of 
looked after children to ensure 
young people are supported to 
live with their families. 
 

Enable community groups and 
the third sector to have more 
voice and control over community 
assets. 
 

Target the use of early 
intervention services to reduce 
demand on statutory services. 
 

Increase participation in leisure 
and cultural activities by 
improving accessibility, removing 
barriers to involvement and 
creating age friendly 
communities. 
 

Work with partners to provide a 
range of accommodation options 
to prevent people from becoming 
homeless. 
 

Return empty properties back into 
use helping increase the 
availability of affordable housing 
for sale or rent. 

Invest £1.3m to install energy 
and cost saving technologies to 
reduce our energy consumption 
and CO2 emissions. 
 

Exceed national recycling targets 
and increase opportunities for 
reuse of materials. 
 

Implement a sustainable local 
area energy plan to improve the 
carbon footprint for all residents. 
 

Agree a regional procurement 
framework to deliver economies 
of scale. 
 

Facilitate organisational and 
cultural change to develop our 
workforce to ensure they meet 
current and future challenges. 
 

Dispose of or release all surplus 
land and buildings to generate 
capital receipts and reduce 
rental liabilities. 
 

Optimize school places and 
deliver our Schools’ 
Modernisation Programme. 
 

Review capital expenditure and 
implement the planned budget 
reductions. 
 

Invest in technology to improve 
the connectivity in our schools. 

Page 54



 
 

31 
 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

APPENDIX B 
WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 ASSESSMENT 

 

Project Description (key aims):             Corporate Plan 2018-2022 reviewed for 2020-21 
 

Section 1  Complete the table below to assess how well you have applied the 5 ways of working. 

Long-term 
 
(The importance of 
balancing short term 
needs with the need 
to safeguard the 
ability to also meet 
long term needs) 

1. How does your project / activity balance short-term need with the long-term and planning for the 
future? 

Working with our partners and communities we will develop through co production new and innovative 
alternatives to improve well-being and to support and sustain delivery over the longer term.  New service 
models will be less reliant on the Council and will reflect a positive shift in responsibility by empowering other 
organisations and local people. 
 
The plan also includes delivery of the first phase of the Local Area Energy Strategy (up to 2025), which aims 
to reduce the carbon footprint. The transition to decarbonisation is arguably the largest economic 
development opportunity for Bridgend County Borough over the next 30 years.  
 
There are commitments to improve learner outcomes for all children and young people which will reap 
substantial future benefits relating to health, equality and job creation. 
 
The Welsh government set an aspiration of 100,000 hectares of new woodland by 2030 to help Wales meet 
its carbon emission reduction targets. Bridgend Council sets out in the Corporate Plan its contribution to this 
ambition by collaborating with PSB partners on a tree planting project to increase the tree cover across the 
county borough. In addition to the long term benefits that fully matured trees provide to the environment, there 
are also many well-being benefits for individuals and communities. 

Prevention 
 
(How acting to 
prevent problems 
occurring or getting 
worse may help 
public bodies meet 
their objectives) 

2. How does your project / activity put resources into preventing problems occurring or getting 
worse? 

Our strategy for the next few years is to manage demand and introduce new ways of working in order to 
lessen dependency and enable people to maximise their independence.  There is a commitment to extend the 
availability of a range of social care and support to 7 days, and to improve care and support in the home 
utilising multidisciplinary teams ensuring more timely and responsive assessments of need.  

P
age 57



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

There is a commitment to remove barriers that prevent people from participating in cultural and leisure 
activities.  As well as being of great social value, these activities are effective early interventions which are 
more likely deliver better outcomes whilst also been cost effective.   
 
The corporate plan continues to prioritise targeted early help and support for children and families- taking 
steps where possible to provide timely and appropriate support to improve outcomes and prevent people 
becoming reliant on council services.  
  
The Council has increased its ambition for community asset transfer, which will give sports clubs and 
community organisations more security and sustainability enabling people to protect the assets in their 
communities.  This process also involves people in designing and running the services from which they 
benefit.  
 
The Housing Act (2014) introduced the need to move to a preventative approach to homelessness and this is 
a core principle of the commitments in the Corporate Plan.  The support activities to prevent homelessness 
are broad and diverse and include services for people suffering domestic abuse, substance misuse issues, 
learning disabilities, accommodation for young people and people with mental health support needs.  

Integration 
 
(Considering how 
the public body’s 
well-being objectives 
may impact upon 
each of the 
wellbeing goals, on 
their objectives, or 
on the objectives of 
other public bodies) 

3. How does your project / activity deliver economic, social, environmental & cultural outcomes 
together? 

One of the aims of the corporate plan review was to identify key priority areas to provide the strategic focus to 
encourage and support integrated working towards shared outcomes- either within the council or with external 
partners.   
 
In the reviewed corporate plan, well-being objective two has a broader remit than in previous years, resulting 
in greater integration in the response to Supporting people and communities to be more healthy and resilient 
which now includes all four directorates, as well as the third sector, Registered Social Landlords and private 
landlords.  
 
Well-being objective 3, Smarter use of resources is now more strongly integrated with the PSB’s well-being 
objectives, with the inclusion of commitments to enhance natural resources and biodiversity. This addition to 
the corporate plan has the added benefit of strengthening our contribution to the Resilient Wales national well-
being goal, along with the inclusion of commitments on reducing our carbon footprint and waste recycling. 
 

P
age 58



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

Collaboration 
 
(Acting in 
collaboration with 
any other person (or 
different parts of the 
body itself) that 
could help the body 
meet its well-being 
objectives) 

4. How does your project / activity involve working together with partners (internal and external) to 
deliver well-being objectives? 

It follows that the increased level of integrated working within the corporate plan, has led to more collaboration 
to deliver our well-being objectives: 
 
Examples include: 

 Community asset transfer to enable sustainable management of community assets 

 Working with landlords to help return empty properties back into use 

 Joint working and contract arrangements with third sector organisations to deliver housing projects for 
people with complex needs.  

 Children’s social care working with early help and intervention services to provide timely effective 
support  

 Tree project with Natural Resources Wales and other PSB partners including the Cwm Taf Morannwg 
health board 

 Collaborating with Halo Leisure and the Awen Trust to transform our venues into next generation 
wellbeing hubs  

 On a regional foot print we are collaborating with other local authorities as part of the Cardiff Region 
City Deal, the Valleys Taskforce, and working as part of the  Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional 
Partnership Board that includes the Cwm Taf Morgannwg health board, and other partners, to deliver 
the Regional Transformation programme 

Involvement 
 
(The importance of 
involving people with 
an interest in 
achieving the well-
being goals, and 
ensuring that those 
people reflect the 
diversity of the area 
which the body 
serves) 

5. How does your project / activity involve stakeholders with an interest in achieving the well-being 
goals? How do those stakeholders reflect the diversity of the area? 

Consultation is carried using a mixed method approach to ensure and promote the widest range of 
participation to ensure the views of people living in Bridgend County Borough are considered as part of the 
evidence when identifying priorities.  
 
Beyond consulting with people, there are many aspects of the corporate plan that actively involve and seek 
the views of service users to help develop strategies (e.g. Homeless strategy) or help improve service design 
and process (e.g. the new CAT process).  As part of our commitment to continue the safe reduction of 
children looked after we are developing a new Children’s Residential Hub over the next 12 months. 
The design of the hub includes the input from a young person currently using the service and as the project 
develops their input will continued to be used.  

P
age 59



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

Our commitment to remove the barriers that prevent people from accessing leisure services is supported by 
the Champions of Wales project which aims to increase the participation of girls and young women in physical 
activity. We invite participants to identify their own well-being needs and then develop the opportunities to help 
meet them. For older people, their involvement in the super-agers programme has improved the opportunities 
to be physically active and increased the level of engagement with the programme.   
 
BCBC,supported by Cwm Taf Morgannwg health board is involving stakeholders in the development of 
wellbeing hubs in our leisure and cultural facilities. 

  

P
age 60



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

 

Section 2  Assess how well your project / activity will result in multiple benefits for our communities and contribute 
to the national well-being goals (use Appendix 1 to help you). 

Description of the Well-being goals How will your project / activity deliver 
benefits to our communities under the 
national well-being goals? 

Is there any way to maximise the 
benefits or minimise any negative 
impacts to our communities (and the 
contribution to the national well-being 
goals)? 

A prosperous Wales 
An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); and 
which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy 
which generates wealth and provides 
employment opportunities, allowing 
people to take advantage of the wealth 
generated through securing decent work. 

The corporate plan refreshed for 2020-21 
will promote the conditions for growth and 
prosperity by focusing on  
 

 regeneration projects to boost tourism 
and town centres,  

 skills and employability to upskill 
residents,  

 supporting business with direct support 
packages and enterprise hubs  

 utilising procurement to boost the 
foundational economy. 

 
On a regional basis we continue to 
contribute to projects as part of the Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal (eg the new 
Regional Energy Deal) to deliver 
investment to benefit the local economy.  

Education is key for improving the life 
chances and resilience of future 
generations, so they can benefit from the 
economic opportunities available.  The 
corporate plan is committed to improving 
the outcomes for all learners.  
 
The transition to decarbonisation not only 
supports the shift towards a low carbon 
society but is arguably the largest 
economic development opportunity for the 
county borough over the next 30 years.  
Our Smart Energy Plan identifies the 
projects and activities to support the 
transition agenda. The programme of 
work set out in the plan, when fully 
secured will, inject £35m into the 
decarbonisation. 
 
We are the lead authority for the Valleys 
Regional Park project.  The aim is to 
unlock and maximise the potential of the 
natural and associated cultural heritage of 
the Valleys to generate social, economic 
and environmental benefits. 

P
age 61



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

A resilient Wales 
A nation which maintains and enhances 
a biodiverse natural environment with 
healthy functioning ecosystems that 
support social, economic and ecological 
resilience and the capacity to adapt to 
change (for example climate change). 

As part of our objective to Make smarter 
use of resources we want to retain fewer 
but better buildings that deliver cost 
efficiencies, reduce carbon footprint, and 
improve service delivery.  The two 
programmes to drive this forward are the 
Corporate Landlord and School 
Modernisation programme.  
 
Making smarter use of resources also 
contributes to a resilient Wales with 
commitments on our natural environment 
through biodiversity enhancement 
activities and a sustainable tree 
management programme.  We are also 
committed to maximising waste recycling 
and reduction opportunities building on the 
councils performance as one of the highest 
recycling councils in Wales staying ahead 
of targets towards a Zero Waste Wales. 

The benefits of our tree planting 
programme for communities will be 
amplified due to the collaborative working 
with PSB partners including Natural 
Resources Wales and Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg. 
 
The Valleys Regional Park programme 
has a strong emphasis on the involvement 
of local communities, recognising that the 
knowledge, skills and expertise of local 
people is critical to achieving good 
outcomes.   
 
 

A healthier Wales 
A society in which people’s physical and 
mental well-being is maximised and in 
which choices and behaviours that 
benefit future health are understood. 

The refreshed corporate plan for 2020-21, 
has strengthened its commitment to 
achieving a healthier Wales.  Wellbeing 
objective 2 has been reworded as 
Supporting people and communities to be 
more healthy and resilient.   
 
There are commitments to remove the 
barriers that can prevent people from 
accessing leisure and cultural activities, 
and programmes such as the Valleys 
Regional Park will deliver health and well-
being benefits by improving and enhancing 
our natural landscapes. 

By directing resources and integrating 

services that offer early help and 

intervention programmes such as the new 

generation of well-being hubs. 

 

 

P
age 62



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

There are ambitious targets for Community 
Asset Transfers, a policy which will boost 
the opportunities for communities to be 
active by ensuring assets (such as sports 
clubs) remain open and available to 
residents.  
 
The refreshed plan has commitments to 
increase the resilience and independence 
of people and families, by helping them 
achieve their own well-being outcomes 
through targeted early intervention and 
support.   

A more equal Wales 
A society that enables people to fulfil 
their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances (including 
their socio economic background and 
circumstances). 

Ensuring the benefits of the corporate plan 
are equally realised for all people living in 
the county borough, the corporate plan has 
commitments to remove barriers and 
improve accessibility so that more people 
can access the well-being benefits of our 
services. 

Involving our key target groups, ensures 
we can offer services designed to meet 
need, which improves our chance of 
success.  Examples include our 
Champions of Wales project and Super 
Agers programme, which have both seen 
an increase in participation among our 
target groups (girls and older people 
respectively). 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Attractive, viable, safe and well-
connected communities. 

The refreshed corporate plan has 
commitments to support communities and 
people to create their own solutions and 
reduce dependency on the Council.  In 
addition to making services more 
sustainable for the future, these 
commitments have the potential to improve 
the cohesiveness of communities.  
 
Buildings and the physical environment 
can improve the vibrancy of where people 
live and work.  The corporate plan has 

.   

P
age 63



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

commitments to regenerate town centres 
(e.g Maesteg Town hall) and to work with 
private landlords to reduce the number of 
empty properties.   
 
There are also commitments to improve 
the natural environment – so that people 
and communities can access the well-
being benefits of green and blue spaces.  
 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language 
A society that promotes and protects 
culture, heritage and the Welsh 
language, and which encourages people 
to participate in the arts, and sports and 
recreation. 

The Welsh language has a stronger 
presence in the refreshed corporate plan.  
Under well-being objective 1 we now have 
a commitment to promote Welsh medium 
education and increase the number of 
Welsh speakers.   
 
Culture also has a more explicit reference 
in the plan, and is recognised as equal to 
leisure services when improving well-
being.  

Compliance with the Welsh Language act 
is imbedded in Council policies and 
procedures. 
 

A globally responsible Wales 
A nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, takes account of whether doing 
such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being. 

The refreshed corporate plan is more 
strongly aligned to the global calls for 
greater action to tackle climate change.  
There are commitments to reduce our 
carbon footprint and actions to support the 
transition to decarbonisation.  We have 
commitments to increase opportunities to 
reuse and recycle, and commitments to 
improve our natural resources and the 
resilience of our biodiversity.   

 

 
 
 

P
age 64



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

 

Section 3  Will your project / activity affect people or groups of people with protected characteristics? Explain what 
will be done to maximise any positive impacts or minimise any negative impacts 

Protected characteristics Will your project / activity have 
any positive impacts on those 

with a protected characteristic? 

Will your project / activity have 
any negative impacts on those 
with a protected characteristic? 

Is there any way to maximise 
any positive impacts or 
minimise any negative 

impacts? 

Age: Unknown - The impact, positive or 
negative, will depend on the 
nature of the service delivered 

Unknown - The impact, positive or 
negative, will depend on the 
nature of the service delivered 

This will vary according to the 
service provided.   

Gender reassignment: As above As above As above 

Marriage or civil partnership: As above As above As above 

Pregnancy or maternity: As above As above As above 

Race: As above As above As above 

Religion or Belief: As above As above As above 

Race: As above As above As above 

Sex: As above As above As above 

Welsh Language: As above As above As above 

 
  

P
age 65



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017 

 

Section 4  Identify decision meeting for Project/activity e.g. Cabinet, Council or delegated decision taken by 
Executive Members and/or Chief Officers 

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet, Council 

Compiling Officers Name: Ann-Marie Mc Cafferty 

Compiling Officers Job Title: Corporate Improvement Officer 

Date completed: 3 February 2020 

 
 

P
age 66



  

 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 REPORT TO COUNCIL  
 

26 FEBRUARY 2020 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND INTERIM SECTION 151 OFFICER  
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) 2020-21 to 2023-24  
 

1. Purpose  
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-24, attached at Annex 3, which includes a financial forecast 
for 2020-24, a detailed revenue budget for 2020-21 and a Capital Programme for 
2019-20 to 2029-30. This is dependent on Cabinet approval on 25 February 2020. 

 
2. Connections to Corporate Improvement Objectives / Other Corporate Priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priorities:-   
 

1. Supporting a successful economy – taking steps to make the county a good place 
to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to ensure that our 
schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions of all people 
in the county.  

 
2. Helping people to be more self-reliant – taking early steps to reduce or prevent 

people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council and its services. 
 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, physical, human 

and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as possible and support 
the development of resources throughout the community that can help deliver the 
Council’s priorities.  

 
2.2 The allocation of budget determines the extent to which the Council’s well-being 

objectives can be delivered. The Corporate Plan and Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) identify the Council’s service and resource priorities for the next four financial 
years, with particular focus on 2020-21. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The Council’s well-being objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015 are currently: 
  

- Supporting a successful economy 
- Helping people to be more self-reliant 
- Making smarter use of resources 

 
This MTFS has been significantly guided by these priorities. Although previous year-
on-year reductions in Aggregate External Finance (AEF) have necessitated significant 
budget reductions across different service areas, the Council still plays a very 
significant role in the local economy of Bridgend County Borough and is responsible 

Page 67

Agenda Item 8



  

 

for annual gross expenditure of around £420 million and is the largest employer in the 
county borough.    
 

3.2 The Council’s Corporate Plan is being presented to Council for approval alongside the 
MTFS 2020-24, which includes more re-focused wellbeing objectives, and the two 
documents are aligned to each other, enabling the reader to make explicit links 
between the Council’s priorities and the resources directed to support them.  

 

4.  Current Situation / Proposal 
 

4.1 This report is presented to Council to provide details of the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy for the four year period 2020-21 to 2023-24. The MTFS is 
complimentary to the Council’s Corporate Plan, and looks to provide the resources to 
enable the Council’s wellbeing objectives to be met. The MTFS outlines the principles 
and detailed assumptions which drive the Council’s budget and spending decisions, 
outlines the financial context in which the Council is operating, and tries to mitigate any 
financial risks and pressures going forward, at the same time as taking advantage of 
any opportunities arising.  
 

4.2 The MTFS focuses on how the Council intends to respond to the forecasted public 
sector funding reductions as a result of on-going austerity and increasing pressures on 
public sector services. It sets out the approaches and principles the Council will follow 
to ensure the Council remains financially viable and delivers on its corporate priorities. 
 

4.3 The Council is required to approve a balanced budget for the following financial year 
and set the Council Tax rates for the County Borough. This report sets out proposals 
to achieve that objective and contribute towards a sustainable position going into the 
medium-term.  

 
4.4 The announcement of the final local government settlement for 2020-21 is 

approximately two months later than previous years, due to the changing Brexit 
deadline and then the UK general election, and as a result this budget is being 
proposed on the basis of the provisional settlement received in December 2019. Whilst 
we do not anticipate any significant change in funding between the provisional and 
final settlement, how we deal with any changes will be made clear in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and reported back to Council at a later date. It is not envisaged that 
any changes will impact upon council tax. 
 

5.  Effect on Policy Framework and Procedure Rules 
 
5.1 The budget setting process is outlined within the Council’s Constitution and Financial 

Procedure Rules.  
 

6. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 The proposals contained within this report cover a wide range of services and it is 

inevitable that the necessary budget reductions will impact on the local population in 
different ways.  In developing these proposals, consideration has been given to their 
potential impact on protected groups within the community and on how to avoid a 
disproportionate impact on people within these groups. 

 
6.2 A high level Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken on the Council’s 

budget proposals and updated MTFS (see Annex 1). Individual EIAs are completed for 

Page 68



  

 

2020-21 proposed budget reduction proposals which may impact on certain groups of 
citizens within the County Borough.  

 
7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications 
 
7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides a framework for 

embedding sustainable development principles within the activities of Council and has 
major implications for the long-term planning of finances and service provision. The 7 
well-being goals identified in the Act have driven the Council’s three wellbeing 
objectives: 

 
1. Supporting a successful economy  

 
2. Helping people to be more self-reliant  

 
3. Smarter use of resources  

 
The wellbeing objectives are designed to complement each other and be part of an 
integrated way of working to improve wellbeing for people in Bridgend County. In 
developing the MTFS, officers have considered the importance of balancing short-term 
needs in terms of meeting savings targets, with safeguarding the ability to meet 
longer-term objectives.  

 
7.2 The proposals contained within this report cover a wide range of services and it is 

inevitable that the necessary budget reductions will impact on the wellbeing goals in 
different ways. A Wellbeing of Future Generations Assessment will be undertaken on 
proposed individual projects and activities where relevant and will feed into specific 
reports to Cabinet or Council.  

 
7.3 The Council’s approach to meeting its responsibilities under the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015, including acting in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle, is reflected in a number of areas within the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy, not least: 

 
 

5 Ways of Working Examples 

Long Term  Outlining the impact of a number of different funding 
scenarios (Best, Most Likely and Worst) to provide an 
element of flexibility to the Council. 

 Majority of savings generated from making smarter use 
of resources with service reductions kept to a minimum 
and only as a last resort. 

 The development of a 10 year capital programme which 
reflects the Council’s affordability in terms of capital 
receipts and borrowing. 

 Investment in capital schemes that support the 
Council’s corporate priorities and benefits the County 
Borough over a longer period. 

Prevention  Investment in preventative measures to reduce the 
burden on more costly statutory services.    

Collaboration  Savings generated from collaboration and integrated 
working. 

Page 69



  

 

Integration  Explicit links between the Corporate Plan, the Capital 
Strategy, the Treasury Management Strategy and the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

Involvement  A robust budget consultation exercise, including 
surveys, community engagement stands and social 
media debates, to inform proposals.  

 
 
7.4 The above features are aimed at ensuring the Council’s finances are as healthy as 

they can be for future generations. Although resources are limited, they have been 
targeted in a way that reflects the Council’s priorities, including the seven wellbeing 
goals included in Bridgend’s Well-being Plan, and this is reflected in the relevant 
appendices. Where possible the Council has aimed to protect front line services and 
invest to save, with budget reductions targeted at making smarter use of resources, 
commercialisation, collaboration and transformation. The Well-Being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment is attached at Annex 2.   

 
8.  Financial Implications 

 
8.1 This report outlines the financial issues that Council is requested to consider as part of 

the 2020-21 to 2023-24 MTFS. The Council’s Section 151 Officer is required to report 
annually on the robustness of the level of reserves. The level of Council reserves is 
sufficient to protect the Council in light of unknown demands or emergencies and 
current funding levels. It must be emphasised that the biggest financial risks the 
Council is exposed to at the present time relate to the uncertainty of Welsh 
Government funding, the increasing difficulty in the delivery of planned budget 
reductions as well as the identification of further proposals. Therefore, it is imperative 
that the Council Fund balance is managed in accordance with the MTFS Principle 9, 
as set out in the MTFS, and it is essential that revenue service expenditure and capital 
expenditure is contained within the identified budgets. 
 

8.2 The Section 151 Officer is also required to report to Council if they do not believe that 
they have sufficient resource to discharge their role as required by s114 of the Local 
Government Act 1988. Members should note that there is sufficient resource to 
discharge this role. 
 

8.3 The budget includes estimates which take into account circumstances and events 
which exist or are reasonably foreseeable at the time of preparing the budget.  The 
budget has been prepared following consultation with Members, the School Budget 
Forum and service managers. Subject to the risks identified the MTFS provides a firm 
basis for managing the Council’s resources for the year 2020-21 and beyond. 

 
 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 Council is asked to approve the MTFS 2020-21 to 2023-24 including the 2020-21 

revenue budget and the Capital Programme 2019-20 to 2029-30. In particular it is 
asked to approve the following specific elements: 

 
• The MTFS 2020-21 to 2023-24 (Annex 3). 
 

 • The Net Budget Requirement of £286,885,169 in 2020-21. 

Page 70



  

 

 
• A Band D Council Tax for Bridgend County Borough Council of £1,537.06 for 

   2020-21 (Table 11 of the MTFS). 
 
 • The 2020-21 budgets as allocated in accordance with Table 9 in paragraph 
   3.3 of the MTFS.  
  
 • The Capital Programme 2019-20 to 2029-30, attached at Appendix G of the MTFS. 

 
 
 

Mark Shepherd 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Gill Lewis CPFA 
Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer  
 
 
February 2020 
 
Contact Officer:   Deborah Exton CPFA 

Interim Deputy Head of Finance 
 
 

Telephone:    01656 643604 
 

Email:    deborah.exton@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address :   Raven’s Court 
     Brewery Lane 
     Bridgend 
     CF31 4AP 
 
 
Background Documents: Provisional Local Government Revenue and Capital 

Settlements 2020-21 
Cabinet Report – MTFS 2020-21 to 2023-24 –  February 
2020 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

  
 

 

ANNEX 1 

 

Equality Impact full 
assessment form 

 

When complete, this form must be signed off and retained by the service area. The 

Full EIA should be recorded as complete on share point (your business manager has 

access to share point). Where a full EIA is needed this should be included as an 

appendix with the relevant cabinet report and therefore available publically on the 

website.

Page 73



2 

 

Equality impact full assessment form 
 
 

Name of project, policy, function, service or proposal being 
assessed: 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-
24 

Date EIA Screening assessment completed: 24th January 2020 

Full assessment date for completion (from EIA screening): 5th February 2020 
 

At this stage you will need to re-visit your initial screening template to inform your consultation and refer to guidance notes on completing a full EIA 
 

Consultation 

 Method Action Points 

Who do you need to consult with 
(which equality groups)?  
 

The council was mindful that the full impact of the 
proposed budget reductions detailed in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy will potentially be high level, negative 
and may impact many customers, citizens, visitors and 
service users from all protected characteristic groups. 
The council was also mindful that, in order to maximise 
its reach into its communities and the people who use its 
services, it needed to build on the knowledge gained 
from previous consultations and further develop the 
consultation to include new ways for people to participate 
and engage with the Council. A wide variety of methods 
of communication were used including surveys, social 
media, community engagement stands, town and 
community council and community group meetings 
across the county borough.  In addition, in order to 
gather the views of young people, the consultation team 
attended an all-Bridgend headteacher’s event to promote 
the survey as well as asking individual schools to take 
part in interactive sessions in order to gather feedback. 
Details of the consultation were promoted to/shared with 
the following stakeholders: citizens of Bridgend County 
Borough, Citizens’ Panel members, comprehensive 
schools, school governors, BCBC cabinet 

The details of the full 
consultation are included 
in the Report to Cabinet on 
17th December 2019. 

P
age 74

file:///C:/Users/shortr/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/1IYA0WY4/Full%20EIA%20Guidance.doc


3 

 

members/councillors, local businesses, council staff, 
town and community councils, partner organisations, 
community and equality groups, local interest/ 
community groups and local media. 
 
 

How will you ensure your 
consultation is inclusive?  
 

The council was mindful that different groups have 
different needs in terms of accessibility. The consultation 
was therefore carried out in as inclusive a manner as 
possible.  
 
 
 

Surveys were available in 
several formats, including 
easy-read, large print, 
standard and a youth 
version. All were available 
in paper format and on-
line.  All were available in 
English and Welsh.  
Both were developed to 
ensure participation with a 
diverse audience. The 
easy read and youth 
versions contained all of 
the questions but were 
written in a less complex 
language and using 
images where appropriate.  

What consultation was carried out?  
Consider any consultation activity 
already carried out, which may not 
have been specifically about equality 
but may have information you can 
use 

The Council’s MTFS consultation ran from 9 September 
to 3 November 2019. The consultation received 7,437 
interactions from a combination of survey completions, 
engagement at stands held across the county borough, 
workshops held with comprehensive pupils, engagement 
at various meetings with different local groups, social 
media engagement and via the authority’s Citizens’ 
Panel. 

Please see the 
consultation report for full 
details of questions asked 
and actions. 

P
age 75



4 

 

10 public engagement stands were held in libraries 
throughout the county borough. The consultation and 
engagement team attended 9 community group’s 
meetings to inform people about the consultation and 
assist attendees to complete paper surveys (where 
requested) or to share their views via the clicker-pad 
version of the survey. These included: 
 

 Bridgend Carers Café 
 OAP Association 
 Stroke Association 
 Bridge Vision 
 Bridgend Coalition for Disabled People (BCDP) 
 Bridgend Shout 
 Headway 
 Tai Chi 
 Yarny Army 

 
In order to gather the views of young people, the 
consultation team attended an all-Bridgend headteachers 
event to promote the survey as well as to ask individual 
schools to take part in the interactive sessions in order to 
gather feedback.  As a result, comprehensive schools 
across the County Borough took part in clicker-pad 
sessions.  The consultation team engaged with 1,218 
young people. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 76



5 

 

Record of consultation with people from equality groups 

Group or persons consulted Date/venue and 
number of \people 

Feedback/areas of concern 
raised  

Action Points 

Bridgend Carers Café 
(Carers) 
 
 

30/10/2019 
34 people in attendance 

The consultation team attended 
to ensure the group were aware 
of the consultation and assisted 
attendees to complete the survey. 

A full public consultation with a 
specific EIA for each proposal 
will be carried out if any of the 
proposals are taken forward 

OAP Association (50+) 
 
 

03/10/2019 
28 people in attendance 

The consultation team attended 
to ensure the group were aware 
of the consultation and assisted 
attendees to complete the survey. 

A full public consultation with a 
specific EIA for each proposal 
will be carried out if any of the 
proposals are taken forward 

Stroke Association (Stroke 
recovery) 
 
 

24/09/2019 
32 people in attendance 

The consultation team attended 
to ensure the group were aware 
of the consultation and assisted 
attendees to complete the survey. 

A full public consultation with a 
specific EIA for each proposal 
will be carried out if any of the 
proposals are taken forward 

Bridge Vision (Visually 
impaired) 
 
 

04/10/2019 
43 people in attendance 

The consultation team attended 
to ensure the group were aware 
of the consultation and assisted 
attendees to complete the survey. 

A full public consultation with a 
specific EIA for each proposal 
will be carried out if any of the 
proposals are taken forward 

BCDP (Disabilities) 
 
 

08/10/2019 
11 people in attendance 

The consultation team carried out 
the consultation using clicker-
pads.  11 people completed the 
survey in full. 

A full public consultation with a 
specific EIA for each proposal 
will be carried out if any of the 
proposals are taken forward 

Shout (50+) 
 
 

16/10/2019 
18 people in attendance 

The consultation team attended 
to ensure the group were aware 
of the consultation and assisted 
attendees to complete the survey. 

A full public consultation with a 
specific EIA for each proposal 
will be carried out if any of the 
proposals are taken forward 

Headway (Mental Health) 
 
 

03/10/2019 
11 people in attendance 

The consultation team attended 
to ensure the group were aware 
of the consultation and assisted 
attendees to complete the survey. 

A full public consultation with a 
specific EIA for each proposal 
will be carried out if any of the 
proposals are taken forward 

P
age 77



6 

 

Tai Chi – Evergreen Hall 
(50+) 
 

16/10/2019 
34 people in attendance 

The consultation team attended 
to ensure the group were aware 
of the consultation and assisted 
attendees to complete the survey. 

A full public consultation with a 
specific EIA for each proposal 
will be carried out if any of the 
proposals are taken forward 

Yarny Army (50+) 
 

31/10/2019 
2 people in attendance 

The consultation team attended 
to ensure the group were aware 
of the consultation and assisted 
attendees to complete the survey. 

A full public consultation with a 
specific EIA for each proposal 
will be carried out if any of the 
proposals are taken forward 

 

 
Assessment of Impact 
 

Based on the data you have analysed, and the results of consultation or research, consider what the potential impact will be upon 
people with protected characteristics (negative or positive). Include any examples of how the policy helps to promote equality. If you 
do identify any adverse impact you must seek legal advice as to whether, based on the evidence provided, an adverse impact 
is or is potentially discriminatory, and identify steps to mitigate any adverse impact – these actions will need to be included 
in your action plan.   

P
age 78



7 

 

 Impact or potential impact Actions to mitigate 

Gender 
 

The Full Equality Impact Assessment 
reinforces the detail in the Initial 
Screening EIA which is that “the impact 
on women and men may differ based on 
the demographics of the county borough 
rather than service delivery/provision. 
The full impact will be unknown until a 
consultation exercise has been 
undertaken with the public where 
feedback and concerns regarding the 
proposed budget reductions may be 
gathered and subsequent mitigating 
actions considered.” From the 2011 
census there were 139,178 people living 
in the county borough comprising of a 
gender split of 49.4% male (68,789) and 
50.6% (70,389) Female. Many of the 
proposals will also impact carers, parents 
and children. The vast majority of caring 
and parenting responsibilities are 
undertaken by women; some proposals 
therefore regarding caring, children and 
nursery provision are likely to negatively 
impact women. Within the consultation, 
1,442 people responded to the question 
regarding gender as follows: 
 

 Female – 834; 

 Male – 587; 

 Transgender – 1; 

 Prefer not to say – 20 

There will be an impact on women and 
men as a result of some of the proposed 
budget reductions although, potentially, 
the impact may differ depending on the 
service being delivered / reviewed. For 
each of the proposed budget reductions 
included in the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy a consultation exercise and an 
Equality Impact Assessment will be 
undertaken prior to the final approval (or 
not) of the proposal by Cabinet / Council. 
Members will then be in a position to 
make an informed decision based on a 
more focussed consultation and 
engagement exercise. 

P
age 79



8 

 

Additionally, 15 women said they were 
pregnant and 14 had given birth in the 
last 26 weeks. 

Disability The Full Equality Impact Assessment 
reinforces the detail in the Initial 
Screening EIA which is that “from the 
2011 census, there were 18,756 people 
(out of a county borough total of 139,178 
people) who considered they had a 
physical, sensory or learning disability or 
long term illness. The full impact will be 
unknown until a consultation exercise 
has been undertaken with the public 
where feedback and concerns regarding 
the proposed budget reductions may be 
gathered and subsequent mitigating 
actions considered.” Of the 1,406 people 
responding to the question on the 
consultation survey, 177 (13%) stated 
they considered themselves disabled. 
Whilst the council is mindful of the 
potential impact of the budget proposals 
on disabled people, there are 
opportunities for us to work with our third 
sector partners to deliver an alternative 
form of service. The budget proposals will 
include reviews of services for disabled 
people. 

There will be an impact on people with 
disabilities as a result of some of the 
proposed budget reductions. For each of 
the proposed budget reductions included 
in the Medium Term Financial Strategy a 
consultation exercise and an Equality 
Impact Assessment will be undertaken 
prior to the final approval (or not) of the 
proposal by Cabinet / Council. Members 
will then be in a position to make an 
informed decision based on a more 
focussed consultation and engagement 
exercise. 

Race The Full Equality Impact Assessment 
reinforces the detail in the Initial 
Screening EIA which is that “from the 
2011 census there are 2000 BAME 

There may be an impact on race as a 
result of some of the proposed budget 
reductions. For each of the proposed 
budget reductions included in the 

P
age 80



9 

 

people living in Bridgend comprising of 
1.5% of the total population. The full 
impact of the budget restrictions is 
currently unknown however we will 
continue to monitor the impact and 
introduce mitigating actions where 
possible. The council currently provides 
information in languages other than 
Welsh, English and British Sign 
Language. The full impact will be 
unknown until a consultation exercise 
has been undertaken with the public 
where feedback and concerns regarding 
the proposed budget reductions may be 
gathered and subsequent mitigating 
actions considered. The responses to the 
consultation exercise were from: 
 

 Welsh – 904; 

 English – 105; 

 British – 388; 

 Scottish – 8; 

 Northern Irish – 1: 

 Prefer not to say – 14; 

 Other – 23 

In terms of ethnicity, the following data 
was captured: 
 

 White – 1,387; 

 Mixed/multiple ethnic groups – 11; 

Medium Term Financial Strategy a 
consultation exercise and an Equality 
Impact Assessment will be undertaken 
prior to the final approval (or not) of the 
proposal by Cabinet / Council. Members 
will then be in a position to make an 
informed decision based on a more 
focussed consultation and engagement 
exercise. 

P
age 81



10 

 

 Asian or Asian British – 6; 

 Black/African/Caribbean/Black 

British – 1; 

 Other ethnic group – 3; 

 Prefer not to say – 22 

We will continue to monitor the impact of 
our proposed budget reductions on this 
protected characteristic. 

Religion and belief The Full Equality Impact Assessment 

reinforces the detail in the Initial 

Screening EIA which is that “from the 

2011 census there are 2,000 black and  

minority ethnic (BAME) people living in 

Bridgend comprising of 1.5% of the total 

population. In terms of religion and belief 

there were: 

 

 Buddhist - 357; 

 Hindu - 270; 

 Muslim - 529; 

 Jewish – 33 ; 

 Sikh - 46 

 
From the consultation exercise, the 
following data was collected: 
 

 No religion -  682; 

 Christian – 667; 

 Buddhist – 10; 

There may be an impact on religion and 
belief as a result of some of the proposed 
budget reductions. For each of the 
proposed budget reductions included in 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy a 
consultation exercise and an Equality 
Impact Assessment will be undertaken 
prior to the final approval (or not) of the 
proposal by Cabinet / Council. Members 
will then be in a position to make an 
informed decision based on a more 
focussed consultation and engagement 
exercise. 

P
age 82



11 

 

 Hindu – 4; 

 Muslim – 3; 

 Other – 22; 

 Prefer not to say – 48 

The full impact of the budget reductions 
is currently unknown however we will 
continue to monitor the impact and 
introduce mitigation where possible. 

Sexual Orientation The Full Equality Impact Assessment 
reinforces the detail in the Initial 
Screening EIA which is that “the potential 
impact of the budget reductions on this 
particular protected characteristic group 
is unknown as, although consultees are 
asked to share their personal and 
sensitive data with the council, this is not 
always disclosed. The full impact will be 
unknown until a consultation exercise 
has been undertaken with the public 
where feedback and concerns regarding 
the proposed budget reductions may be 
gathered and mitigation considered. 
Further efforts will be made to encourage 
service users, customers, visitors and 
staff to disclose information regarding 
sexual orientation.” From the consultation 
exercise, the following data was 
collected: 

 Heterosexual / Straight – 1,278; 

 Gay man – 33; 

There is not expected to be an impact on 
sexual orientation as a result of some of 
the proposed budget reductions. For 
each of the proposed budget reductions 
included in the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy a consultation exercise and an 
Equality Impact Assessment will be 
undertaken prior to the final approval (or 
not) of the proposal by Cabinet / Council. 
Members will then be in a position to 
make an informed decision based on a 
more focussed consultation and 
engagement exercise. 

P
age 83



12 

 

 Gay woman/lesbian – 17; 

 Bisexual – 31; 

 Other – 8; 

 Prefer not to say - 60 

  

Age The Full Equality Impact Assessment 

reinforces the detail in the Initial 

Screening EIA which is that “the impact 

on age will differ and will depend on the 

nature of the service delivered and the 

service user. From the 2011 census the 

age breakdown of people living in 

Bridgend is: 

 

 0 – 15   = 18.3% (25,288); 

 16 – 64 = 63.2% (89,036); 

 65+      = 18.5% (24,854). 
 
The budget proposals contain some 
reductions that could potentially 
negatively impact older and younger 
people. The full impact will be unknown 
until a consultation exercise has been 
undertaken with the public where 
feedback and concerns regarding the 
proposed budget reductions may be 
gathered and subsequent mitigating 
actions considered”. A total of 1,414 
provided a response to this question. 

There may be an impact on people of 
varying ages as a result of some of the 
proposed budget reductions. For each of 
the proposed budget reductions included 
in the Medium Term Financial Strategy a 
consultation exercise and an Equality 
Impact Assessment will be undertaken 
prior to the final approval (or not) of the 
proposal by Cabinet / Council. Members 
will then be in a position to make an 
informed decision based on a more 
focussed consultation and engagement 
exercise. 

P
age 84



13 

 

From the consultation exercise, the 
following data was gathered: 
 

 Age under 18 = 18; 

 Age 18 – 24 = 54; 

 Age 25 – 34 = 247; 

 Age 35 – 44 = 300; 

 Age 45 – 54 = 251; 

 Age 55 – 64 = 226; 

 Age 65 – 74 = 205; 

 Age 75+ = 102; 

 Prefer not to say = 11 

Some of the proposals could impact 
children’s’ social and educational 
development and household incomes. 

Pregnancy & Maternity The Full Equality Impact Assessment 

reinforces the detail in the Initial 

Screening EIA which is that “the potential 

impact of the proposed budget reductions 

on pregnancy and maternity is currently 

unknown. Some of the proposed 

reductions may influence the decisions of 

women to have (or not) children as it may 

no longer be economically and socially 

viable. Women could face the decision of 

either staying at home (which has shown 

to have a negative impact on their 

income, career prospects and their longer 

term income) or paying private nursery 

There may be an impact on pregnancy 
and maternity as a result of some of the 
proposed budget reductions. For each of 
the proposed budget reductions included 
in the Medium Term Financial Strategy a 
consultation exercise and an Equality 
Impact Assessment will be undertaken 
prior to the final approval (or not) of the 
proposal by Cabinet / Council. Members 
will then be in a position to make an 
informed decision based on a more 
focussed consultation and engagement 
exercise. 

P
age 85



14 

 

fees until their children reach the age of4-

5. . The full impact will be unknown until a 

consultation exercise has been 

undertaken with the public where 

feedback and concerns regarding the 

proposed budget reductions may be 

gathered and subsequent mitigating 

actions considered.” From the 

consultation exercise, the following data 

was collected: 

 

 Pregnant – 15 

 Given birth in the last 26 weeks – 

14 

Transgender The Full Equality Impact Assessment 

reinforces the detail in the Initial 

Screening EIA which is that “the potential 

impact of the budget reductions on this 

particular protected characteristic group 

is unknown as, although consultees are 

asked to share their personal and 

sensitive data with the council, this is not 

always disclosed. The full impact will be 

unknown until a consultation exercise 

has been undertaken with the public 

where feedback and concerns regarding 

the proposed budget reductions may be 

gathered and subsequent mitigating 

actions considered. Further efforts will be 

made to encourage service users, 

customers, visitors and staff to disclose 

There is not expected to be an impact on 
transgender people as a result of some 
of the proposed budget reductions. For 
each of the proposed budget reductions 
included in the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy a consultation exercise and an 
Equality Impact Assessment will be 
undertaken prior to the final approval (or 
not) of the proposal by Cabinet / Council. 
Members will then be in a position to 
make an informed decision based on a 
more focussed consultation and 
engagement exercise. 

P
age 86



15 

 

information regarding reassignment. 

From the consultation exercise the 

following data was collected: 

  

 Transgender - 1 
 Prefer not to say - 20 

Marriage and Civil partnership The Full Equality Impact Assessment 
reinforces the detail in the initial 
screening EIA which is that “the potential 
impact of the budget reductions on this 
particular protected characteristic group 
is unknown however there is not 
expected to be an impact either positive 
or negative.”      
From the consultation exercise the 
following data was collected:- 

 

 Single – 183; 

 Partnered – 217; 

 Married – 837; 

 Civil Partnered – 11; 

 Divorced – 78; 

 Widowed – 74; 

 Prefer not to say – 39 
 

There is not expected to be an impact on 
marriage and civil partnership as a result 
of some of the proposed budget 
reductions. For each of the proposed 
budget reductions included in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy a 
consultation exercise and an Equality 
Impact Assessment will be undertaken 
prior to the final approval (or not) of the 
proposal by Cabinet / Council. Members 
will then be in a position to make an 
informed decision based on a more 
focussed consultation and engagement 
exercise. 

Welsh language  
 

From the 2011 census, there were 

17,796 people (out of a county borough 

total of 139,178 people – 12.8%) who 

can read, speak or write welsh.  From the 

consultation exercise the following data 

was collected for those able to speak / 

The council continues to promote the 

welsh language and complies with the 

Welsh Language Standards in all of its 

activities. 
 

P
age 87



16 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Equality Impact assessment Action Plan  
 

It is essential that you now complete the action plan.  Once your action plan is complete, please ensure that the actions are 
mainstreamed into the relevant Service Development Plan.  

Action Lead Person Target for completion Resources needed Service 
Development plan 
for this action 

Undertake a 
consultation and 
engagement exercise 
and produce a 
meaningful and robust 
Equality Impact 
Assessment on each 
proposed budget 
reduction where there 
is a change to service, 

Relevant Corporate 
Director / Head of 
Service with support 
and advice from the 
Consultation 
Engagement and 
Equalities Team  

Prior to submission of 
reports to Cabinet and/or 
Council on Medium Terms 
Financial Strategy 
reductions. 

Support and advice from 
the Consultation 
Engagement and 
Equalities Team.  
 
Full public consultation.  

Each relevant 
service area 

read / write Welsh either fairly well or 

fluently: 

  

 Speak Welsh – 139; 

 Read Welsh – 169; 

 Write Welsh – 137 

 

There is not expected to be a negative 

impact on the Welsh language. 
 

P
age 88



17 

 

policy, practice or 
procedure.  

 
Please detail the name of the independent person (someone other than the person undertaking the EIA) countersigning 
this EIA below: 

Countersigned: Role: Date: 

 
Gill Lewis 

 
Interim Head of Finance and S151 Officer 

 
5th February 2020 

 

Please outline how and when this EIA will be monitored in future and when a review will take place (max. three years): 

Monitoring arrangements: Date of Review: 

A review of this Full EIA will take place on an annual basis and data that is subsequently made available 
following consultation and engagement on the individual proposed budget reductions will also be 
considered. 
 

December 2019 

 

Details of person completing the Full EIA: 

Name: Role: Date: 

Joanne Norman Group Manager – Financial Planning and Budget 
Management 

5th February 2020 

 

 

Publication of a Full EIA and feedback to consultation groups 
 

It is important that the results of this impact assessment are published in a user friendly accessible format. 
 

It is also important that you feedback to your consultation groups with the actions that you are taking to address their concerns and 
to mitigate against any potential adverse impact. 
 
When complete, this form must be signed off and retained by the service area. The Full EIA should be recorded as complete on share point (your 

business manager has access to share point). Where a full EIA is needed this should be included as an appendix with the relevant cabinet report 

and therefore available publically on the website. 

If you have queries in relation to the use of this toolkit please contact the Equalities Team on 01656 643664 or equalities@bridgend.gov.uk 

P
age 89

file:///C:/Users/johne1/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/GZKF5DZL/equalities@bridgend.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 2 
 

 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 ASSESSMENT 
 

Project Description (key aims): 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2020-21 to 2023-24 

 

Section 1  Complete the table below to assess how well you have applied the 5 ways of working. 

Long-term 
 

1. How does your project / activity balance short-term need with the long-term and planning for the 
future? 

The development of the MTFS aims to balance short-term needs in terms of meeting savings targets, while 
safeguarding the ability to meet longer-term objectives. It provides a financial basis for decision making and aims 
to ensure that the Council’s finances can be as healthy as they can be for future generations. It does this by: 

 Outlining the impact of a number of different funding scenarios (Best, Most Likely and Worst) to provide an 
element of flexibility to the Council. 

 Adhering to a clear set of MTFS principles that drive expenditure decisions. 

 Ensuring that the majority of savings are generated from making smarter use of resources with front line service 
reductions kept to a minimum and only as a last resort.   

 The development of a 10 year capital programme which reflects the Council’s affordability in terms of capital 
receipts and borrowing and investment in capital schemes that support the Council’s corporate priorities and 
benefits the County Borough over a longer period. 

 Front line services have been protected as far as possible.  

Prevention 
2. How does your project / activity put resources into preventing problems occurring or getting worse? 

The MTFS attempts to balance investment in preventative measures against costs of reacting to unanticipated 
situations in statutory services. Each budget reduction proposal is weighed in terms of the impact on other areas of 
the Council, on the public and on the Well-being of Future Generations. Where a budget cut in one area of non-
statutory prevention would lead to increased costs in another, this is not considered to be good financial 
management.  A number of budget pressures target investment in public realm, and additional learning needs in 
school settings rather than more costly out of county placements, and budget reductions are achieved through 
remodelling of existing service provision to prevent more costly long term residential placements. In addition, the 
Council’s capital programme targets significant investment in refurbishing or replacing highways, buildings and 
other infrastructure to prevent longer term maintenance costs. 

P
age 91



ANNEX 2 
 

 

Integration 
 

3. How does your project / activity deliver economic, social, environmental & cultural outcomes together? 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy is closely aligned to the Council’s Corporate Plan, with explicit links between 
resources and corporate priorities. The MTFS has been guided by the 3 Wellbeing Objectives outlined in the 
Corporate Plan. The development of the Corporate Plan and MTFS are both the responsibility of Cabinet and the 
Corporate Management Board. 
 
 

Collaboration 
4. How does your project / activity involve working together with partners (internal and external) to deliver 

well-being objectives? 

A number of budget reduction proposals are achievable through inter-agency working, with the Third Sector, Social 
Enterprises, other local authorities and partners. These include joint services across local authorities, and with the 
Health Service, and new models of working internally, such as the Corporate Landlord model which aims to 
provide a resilient service that maximises the use of and improves the quality of the Council’s assets going 
forward.  A number of services already collaborate with other partners and these continue to improve performance 
whilst operating with reducing resources.  

Involvement 
 

5. How does your project / activity involve stakeholders with an interest in achieving the well-being 
goals? How do those stakeholders reflect the diversity of the area? 

A full consultation “Shaping Bridgend’s Future” was launched on 9 September 2019 and ran until 3 November 
2019. This covered a range of budget proposals under consideration as well as seeking public views on resource 
allocation, priorities and the principles around budget protections and taxation levels. Details of the consultation 
were promoted to/shared with the following stakeholders: general public/residents, Citizens’ Panel members, 
elected members, BCBC employees, Bridgend businesses, town and community councils, school governors, 
Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum (BCCEF) members, local interest/community groups, BAVO, 
Bridgend College, partners, secondary schools (inc. head teachers) and media outlets. 
 
The consultation included an online survey, attendance at a diverse range of external stakeholder groups and 
social media debates. Members have had the opportunity to take part in a budget workshop also. The results were 
collated and presented to Cabinet on 17 December 2019 in order to further inform decisions on the MTFS.  

 
 

P
age 92



ANNEX 2 
 

 

Section 2  Assess how well your project / activity will result in multiple benefits for our communities and contribute 
to the national well-being goals  

Description of the Well-being goals How will your project / activity deliver 
benefits to our communities under the 
national well-being goals? 

Is there any way to maximise the 
benefits or minimise any negative 
impacts to our communities (and the 
contribution to the national well-being 
goals)? 

A prosperous Wales 
An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); and 
which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy 
which generates wealth and provides 
employment opportunities, allowing 
people to take advantage of the wealth 
generated through securing decent work.  
 

 

 Improved educational outcomes for 
children and young people leading 
to a well-educated and skilled 
population to meet future skills 
needs. 

 Improve future outcomes for young 
people including educational 
attainment, cohesive safe 
communities are more attractive 
and easier places to do business. 

 Increase productivity, employment 
and skills. Encourage a lower 
carbon economy. 

 
The majority of savings will be generated 
from making smarter use of resources 
with front line service reductions kept to a 
minimum and only as a last resort.  

 

The MTFS will be aligned with the 
Corporate Plan to achieve the Council’s 
current Wellbeing Objectives: 

 

Supporting a successful economy - 
taking steps to make the county a good 
place to do business, for people to live, 
work, study and visit, and to ensure that 
our schools are focused on raising the 
skills, qualifications and ambitions of all 
people in the county.  
 
Helping people to be more self-reliant - 

taking early steps to reduce or prevent 
people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services. 
 

Smarter use of resources –  
ensuring that all its resources (financial, 
physical, human and technological) are 

P
age 93



ANNEX 2 
 

 

used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the development of 
resources throughout the community that 
can help deliver the Council’s priorities.  
 

 

Funding will be targeted in line with these 
priorities and in line with the 13 MTFS 
Principles. 

 

A resilient Wales 
A nation which maintains and enhances 
a biodiverse natural environment with 
healthy functioning ecosystems that 
support social, economic and ecological 
resilience and the capacity to adapt to 
change (for example climate change).  
 

 

 Break long term cycles to secure 
better outcomes for people and 
communities. 

 Stronger individuals and 
communities are more resilient to 
change. 

 Communities place a greater value 
on their environment and more 
people get involved in local issues 
and recognise the importance of 
green space in wellbeing and as a 
prevention factor. 

 Healthy active people in resilient 
communities, volunteering, keeping 
young people in the local area, 
reducing travel to work, increased 
use and awareness of green 
spaces. 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 
services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

A healthier Wales 
A society in which people’s physical and 
mental well-being is maximised and in 

 

 Improved future physical and mental 
well-being, by reducing health 
harming behaviours. 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 

P
age 94



ANNEX 2 
 

 

which choices and behaviours that 
benefit future health are understood. 

 Promote more involvement in 
communities to benefit mental 
health, social and physical activity. 

 Focus on healthy lifestyles and 
workplaces, increased income 
linked to health. 

services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

A more equal Wales 
A society that enables people to fulfil 
their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances (including 
their socio economic background and 
circumstances).  
 

 

 Helping all children and young 
people to reach their full potential, 
by improving their early years 
experiences and ensure access to 
information to help make informed 
decisions. Improving outcomes for 
teenage parents and their children. 

 Recognising that communities are 
becoming more diverse. Addressing 
barriers that some groups have in 
feeling part of communities. 

 Address income inequality and 
health inequality, focus on disability, 
older people and other equality 
groups. Focus on increasing income 
and reducing the skills gap. 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 
services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

A Wales of cohesive communities  
Attractive, viable, safe and well-
connected communities.  
 

 

 Increased number of confident 
secure young people playing an 
active positive role in their 
communities. 

 Healthy active people in resilient 
communities, keeping young people 
and skills in the local area, tackling 
poverty as a barrier to engagement 
in community life a supportive 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 
services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

P
age 95



ANNEX 2 
 

 

network, developed through 
initiatives at work, can help to 
support staff through challenging 
times in their lives. 

 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language 
A society that promotes and protects 
culture, heritage and the Welsh 
language, and which encourages people 
to participate in the arts, and sports and 
recreation.  
 

 
 

 Cultural settings provide support 
sensitive to our increasingly diverse 
communities and help us identify 
opportunities to increase the 
number of Welsh speakers. 

 Importance of culture and language 
as a focus for communities coming 
together. 

 Bringing more people from different 
cultures together. More people 
identifying with their community. 

 Encourage take up of sports, arts 
and recreation initiatives through 
the workplace.  

 Ensure Welsh culture and language 
are a part of this. Welsh language 
skills are beneficial to businesses 
and in increasing demand. 

 
 
Compliance with the Welsh Language act 
and specific Welsh Language Standards 
will be monitored as part of the annual 
report. 

A globally responsible Wales 
A nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, takes account of whether doing 
such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being.  

 

 Diverse, confident communities are 
resilient to change. Promotes a 
better knowledge of different 
cultures and a better knowledge of 
the local environment. 

 Healthy lifestyles include cultural 
activities that promote 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 
services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

P
age 96



ANNEX 2 
 

 

understanding of diversity of 
communities, different cultures, 
races. Promote apprenticeships to 
people from different backgrounds. 

 
 

Section 3  Will your project / activity affect people or groups of people with protected characteristics? Explain what 
will be done to maximise any positive impacts or minimise any negative impacts 

Protected characteristics Will your project / activity have 
any positive impacts on those 

with a protected characteristic? 

Will your project / activity have 
any negative impacts on those 
with a protected characteristic? 

Is there any way to maximise 
any positive impacts or 
minimise any negative 

impacts? 

Age: Unknown - The impact, positive or negative, will depend on the 
nature of the service delivered, the specific budget reduction 
proposed or budget pressure funded and the service user. 
 

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual 
Equality Impact Assessments 
(EIAs).  

Gender reassignment: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual 
(EIAs).  

Marriage or civil partnership: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual 
(EIAs).  

Pregnancy or maternity: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual 
(EIAs).  

Race: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual 
(EIAs).  

Religion or Belief: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 

P
age 97



ANNEX 2 
 

 

considered through individual 
(EIAs).  

Race: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual 
(EIAs).  

Sex: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual 
(EIAs).  

Welsh Language: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual 
(EIAs).  

 
 

Section 4  Identify decision meeting for Project/activity e.g. Cabinet, Council or delegated decision taken by 
Executive members and/or Chief Officers 

Council 

Compiling Officers Name: Deborah Exton 

Compiling Officers Job Title: Interim Deputy Head of Finance 

Date Completed: 10/12/19 

 

P
age 98



ANNEX 3 
 

 
 

 

 

                                 
                              

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
 

2020-21 to 2023-24 

Page 99



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

1  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 100



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

2  

 

           
  
 

                     MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  
 

1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 The Council aspires to improve the understanding of its financial strategy, link more 

closely to its well-being objectives and explain the Council’s goal of delivering 
sustainable services in line with the overarching ambition of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. This narrative summarises the continued and 
significant investment in public services that the Council will make.  It also sets out 
where we will be making significant changes to particular areas of service and 
consequences of these to the budget.  

 
1.2  Corporate Financial Overview  
 

Over the last 10 years, the Council has made £68 million of budget reductions, as 
shown in the chart below. This represents 30% of the Council’s 2009-10 budget: 
 
Bridgend County Borough Council Budget Reductions 2010 to 2020 
 

 
 
 

While the Council’s net revenue budget is planned at £286.885 million for 2020-21, 
its overall expenditure far exceeds this. Taking into account expenditure and services 
which are funded by specific grants or fees and charges, the Council’s gross budget 
will be around £420 million in 2020-21. The local authority’s annual revenue budget 
covers the day-to-day running costs of the local authority (including staff salaries, 
housing maintenance, pensions, operational costs etc.). Around £175 million of the 
gross budget is spent on the Council’s own staff including teachers and school 
support staff. Much of the cost of the services provided by external organisations is 
also wage related – these include for example waste collection operatives, 
domiciliary care workers, leisure staff and foster carers.  

 

Page 101



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

3  

 

The Council gets the majority of its revenue funding from Welsh Government through 
the Revenue Support Grant and a share of Non Domestic Rates. It supplements this 
through council tax collection, other grants and fees and charges. Council tax is a 
charge that local authorities charge to help to pay for their services. The amount that 
council tax payers pay is made up of 3 elements: 
 
 

 Bridgend County Borough Council charge 

 Community Council charge 

 Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales charge 
 
In terms of council tax, the proportion of council tax required to balance the Council’s 
budget has steadily increased over recent years and it currently funds almost 30% of 
the budget.  
 
As well as having less income to fund services, there are other pressures that 
squeeze resources. Amongst these are: 
 

 Legislative changes e.g. the Environmental (Wales) Act 2016, the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and the Additional Learning Needs 
and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018.   

 
 Demographic changes - People are living longer which is obviously good news 

but that also can bring increased dependency through people living with more 
complex or multiple conditions.  

 
 An increase in the number of pupils at our schools, which places increased 

pressure on school budgets, along with an increase in free school meals 
entitlement which brings additional funding pressures.  

 
The Council has adopted a Corporate Plan that sets out the approaches that it will 
take  to manage these pressures whilst continuing to ensure that, as far as possible, 
services can be provided that meet the needs of  the citizens and communities in 
Bridgend. These approaches are: 

 

 Though a large and complex organisation, the Council will make every effort to 
work as one single organisation. That means avoiding duplication and double 
handling of data through sharing of systems and processes. This isn’t always as 
easy as it sounds because often different rules or opportunities apply to different 
services. Nevertheless acting as ‘One Council working together to improve lives’ is 
enshrined in the Council’s vision. 

 Wherever possible the Council will support communities and people to become 
more resilient by creating their own solutions and reducing dependency on the 
Council. This is because it is not sustainable for the Council to continue to aspire 
to meet all and every need that arises and because there is capacity, talent and 
ideas in other parts of the community that can be encouraged to play an active 
and effective role in sustaining and often enhancing local services. The Council 
has a role in encouraging, enabling and leading this approach and has adopted 
this as one of its underlying principles. 

Page 102



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

4  

 

 The Council has agreed a principle of focusing diminishing resources on 
communities and individuals with the greatest need. Parts of our community have 
long standing problems of poverty and disadvantage.  The solutions to this are not 
all in the direct control of the Council (for example the effects of changes to the 
welfare system) but where possible the Council has agreed that it wants to both 
alleviate problems in these areas and develop longer term sustainable solutions. 
The new proposed socio-economic duty on public bodies will reflect these aims. 

 The Council has three wellbeing objectives that reflect these and other principles.  
One of these objectives is to make “Smarter Use of Resources”. This means we 
will ensure that all its resources (financial, physical, human and technological) are 
used as effectively and efficiently as possible and support the development of 
resources throughout the community that can help deliver the Council’s priorities. 

 
1.3  Education  
 

The Council is proposing to spend £121 million on services delivered by the 
Education and Family Support Directorate in 2020-21.  The majority of this money 
will be spent by Bridgend’s 59 schools and one pupil referral unit.   

 
In addition to the £100 million proposed budget to be delegated to schools in 2020-
21, which mostly pays for the salaries of teaching and other school staff, and the 
running costs of the facilities (ongoing revenue expenditure), the Council has already 
spent £21.6 million in building and refurbishing schools as part of our 21st Century 
School Modernisation Band A Programme and has provisionally committed to a 
further £19 million as part of the Band B Programme. This comprises one-off capital 
expenditure across several years, with significant match funding from Welsh 
Government. Welsh Government has provided approval in principle in respect of the 
Strategic Outline Programme submitted by the Council around our aspirations for 
Band B funding. However, approval will also be required for individual project 
business cases. While it is too early to say how this will progress, the concepts 
proposed are based around forecast demand for primary school places, our support 
to promote the growth in Welsh-medium education and our desire to create additional 
capacity to meet the needs of children with additional learning needs in our main 
special school, mainly in the primary sector. While this is inevitably dependent to 
some extent on an increased population as a result of new housing, it is likely that 
this will represent the most significant area of capital expenditure for the Council in 
future years.   

 
The Council has a longer-term goal to make the overall schools system more efficient 
(e.g. through making sure we have the right number of school places available in the 
right parts of the county (including ensuring enough capacity for anticipated future 
increases in school age population)).  

 
For 2020-21 the level of budget reductions required is not as great as had been 
feared. As a result, it has been possible to protect schools from a proposed 1% 
annual efficiency target for one year. However, the forecast pressure on Council 
budgets for future years is such that it may be unavoidable for 2021-2022 onwards, 
and so it will be necessary for headteachers and governing bodies to plan ahead.  

 
The Council has identified ‘Helping people and communities to be more healthy and 
resilient’ as a ‘Well-being Objective’ and early intervention is an important part of this 

Page 103



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

5  

 

– taking steps wherever possible to prevent people becoming reliant on Council 
services. As well as being of great social value to individuals and communities, this 
approach is more cost effective. Successful intervention at an early age and at an 
early stage can prevent needs from escalating and requiring more costly and 
complex help later on.   

 
In seeking to protect our investment in education and early intervention, the Council 
is making minimal changes to the services delivered at this time. We are proposing 
the following changes in 2020-2021 that are reflected in the budget: 

 

 We intend reviewing our staffing structures within the directorate, which we 

anticipate will secure efficiency savings of around £50,000. 

 We would like to reduce our contribution to Central South Consortium over the 

coming years. This is, however, subject to agreement with our partners. For 2020-

2021, we anticipate a further cut of £17,000 (3%). We will continue discussions 

around savings that can be made in future years.  

We will continue our phased implementation of the Council’s revised Home-to-
School/College Transport Policy, where we have established it is safe to do so. We 
expect to achieve at least £75,000 of efficiency savings during 2020-21. We are also 
reviewing other aspects of our transport provision including post-16 transport and a 
full consultation exercise is being carried out to inform this. 
 

1.4  Social Care and Early Help  
 

After Education, the largest area of Council spend is on social care. This includes 
social care for children and for adults who are vulnerable or at risk. Within the 
Directorate there is a strong ethos on social care as a professional discipline and by 
the two areas working more closely together there is a strong focus on ensuring 
positive outcomes for those people we work to support. The Directorate continues to 
develop new approaches to service delivery and this includes better support and 
outcomes for prevention, early intervention and wellbeing. This approach supports 
the wellbeing objective of ‘helping people and communities to be more healthy and 
resilient’ and is also part of the Directorate’s transformation plan with a clear link to 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 
There are established working relationships between children’s social care and early 
help and intervention services with mechanisms in place to ensure close working and 
appropriate and proportionate responses to families and children in need.  
 
Our strategy for the next few years is to more effectively manage demand and 
introduce new ways of working in order to lessen dependency and enable people to 
maximise their independence.   

 
Social services is largely a demand led service and whilst the long term strategy is to 
enable people to be more self-reliant, the demographics show that people are living 
longer, often with more complex conditions than ever before. This means that there 
are more people living in the community who would previously have remained in 
hospital or entered a care home. Children’s social care is also demand led and the 
financial pressure to meet need can fluctuate very rapidly. This needs to be achieved 

Page 104



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

6  

 

within available budgets. In total, the Council is proposing to spend £71 million on 
social care and wellbeing services in 2020-21.  

 
Though some pressures are allowed for in planning the 2020-21 budget, we are not 
 simply increasing the budget to meet demand. This would be unsustainable and if we 
 increased budgets year on year to meet new demand, it would increasingly mean the 
 Council would have to restrict other services. Therefore the Council’s strategy is to 
 transform how services are delivered. Introducing new ways of working which will be 
 sustainable in the long term alongside a  demand led service is inevitably taking time. 
The service has made good progress in achieving the required savings, however the 
increase in demand and complexity of care required continues to put pressure on our 
budgets.  

 
In order to be sustainable going forward, the Council is ensuring that any changes 
are introduced in a planned and timely way in order to take existing and future 
customers with us as well as the general workforce. This work has already 
commenced and the budget saving proposals for 2020-21 build on the 
implementation plans that are already underway. The re-modelling programmes 
focus on changing the culture and reviewing what has become ‘custom and practice’.  

 
The Council has already made changes. In adult social care we have changed the 
assessment framework in order to improve the outcomes for people who need care 
and support whilst also reducing the numbers of people who require long term 
support. The Council focuses on helping people to achieve the outcomes they want 
for themselves, targeting our interventions on what is missing, rather than going 
straight to what package of care we can give them. We are also actively reviewing 
the way we deliver domiciliary care, day services and residential care for children. 
There has also been an increased focus on developing foster care. 
 
Importantly these transformations are designed to both better support people and 
cost less. The Council has identified a number of further transformations that 
continue this approach, some of which are reflected in changes to the budget.  These 
include a full review of the learning disability accommodation strategy for complex 
needs and remodelling of Children’s residential and fostering services. 
 
Housing as a determinant of physical and mental health is widely recognised and this 
link is reinforced by the range of activities and services provided by the Housing 
Team. The Housing Act (2014) introduced the need to move to a more preventative 
approach to homelessness and this is a core principle of the work undertaken.  The 
Council does not have any housing stock of its own but retains a number of statutory 
functions relating to addressing housing need and combatting homelessness.  The 
service also administers the Supporting People Grant from Welsh Government (£5.8 
million).   
 
The support activities are both broad and diverse.  This is done both through a range 
of corporate joint working and contract arrangements with third sector organisations, 
delivering specific projects for people who are vulnerable with complex needs.  
These projects include services for people suffering domestic abuse, mental health 
and substance misuse issues, learning disabilities, accommodation for young people, 
people with mental health support needs and other housing related support for 
people who need help to access or maintain accommodation successfully.   

Page 105



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

7  

 

 
Housing will be looking at service efficiencies in 2019-20 through changing the way 
we operate in terms of Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) and the development of an 
interactive experience for housing applicants.  Alongside the continued adoption of a 
strategic approach to homelessness prevention and provision by working with partner 
organisations, housing will continue to use the Social Housing Grant effectively to 
increase the supply of social housing. 

 
1.5  Public Realm  
 

Most of the Council’s net budget is spent on education and social care – these are 
very valued services, but are naturally aimed at certain groups within our community.  
However, the Council’s work on the public realm has a direct and visible impact on 
everybody. This includes our work to maintain highways, parks and open spaces, 
clean our streets, collect and dispose of our waste.   

 
In 2020-21 the Council is likely to receive around £4.2 million of direct Welsh 
Government grant for public realm services. This includes waste services, public 
transport, rights of way and road safety.  

 
The overall net budget that the Council proposes to spend on public realm services is 
£21.8 million. The fact that schools have had a high degree of financial protection in 
previous years has meant that the Council’s other services have been under 
considerable pressure to make savings and in many cases we have had to reduce 
levels of service. However the services in the Communities Directorate have also 
been subject to service changes that have resulted in alternative delivery models that 
have increased productivity, as well as collaborative approaches that have increased 
both efficiency and service resilience. Additional investment in this area is proposed 
for 2020-21. 

 
The seven year contract with Kier is now moving into its third year and the costs 
associated with waste collection still remain competitive on an all Wales basis.  
During the first two years of the contract there has been a significant increase in the 
amount of waste recycled, (Bridgend is currently the second best performing 
authority in Wales), and therefore a significant reduction in the volume of our residual 
waste – we expect this to benefit the Council financially over time, subject to 
contractual conditions with our disposal arrangements. An indicative net saving of 
£1.3 million was identified in 2019-20 as a result of negotiating new operating 
arrangements at the Materials Recovery and Energy Centre (MREC) but achieving 
these savings is dependent on reaching agreement with Neath Port Talbot Council to 
appoint a new operator able to run the site in a more cost efficient manner, with a 
reduced cost per tonne, recognising the substantial reduction in the overall tonnage 
of residual waste Bridgend now takes to the facility.  We expect to spend in the 
region of £8.5 million on the collection and disposal of waste in 2020-21.  

 
A major challenge for the Council is how to continue to meet public expectations for 
many highly visible and tangible services when the available overall Council budget 
inevitably means the Council will be less able to deliver these services to the same 
level and frequency. These services are often the ones the public identify with their 
council tax payments.  

 

Page 106



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

8  

 

The Council’s strategy is to retain and maintain the most important public services in 
this area whilst driving ever greater efficiency, making some service reductions 
where we think it will have the least impact across Council services, recognising that 
this still may be significant in some areas. We will also develop alternative ways of 
delivering and sustaining services including greater and more effective collaboration 
and encouraging others to work with us or assume direct responsibility for services in 
some cases. The most significant proposed change in this respect is: 

 

 A move to shift the responsibility for the management and maintenance of 
sports fields and pavilions from the Council to user clubs and groups or local 
town and community councils. The Council will adopt a flexible approach to 
community asset transfer (CAT), utilising the new streamlined CAT process, 
and ensuring that appropriate advice and both capital investment (from the 
CAT fund in the capital programme) and revenue support (from the new sports 
club support fund) are made available. The Council aims to achieve savings of 
£300,000 in 2021-22 from transferring these assets. 

 
Reductions in spend in these areas will allow us to protect our investment in the 
Council’s priorities and in areas where we have far less ability to exercise control.   

 
1.6  Supporting the Economy  
 

 Whilst this is a Council priority, services such as regeneration and economic 
development as a discretionary service have nevertheless made significant 
reductions to their budgets over recent years. The Council has delivered this by 
employing fewer but more highly skilled staff, and focussing activity more narrowly on 
priority areas to maximise impact. Going forward, we will increasingly collaborate on 
a regional basis with the nine other Councils that make up the Cardiff Capital Region 
City Deal, particularly in areas such as transport, economic development and 
strategic planning. The City Deal is creating a £1.2 billion fund for investment in the 
region over the next 20 years. This long term investment will be targeted to focus on 
raising economic prosperity, increasing job prospects and improving digital and 
transport connectivity. In order to play an effective part in the City Deal, the Council 
will maintain as far as possible existing investment in its transport planning, spatial 
planning and regeneration teams to reflect this direction of travel.  The Council will be 
spending in the region of £1.9 million a year running these services, plus a further 
£700,000 as Bridgend’s contribution to the Deal itself. These teams will ensure 
successful delivery of high profile regeneration projects as well as efforts to mitigate 
the Ford engine plant closure.  We are also in the process of developing a new Local 
Development Plan and an important part of our budget planning is making sure that it 
is resourced appropriately to ensure our plan is properly researched and evidenced 
and sets out the development planning proposals for the County Borough which will 
shape its future, including housing growth.  

 
More specifically, the Council has made and continues to make good progress in 
pursuit of the development of our main towns. These include the development of 
Cosy Corner and the Harbour Quarter and the marketing of the initial development 
sites at Salt Lake in Porthcawl, the redevelopment of Maesteg Town Hall, and 
investment in initiatives to improve the town centre in Bridgend. Much of this 

Page 107



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

9  

 

investment is not the Council’s own money, but skilled teams are required to bid 
successfully in a competitive environment to ensure money is levered in. 

 
The Council will continue to operate a number of grant funded programmes of work 
to support our most vulnerable groups and those furthest away from employment, 
including training and skills and work support programmes such as Bridges into 
Work.   

 
1.7  Regulatory and Corporate Services  
 

The Council operates a number of other services which it recognises fulfil specific 
and important roles. In many cases these are statutory though the precise level of 
service to be provided is not defined in law. The most significant areas are as follows: 
 
Regulatory Services 
  
 This is a combined service with the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff City Councils 
which will spend around £1.8 million on a group of services that includes Trading 
Standards, Environmental Health, Animal Health and Licensing (Alcohol, Gambling, 
Safety at Sports Grounds, Taxis etc.). These services all ensure in different ways that 
the public is protected. 
 
As well as allowing for financial savings, the collaboration delivers greater resilience 
in the service and stronger public protection across all three Council areas.  

 
 Registrars 

  
The Council operates a registrar’s service that deals primarily with the registration of 
Births, Marriages and Deaths. The service also undertakes Civil Partnership and 
Citizenship ceremonies. It is proposed that the main base for the registrars’ service is 
moved from Tyr Ardd to Civic Offices during 2020-21, creating efficiencies in terms of 
operating costs by rationalising the Council’s estate and generating an additional 
capital receipt.  

 
  Council Tax and Benefits  
 

The taxation service collects over £80 million in Council tax from around 65,000 
households across the county borough. Our collection rates over the last two years 
have been the highest ever in the Council’s history. We are determined to maintain 
this high level, but we are seizing the opportunity to reduce the cost of operating the 
service, by offering online services. We now offer a range of secure Council tax 
functions online, allowing residents to self-serve at a time and location convenient to 
them. This will allow us to reduce the cost of running the service. 

 
Benefits are funded by the central UK government but the administration of Housing 
Benefit and the Council Tax Reduction Scheme falls to the Council.  
 
Universal Credit (UC) for working age people was fully introduced in Bridgend during 
June 2018. In conjunction with Citizens Advice, the Benefits Service will provide 
digital and personal budgeting support to assist people making new claims for UC. 
 

Page 108



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

10  

 

We are continuing to invest in the automation and digitisation of services where 
appropriate, for example the schools admissions service is now almost entirely 
automated, and while some of the financial benefits have taken longer to achieve, as 
developing the necessary systems has taken longer than anticipated, work is 
ongoing to identify priority areas throughout the council which will help achieve 
savings in future years of the MTFS. 
 

1.8  Corporate Services  
 

There are a number of things that the Council does that support the delivery of 
services but which themselves are not visible to the public. We need to maintain 
these services with sufficient capacity to support our services whilst making them as 
efficient and effective as possible. In many cases we operate such services by 
sharing with other organisations. Opportunities for further collaboration or sharing in 
these service areas has been and will continue to be explored.  
 

 Property and building maintenance 

  
The Council is undertaking a review of its commercial property portfolio, identifying 
asset management opportunities and the mechanisms required to deliver a 
sustainable increase in income. Alongside this, the Council is continuing to dispose of 
assets it no longer requires to deliver services, in order to provide further 
investment in our capital programme. 
 
 The Council has brought together its asset management and building maintenance 
functions, and has centralised all premises repairs, maintenance and energy budgets 
into a single ‘corporate landlord’ service within the Communities Directorate. This will 
better enable us to manage compliance, embed ‘whole life costing’ approaches into 
decision-making, manage the quality of work undertaken by contractors, and thereby 
deliver efficiencies in the management of our estate. 
 
This is intended to produce further savings of £350,000 with effect from 2020-21 
including savings from further operational efficiencies, streamlined business 
processes, IT investment, improved procurement and contract management and the 
deletion of some vacant staff posts.  

 
 Legal services 
  

 The Council needs to maintain effective legal support for all of its services.  At a time 
when the Council is trying to transform services it is important to bring about these 
changes within the law. The service also directly supports front line services such as 
Education and Social Services, and is provided by a mix of permanent internal staff 
and expertise purchased from the private sector when necessary. Almost half of our 
in-house legal team is specifically focussed on child protection cases.   

 
 The service is nevertheless very lean and so our focus will be on ensuring that we 

can build more resilience and responsiveness into the service through some changes 
in responsibilities and operating practice. 

  

Page 109



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

11  

 

 Finance 
  
 The Council has a central team that manages all of the financial management of the 

Council. This includes high level strategic advice, the Council’s accounts, monitoring 
of financial performance and supports the oversight and management of the 
Council’s finances. The service fulfils certain legal requirements that ensures 
transparency and accountability in the way that public money is used – for example in 
producing accounts which are then audited and in delivering value for money in 
service delivery.  

 
 The Council has recently upgraded its finance system to achieve improvements in 

the way the Finance Section works, and will be looking to further improve and 
enhance functionality to meet legislative changes.  Significant progress has been 
made in automating payments and the Council will continue to develop and extend 
this to a wider range of suppliers.   

 
 Human Resources (HR) and Organisational Development (OD)  
  
 With over 6,000 employees including schools, the Council needs a dedicated human 

resources service. The primary role of the service is to provide professional advice, 
guidance and support to managers and staff on a wide range of HR and OD issues 
as well as provide HR services for the payment of salaries, pension, contract and 
absence administration. Other services include training and development, recruitment 
and retention, developing employee skills and ‘growing our own’. We intend making 
greater investment in recruiting more apprentices next year. 

 
 Working closely with our recognised trade unions, it maintains positive and 

transparent employee relations arrangements.   
 
 ICT 
  
 The ICT service is assisting the Digital Transformation programme, supporting the 

changes across a range of services that in turn allow savings or improvements 
through more flexible working or new ways to access services.  The Council spends 
around £5 million on its ICT services provision to support main Council activities and 
schools. The ICT service has focused on developing staff through the apprenticeship 
programme in conjunction with HR, developing skills and enabling career progression 
in-house.   

 
 Procurement 

  
 The Council has a central team that provides procurement support across the range 

of services that we provide. Effective procurement is essential to ensuring good value 
for money across the Council, but we will still continue to seek corporate wide 
efficiencies in the operation of this service. The service is also focusing more efforts 
on developing the foundational economy based on local procurement as well as 
reviewing its overall approach in an effort to secure better outcomes for the Council 
from its large annual spend in this area.  

 
 
 

Page 110



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

12  

 

 Democratic Services 
 

 The Council is a democratic organisation with 54 elected members (Councillors) who 
 make decisions, set policy direction and oversee the general performance of the 
Council. Like many Councils, Bridgend has a mayor whose job is to chair meetings of 
the Council and represent the Council in the community (this is completely different to 
the elected mayors in cities like London and Bristol). These democratic processes 
require support to ensure accountability and transparency in decision making. The 
number of elected members in each authority is set independently. Their 
remuneration is also determined by an independent Panel. 

 
 Internal Audit 
  
 Our Regional Internal Audit Shared Service is provided by a joint service that we 

share with the Vale of Glamorgan, Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Councils. The 
service carries out routine checks and investigations to ensure that the Council 
maintains good governance – especially as it relates to the proper accountability of 
money and other resources.  

 
  
  

Page 111



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

13  

 

 
 
2.  STRATEGIC FINANCIAL CONTEXT 
 
2.1 The Council’s MTFS is set within the context of UK economic and public expenditure 

plans, Welsh Government’s priorities and legislative programme. The MTFS 
articulates how the Council plans to use its resources to support the achievement of 
its wellbeing objectives and statutory duties, including the management of financial 
pressures and risks over the next four years. It helps the Council to work more 
effectively with partners in other sectors and provides a strategy for the use of 
balances to meet changes in resources or demands from year to year without 
impacting unduly on services or Council tax payers.   

 
2.2 The MTFS includes:- 
 

 The principles that will govern the strategy and a four year financial forecast, 
comprising detailed proposals for 2020-21 and outline proposals for 2021-22 
to 2023-24. 

 

 The capital programme for 2019-20 to 2029-30, linked to priority areas for 
capital investment based upon the Council’s Capital Strategy. 
 

 The Corporate Risk Assessment.  
 
 
The Financial Context  
 

2.3 In September 2019 the Chancellor undertook a fast tracked one-year Spending 
Round to set departmental budgets for 2020-21. In his report he announced that the 
UK government will ramp up government spending next year at the fastest rate in 15 
years, vowing to “turn the page on austerity”. This included new funds to boost the 
NHS, improve schools and tackle violent crime, along with £600 million extra for the 
Welsh Government's budget in 2020-21. In response to the Spending Round the 
Minister for Finance and Trefnydd announced that Welsh Government’s revenue 
budget for 2020-21 would increase by 2.3% or £593 million but the Welsh 
Government’s budget in 2020-21 would still be 2 per cent, or £300 million, lower in 
real terms than in 2010-11.  

 
2.4 Following this, on 28 October 2019 European Union (EU) ambassadors agreed to 

further delay Brexit until 31 January 2020, and then on 6 November 2019 the Prime 
Minister, Boris Johnson, called a UK General Election for 12 December 2019. As a 
result of this, Welsh Government decided to defer the announcement of their draft 
budget, along with the provisional local government settlement, until 16 December 
2019. This also meant a delay in the announcement of the Welsh Government’s final 
budget and local government settlement until 25 February 2020, so the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and the budget for 2020-21 is proposed on the basis of the 
provisional settlement.  

  

Page 112



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

14  

 

 
 Welsh Government Final Local Government Settlement 
 
2.5 Bridgend’s draft MTFS was presented to Cabinet on 14 January 2020, based on the 

provisional settlement, before being submitted for scrutiny. As outlined in that report, 
Bridgend’s published provisional settlement was an increase in Aggregate External 
Funding (AEF) of 4.7%. This was the fifth highest increase across all Welsh Local 
Authorities as illustrated below.    

 
 Revenue Funding for Welsh Councils 2020-21 (provisional settlement) 
 

 
 
2.6 The final local government settlement is due to be announced on 25 February 2020, 

and debated by Welsh Government on 4 March 2020. Whilst not anticipated, if there 
are any significant changes in funding between the provisional and final settlement, 
these will not impact upon the level of council tax proposed, but will be managed in 
the first instance through council wide budgets, such as those held for pay or price 
increases, or one-off transfers to or from earmarked reserves until a report can be 
brought back to Council at a later date to provide a more sustainable solution.  

 
Settlement Implications for 2020-2024 
 

2.7 As a result of the one-year Spending Round, Welsh Government has not provided 
any indications of likely funding levels for 2021-22 onwards, which makes forward 
planning quite difficult, particularly in the post-Brexit years. It is likely that this will be 
informed by the outcome of the next UK budget which has been announced for 11 

0.0% 1.0% 2.0% 3.0% 4.0% 5.0% 6.0%

Monmouthshire

Conwy

Wrexham

Flintshire

Isle of Anglesey

Blaenau Gwent

Caerphilly

Cardiff

Powys

Ceredigion

Swansea

Denbighshire

WALES

Carmarthenshire

Rhondda Cynon Taf

Neath Port Talbot

Torfaen

Gwynedd

Bridgend

Merthyr Tydfil

Pembrokeshire

The Vale of Glamorgan

Newport

Page 113



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

15  

 

March 2020. The assumptions currently built into the MTFS for future years will be 
reviewed and updated as necessary following the UK Budget. 

 
 Transfers into and out of the 2020-21 Revenue Settlement 
 
2.8 As mentioned in the draft MTFS report to Cabinet in January, the provisional 

settlement includes information on a small number of transfers into the Revenue 
Support Grant (RSG) in respect of the Teachers’ Pensions Grant (£1.807 million) 
and the Teachers’ Pay Grant (£555,000) for the period September 2019 to March 
2020, along with £80,000 towards the costs of social care tasks performed by 
registered nurses in nursing homes.  

 
Specific Grants 

 
2.9 The picture on changes to specific grants is available at an all Wales level, but not 

yet at an individual authority level for a number of grants. While many of the 
grants remain unchanged from the 2019-20 figure, there is a proposed significant 
decrease in the Sustainable Waste Management grant of around 10%. This has 
been mitigated through a budget pressure. 

 
2.10 However, there are also increases in several grant schemes, including the Social 

Care Workforce and Sustainability Pressures Grant which has increased by an 
additional £10 million, from £30 million to £40 million (an additional £444,000 for 
Bridgend), an increase of £8 million to the PDG Access Grant to cover more year 
groups and an increase to the Pupil Development Grant. Welsh Government has 
advised that the specific information will be updated for the final settlement. 

 
 
Council Tax   
 

2.11 The 2020-21 final Revenue Budget, shown in Table 9, includes a Council Tax 
increase of 4.5%, as proposed in the draft MTFS report to Cabinet in January 2020. 
This is lower than the options included in the public budget consultation (6.5% 
minimum) to strike a balance between the responses received from residents about 
council tax increases, and the need to mitigate against a number of unfunded, 
unavoidable pressures, including pay increases and demographic changes.  Going 
forward the scale of the financial challenge remains considerable once external 
pressures and risks have been taken into consideration so an assumed annual 
increase of 4.5% continues to be included for 2021-2024.  

 

Welsh Government Capital Settlement  
 

2.12 In February 2019 Council approved a capital programme for 2018-19 to 2028-29, 
based on the assumption that local authorities would receive the third tranche of the 
additional £100 million capital funding allocated across Wales for 2018-19 to 2020-21 
(£20 million for 2020-21) and then funding would return to its pre 2018-19 level. 
Council has approved revised versions of the capital programme during the financial 
year to incorporate budgets carried forward from 2018-19 and any new schemes and 
grant approvals. The provisional local government capital settlement provides this 

Page 114



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

16  

 

Council with £7.983 million capital funding for 2020-21, which is £318,000 more than 
2019-20 and £761,000 more than was originally anticipated. This is as a result of an 
additional un-hypothecated allocation of £15 million which Welsh Government hopes 
“will enable local authorities to respond to the urgent need to decarbonise, in light of 
the climate emergency declared by the Welsh Government and many councils over 
the past year”. No indications have been given for 2021-22 or beyond but it is 
anticipated that the funding will return to the pre 2018-19 levels.   

  
2.13 A review has been undertaken of the capital resources available to the Council, along 

with the capital pressures that it faces. Due to the limited capital resource available, 
following a number of years of significant investment in the Council’s infrastructure, 
service managers have not been asked to submit capital bids for funding at this 
stage, but there is recognition that there are a number of capital pressures that will 
need addressing and funding during the year and beyond so specific areas have 
been targeted for requests, particularly in respect of public realm proposals.   

   
Current Year (2019-20) Financial Performance  

 
2.14 The in-year financial position as at 31 December 2019 is shown in Table 1 below. 
 

Table 1 – Comparison of budget against projected outturn at 31 December 2019 
 

 
 

2.15 The overall projected position at 31 December 2019 is a net under spend of 
£798,000 comprising £85,000 net over spend on directorates and £5.274 million net 
under spend on council wide budgets, offset by net appropriation to earmarked 
reserves of £4.391 million. The main reason for the under spend of £4.154 million 

Directorate/Budget Area

Original 

Budget

Revised 

Budget

Projected 

Outturn Q3

Projected Over / 

(Under) Spend 

Projected Over 

/ (Under) Spend

2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 Qtr 2 2019-20

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Directorate

Education and Family Support 116,208 114,949 115,509 560 594

Social Services and Wellbeing 70,834 71,582 72,267 685 918

Communities 25,331 25,862 25,680 (182) 32

Chief Executive's 18,609 18,622 17,644 (978) (885)

Total Directorate Budgets 230,982 231,015 231,100 85 659

Council Wide Budgets

Capital Financing 7,430 7,329 6,766 (563) (570)

Levies 7,376 7,134 7,117 (17) 0

Apprenticeship Levy 700 700 620 (80) (77)

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 14,854 14,854 14,637 (217) (103)

Insurance Premiums 1,588 1,588 1,339 (249) (258)

Repairs & Maintenance 870 870 870 0 0

Pension Related Costs 430 430 436 6 0

Other Corporate Budgets 6,579 6,889 2,735 (4,154) (3,800)

Total Council Wide Budgets 39,827 39,794 34,520 (5,274) (4,808)

Appropriations to Earmarked to 

Reserves 4,391 4,391 3,574

Total 270,809 270,809 270,011 (798) (575)

Page 115



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

17  

 

on ‘Other Corporate Budgets’ is due to Welsh Government advising local authorities 
of £2.622 million of additional grant funding being made available during 2019-20 
to meet the increased cost of teachers’ pensions, fire service pensions, and 
teachers’ pay increases, all of which were originally funded in full through the MTFS. 
The balance relates to uncommitted funding centrally retained for pay, prices and 
budget pressures, which will be monitored during the winter period. In June 2019 
Council approved that an ‘Investing in Communities Fund’ be established with £2 
million of this funding to support the capital minor works programme by enabling 
more capital improvement works to be undertaken on Council assets in our local 
communities.    

 
2.16 The net budget for the financial year has been set assuming full implementation of 

the current year budget reduction requirements across the Council’s budget which 
amount to £7.621 million.  Where proposals to meet this requirement have been 
delayed or are not achievable directorates have been tasked with identifying 
alternative proposals to meet their requirements such as vacancy management, 
or bringing forward alternative budget reduction proposals. Going forward, 
directorates will either have to realise any outstanding budget reductions in full or 
find alternative proposals to meet the saving, in addition to any new proposals for 
2020-21 onwards. 

 
2.17 In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules any planned over 

spends or under spends by directorates may be carried forward into next year. 
Fortuitous under spends in budgets may be applied to offset over spends on other 
budgets.  
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2020-21 to 2023-24 

 
2.18 This section of the report sets out the proposed MTFS for the Council for the next 

four financial years, based on the latest information available from the Welsh 
Government. It does not include fixed funding, expenditure or activity projections, but 
sets best, worst and most likely scenarios for the resources that will be available. The 
MTFS is reviewed regularly and amended as additional information becomes 
available, with the detail for future years being developed over the period of the 
strategy.   
 

2.19 The development of the MTFS 2020-21 to 2023-24 is led by Cabinet and Corporate 
Management Board (CMB) and takes into account auditors’ views, the 
recommendations of the Budget Research and Evaluation Panel, the public 
consultation, and issues arising during 2019-20, underpinned by the ongoing aim to 
embed a culture of medium term financial planning closely aligned with corporate 
planning.  

 
2.20 Implementation of the MTFS will continue to be led by Cabinet and CMB, supported 

by financial and performance data.  Cabinet and CMB will seek to ensure that it is 
widely understood by internal stakeholders (Members, employees and Unions) and 
external stakeholders (citizens, businesses and partners).    

  

Page 116



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

18  

 

 Scrutiny and Challenge 
 
2.21 As stated in paragraph 2.19, Cabinet and CMB continue to seek to embed a culture 

of medium term financial planning within the Council.  Against that background, 
further efforts have been made again this year to secure greater involvement of 
stakeholders in the development of the MTFS and the Corporate Plan.  An eight 
week consultation ‘Shaping Bridgend’s Future 2019’ was undertaken between 9 
September and 3 November 2019. This covered a range of budget proposals under 
consideration as well as seeking public views on resource allocation, priorities and 
the principles around budget protections and taxation levels. The consultation 
included an online survey, community engagement stands, attendance at town and 
community council meetings, community group meetings and social media debates. 
In addition, in order to gather the views of young people, the consultation team 
attended an all-Bridgend headteachers’ event to promote the survey as well as 
asking individual schools to take part in interactive sessions in order to gather 
feedback.  The results were collated and presented to Cabinet on 17 December 2019 
in order to further inform decisions on the MTFS.  

 
2.22 The consultation was supported by a full communications and promotional plan. The 

main activities included two media releases, a BCBC budget explainer video, various 
press release/editorials in the media, a social media/web campaign, poster/sign 
campaign, direct marketing to key target audiences e.g. businesses, schools, youth 
council and internal communications for staff and elected members. Links were also 
made to the consultation through HALO, Awen and BAVO’s communication outlets.  
Elected Members have also received pre-Council briefings. 

 
2.23 Overall, the council received 7,437 interactions during the consultation, covering 

survey completions, engagement event attendees and social media interactions and 
via the authority’s Citizens’ Panel. This is an increase of 2,149 (40.6%) on the 5,288 
interactions from last year, of which 1,200 related to an increase on social media 
comments. 

 
2.24 A summary of the main headlines arising from the consultation is provided in Table 2 

below. 
  

Page 117



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

19  

 

Table 2 – Headline Figures from Public Consultation 
 
Headlines from the Public Consultation 

Council Tax 

64% of respondents stated that they would be prepared to pay an additional 6.5% council 
tax (this was the lowest amount that could be chosen). 

83% of respondents were not willing to pay an additional 13.6% council tax in order to 
protect all services for 12 months. 
The proposals to make savings that were supported by respondents were: 

Close Community Recycling Centres for one day per week each (70%). 

The council is not best placed to provide pest control services (58%). 

Remove funding for town centre events (54%). 

Remove funding for all strategic events (40%) and remove funding for Elvis Festival (32%). 

Remove funding for Bridgend Business Forum (72%). 

Reduce the funding for Adult Community Learning to save £65k (58%). 

Support for a model of localised day services through the development of Community 
Hubs (69%). 

Remove escorts from school transport where there are less than eight pupils (56%). 

Delegate funding to primary schools for pupils with additional learning needs (57%). 

Move to less face to face interactions within the Customer Services Contact Centre within 
Civic Offices (70%). 

Move to an appointment based system in the Customer Services Contact Centre (59%). 

The proposals that were not supported by respondents were: 

Move to a reactive street cleaning service (63%). 

Removal of funding for CCTV (70%). 

Removal of funding for Pop-up Business School (58%). 

Reconfiguration of the homelessness service (54%).  

Delegation of money for cognition and learning services to schools (52%). 
Generating Income 

61% of respondents agreed that the council should consider commercial ventures to 
fund and protect front line services. 

60% of respondents stated that the council should consider the possibility of providing 
energy to its residents to generate income. 
Social Media Responses – most common comments: 

Theme  No.  

Don’t increase council tax by 13.6%  242  

We pay more council tax yet receive less services  203  

Cut council staff/wages/expenses/pensions  200  

Requests for more information on annual accounts and budget reductions  116  

Cut councillors/wages/expenses  99  

Council should challenge central government funding cuts  88  

Issues with recycling and waste service  73  

 
 

2.25 In addition to the public consultation, Cabinet and CMB have been working with the 
Budget Research and Evaluation Panel (BREP) over the last six months to facilitate 
the budget planning process.  The draft budget report approved by Cabinet in 
January 2020 has also been scrutinised by the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Page 118



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

20  

 

Committees resulting in a report to Cabinet from the Corporate Resources and 
Improvement (CRI) Committee, outlining a number of recommendations. Cabinet has 
considered the CRI Committee’s recommendations, which include recommendations 
from BREP, and a response to these is provided in Appendix H. 

 
2.26 Cabinet and CMB have reflected on the responses received from the public 

consultation and have drafted the budget based on the comments and responses 
received. Consequently, some budget reduction proposals which were previously 
under consideration have either been amended, deferred or removed for this final 
budget. These include: 

 

 removal of adult community learning 

 reduced funding for the pop-up business school  

 removal of the CCTV service 

 reducing or removing street cleaning provision 

 removal of certain community recycling centres, and 

 reduced funding for highways. 

 
 MTFS Principles 
 
2.27 As well as consideration of future income and expenditure scenarios, the MTFS 

provides a set of clear principles which drive the budget and spending decisions over 
2020-2024 and which Members and others can examine and judge the Council’s 
financial performance against. The fourteen key principles included within the last 
MTFS for 2019-20 to 2022-23 have been considered by BREP and Cabinet and 
updated to reflect the current Council situation. There are now thirteen updated 
principles as follows: 
 
1. There will be a “One-Council” approach to the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy with a view on long term, sustainable savings proposals that are 
focused on re-shaping the Council over the full period of the MTFS.  

 
2. All budget related decisions will align with the principles of the Well-being of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
3. The Council will continue to meet its statutory obligations and demonstrate 

how it directs resources to meet the Council’s wellbeing objectives. Other 
resource strategies (including the Treasury Management Strategy and Capital 
Strategy) are kept under review to maintain alignment with the MTFS and the 
Corporate Plan. 

 
4. The financial control system is sufficiently robust to support the delivery of 

financial plans and mitigate corporate risks, with adequate provision being 
made to meet outstanding and reasonably foreseen liabilities. 

 
5.        All services will seek to provide value for money and contribute to public 

value, and will continuously review budgets to identify efficiency savings.  
 
6.        Financial plans will provide an optimum balance between income and 

Page 119



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

21  

 

expenditure for both capital and revenue, with opportunities for generating 
additional income taken in line with the Council’s Income Generation and 
Charging Policy. 
 

7. Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales 
prior to inclusion in the annual budget. An MTFS Budget Reduction 
Contingency Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen 
delays. 
 

8.        Balances are not used to fund recurrent budget pressures or to keep down 
Council Tax rises unless an equivalent budget reduction or increase in Council 
Tax is made in the following year in recognition that balances are a one-off 
resource. 

 
9.        The Council Fund balance should be set at a prudent but not excessive level. 

This will normally be maintained at a level of 5% of the Council’s net budget, 
excluding schools.  
 

10.      Capital investment decisions are in alignment with the Council’s Capital 
Strategy, and mitigate any statutory risks taking account of return on 
investment and sound option appraisals.  

 
11.      Prudential borrowing is only used to support the capital programme where it is 

affordable and sustainable within the Council’s overall borrowing limits and the 
revenue budget over the long term.  

 
12.      Decisions on the treatment of surplus assets are based on an assessment of 

the potential contribution to the revenue budget and the capital programme. 
 

13.      Resources are allocated to deliver transformational projects based on clear 
strategic plans that are kept under review by Corporate Directors to maintain 
alignment with the MTFS. 

 
The MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency Reserve referenced in Principle 7 enables 
the Council to manage delays or unforeseen obstacles to the delivery of significant 
MTFS budget reduction proposals. Table 3 below identifies the allocations to date from 
this reserve during 2019-20: 
 

  

Page 120



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

22  

 

 
Table 3: MTFS Proposals supported by Budget Reductions Contingency 
Reserve in 2019-20 
 

MTFS Reference Original 
Saving 

Proposal 
£’000 

Funding from 
MTFS Budget 

Reduction 
Contingency  

£’000 

COM 52 - MREC 1,300 500 

EFS 1 – Learner Transport Policy (17-18) 20 20 

EFS 2 – School Transport Route Efficiencies (17-
18) 

40 40 

EFS 1 – Learner Transport Policy (18-19) 67 67 

EFS 1 – Learner Transport Policy (19-20) 67 67 

TOTAL 1,494 694 

 
The level of this reserve will be kept under review by the Section 151 officer in light of 
forecast difficulties in delivering specific future budget reduction proposals.    
 
MTFS Resource Envelope 
 

2.28 The published provisional 2020-21 Aggregate External Finance (AEF) figure is an 
increase of 4.7%.  In the MTFS 2019-20 to 2022-23, it was stated that the Council 
would continue to work towards a most likely scenario in its planning assumptions for 
2020-21 of an annual reduction in AEF of -1.5% and an assumed increase in Council 
tax of 4.5% for 2020-21 to 2022-23, recognising the ongoing uncertainty around our 
funding in future years following Brexit. Whilst the settlement for next year is 
significantly better than anticipated, given the uncertainty going forward and the 
significant pressures resulting from pay, pensions and demographic increases in 
2020-21 onwards, the proposed Council Tax increase for 2021-22 onwards will 
remain at 4.5%.  

 
2.29 The MTFS will be regularly reviewed against service performance and external 

economic and fiscal information to ensure that early action can be taken as 
necessary to keep it and the Corporate Plan on track.  This is particularly important 
given the uncertainties around Brexit in the coming months and years. In view of the 
uncertainties, the MTFS has been developed taking into account possible resource 
envelope scenarios, based on percentage changes in AEF shown in Table 4.  These 
will be updated as necessary following any information arising from the UK Budget 
on 11 March 2020.  

 
Table 4 – MTFS Scenarios: % Change in AEF  
 

  2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 

  % Change % Change % Change % Change 

Best Scenario +4.7% -1.0% -1.0% -1.0% 

Most Likely Scenario  +4.7% -1.5% -1.5% -1.5% 

Worst Scenario +4.7% -3.0% -3.0% -3.0% 

Page 121



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

23  

 

     

Managing within the MTFS Resource Envelope 
 
2.30 The financial forecast for 2020-24 is predicated on £29.293 million budget reductions 

being met from Directorate and Corporate budgets and these are referred to later in 
the report. It is also predicated on a number of spending assumptions, including: 

  

 Projections for demographic changes, including an ageing population and 
an increasing number of young people with complex disabilities living into 
adulthood and adding progressively to the demand for care. 

 

 Inflationary uplifts to support specific contractual commitments including 
increases in energy costs.  

 

 The future impact of national policies and new legislation which may not 
accompanied by commensurate funding such as the Additional Learning 
Needs and Educational (Tribunal) Act Wales 2018 and the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016. 

 

 Fees and Charges will increase by the statutory minimum or CPI (+1.3% at  
  December 2019) plus 1%. 
 

 Significant increases in staffing costs as a result of the 6.2% increase in 
the national living wage from April 2020 (with further increases expected in 
April 2021), along with the impact of staff pay increases in 2020-21. These 
include the full year effect of the teachers’ pay increase in September 2019 
(minimum 2.75%) and potential increases for non-teachers following the 
unions recent pay claim, which includes a 10% pay increase for all NJC 
pay points, an increase in annual leave and reduction in the working week. 
If these were agreed, in part or in full, they would be completely 
unaffordable for the Council and would require a significant increase in the 
value of budget reductions required or a significant increase in council tax, 
beyond that proposed already. These agreements would significantly 
increase the overall pay bill, and the amount we pay in respect of external 
contracts.  

 

 With regard to pensions’ contributions, the employer contribution rate for 
teachers’ pensions increased from 16.48% to 23.68% from September 
2019. The part-year cost for Bridgend for 2019-20 is around £2.1 million, 
and this was met in the main from one-off grant funding from Welsh 
Government. This grant has transferred into the settlement in 2020-21 and 
the amount allocated to Bridgend is £1.807 million, which just falls short of 
the total requirement. The full year effect is around £3.6 million, an 
additional £1.8 million for 2020-21, and this is one of the pressures to be 
funded from within the 4.7% increase in AEF announced by the Welsh 
Government.  

 
 

2.31 For 2020-21, the MTFS includes an additional £9.364 million for the above known 
pay and price pressures.  In addition, each year consideration is given to any 

Page 122



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

24  

 

inescapable, unforeseen Directorate pressures that cannot be accommodated within 
existing budgets.  £6.683 million of inescapable pressures have emerged during 
2019-20 and are explained in more detail in paragraphs 3.12 to 3.15 below.  In total, 
the Council has identified pressures of £16.047 million in 2020-21.   

 
 MTFS Budget Reduction Requirement 
 
2.32 Table 5 below shows the Council’s potential net budget reduction requirement based 

on the forecast resource envelope and assumed council tax increases (paragraph 
2.28 above) and inescapable spending assumptions (paragraph 2.30 and 2.31 
above). 

 
Table 5 – Budget reduction scenarios 

 

  2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Best Scenario 2,413 8,162 7,972 7,775 26,322 

Most Likely Scenario  2,413 9,178 8,962 8,740 29,293 

Worst Scenario 2,413 12,225 11,872 11,518 38,028 

 
2.33 Cabinet and CMB are working together to develop plans to meet the most likely 

scenario above for the four year period.  In the event of the worst case materialising 
in any year, the budget shortfall would have to be met from the Council Fund and / or 
a further increase in Council Tax while additional budget reduction plans could be 
developed.  Should the best case scenario arise then Cabinet and CMB would look 
to reduce the impact on services as well as Council Tax.   

 
2.34 Table 6 shows current progress on identifying budget reduction proposals. 
 
 Table 6 – Risk Status of Budget Reduction Proposals 2020-21 to 2023-24 
 

Year 

GREEN: AMBER: RED:      

Total 
Required 

Proposal 
developed 

and 
deliverable 

Proposal in 
development 
but includes  
delivery risk 

Proposals 
not fully 

developed 
and include 

high 
delivery 

risk 

Budget 
reductions 
Identified 

so far 

Budget 
reductions 

not yet 
developed 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

2020-21 1,023 996 394 2,413 0 2,413 

2021-22 309 1,941 1,214 3,464 5,714 9,178 

2022-23 0 955 208 1,163 7,799 8,962 

2023-24 0 955 223 1,178 7,562 8,740 

Total  1,332 4,847 2,039 8,218 21,075 29,293 

% of total 
required 

5% 17% 7% 28% 72% 100% 

  

Page 123



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

25  

 

2.35 As mentioned in paragraph 2.26, a number of the initial 2020-21 budget reduction 
proposals have been removed, deferred or amended following the public consultation 
and member scrutiny.  A number of proposals for 2020-21 onwards require further 
information and analysis and so are not sufficiently well developed to be included at 
this point in time.   Proposals currently under consideration include: 

 

 Digital transformation of wider Council services  

 Income generation opportunities 

 Further reductions in employee numbers 

 Working with partners to asset transfer and protect community facilities; 

 Further development of the Corporate Landlord Model. 
 

2.36  Cabinet and CMB have given a commitment to try and find at least 50% of the 
budget reductions through smarter use of resources rather than by cutting the quality 
or level of services.  This gets incrementally harder to achieve, but as Table 7 shows 
the plans set out in this report will deliver 62% of the required budget reductions 
through smarter use of resources, such as: 

 

 The wider digital transformation of Council services; 

 Further development of efficiencies in the corporate landlord function; 

 Income generation opportunities; 

 Further reductions in employee numbers; 

 Working with partners to protect sustainable community facilities. 
 

 Table 7 – Budget Reduction Proposals 2020-21 to 2023-24 
 

  
2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 Total 

%  
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Smarter Use of Resources   1,561 1,649 955 955 5,120 62% 

Managed Service Reductions 502 1,405 208 223 2,338 28% 

Collaboration & Service 
Transformation   

35 300 0 0 335 4% 

Policy Changes  315 110 0 0 425 5% 

Total Identified to date 2,413 3,464 1,163 1,178 8,218 100% 

 
2.37 Budget reduction proposals relating to Collaboration and Service Transformation 

amount to 4% of the total budget reductions. Policy changes amount to 5% and 
include reducing services to the statutory minimum as well as cutting some 
discretionary services. The policy change proposals are subject to consultation.   

 
2.38 All of the proposals have implications for the Council workforce given that around two 

thirds of the Council’s net revenue budget relates to pay costs.  It follows that annual 
real term’s reductions in Council budgets over the next four years will lead to a 
reduced workforce over the MTFS period.  The intention is to manage such a 
reduction through the continuation of strong vacancy management, redeployment, 
early retirements and voluntary redundancies, but some compulsory redundancies 
will continue to be necessary.   

  

Page 124



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

26  

 

 
Corporate Risk Assessment 
 

2.39 The Council’s Corporate Risk Assessment identifies the key corporate risks and 
mitigating actions and is attached as Appendix I. These risks have been taken into 
account in the preparation of the MTFS and where there are identifiable financial 
implications these have been provided for either within the budget or earmarked 
reserves.  Where the financial risks are not clear, the risk is covered by the Council 
Fund.  

Page 125



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

27  

 

3.       REVENUE BUDGET 2020-21  
 
3.1 The net budget requirement is the amount of budget the Council requires to fulfil its 

functions.  It is calculated using the previous year’s budget as the baseline, adding 
any inescapable budget pressures and specific transfers into the settlement from 
Welsh Government, and subtracting any budget reduction proposals.  

   
3.2 The financing of the net budget comes from the Welsh Government settlement and 

Council Tax income. Table 8 summarises the 2020-21 budget requirement and how it 
will be financed. 

 
Table 8 – Net Budget Requirement 

  

  2020-21 

  £’000 

2019-20 Net Budget (Table 1) 270,809 

Transfers and New Responsibilities (para 
2.8) 

2,442 

2020-21 Pressures (para 2.31) 16,047 

2020-21 Budget Reductions (Table 5)                                                                                                                    -2,413 

2020-21 Net Budget Requirement 286,885 

Financed by:   

2019-20 Net Budget (Table 1) 270,809 

Net Cash Increase in AEF (para 2.28) 11,320 

Council tax increase of 4.5% (para 2.11) plus 
increase in tax base 

4,756 

2020-21 Net Funding Total 286,885 

 
 2020-21 Revenue Budget 
 
3.3 Table 9 presents the detailed net revenue budget for 2020-21. This includes specific 

grants transferring into the settlement as outlined in paragraphs 2.9 and 2.10. 
  

Page 126



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

28  

 

 Table 9 – Net Revenue Budget 2020-21 
 

 
 

 

 
3.4 The net budget will be funded by: 
 

Table 10 – Net Budget Funding 
 

            £ % 

Revenue Support Grant 153,441,858 53.48 

Non Domestic Rates  49,685,392 17.32 

Council Tax Income 83,757,919 29.20 

Total 286,885,169 100% 

 
Council Tax Implications 
 

3.5 The implications in terms of the Council Tax increase (excluding Police & Crime 
Commissioner for South Wales and Community Council precepts) are shown in 
Table 11. 

 
 Table 11 – Council Tax Increase 2020-21 

 

2019-20   Average Band D                         £1,470.87 

2020-21   Average Band D                         £1,537.06 

% Increase 4.50% 

Weekly Increase £1.27 

 
 

Revised    

Budget         

2019-20

 Specific 

Transfers to/ 

(from) WG

Inter-

Directorate 

Transfers 

Pay / Prices / 

Pupil Growth

Budget 

Pressures

Budget 

Reduction 

Proposals

 Revenue  

Budget         

2020-21

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Service Directorate Budgets:

Central Education & Family Support 21,319 45 -166 64 356 -239 21,379

Schools 95,546 2,121 -298 808 1,375 0 99,552

Education and Family Support 116,865 2,166 -464 872 1,731 -239 120,931

Social Services & Wellbeing 71,577 80 -353 0 410 -820 70,894

Communities 25,862 -157 45 2,686 -646 27,790

Chief Executives 18,622 -152 0 266 -508 18,228

Total Directorate Budgets 232,926 2,246 -1,126 917 5,093 -2,213 237,843

Council Wide Budgets:

Capital Financing 7,329 7,329

Levies 7,406 53 7,459

Repairs and Maintenance 870 870

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 14,854 400 15,254

Apprenticeship Levy 700 -50 650

Pension Related Costs 430 430

Insurance Premiums 1,588 0 -150 1,438

Other Council Wide Budgets 4,706 196 1,126 8,047 1,537 15,612

Total Council Wide Budgets 37,883 196 1,126 8,447 1,590 -200 49,042

 Net Budget Requirement 270,809 2,442 0 9,364 6,683 -2,413 286,885

Page 127



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

29  

 

Pay, Prices, Pensions and Demographics 
  
3.6 As mentioned in paragraph 2.30, the National Joint Council (NJC) negotiating body 

has submitted a pay claim for non-teaching local government workers for 2020-21 
and discussions are ongoing. No agreement has been reached on this at present. 
Depending on the final outcome of these discussions there could be additional 
budget pressures that the Council has to meet, which may not be known until during 
the 2020-21 financial year. In addition, whilst the teachers’ pay award has been 
agreed for the 2019-20 academic year, there will be additional pressure from any 
new pay award to be implemented from September 2020. Welsh Government has 
indicated that the increased funding that it has provided through the settlement 
should recognise the future impacts of teachers’ pay awards which will come into 
effect from September 2020. 

 
3.7 Funding for price inflation has been allocated to service budgets, where known, 

including provision for increases in business rates, rents and other contractual 
commitments, where known.  

 
3.8 The remaining inflationary provision will be retained centrally within corporate 

budgets and allocated during the year as any unknown or unforeseen contract price 
inflation is agreed, in particular where the index is set after the Council’s budget is 
approved.  

 
 Non-Teachers’ Pensions 
 
3.9 The Council has received the provisional results of the actuarial valuation of the 

Local Government Pension Fund as at 31 March 2019. The valuation shows that, 
based on the performance of the fund at that time, the employer’s contributions 
required by the authority from April 2020 for the next three years is a potential 
reduction from the current 21.3% to a proposed 19.8%. This is based on changes to 
the assumptions used to value liabilities and changes to membership since the last 
valuation. The impact of this is a potential reduced cost of employer’s contributions of 
£1.126 million per annum, the budget for which has been centralised under ‘Inter-
Directorate Transfers’ in Table 9 to be set aside for the unknown non-teachers’ pay 
award referred to above until such time as the final contribution rate and the costs of 
the pay award are known with certainty. 

 
 Schools’ Budgets 
 
3.10 In 2019-20 school budgets were again protected from the proposed 1% annual 

efficiency target. However, the forecast pressure and uncertainty around Council 
budgets for future years was deemed to be such that it was felt to be almost 
impossible not to include the 1% efficiency target in proposals for 2020-21 onwards, 
given that school budgets account for around a third of net revenue expenditure, so 
head teachers and governing bodies were advised to use the 2019-20 financial year 
to plan ahead. However, following receipt of the better than anticipated 2020-21 
provisional settlement from Welsh Government, and recommendations from the 
various consultation events, school budgets have again been protected from the 1% 
efficiency target in 2020-21. 

 

Page 128



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

30  

 

3.11 There are a significant number of pressures on school delegated budgets for 2020-
21 and beyond, not least the full year cost of the teachers’ pay award and pensions 
increase, and pressures of funding additional learning needs. The total impact of 
these pressures is around £4.3 million, which is partly met from transfers into the 
settlement and partly from funding for pay, prices and unavoidable pressures. 

 
3.12 It should be noted that the 1% efficiency target is maintained for 2021-22 and 

beyond, in recognition of the pressures stated above, forecast reductions to the 
settlement and mounting external pressures across Council services.  

 
   Budget Pressures   

 
3.13 The final schedule of budget pressures is attached at Appendix A and presents a 

number of recurrent pressures, totalling £6.683 million.  These mainly represent 
unavoidable pressures arising from legislative changes, increased costs and 
contractual changes. However, in addition to these unavoidable pressures, Cabinet 
have considered the responses to the budget consultation and other issues arising 
during the year and have included a new recurrent budget pressure of £2 million to 
address a number of public realm and place shaping issues, not least carriageway 
resurfacing, transport and road safety, gulley cleaning, pitch drainage and play areas, 
site preparation for housing and commercial development and general maintenance 
issues throughout the county borough, along with supporting infrastructure. This will, 
in part, help to address the estimated £50 million backlog of highways repairs and 
maintenance work that exists. This could be a combination of capital or revenue 
spend, and any capital requirements will be subject to full Council approval in line 
with financial procedures.  

 
3.14 Further provision has been made to develop an apprenticeship programme 

throughout the Council to enable staff to undertake formal training alongside the 
development of practical skills. The aim is to “grow our own” skilled and professional 
workforce particularly in services where we are struggling to recruit to specialist 
posts, e.g. building control, transportation officers, engineers, planners and 
surveyors.  

 
3.15 The January Draft Budget report to Cabinet explained that budget pressures 

identified at that time were subject to change before the Final Budget. The main 
changes are identified in Table 12 below. 

 
 Table 12: New Budget Pressures 

 

Item Value 
£’000 

Description 

Fire Service Levy 53 Increase in precept to cover pay, price and 
demographic increases, including the increase in 
employer's contributions to superannuation. Total 
precept increase is £325,000 but £272,000 set aside 
in 2019-20 towards pensions increase. 

 
 
3.16 Furthermore, inevitably additional pressures will arise during the year as a result of 

increased numbers or legislative changes. Officers are currently considering the 

Page 129



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

31  

 

pressures arising from increased numbers of pupils needed behavioural support 
along with legislative pressures in other services, and a provisional allocation of 
£500,000 has been set aside for these. Funding will be allocated in-year subject to 
business case approval, where necessary. Cabinet is also minded to invest in capital 
improvements to the highways network to make it more sustainable for the future, 
and reduce the need for ad hoc repairs. Additional funding is likely to be committed 
during the financial year to meet the recurrent revenue costs of any required 
borrowing to fund this proposal, and some funding has been held centrally for this 
purpose until such time as a scheme is fully developed. Any proposal will be 
submitted for full Council approval before inclusion in the capital programme. The 
total cost of pressures identified in Appendix A equates to £6.683 million.  

 
 Budget Reductions 
 
3.17 Budget reduction proposals totalling £2.413 million have been identified from service 

and corporate budgets to achieve a balanced budget. These are detailed in Appendix 
B. Since the draft MTFS was reported to Cabinet in January 2020, only one budget 
reduction proposal has been amended: 

 
 EFS54 – Reduction to the Central South Consortium – this has been reduced from 

£56,000 to £17,000, to take into account the 3% reduction to local authority 
contribution levels for 2020-21 agreed by the Joint Committee.   
 

 Council Wide Budgets 
 
3.18 Council Wide budgets include funding for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, costs 

of financing capital expenditure, levies, centrally held pay and prices provisions, 
insurance budgets, discretionary rate relief and provision for redundancy related 
costs. A thorough review of recent years’ under spends within corporate budgets was 
undertaken in 2017-18 which led to budget reductions totalling £2.610 million in 
2018-19 and a further £2.388 million in 2019-20. Consequently the scope available 
for further reductions is quite limited, as a number of these budgets are fixed and 
unavoidable, without putting the Council at risk. The higher than anticipated pay 
awards, teachers’ pensions’ increases and inflationary increases has put also 
additional pressure on these budgets. 

 
3.19 The South Wales Fire and Rescue Authority covers 10 South Wales Council areas 

including Bridgend County. It is funded by raising a levy on its constituent Councils, 
based on population. For 2019-20 the levy on Bridgend, and consequently its Council 
Tax payers, is £6,746,905. The Fire and Rescue Authority is facing similar pension 
increase pressures on its budget as teachers, and has received some grant funding 
towards this in both 2019-20 and 2020-21, but there is a shortfall, and when pay and 
demographic pressures are added to this, the increase in levy for 2020-21 for 
Bridgend is £325,000. The Council provided a budget pressure towards fire service 
pension costs in 2019-20, but there is still a remaining budget pressure for 2020-21 
of £53,000.  

 
 Fees and Charges  
  
3.20 Generally, income from fees and charges will be increased by CPI (at the prevailing 

rate, 1.3% at December 2019) plus 1%, subject to rounding, or in line with statutory 

Page 130



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

32  

 

or service requirements. Schedules of fees and charges will be reported separately, 
as usual, under Delegated Powers. New charges or charges that have been included 
in the 2020-21 budget and are above the general increase are shown in Appendix C.  

 
3.21 Council approved a corporate income generation policy in March 2016 which aims to 

set a consistent approach across Council services and outline key principles to be 
applied. As a key principle, where a decision has been taken to charge for a service, 
the Council will aim for full cost recovery, except where there is a conscious decision 
which is consistent with Council priorities, recognising that the service would then be 
subsidised by Council Tax payers. 

 
 MTFS Support for Well-being Objectives 
 
3.22 Appendix D details the Directorate Base Budgets for 2020-21. The MTFS supports 

the delivery of the Council’s well-being objectives and Table 13 below summarises 
Directorate budgets which will be used to support these and core services and 
statutory functions.  A more detailed analysis is shown in Appendix E.   

 
Table 13 – 2020-21 Budget by Well-being Objective 

 

Budget 2020-21 Wellbeing Objectives 

Directorate  

Wellbeing 
Objectives 

Core 
Services & 
Statutory 
Functions 

  
Total        

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Central Education & Family Support 8,114 13,265 21,379 

Schools 41,499 58,053 99,552 

Social Services and Wellbeing 53,541 17,353 70,894 

Communities 8,848 18,942 27,790 

Chief Executive's 2,075 16,153 18,228 

Council Wide Budgets 351 48,691 49,042 

NET BUDGET REQUIREMENT  114,428 172,457 286,885 

 
  

Page 131



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

33  

 

 
4.        COUNCIL RESERVES  
 
4.1 The Council’s Reserves and Balances Protocol attached at Appendix F sets out the 

principles used to assess the adequacy of reserves, the rationale for establishing 
reserves and the arrangements for monitoring reserves.  For the last three years, the 
Council has maintained its Council Fund at a minimum of £7 million and at 31 March 
2019 it was £8.776 million, which is 4.98% of the net budget excluding school 
delegated budgets. In the face of continued uncertainty regarding the economy and 
public finances, and in line with the revised MTFS Principles it is recommended that 
the Council seeks to increase its Council Fund to a level of 5% of the Council’s net 
budget, excluding schools. This will be monitored and will depend upon financial 
performance during future periods and the need to cover against specific risks as 
they arise through the earmarked reserves process. 

 
4.2 In accordance with the Protocol, a review of the Council’s financial risks, pressures 

and reserves was undertaken at period 6 and period 9 in 2019-20. Appendix F also 
sets out the forecast movement in the Council’s Earmarked Reserves by the end of 
2019-20 and 2020-21. At this point the forecast movement to 31 March 2020 on 
Earmarked Reserves is an overall reduction of £4.250 million on the assumption of: 

 

 The estimated draw down of a large amount of the Capital Programme Contribution 
reserves of £3.786 million, which does rely on capital spend being incurred from 
January until March 2020.  Offsetting this is an increase in the Capital Programme 
reserve during the year of £6 million, including £2 million for Investing in 
Communities; 

 Estimated draw-down of £1.130 million for Digital Transformation, £643,000 for 
MTFS contingency and £365,000 change fund, with £606,000 of reserves 
unwound; 

 The forecast draw down of £1.413 million from the Directorate Earmarked 
Reserves, either by Directorates, or as a result of any reserve that is no longer 
required being unwound, both offset by additions of £777,000 as a result of new 
Directorate Reserves following the various reviews. This results in a projected net 
decrease on Reserves Held for Directorates’ Planned Developments of 
£635,000; 

 The projected net draw down from the Equalisation and Grant Reserves for 2019-
20 is £844,000; 

 
4.3 In line with the Protocol, a further review will be undertaken at the end of the current 

financial year and transfers made at this point taking account of the overall financial 
position of the Council, including the final outturn, actual accrued Council Tax income, 
Earmarked Reserve levels, the Council Fund level and any new pressures or risks that 
need to be provided for. At this time Directors will be invited to submit earmarked 
reserve requests to meet any specific unfunded pressures that they expect to arise in 
2020-21 and these will be considered in the context of Directorate outturn positions as 
well as that of the Council as a whole.  In advance of that process, the forecast 
movement in reserves for 2020-21 assumes: 

  

 An overall reduction in Earmarked Reserves of £8.345 million during 2020-21;  

 Full draw down from a number of reserves including demolition reserves, Investing 
in Communities and the Road Safety Reserve. 

Page 132



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

34  

 

 Draw down from the Capital Programme Contribution Reserve, Capital Feasibility 
Reserve and Asset Management Reserve in line with the current Capital 
Programme expenditure profile. 

 
It does not include the potential increase of reserves for 2020-21 as a result of 
fortuitous under spends at the end of this financial year. The forecast position is 
summarised in Table 14 below: 

 
Table 14 – Summary of Usable Earmarked Reserves  
 

Opening  
Balance 

1 April 
2019 

Reserve 
Movement 

2019-20 

Closing 
Balance 

31 March 
2020 

Movement 
2020-21 

Closing 
Balance  

31 March 
2021 

£'000   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

48,107 Total Earmarked Reserves (4,250) 43,857 (8,345) 35,512 

 
  

Page 133



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

35  

 

 

5.        CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND CAPITAL FINANCING STRATEGY 

5.1 This section of the report deals with the proposed Capital Programme for 2019-20 to 
2029-30, which forms part of, but extends beyond the MTFS.  It has been developed 
in line with the MTFS principles and the Council’s Capital Strategy and reflects the 
Welsh Government capital settlement for 2020-21.  The Programme has been 
revised during the financial year to bring it up to date and take into account new 
capital schemes either funded from external resources, or from internal resources 
following a review of the Council’s capital investment requirements. 

  Capital Programme 2019-20 to 2029-30 

5.2 This section of the report reflects the Welsh Government provisional capital 
settlement for 2020-21, which provides general capital funding (GCF) for the Council 
for 2020-21 of £7.983 million of which £3.986 million is provided through un-
hypothecated supported borrowing and the remainder £3.997 million as general 
capital grant.  This is £318,000 more than the amount received in 2019-20 and 
£761,000 more than was originally anticipated. 

 
5.3 The funding includes the 2020-21 share (£20 million across Wales) of the additional 

£100 million of general capital funding (across Wales for 2018-19 to 2020-21) 
announced by Welsh Government last year.  This is in addition to the additional £60 
million capital provided across Wales over the same three years for a local authority 
road refurbishment scheme, funded by grant outside of the settlement The £7.983 
million also includes this authority’s share of an additional £15 million across Wales 
to enable local authorities to respond to the urgent need to decarbonise, in light of 
the climate emergency declared by the Welsh Government and many councils over 
the past year. No indicative allocations have been provided for 2021-22, so for now it 
is assumed that the level of funding will revert to the pre 2018-19 level, assuming the 
end of the £100 million capital grant, but this will be indicative only.   

 
5.4 The original budget approved by Council on 20th February 2019 has been further 

revised and approved by Council during the year to incorporate budgets brought 
forward from 2018-19 and any new schemes and grant approvals. A review has also 
been undertaken of the capital resources available to the Council, along with the 
capital pressures that it faces. Due to the limited capital resource available, following 
a number of years of significant investment in the Council’s infrastructure, service 
managers have not been asked to submit capital bids for funding at this stage.   
Cabinet has, and will continue to, determine its strategy in terms of capital priorities 
and where known these are built into the Capital Strategy to be approved by Council 
in February 2020.  

 
5.5 Since the latest capital programme was approved by Council in January 2020 there 

are a small number of new schemes that need building into the programme: 
  

Page 134



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

36  

 

 
 Caerau Heat Network 
 

The Caerau Heat Scheme is an innovation project with a total cost of £9,732,922.  
The cost of the operation will be funded through a mixture of European Regional 
Development Fund (ERDF) grant (£7,296,245) and match funding (£2,436,677).  The 
match funding has all been secured and is primarily derived from retrospective 
project spend (WG/UK Government funding) which has all been received by BCBC 
and submitted and audited by WEFO.  The remainder of the match funding is from a 
small amount of ongoing BCBC staff time.  Nordic Heat have been procured to 
develop the project through to construction and are currently engaged in the 
preparation of an Outline Business Case and ground investigation.  If both activities 
provide suitable answers to progress the scheme a contractor will be procured in 
2021 to design, build and operate the scheme. 

 
 
 Valleys Task Force Empty Homes Grant Scheme 
 

  A report was presented to Cabinet in November 2019 on the Valleys Task Force Empty 
Homes Grant. It was reported that the Welsh Government had provided support to the 
Valleys Taskforce by rolling out an Empty Homes Grant to all local authorities in the 
taskforce areas as a pilot for the period from October 2019 to the end of March 2020. 
This was met 100% by Welsh Government. It was indicated that this would be 
extended to a second phase, which would require 35% match funding contribution from 
local authorities. For Bridgend it is anticipated that the total cost of phase 2 could be 
in the region of £300,000, with a match funding requirement of £105,000 but this will 
depend upon demand for the grant funding from home owners. It is intended that the 
match funding will be met from uncommitted capital receipts. 

  
  This grant will support the delivery of the Council’s and Welsh Government’s priority of 

returning empty properties into use in the Valleys areas of Bridgend County Borough, 
to help regenerate communities, provide more choice and suitable accommodation for 
residents. 

 
  Schools’ Capital Maintenance Grant 
 
  Similar to last year, Welsh Government has recently announced a grant of £43 million 

across Wales, £1,961,250 for Bridgend, to address the backlog of maintenance works 
across schools. The funding can be used to offset locally determined capital 
expenditure in 2019-20 and the funding displaced by this grant will be spent in 2020-
21 for investment in the improvement of schools. This includes spend on: 

 Window repairs or replacement 

 Roof replacement 

 Electrical works / re-wiring 

 Repairing or replacing flooring 

 Plumbing / Boiler replacement 

 Minor structural repairs 

 Plastering /Ceiling replacement 

 Asbestos Removal 
 

Page 135



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

37  

 

 
 In addition, there are changes to a number of existing schemes, including: 
 
 Maesteg Town Hall 
 

The total scheme cost for Maesteg Town Hall has reduced since January 2020 
following the receipt of final contract sums. There is a reduction of £309,000 in 
respect of the total contract sum following receipt of tenders, and value engineering. 
Further work to reduce costs through the identification of value engineering options 
will be considered on site. The reduction in cost will be offset in a reduction in the 
funding required from the Investing in Communities Fund. In addition, the remaining 
element of cost originally anticipated to be met from the Investing in Communities 
Fund will now be met from uncommitted capital receipts to ensure that the Fund is 
used to maximum effect and targets as many assets as possible. 
 
Fleet Vehicles 

 
A number of fleet vehicles are reaching the end of their useful life and need 
replacement. These are generally purchased using prudential borrowing and 
repayments made by the relevant service cover the cost of the borrowing. Those 
currently requiring replacement include two 3.5T Light Sweepers for highways, four 
Kubota M4002 Tractors, a trailer for the bereavement service and a replacement 
minibus for one of the Council’s special schools. The total cost will be in the region of 
£352,000, which will be funded mostly by prudential borrowing, with a small element 
funded from the revenue budget. 

  

  There is also slippage of some funding into 2020-21 for some schemes plus a small 
number of new grant funded schemes. Any additional proposals will be considered in 
light of, and in line with, the proposed Capital Strategy and brought back to Council for 
approval at a later date.  
 

5.6 The Capital Programme contains a number of fixed annual allocations that are met 
from the total general capital funding for the Council. These annual allocations have 
been reviewed as part of the capital planning process and no changes are proposed 
to be made to them in 2020-21 at this time. 

 
The proposed allocations are therefore outlined in Table 15: 

 
Table 15 – Proposed Annual Allocations of Capital Funding 

 

  
2020-21 

£’000 

Highways Structural Works 200 

Carriageway Capital Works 250 

Disabled Facilities Grant 1,950 

Housing Renewal / Empty Property Schemes 100 

Special Regeneration Funding 540 

Page 136



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

38  

 

  
2020-21 

£’000 

Minor Works 1,130 

Community Projects 50 

Corporate Capital Fund (Renewals / Match Funding) 200 

Street lighting / Bridge infrastructure replacement 400 

Highways Structural Works 200 

Total 4,820 

 

 Capital Programme link to the Wellbeing Objectives 
 
5.7 Table 16 outlines how the Council is using its capital programme to support the 

wellbeing objectives.   
 
 Table 16 – Capital Programme by Wellbeing Objective  
 

Wellbeing Objective 
Revised 
2019-20 

2020-21 2021-22 
2022-23 

to 
2029-30 

Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

1. Supporting a Successful 
Sustainable Economy 

10,525 22,719 7,838 33,477 74,559 

2. Helping People and Communities 
to be more Healthy and Resilient 

4,333 1,950 1,950 15,600 23,833 

3. Smarter Use of Resources 14,608 29,240 17,893 65,444 127,185 

Core Services & Statutory Functions 671 2525 0 8,367 11,563 

TOTAL 30,137 56,434 27,681 122,888 237,140 

 
Supporting a Successful Sustainable Economy 

 
5.8 The proposed capital programme includes a number of new and existing projects 

which will help to support a successful sustainable economy by, for example, the 
redevelopment of Maesteg Town Hall, providing improved community facilities to 
include the town library and performance spaces, as well as offering improved 
accessibility for visitors and creating jobs.  This is in addition to significant new 
investment in ensuring that the highways and footways are of a good standard to 
encourage the use of local services by the public and avoid the need to travel to out 
of town developments. There is extensive investment in all of our town centres, with 
works progressing on Porthcawl Regeneration and the development of Enterprise 
Hubs, to build on previous investment and initiatives. These supplement those 
existing schemes, such as the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal (CCRCD) investment 
which will be targeted to focus on raising economic prosperity, increasing job 
prospects and improving digital and transport connectivity. As mentioned above, 
investment to bring empty properties back into use will also help to improve the 
aesthetic appearance of our communities and help to regenerate them. 

 
  

Page 137



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

39  

 

 
 Helping People and Communities to be more Healthy and Resilient 
 
5.9 The two new Extra Care Schemes opened in Ynysawdre and Maesteg to enable 

people to live more independently than they would in residential care. There is also 
significant investment in Disabled Facilities Grants and other Housing Schemes, to 
enable people to live as independently as possible in their own homes. The Council 
receives Integrated Care Fund capital grant on an annual basis as part of its 
partnership with Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board. This is built into the 
capital programme as it is approved for specific schemes. 

   
  Smarter Use of Resources 
 

5.10 The Schools’ Modernisation Programme forms a cornerstone of the wellbeing 
objective of smarter use of resources, with the remaining schemes in Band A of the 
21st Century Schools programme all now completed, and work commencing on Band 
B options, which will result in further capital investment of around £70 million in the 
Council’s schools’ estate.  

 
5.11 There is a total budget of £1 million in the capital programme for works to Council 

assets, to make them suitable for Community Asset Transfer (CAT). This is to ensure 
that as many buildings as possible can be kept open and provide long term 
community benefits.  

 
5.12 In addition, Council has previously approved significant investment in upgrading 

existing buildings through the capital minor works programme and the Investing in 
Communities fund to reduce running costs, including maintenance, and improving 
energy efficiency across its assets.  This is in addition to the two existing schemes 
within the programme which will see significant investment in energy efficiency 
schemes, across Council buildings and street lighting, which will be repaid from 
recurrent revenue savings generated.  

 
5.13 The revised capital programme is attached as Appendix G.  This includes those 

amendments outlined in paragraph 5.5, along with any other changes to the 
programme since it was approved in January 2020.  

 
Capital Receipts 
 

5.14 The Council estimated that around £21 million could be generated as part of the 
enhanced disposals programme which commenced in 2014. So far, circa £18 million 
has already been delivered, with £2.56 million under contractual agreement and the 
balance projected to be realised over the next 6 months (2019-2020). Of the £21 
million, £9.8 million relates to school buildings and land vacated through the 21st 
Century Schools Programme, to be used as match funding for the programme. It 
excludes any receipts anticipated from the sale of Waterton or Porthcawl 
Regeneration sites which will be the focus of the disposal programme in the future. 
Receipts are subject to the exchange of contracts, so it is prudent not to commit them 
until we have a contractual agreement. 

  

Page 138



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

40  

 

 
Prudential (Unsupported) Borrowing 

 
5.15 Total Prudential Borrowing taken out as at 1 April 2019 was £43.998 million, of which 

£27.796 million was outstanding. It is estimated that the total borrowed will increase 
to £44.95 million by the end of this financial year.  

 

5.16 Future prudential borrowing could include an estimated £2 million towards the costs 
of the 21st Century Schools Band B Programme, including associated highways 
works. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



  

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-21 to 2023-24  2020-2021 

 

41  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bridgend County Borough Council 
Civic Offices 
Angel Street 
BRIDGEND 
CF31 4WB 

 
(01656) 643643 

Page 140



APPENDIX A

Ref Directorate Wellbeing Objective Pressure £'000

EFS1 Education and Family Support Core Services & Statutory Functions
Home to School Transport - additional costs following re-tendering as a result of 

contracts being handed back
115

EFS2 Education and Family Support Core Services & Statutory Functions
Home to School Transport - re-tendering exercise of taxis.  The profile of the 

learners has changed with pupils now with greater needs, longer journey times 

and higher prices than previous years.

241

EFS3 Education and Family Support - Schools Core Services & Statutory Functions Increase in Special School pupil numbers 346

EFS4 Education and Family Support - Schools Core Services & Statutory Functions
Significant number of special school pupils identified as requiring specific 1:1 

support additional to their core funding
185

EFS5 Education and Family Support - Schools Core Services & Statutory Functions
Increase in number of pupils eligible for Free School Meals which impacts upon 

the amount required in school delegated budgets to meet the cost of meals plus 

additional learning needs

844

SSW1 Social Services and Wellbeing Helping People to be Self Reliant Fostering Service Medical Assessments following the health boundary change. 20

SSW2 Social Services and Wellbeing Helping People to be Self Reliant
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLS) costs to be charged by Cwm Taf 

Morgannwg University Health Board.  
100

SSW3 Social Services and Wellbeing Helping People to be Self Reliant
Implications of National Living Wage uplift on commissioned contracts within 

Social Services and Wellbeing - National Living Wage will increase from £8.21 

per hour to £8.72 per hour in April 2020.

1,037

SSW4 Social Services and Wellbeing Helping People to be Self Reliant
Linked to an increase in the Older Persons population, and the increased 

pressure on services - estimated that the older person population will increase by 

1.44% in 2020.

290

COM1 Communities Supporting the Local Economy Treatment of Japanese knot weed. 20

COM2 Communities Core Services & Statutory Functions
Cost of upgrading and maintaining the database for the control and management 

of Traffic orders.
10

COM3 Communities Core Services & Statutory Functions
Development of a Strategic Development Plan (SDP) for the region as agreed by 

full Council.
55

COM4 Communities Core Services & Statutory Functions
Regular Inspections of land under BCBC control in accordance with the Mines 

and Quarries act and also Occupiers liability.
20

COM5 Communities Core Services & Statutory Functions
Replacement of Cleaner Streets Pedestrian Road Sweepers - under the 

Environmental Protection act, street cleansing is a legislative requirement. 
16

COM6 Communities Supporting the Local Economy
Enhanced regeneration resource to support existing and future schemes for the 

whole County Borough 
360

COM7 Communities Core Services & Statutory Functions
Additional costs arising from the break in the Civil Enforcement joint venture by 

the Vale of Glamorgan Council
50

2020-21 BUDGET PRESSURES

P
age 141



Ref Directorate Wellbeing Objective Pressure £'000

COM8 Communities Core Services & Statutory Functions Parks & Playing Fields - development budget 75

COM9 Communities Core Services & Statutory Functions
Funding to mitigate the Welsh Government reduction in Sustainable Waste 

Management Grant, to support recycling initiatives
80

COM10 Communities Supporting the Local Economy

Funding to support a raft of public realm and place shaping measures. 

Programme of works, capital or revenue, to be agreed along with supporting 

infrastructure. This will help to tackle the backlog of highways repairs and 

maintenance work.

2,000

CEX1 Chief Executive Core Services & Statutory Functions
Shortfall between Housing Benefit (HB) payable and Department for Works and 

Pensions (DWP) subsidy that can be claimed for property for vulnerable adults.
37

CEX2 Chief Executive Core Services & Statutory Functions Funding to meet the costs of the union facility agreement. 29

CEX3 Chief Executive Core Services & Statutory Functions
Council Wide Apprenticeship Programme to develop practical skills alongside 

more formal learning opportunities. 
200

CW1 Council Wide - Fire Service Precept Core Services & Statutory Functions
Increase in precept to cover pay, price and demographic increases, including the 

increase in employer's contributions to superannuation. Total precept increase is 

£325k but £272k set aside in 2019-20 towards pensions increase.

53

CW2 Centrally Managed Budget Pressures Core Services & Statutory Functions
To mitigate in-year pressures in respect of increased numbers or legislative 

changes, such as behaviour support, pupil numbers, new legislation etc.
500

Total Budget Pressures 6,683

P
age 142



Budget Reduction Proposals  2020-21 to 2023-24
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Improvement       

Priority           

2016-20 

Categories Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2019-20      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2020-2024 as 

% of 2019-20 

Budget 

2019-20 Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Indicative  

2020-21 £'000

Indicative  

2021-22 £'000

Indicative  

2022-23 £'000

Indicative  

2023-24 £'000

IMPROVEMENT PRIORITY CATEGORIES 

IP1 - Supporting a successful economy SUR- Smarter Use of Resources RAG STATUS KEY

IP2 -Helping people to be self-reliant MSR- Managed Service Reductions RED Proposals not fully developed and include high delivery risk

IP3 -Smarter use of resources CST - Collaboration and Transformation AMBER Proposal in development but includes delivery risk

NONPTY-Core services  & statutory functions PC - Policy Changes GREEN Proposal developed and deliverable

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

CENTRAL EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 PC

Phased implementation of Learner Transport 

Policy regarding statutory distances for free 

travel

• Savings should occur naturally as a result of the policy application 

year on year, however dispersed learners and contractual pressure 

from operators as routes become more untenable may mean it 

becomes increasingly difficult to find the identified savings.

• Risk of price increases from Contractors.

5,145 3% 67 75 75

EFS33
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 PC

Home to School Transport - removal of Escorts 

on primary school service with fewer than 8 

pupils

Driver only supervision of pupils on school transport.  The most 

vulnerable pupils may not be supported with concerns around 

behaviour/pupil safety.  Full 12 week public consultation.  Parent 

groups, learners and contractor all likely to be opposed to change.  

Negative media coverage likely.  Reputational risk to local authority.  

Health & Safety risk likely to increase and will need to be mitigated 

in other ways.

5,145 1% 35

EFS41
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 MSR Full cost recovery of Post 16 transport

•         Full 12 week consultation would be required with a full 

academic year required before policy is implemented post policy 

change.  

•         Parent groups, learners and others likely to be opposed to 

policy change.

•         Negative media coverage.

•         Reputational risk to local authority.

•         Sustainability risk to secondary schools sixth forms. 

•         Risk to financial viability of Bridgend College.  Some courses 

may cease if numbers of pupils reduce.

•         Possible increase in the number of young people not engaged 

in education, employment or training (NEET).

•         Impact on local road infrastructure around schools as more 

pupils chose private motor vehicles rather than public transport.

•         The most deprived may lose out the most and may chose not 

to consider post-16 education.

•         Reduction in vehicles required by local authority may increase 

the risk for some transport operators, effectively forcing them out of 

the market.  This would then impact the ability of the local authority 

to contract transport services to meets its statutory transport 

requirements.  Therefore, there is a risk that transport operators 

would increase their costs against these contracts to compensate.

£314,500 for 

college 

transport.  6th 

form budget 

part of 

secondary 

school 

transport 

which is £1.8m

28% 292 208

P
age 143



Budget Reduction Proposals  2020-21 to 2023-24
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Improvement       

Priority           

2016-20 

Categories Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2019-20      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2020-2024 as 

% of 2019-20 

Budget 

2019-20 Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Indicative  

2020-21 £'000

Indicative  

2021-22 £'000

Indicative  

2022-23 £'000

Indicative  

2023-24 £'000

EFS44
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 SUR Review of Childcare Team

Review existing staffing structure within the Childcare Team with a 

view to moving core funded staff to grant, where this option is 

eligible under grant conditions. In addition a review of the service 

demand placed on the Development Officers in supporting the 

private nursery settings throughout the county borough, ensuring a 

streamlined service that meets minimum statutory requirements. 

There are however, significant risks in making further reductions in 

this budget line (RSG) given Welsh Government's policy linked with 

both the national statutory Childcare Offer and Child Sufficiency 

requirements. In addition, this budget line has been reduced in 

previous years and existing demand (to fund placements) is 

exceeding budget.

145 (RSG) / 

101 (grant)
7% 10

EFS48 None IP3 SUR

Efficiency saving targeting supplies and 

services budgets across the Education and 

Family Support Directorate

Limited impact as review has identified small historic underspends 

against this budget category.
1,700 5% 87

EFS49
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 MSR Reduction in Cognition and Learning Team Reduction in support for a vulnerable group 307 20% 110 61

EFS51
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 MSR

Reduction in support to Gypsy and Traveller 

learners 

This will result in  some slight reduction in the service offered to this 

vulnerable group but there will still be a service offering support
363 14% 50

EFS52
A prosperous 

Wales 
IP1 MSR

Removal of BCBC core Adult Community 

Learning budget

Remove the council subsidised support to adult learners although 

there are other providers - e.g. College.  Loss of £130K grant.
133 100% 133

EFS54
A prosperous 

Wales 
IP2 MSR

Further reduction to the contribution to the 

Central South Consortium

Further c. 3% saving in relation to CSC school improvement 

services.
566 3% 30 17

EFS56
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 MSR

Removal of statementing team - as the ALN act 

moves to the development of Independent 

Development Plans by schools

Capacity and ability of schools to write the Independent 

Development Plans without support. Risk of legal challenge and 

reputational damage

75 100% 75

EFS57
A prosperous 

Wales 
IP2 MSR

Further review of staffing structures across the 

Education and Family Support Directorate 
Potential delays in service delivery.

Total staffing 

budget across 

the directorate 

(exc schools) - 

£17.556m

0.28% 50

Total Education and Family Support 239 721 208 0

P
age 144



Budget Reduction Proposals  2020-21 to 2023-24
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Improvement       

Priority           

2016-20 

Categories Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2019-20      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2020-2024 as 

% of 2019-20 

Budget 

2019-20 Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Indicative  

2020-21 £'000

Indicative  

2021-22 £'000

Indicative  

2022-23 £'000

Indicative  

2023-24 £'000

SCHOOLS

SCH1
A prosperous 

Wales 
IP3 SUR

Efficiency savings against School Delegated 

Budgets 

The annual saving represents a 1% efficiency per annum against 

individual schools budgets. Risk of increased school deficit 

positions. Implementation will be a matter for individual schools - 

potential to result in some teacher and other staff redundancies.  If 

efficiency is made solely from staffing budgets, this could range from 

a minimum of 1 teacher in our larger Primary Schools to 5 teachers 

in our larger Comprehensive schools over the MTFS period.

£95.5m - ISB 

Budget
3% 0 0 955 955 955

Total Schools 0 955 955 955

239 1,676 1,163 955

SSW19
A healthier 

wales
IP3 SUR

Further review of HALO partnership contract, 

including the Council taking over the 

management and payment of utility bills 

currently incurred by HALO.  This will result in 

VAT efficiencies for HALO and contribute 

towards the reduction in the management fee

Previous negotiations have proved successful.  No adverse impact 

identified.
1,595 3% 80 40

SSW20
A healthier 

wales
IP3 MSR

Identify further savings from leisure centres and 

swimming pools including reviewing the number 

of facilities and also reductions in services or 

opening hours. 

Reduced availability of services and accessibility to the public.  

Negative impact on healthier wales wellbeing goals.
1,595 4% 70

SSW22
A healthier 

wales
IP3 MSR

Identify further savings from library and cultural 

facilities and related services including 

reviewing  the numbers of facilities (libraries, 

community centres) and also reductions in 

services or opening hours.

Reduced availability of services and accessibility to the public.  

Negative impact on healthier wales wellbeing goals.
2,933 1% 60 20

SSW26
A healthier 

wales
IP2 MSR

Remodelling day service provision for older 

people and learning disability services

Full review of services which could mean alternative methods of 

service delivery
2,795 6% 50 90 90

SSW27
A healthier 

wales
IP3 SUR

Increase income generation from mobile 

response and telecare charging

Limited impact on current services but would require commercial 

expertise to assist with the proposal

N/a - new 

income stream

N/a - new 

income stream
75 75

SSW28
A healthier 

wales
NONPTY PC

Increase non-residential charging limits from 

£90 to £100 per week.  This is totally reliant on 

Welsh Government changing the limits within 

their non-residential charging policy in 2020/21

Limited impact on services -2,975 -7% 200

Total Education & Family Support Directorate

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

P
age 145



Budget Reduction Proposals  2020-21 to 2023-24
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Improvement       

Priority           

2016-20 

Categories Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2019-20      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2020-2024 as 

% of 2019-20 

Budget 

2019-20 Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Indicative  

2020-21 £'000

Indicative  

2021-22 £'000

Indicative  

2022-23 £'000

Indicative  

2023-24 £'000

SSW29
A healthier 

wales
IP3 SUR

Further review of staffing structures across 

Adults and Children Services including:-

• The management structures in the direct 

provider services as well as reviewing the 

demands on the service and the direct care 

hours needed to meet those demands. 

• The overall management structure across 

Adults, Children and Wellbeing services

• The service will be reviewing its overall 

professional staff to ensure the levels of the 

staff meet current demands whilst being aware 

that the service need to ensure that the 

caseloads of qualified staff are in line with 

acceptable standard because if they are not it 

would impact on practice and performance and 

increase risk in the service as well as impacting 

on recruitment and retention and the Authority's 

ability to attractive suitably experienced and 

qualified staff . 

This will mean reducing staff numbers, which will incur redundancy 

costs.  There will also be reduced capacity within teams across the 

directorate

Total staffing 

budget across 

the directorate 

- £34.020m

1% 175 200

SSW30
A healthier 

wales
IP2 MSR

Further review of care packages linked to the 

assessment framework to include consideration 

of transport

It is envisaged that the number of care hours will reduce for service 

users across the directorate
Not specific 150 150

820 515 0 0

COMMUNITIES

COM26
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 MSR

Investigate the introduction of charging to users 

of the Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town 

Centre to reduce/remove the current level of 

subsidy otherwise closure of the facility will be 

necessary 

The popularity of the service is generally declining with a significantly 

reduced number of users. Changes in technology have meant that 

lightweight, affordable scooters have now greatly increased in private 

ownership, compared to when the facility was introduced. The provision is 

non statutory and not one provided in other town centres in the County 

Borough or in many town centres of neighbouring authorities. On this 

basis in order to make the service viable it is proposed to introduce 

charging but if this does not present a realistic option to make the full 

required saving closure of the facility would be necessary. There is a risk 

that some members of the community  with mobility issues may struggle 

to pay the necessary charges and therefore maybe unable to gain access to 

the town centre. It is proposed to engage with users of the facility to 

inform the way forward. 

18 100% 5 18

COM42
A Healthier 

Wales
IP2 MSR

Review of parks and playing fields service split 

over two financial years - 19/20 and 20/21:-  

15% reduction to seasonal operatives budget 

(£75K).  Corresponding reduction to large and 

small plant (£29k).  Removal of bowls club 

grant (£34K). 

The cut identified for both 2019-20  and 2020-21 will mean that there 

are reduced levels of maintenance and slower reaction times which 

will mean a degradation over time which will result in higher future 

capital costs i.e. maintenance of remaining pavilions.    

2,141 3% 69 69

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate

P
age 146



Budget Reduction Proposals  2020-21 to 2023-24
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Improvement       

Priority           

2016-20 

Categories Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2019-20      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2020-2024 as 

% of 2019-20 

Budget 

2019-20 Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Indicative  

2020-21 £'000

Indicative  

2021-22 £'000

Indicative  

2022-23 £'000

Indicative  

2023-24 £'000

COM42a
A Healthier 

Wales
IP2 CST

Transfer of pitches/pavilions through 

Community Asset Transfer.  Increase charges 

for end-users to achieve full cost recovery for 

pitches/pavilions that do not transfer. Reduction 

of grass cut areas and maintained parkland and 

number of children's play areas.

The savings identified will see the removal of the majority of the 

remaining seasonal operatives budget with corresponding cuts to 

plant, equipment and materials.  Where asset transfers occur the 

respective  club (Rugby, football, bowls and cricket  etc) will be 

expected to fully fund the ongoing maintenance of the asset.  The 

remaining parks budget will be used to maintain the Council's main 

parks, highway grass cutting which is safety related, and to secure 

the ongoing site management and safety of the sites that will remain 

in Council ownership but, as described, will no longer maintain to a 

level associated with club level matches and sports events. The 

level of funding will also dictate the standard of open space 

maintenance and may impact on the ability to maintain the current 

number of children's play areas.

2,141 14% 300

COM43 None IP2 CST

Management of Kenfig National Nature 

Reserve ended in December 2019.  The 2020-

21 saving represents the balance of the saving 

already achieved in 2019-20.

There is a risk that the level of management may be affected, 

however there is also the opportunity that the new tenant may be 

able to draw on resources that BCBC cannot. 

35 100% 10 35

COM51 None IP3 SUR
Ongoing implementation of Corporate Landlord 

model

The savings will be delivered in a number of ways including 

operational efficiencies, streamlined business processes, IT 

investment, improved procurement and contract management, and 

some deletions of vacant posts.

3,092 11% 350

COM55 None IP3 SUR

Increase charge for Green Waste Service from 

£28.30 per household to £38.30.  The 2020-21 

saving represents the balance of the saving 

already achieved in 2019-20.

The new waste contract related items would require both Contract 

Variation negotiations with Kier to confirm the saving levels 

proposed and public consultation regarding the charge changes and 

reduced levels of service.

£191k - net 

budget for 

green waste 

service

13% 25 25

COM56 None IP3 SUR

Increase charge for collection of 3 bulky waste 

items from £15.50 to £20.  The 2020-21 saving 

represents the balance of the saving already 

achieved in 2019-20.

£90K income 

budget
11% 10 10

COM59 None IP3 SUR

Reduction to the opening hours of the 

Community Recycling Centres by 1 hour, per 

day.  The 2020-21 saving represents the 

balance of the saving already achieved in 2019-

20.

1,458 1% 17 17

COM62 None IP3 SUR

Re-location of Community Recycling Centre 

from Tythegston to Pyle resulting in cessation 

of lease payments at existing site.

Construction of the new site will mean that this saving will not be 

effective until 2021/22.
60 100% 60

COM64 None IP3 SUR

Closure of each of the CRC sites for one 

weekday per week (this already takes into 

account the reduction to the opening hours of 

one each day of the week)

The waste contract related items would require both Contract 

variation negotiations with Kier to confirm the saving levels proposed 

along with public consultation regarding the reduced levels of 

service.

1,458 3% 50

COM70

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities

IP2 MSR
Strategic Regeneration Fund - Removal of 

Strategic Events Fund

Finance no longer available to support any events such as waste 

and highways management for the Elvis Festival.

Overall SRF 

budget - 

£314K - £40K 

of this is the 

SEF

50% 20

The waste contract items would require both Contract Variation 

negotiations with Kier to confirm the saving levels proposed and 

public consultation regarding the charge changes and reduced 

levels of service. 

P
age 147



Budget Reduction Proposals  2020-21 to 2023-24
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Improvement       

Priority           

2016-20 

Categories Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2019-20      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2020-2024 as 

% of 2019-20 

Budget 

2019-20 Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Indicative  

2020-21 £'000

Indicative  

2021-22 £'000

Indicative  

2022-23 £'000

Indicative  

2023-24 £'000

COM71

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities

IP2 MSR
Strategic Regeneration Fund - Reduction to 

Town Maintenance/Events Budget

Maintenance of footfall cameras would be removed and the financial  

and organisational contributions to town centre events across towns 

would be reduced. Whilst some events are undertaken by external 

organisations such as the Town Councils already, the reduction in 

this funding will place a greater reliance on those external 

organisations to support the promotional events in the towns going 

forwards. 

Overall SRF 

budget - 

£314K - £23K 

of this is the 

TM/Events 

budget

52% 12

COM72

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities

IP2 MSR
Strategic Regeneration Fund - reduction to 

annual allocation 

The reduction to the Strategic Regeneration Fund will directly impact 

on the Council's ability to provide match-funding, through which to 

lever other external funding. There will be no funding for feasibility or 

development work, on which to prepare bids for funding. Also 

potential for a loss of private sector investment as a result of inability 

to engage productively with developers and present Bridgend 

County in a positive light.  

314 71% 223

COM73

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities

IP1 PC
BCBC to save the annual BID funding now BID 

no longer functions

No impact that is within the control of BCBC following a 

unsuccessful BID ballot.

Overall SRF 

budget - 

£314K - £15K 

of this is the 

BID budget

100% 15

COM76

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities

IP2 PC

Review of Porthcawl Marina with a view to it 

running on a full cost recovery basis. This will 

involve a review of the berth fees.

This would involve a review of the berth fees and other operational 

costs.  Any approach to outsourcing management would likely 

require financial support and therefore negate any savings.

25 100% 25

COM77 None IP3 SUR

Direct Services Organisation (DSO) staffing 

restructure - the front line staffing for highways 

which deal with a range of highway issues such 

as Winter gritting, Traffic collisions clear up, 

Flooding, Gully maintenance, Maintenance of 

Traffic signs, streetlights and traffic signals.  

The team have a major role within the Borough 

in the maintenance and repair of the highway.  

Since the loss of work the team undertook on 

behalf of the South Wales Trunk Road Agency 

(SWTRA) there is the potential to make a 

saving in the DSO staffing structure.

This would be potentially focused at a managerial level with the 

implication on the ability to deal with service requests in regard of 

local construction projects. It would also increase the single point 

failure in regard of sickness absence for remaining members of 

team. 

2,756 2% 50

COM79
A prosperous 

Wales
IP2 MSR

Investigate reducing costs and increasing 

charging for running the Bridgend Business 

Forum for specific events to reduce/remove the 

current level of subsidy otherwise reduction in 

the service level will be necessary.

If reduced costs and increased charges are accepted impact should 

be minimal, there is a risk that the level of support / number of 

events  may need to be reduced to support the saving.

35 100% 18 17

P
age 148



Budget Reduction Proposals  2020-21 to 2023-24
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Improvement       

Priority           

2016-20 

Categories Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2019-20      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2020-2024 as 

% of 2019-20 

Budget 

2019-20 Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Indicative  

2020-21 £'000

Indicative  

2021-22 £'000

Indicative  

2022-23 £'000

Indicative  

2023-24 £'000

COM81
A prosperous 

Wales
IP2 MSR

Cessation of Tourism contract with AMA 

Associates an external Public Relations 

Company who promote Bridgend with a range 

of publishers.

News coverage about Bridgend County will reduce and this 

potentially would have implications for visitor numbers and the local 

economy.

25 100% 25

COM89
A prosperous 

Wales
IP3 MSR Reduction to Highways - Carriageway budget

Reduction of this level of funding will mean that the number of 

streets able to be treated will be reduced and the likelihood of 

priority to main roads rather than residential streets that may be 

subject to more temporary repairs and increased times before more 

significant treatment.  May result in increased complaints.   

180 100% 180

COM96 None IP2 SUR

WG National AHP Waste Programme - capital 

contribution from WG towards 7.5 tonne vehicle 

to collect AHP recycling

This would require Contract Variation negotiations with Kier to 

confirm the saving levels proposed based on a reduction in costs in 

relation to the current AHP vehicle that is leased 

58 24% 14

COM97 None IP3 SUR
The lease for Sunnyside House expires on 

31/03/21 - savings will be made from this date.
No impact on service provision. 309 100% 309

Total Communities Directorate 646 973 0 223

CHIEF EXECUTIVES

CEX1
A healthier 

wales
IP3 SUR Efficiencies from Shared Regulatory Service

May require restructuring within service and impact on response 

times, but will be managed across the 3 participating Councils and 

will aim to minimise impact.

1,423 3% 111 37

CEX11 None IP3 SUR

The expansion of the shared internal audit 

service has created efficiencies resulting in 

reduced contribution for BCBC

No impact on service provision 311 13% 40

CEX12 None IP3 SUR Reduction of HR staffing budgets Potential reduction of posts and redundancy costs 1,630 3% 44

CEX13 None IP3 SUR

Reduction of Partnerships Services budgets - 

savings achieved through software 

rationalisation and removal of vacancies within 

the ICT service unit

Minimal service impact as savings a result of vacancies and 

efficiencies
6,679 3% 200

CEX15 None IP3 SUR Reduction of Legal fees budgets Minimal impact 427 19% 80

CEX16 None IP3 SUR Reduce Members' training budget Less training opportunities for elected members.  14 51% 7

CEX17 None IP3 SUR Reduction of Business Support staffing budgets Potential reduction of posts and redundancy costs 957 10% 100

P
age 149



Budget Reduction Proposals  2020-21 to 2023-24
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Improvement       

Priority           

2016-20 

Categories Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2019-20      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2020-2024 as 

% of 2019-20 

Budget 

2019-20 Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Indicative  

2020-21 £'000

Indicative  

2021-22 £'000

Indicative  

2022-23 £'000

Indicative  

2023-24 £'000

CEX19
A prosperous 

Wales
IP2 MSR Close the CCTV service provided by BCBC

Potential impact on community safety and crime levels across the 

Borough
369 81% 300

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 508 300 0 0

CORPORATE / COUNCIL WIDE

CWD9 None NONPTY SUR
Reduction in funding required for 

Apprenticeship Levy
No impact as budget historically been higher than required. 700 7% 50

CWD 11 None NONPTY SUR

Reduction in the budget to cover the cost to the 

Council of the outstanding liability for 

Employers Liability, Public Liability and Property 

following favourable insurance contract 

renewals in previous years.  

No impact as favourable insurance contract renewals have been 

achieved, however no mitigation available for potential increases to 

premiums in future years.

1,588 9% 150

Total Corporate / Council Wide 200 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL REDUCTIONS 2,413 3,464 1,163 1,178

2,413 9,178 8,962 8,740

REDUCTION SHORTFALL 0 5,714 7,799 7,562

1,023 309 0 0

996 1,941 955 955

394 1,214 208 223

2,413 3,464 1,163 1,178

ESTIMATED BUDGET REDUCTION REQUIREMENT (MOST LIKELY)

P
age 150



 FEES AND CHARGES PROPOSALS 2020-21 APPENDIX C 

Type of Charge Comment 
Detail of 

Revised / New 
Fee or Charge 

SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING DIRECTORATE 

Adult Social Care 

Whilst charges are adjusted annually in light of the anticipated year’s costs of providing services, it 
is a requirement that the charges reflect the actual costs of delivering services.  It is therefore not 
possible to increase costs simply on the basis of an inflationary amount.  Irrespective of the 
calculated charges for services, the amount an individual pays for any services is based on a 
financial means test, and for non-residential services is capped in line with The Care and Support 
(Charging) (Wales) Regulations irrespective of the total cost of all services provided to an 
individual.  Welsh Government has advised that the current cap of £90 (applicable from 8 April 
2019), may increase to £100 per week from 6th April 2020 however this is still subject to Welsh 
Government approval. 

There are a wide 
range of fees and 
charges levied 
across the service 
that will be 
considered 
separately for 
approval under 
delegated power, 
in some instances 
following 
agreement with 
service providers. 

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE 

‘Shopmobility’ 
 
 
 
Daily charge for the use of  
shopmobility equipment  
 
Annual membership 
joining/renewal charge  
 

Following a Cabinet report on the 21st January 2020 considering the Bridgend Shopmobility 
service, approval has been given to introduce a charging regime for the ‘Shopmobility’ provision in 
Bridgend, with new charges being introduced from 1st April 2020. 
 
These charges consisting of a daily use charge and an annual membership/joining charge.    
 
  

 
 
Equipment charge  
£3 per day 
 
Annual 
membership 
Joining/renewal  
£5 

 

P
age 151



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DIRECTORATE BASE BUDGETS BY SERVICE AREA

APPENDIX  D

BASE BUDGET BY SERVICE AREA

Revised 

Budget 

2019-20

Specific 

Transfers 

to/(from) WG

Inter 

Directorate 

Transfers 

Pay/Prices/ 

Demographics

Adjustments for 

virements 

within 

Directorates 

Budget 

Pressures 

2020-21

Budget 

Reduction 

Proposals 

2020-21

Revenue 

Budget     

2020-21

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Central Education & Family Support

INCLUSION                     2,407 13 -19 -87 2,314

FOUNDATION                    1,001 -1 -10 990

YOUTH SERVICE                 451 -7 444

TRANSITION                    0

POST-14                       -2 -2

STATUTORY ADVICE & PSYCHOLOGY 367 -5 362

EMOTIONAL HEALTH & BEHAVIOUR  1,790 21 -7 46 1,850

SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT            622 -1 -17 604

SCHOOLS MUSIC SERVICE         18 10 28

ADULT LEARNING                133 -4 129

SKILLS                        107 -9 98

STRATEGIC PLANNING & RESOURCES 3,715 -2 18 3,731

BUSINESS STRATEGY & SUPPORT   290 -4 -50 236

SUPPORT FOR CHILDREN&LEARNERS 6,656 -51 356 -75 6,886

COMMISSIONING & PARTNERSHIPS  1,522 1 -34 1,489

STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT          1,495 -4 1,491

YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE       361 -11 350

HEALTH & SAFETY               384 -5 379

21,319 45 -166 64 0 356 -239 21,379

Schools 

SCHOOL DELEGATED BUDGETS 95,546 2,121 -298 808 1,375 99,552

95,546 2,121 -298 808 0 1,375 0 99,552

Social Services & Wellbeing 

OLDER PEOPLE                  20,175 80 -84 -354 285 -275 19,827

ADULT PHYS DIS/SENS IMPAIRMENT 4,510 -16 -53 4,441

ADULTS LEARNING DISABILITIES  15,718 -52 356 5 -90 15,937

ADULTS MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS    3,471 -24 11 3,458

OTHER ADULT SERVICES          223 -2 5 226

ADULT SERVICES MGT & ADMIN    3,442 -77 -117 100 -325 3,023

RECREATION AND SPORT          5,162 -7 9 -130 5,034

CHILDREN'S SERVICES           18,876 -91 143 20 18,948

71,577 80 -353 0 0 410 -820 70,894

Communities 

DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES        146 -2 3 147

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 438 -17 -9 85 497

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 1,383 -8 -34 373 -15 1,699

HEAD OF OPERATIONS- COMMUNITY SERVICES 122 -1 0 2 123

ECONOMY, NATURAL RESOURCES & SUISTAINABILITY 912 -9 37 9 -77 872

CLEANER STREETS & WASTE CONTRACT 10,101 -19 3 6 128 -66 10,153

HIGHWAYS AND FLEET 6,974 -25 13 -27 1,877 -51 8,761

PARKS & PLAYING FIELDS 2,142 -17 5 121 -69 2,182

TRANSPORT ENGINEERING O 570 -21 3 88 -18 622

CORPORATE LANDLORD 77 -1 76

STRATEGIC ASSET MANAGEMENT    2,384 -9 18 25 -326 2,092

TOTAL FACILITIES MANAGEMENT 539 -22 3 2 -24 498

CAPITAL DESIGN & DELIVERY 74 -6 68

25,862 0 -157 45 0 2,686 -646 27,790

Chief Executive's

CHIEF EXECUTIVE               511 -2 509

INTERNAL AUDIT                271 271

FINANCE                       3,248 -45 37 -40 3,200

PERFORMANCE                   179 -2 177

HR&ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 1,622 -17 229 -44 1,790

TRANSFORMATION                426 -10 -40 376

COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT  1,598 -12 1,586

LEGAL SERVICES                1,721 -17 -80 1,624

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES           1,581 -4 -7 1,570

PROCURMENT                    279 -3 276

REGULATORY SERVICES           1,434 -37 1,397

ELECTIONS                     139 -1 138

ICT                           3,498 -22 -160 3,316

HOUSING & COMMUNITY REGEN     1,132 -6 1,126

BUSINESS UNIT                 983 -11 -100 872

18,622 0 -152 0 0 266 -508 18,228

Service Base Budgets 232,926 2,246 -1,126 917 0 5,093 -2,213 237,843

CAPITAL FINANCING 7,329 7,329

LEVIES 7,406 53 7,459

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 870 870

COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 14,854 400 15,254

APPENTICESHIP LEVY 700 -50 650

PENSION RELATED COSTS 430 430

INSURANCE PREMIUMS 1,588 -150 1,438

OTHER CORPORATE BUDGETS 4,706 196 1,126 8,047 1,537 15,612

Council Wide Budgets 37,883 196 1,126 8,447 0 1,590 -200 49,042

TOTAL BUDGETS 270,809 2,442 0 9,364 0 6,683 -2,413 286,885

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                 

APPENDIX E

Supporting a 

Successful 

Sustainable 

Economy               

Helping People & 

Communities To 

Be More Healthy 

& Resilient

Smarter Use Of 

Resources    

Core Services  & 

Statutory 

Functions 

TOTAL              

   £'000    £'000    £'000    £'000    £'000

Central Education & Family Support 6,490 1,058 566 13,265 21,379

Schools 41,499 0 0 58,053 99,552

Social Services and Wellbeing 13 53,313 215 17,353 70,894

Communities 5,903 1 2,944 18,942 27,790

Chief Executive's -7 1,126 956 16,153 18,228

Council Wide Budgets 304 47 0 48,691 49,042

NET BUDGET REQUIREMENT 54,202 55,545 4,681 172,457 286,885

2020-21 DIRECTORATE BASE BUDGETS IN LINE WITH WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

Service Budgets

P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX F 
 

RESERVES AND BALANCES PROTOCOL 
1. Background  
 
1.1 Bridgend County Borough Council is required to maintain adequate financial reserves to meet the 

needs of the organisation. The purpose of this protocol is to set out how the Council will determine 
and review the level of its Council Fund Balance and Earmarked Reserves.  The protocol has regard 
to LAAP Bulletin 99 ‘Local Authority Reserves and Balances’, issued in July 2014.  

 
1.2 The requirement for local authorities to hold financial reserves is acknowledged in statute. Reserves 

are one component of an authority's medium-term financial planning—other components include 
revenue spending plans, income forecasts, potential liabilities, capital investment plans, borrowing 
and council tax levels. These decisions are inter-linked. This means that, to ensure prudent financial 
management, some authorities will need to maintain reserves at higher levels than others. 

 
1.3 Section 32 and 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 require local authorities in Wales to 

have regard to the level of reserves needed to meet estimated spending when calculating the budget 
requirement. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires:- 

 
 the Chief Finance Officer to report to Members on the budget including the adequacy of reserves; 

and 
 Members to have regard to the Chief Finance Officer’s report in making their decisions. 

 
1.4 As a result, in reviewing medium-term financial plans and preparing annual budgets, the Council will 

consider the establishment and maintenance of reserves for the Council Fund. The nature and level 
of reserves will be determined formally by the Council, informed by the judgement and advice of the 
Chief Finance Officer (CFO).  

 
1.5 In November 2018, Alun Davies, the then Cabinet Secretary for Local Government and Public 

Services, issued a Statement which said “it is prudent to build up and hold reserves for specific 
purposes, including transforming services to meet the continuing financial pressures, which I 
recognise Councils face…I believe that local authorities in Wales will wish to use their reserves 
strategically to drive forward the change required to deliver essential services to communities. They 
will need to consider how to use available funds to work with others to deliver longer term 
efficiencies”. 

 
2. Types of Reserve 
  
2.1 The Council will maintain the following usable reserves:  
 

Nature of Reserve Description 

Council Fund  to manage the impact of uneven cash flows and 
unexpected events or emergencies; 

Earmarked Reserves to meet known or predicted requirements and include 
Directorate and Contingency Reserves. Earmarked 
Reserves will be established on a “needs” basis, in line 
with planned or anticipated requirements; 

Delegated School Balances these represent the cumulative effect of over and under-
spending on school delegated budgets not available to the 
Council; 

Equalisation & Grant 
Reserves 

to facilitate the carry forward of grants, where permitted, or 
to spread the costs incurred in a particular future year over 
the period of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS);  

Capital Receipts Reserve this has been shown for completeness as it forms part of 
the Usable Reserves of the Council. Capital Receipts are 
available to finance capital expenditure in future years. 

 
2.2 The Council will also maintain a number of other reserves that arise out of the interaction between 

legislation and proper accounting practices. These reserves, which are not resource-backed, will be 
specified in the annual Statement of Accounts. These are called Unusable Reserves. The Council’s 
unusable reserves are the Capital Adjustment Account, the Revaluation Reserve, Pension Reserve, Page 157



Short-term Accumulating Compensated Absence Account and the Financial Instruments Adjustment 
Account. These will not be referenced within this Protocol. 

 
 
3. Regulatory Framework  
 
3.1 It is the responsibility of the CFO to advise local authorities about the level of reserves that they 

should hold and to ensure that there are clear protocols for their establishment and use. CIPFA do 
not accept the case for introducing a generally applicable minimum level of reserves either as an 
absolute amount or a percentage of budget. It is for the local authority to make their own judgements 
based on relevant local circumstances. 

 

3.2 For each Earmarked Reserve there needs to be a clear protocol setting out:- 
 

 The reason for / purpose of the Reserve 
 How and when the Reserve can be used 
 Procedures for the management and control of the Reserve  
 A process and timescale for review 

 
 
4. Principles to Assess the Adequacy of Reserves  
 
4.1 The CFO will advise the Council on the adequacy of reserves. In considering the general reserve, 

or Council Fund, the CFO will have regard to:  
  

 the strategic financial context within which the Council will be operating through the medium-
term;  

 the overall effectiveness of governance arrangements and the system of internal control;  
 the robustness of the financial planning and budget-setting process;  
 the effectiveness of the budget monitoring and management process.  

 
4.2 CIPFA guidance on Local Authority Reserves and Balances advises that a statement reporting on 

the annual review of earmarked reserves should be made to Council, at the same time as the budget 
is approved. Within the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), there are a number of 
main principles that relate to reserves. These are detailed below:- 

 
MTFS Principle 9   

The Council Fund balance should be set at a prudent but not excessive level. 

This will normally be maintained at a level of 5% of the Council’s net budget, 

excluding schools 

The Council Fund balance provides resources for purposes such as general 

contingencies and cash flow management. It acts as a working balance to help 

cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid unnecessary temporary 

borrowing. It acts as a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or 

emergencies. This is in accordance with CIPFA’s Guidance Note on Local Authority 

Reserves and Balances. The Council Fund balance at the 31 March 2018 was £8.776 

million (£8.347 million 17-18). This represents 4.98% of the net budget excluding 

school delegated budgets. It also equates to 2.53% of Gross Revenue Expenditure 

(GRE) compared to a Welsh average of 2.76% for the same period.  

MTFS Principle 4  

The financial control system is sufficiently robust to support the delivery of 

financial plans and mitigate corporate risks, with adequate provision being 

made to meet outstanding and reasonably foreseen liabilities 

Page 158



The Council holds a number of earmarked reserves to cover potential liabilities or for 

unforeseen events and include the Insurance Earmarked Reserve and a Major Claims 

Reserve. These are reviewed throughout the year and the balances are adjusted at 

the end of the financial year based on the most up to date information of potential 

outstanding liabilities. This process includes analysis of external assessments or 

actuary reports on the levels needed for the insurance or pension funds. The Council 

also holds an Insurance Provision to meet the estimated cost to the Council of 

outstanding liabilities for Employer’s Liability, Public Liability and Property.  

MTFS Principle 8 

 Balances are not used to fund recurrent budget pressures or to keep down 

Council Tax rises unless an equivalent budget reduction or increase in Council 

Tax is made in the following year in recognition that balances are a one-off 

resource 

 The principle allows for the use of balances where there is to be an equivalent saving 

in the following year. There are a number of Earmarked Reserves that have been 

established specifically relating to this principle. For example, the funding of new 

Information Technology to make services more efficient in the future. These reserves 

will be utilised over the forthcoming financial year.   

MTFS Principle 10 

 Capital investment decisions are in alignment with the Council’s Capital 

Strategy, and mitigate any statutory risks taking account of return on 

investment and sound option appraisals 

 In order to support sound option appraisals, a Capital Feasibility earmarked reserve 

has been created. Capital investment is intrinsic in the MTFS and as a result there 

are also Earmarked Reserves that support asset management planning, fund capital 

minor works in relation to health and safety and one specifically to support major 

schemes within the Capital Programme of the Council. Additions have been made 

during 2019-20 to provide for significant capital pressures over the MTFS period. 

MTFS Principle 7  

Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales 

prior to inclusion in the annual budget. An MTFS Budget Reduction 

Contingency Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen delays 

 The MTFS proposed the establishment of a Change Management Programme 

Earmarked Reserve specifically to support delivery of the Corporate Plan and MTFS. 

There are also some other earmarked reserves which are supporting service 

reconfiguration and digital transformation.  

The current financial landscape demands that significant savings need to be made in 

order to deliver a sustainable budget. It is therefore prudent to have reserve levels to 

provide a buffer or a safeguard during uncertain times. An Earmarked Reserve has 

been established at a level determined annually following an assessment of budget 

reductions categorised as ‘red’ and deemed material within the MTFS. This will 

provide additional capacity for discretionary use by the CFO to manage inescapable 

problems with delivery.     

 

 

Page 159



5. Establishment and Monitoring of Reserves 
 
5.1 In considering specific reserves, the CFO will have regard to matters relevant in respect of each 

reserve, and will advise the Council accordingly. The process for the determination of Directorate 
reserves will be based upon the principles of effective financial management. The agreement of 
business cases will be determined by the CFO, having considered the recommendations of the 
Corporate Management Board.  

 
5.2 Directorate Finance Officers are issued with details of how to apply for Earmarked Reserves within 

the Closing of Accounts Pack for the financial year. The requested amount must be material and 
should be restricted in number to those considered to be of key importance.  Subject to these criteria 
being met, the Directorate will be informed of whether the requests have been approved.  

5.3 The Finance Senior Management Team will review the establishment, monitoring and the level of 
Corporate Reserves. These include Specific Contingency Reserves, Capital Development or Asset 
Related Reserves and MTFS Reserves. The meetings will examine evidence from external 
information such as actuary reports or insurance and risk management assessments; changes in 
legislation; new emerging risks or capital initiatives. The establishment of the Earmarked Reserves, 
both Directorate and Corporate, is authorised by CFO and reported to Cabinet within the Quarterly 
Monitoring Reports during the financial year and within the Statement of Accounts for any set up at 
the end of the financial year. The draft accounts are presented to Audit Committee following the end 
of the financial year. They are then scrutinised by External Audit and a revised post-audit Statement 
of Accounts is reported to Audit Committee and published on the Council’s website in accordance 
with the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations. 

5.4 The CFO will monitor the drawdown of specific reserves in accordance with the agreed policy, and 
keep Members advised, through normal monitoring reports. Reserves can only be used once and 
should not be held to fund ongoing expenditure (MTFS Principle 8). This would be unsustainable as, 
at some point, the reserves would be exhausted. To the extent that reserves are used to meet short 
term funding gaps, they must be replenished in the following year. However, Earmarked Reserves 
that have been used to meet a specific liability would not need to be replenished, having served the 
purpose for which they were originally established.  

5.5 All Earmarked Reserves are recorded on a central schedule held by the Financial Control and 
Closing Team which lists the various Earmarked Reserves and the purpose for which they are held. 
The schedule sets out the opening balances for the year, additions/withdrawals and the closing 
balance.  Any appropriations to or from Earmarked Reserves are controlled by this Team. Evidence 
of expenditure incurred at period 6, period 9 and year-end will be required from Directorate Finance 
Officers. The drawdown from reserves will be included within the Quarterly Monitoring Reports to 
Cabinet. Appropriate working papers for each reserve are produced at year-end and provided to the 
External Auditor to support the disclosures within the Statement of Accounts. 

 
6. Summary of Specific Provisions and Balances 
 
6.1 As well as the Council Fund and Earmarked Reserves, there are a number of specific provisions and 

balances as follows:- 
 

a) Delegated School Balances  
These balances represent the cumulative effect of over and under-spending on school 

delegated budgets not available to the Council. School balances were only £614,000 at 31 

March 2019. Current projections suggest that these balances will be significantly depleted by 31 

March 2020 as more schools fall into a deficit position and projections suggest a deficit reserve 

of £1,090,000.  

 

b) Specific Provisions  
The Council holds provisions for unforeseen events with the major one being to meet the total 

outstanding liability of Bridgend’s self -insurance fund based on a professional analysis of the 

claims outstanding for Employer’s Liability, Public Liability and Property. The current projections 

suggest that the balance on the provisions will remain at around £1.881 million by 31 March 

2020.  

 Page 160



7. Summary of Earmarked Reserves 

7.1 A summary of the Earmarked Reserves are detailed below:- 
 

a) Corporate Reserves 

 These reserves include Change Fund, Feasibility and Capital reserves and are for planned 

developments in the forthcoming years, such as 21st Century Band B schools, Waste recycling, ICT 

and Financial Systems and Adult Social Care developments. These reserves will be increased at 

year-end to meet any agreed funding arising from planned under spends within Directorates. Any 

reserves that are no longer required will be released back into the general revenue budget. Some 

of these reserves are used over a number of financial years. 

b) Directorate Earmarked Reserves 

These reserves have been created for specific pressures or priorities, such as pressures from Looked 

After Children, Road Safety works and City Deal.  

c) Equalisation and Grant Earmarked Reserves 

These reserves ensure that expenditure that is incurred in a particular future year is smoothed over 

the period of the MTFS. These include the costs of elections, Building Control Costs, Special 

Regeneration Fund projects and the preparation of the Local Development Plan. In addition, where 

carry forward has been approved, the income is recognised in the Council’s Income and Expenditure 

statement but the unused funds are held within these earmarked reserves. 

7.2 The table below sets out the forecast movement in the Council’s Earmarked Reserves by the end of 

the financial years 2019-20 and 2020-21. It is based on estimates of expenditure at period 9 projected 

forward to year end for 2019-20 and where expenditure is forecast for 2020-21 this is also included. 

It does not include the potential increase of reserves for 2019-20 at year-end. 

 

 
 

 

NB: Differences due to rounding of £’000s 

Opening 

Balance 

01/04/19 Reserve

Net 

Additions/ Re- 

classification Draw-down Unwound

Projected 

Closing 

Balance

31/03/20

Projected 

Movement 

2020/21

Projected 

Closing 

Balance

31/03/21

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Corporate Reserves:

(9,243)             Education & Family Support  -              2,136          49             (7,058)          1,123             (5,935)         

(841)                Social Services & Wellbeing  -              36                -           (805)             200                (605)            

(7,397)             Communities (2,597)           1,892          313           (7,789)          3,768             (4,021)         

(5,415)             Chief Executives (4,000)           1,636          47             (7,732)          1,394             (6,338)         

(13,833)           Non-Directorate 2,240            770             248           (10,575)        50                  (10,525)       

(36,729)           Total Corporate Reserves (4,357)           6,470          657           (33,959)        6,535             (27,424)       

Directorate Earmarked Reserves:

(634)                Education & Family Support  -               -              -           (634)              -               (634)            

(1,854)             Social Services & Wellbeing  -              187              -           (1,667)          42                  (1,625)         

(2,539)             Communities (652)             971             100           (2,120)          1,456             (664)            

(2,770)             Chief Executives (125)             155              -           (2,740)          75                  (2,665)         

(7,797)             Total Directorate Reserves (777)             1,313          100           (7,161)          1,573             (5,588)         

Equalisation & Grant Earmarked Reserves:

(850)                Education & Family Support (7)                 857              -            -               -                -             

(1,634)             Communities (13)                -              -           (1,647)          183                (1,464)         

(483)                Chief Executives 7                   -              -           (476)             54                  (422)            

(2,967)             Total Equalisation Reserves (13)               857              -           (2,123)          237                (1,886)         

(614)                School Balances  -               -              -           (614)              -               (614)            

(48,107)           Total Usable Reserves (5,147)           8,640          757           (43,857)        8,345             (35,512)       

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019-2030 APPENDIX G

CUMULATIVE

Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Total Costs 

to 31-3-19

Council 

January 

2020

New 

Approvals Vire Slippage

Revised 

2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 Total 2019 - 2030

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support

Pen Y Fai Primary School 308           308           -           6,883           308                                                     308                                                                                                                                308                         

Coleg Cymunedol y Dderwen Comprehensive School 140           140           -           15                140                                                     140                                                                                                                                140                         

Coety Primary School  -            -           -           8,514                                                                   -                                                                                                                                 -                         

Additional Learning Needs 37             37             -           4,082           37                                                       37                                                                                                                                  37                           

Garw Valley South Primary Provision 160           160           -           10,433         160                                                     160                                                                                                                                160                         

Garw Valley Primary Highways Works 30             30             -           265              30                                                       30                                                                                                                                  30                           

Pencoed Primary School 100           100           -           10,933         100                                                     100                                                                                                                                100                         

Pencoed School Highways Works 65             65             -           355              65                                                       65                                                                                                                                  65                           

Brynmenyn Primary School 44             44             -           8,115           44                                                       44                                                                                                                                  44                           

Brymenyn Primary Highways Works 70             70             -           737              70                                                       70                                                                                                                                  70                           

21st Century Schools Band B 49,454      15,815     33,639      320                                                     320           923           3,566        14,786      18,162      9,321        2,046        330                                     49,454                    

Highways Schemes Band B Schools 3,400        3,400        -                         -           500           2,900                                                                                                   3,400                      

Flying Start Provision 17              -          17             17                                                       17                                                                                                                                  17                           

Heronsbridge Special School  -            -           -           250                                                                      -                                                                                                                                 -                         

Cwmfelin Primary  -            -           -           24                                                                        -                                                                                                                                 -                         

Schools' Capital Maintenance Grant 3,824        2,093       1,731        1,731        1,731                        (1,731)       1,731        2,093        3,824                      

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bettws 650            -          650           55                                                       55             578           17             650                         

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bridgend 650            -          650                                                                   -           55             98             497           650                         

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Ogmore 650            -          650           55                                          (30)            25             128           497                        650                         

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Porthcawl 650            -          650                                                                   -           55             98             497           650                         

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Highways Schemes 100           100          100                                        100           100                         

WLGA - Additional funding for ICT in Schools 81              -          81             81                                                       81             81                           

Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - YGG Bro Ogwr 200            -          200           10                200                                        (40)            160           40                                                                                                                     200                         

Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - Croesty 540            -          540           17                521                                        (130)          391           149           540                         

Brynteg Comp - East Hub 1,328         -          1,328        560                                        (176)          384           905           39             1,328                      

Schools Minor Works 697           697           -           136              519                                                     519           178                                                                                                                   697                         

Cefn Cribwr Primary School ALN 513           387          126                           126           126                           (126)          126           387           513                         

School Modernisation 591           591                                                                  -           591           591                         

Maesteg Comprehensive School Highways Improvements  -            -           -           410                                                                      -                                                                                                                                 -                         

Schools Traffic Safety 265           161          104           323              265           104                           (104)          265                                                                                                                                265                         

Education S106 Schemes 232            -          232           146              232                                                     232                                                                                                                                232                         

Complex and Medical Needs Works in Schools 650           650           -           313              650                                                     650                                                                                                                                650                         

Total Education and Family Support 65,446 24,848 40,598 51,961 6,386 1,961 0 (2,337)       6,010        6,582 7,215 15,780 18,162 9,321 2,046 330 0 0 0 65,446                    

Social Services and Well-being

Adult Social Care

Extra Care Facilities 200           200           -           1,717           200                                                     200                                                                                                                                200                         

Adult Social Care Minor works 50             50             -           50                         50                                                                                                                                  50                           

Bryn Y Cae 40             40            40                                          40             40                           

Bakers Way 13             13            13                                          13             13                           

Social Services Care Act 51             51             -           71                51                                                       51                                                                                                                                  51                           

ARCH - Healthy Living and Wellbeing Centre 547           547           -           390              547                                                     547                                                                                                                                547                         

Wellbeing Minor Works 105           105          105                                                     105           105                         

Bryngarw Park- Access 35             35            35                                                       35             35                           

Children's Residential Accommodation Hub 600           600           -           367              600                                                     600                                                                                                                                600                         
ICF Capital Schemes 65              -          65                             65                                                       65             65                           

Total Social Services and Well-being 1,706 1,641 65 2,545 1,706 0 0 0 1,706        0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,706                      

Communities

Street Scene

Town Beach Revetment Sea Defence, Porthcawl 83             28            55             3,151           83                                                       83                                                                                                                                  83                           

Eastern Promenade, Porthcawl 207           52            155           258              207                                                     207                                                                                                                                207                         

Highways Structural Works 2,187        2,187        -           213              187                                                     187           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           2,187                      

Carriageway Capital Works 2,689        2,689        -           311              189                                                     189           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           2,689                      

Highways Refurbishment Grant 1,600         -          1,600        1,600                                                  1,600                     1,600                      

Replacement of Street Lighting Columns 4,254        4,254        -           1,093           230                                                     230           424           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           4,254                      

River Bridge Protection Measures 190           190           -           190                                                     190           190                         

Road Safety 115           115           -           26                115                                                     115                                                                                                                                115                         

Fleet Vehicles 2,324        2,324        -           236              232           7                                            239           2,085                                                                                                                2,324                      

Re-locate Household Waste Recycling Centre - West 1,322        1,322        -           6                  30                                                       30             1,292                                                                                                                1,322                      

AHP Waste 238           238           -           238                            (238)           -           238           238                         

Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres CAT 1,000        1,000        -           3                  340                                                     340           660                                                                                                                   1,000                      

Aber Playing Fields 11             11                            11                                                       11             11                           

Bridge Strengthening - A4061 Ogmore Valley 2,034        1,300       734           381              1,220                                                  1,220        814                                                                                                                   2,034                      

Total 2019-2030
2019-2020 FUTURE YEARS

P
age 163



CUMULATIVE

Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Total Costs 

to 31-3-19

Council 

January 

2020

New 

Approvals Vire Slippage

Revised 

2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 Total 2019 - 2030

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total 2019-2030
2019-2020 FUTURE YEARS

Communities Minor Works 250           250           -           50                250                                                     250                                                                                                                                250                         

Residents Parking Bridgend Town Centre 128           128           -                                                                                   -           128                                                                                                                   128                         

S106 Highways Small Schemes 65              -          65             65                                                       65                                                                                                                                  65                           

Remedial Measures - Car Parks 152           152           -           64                152                                                     152                                                                                                                                152                         

Prow Capital Improvement Programme 40             40             -           40                                                       40                                                                                                                                  40                           

Transport Grant Scheme - Safe Routes to School 243            -          243           928              243                                                     243                                                                                                                                243                         

Road Safety Improvements - Heol Mostyn 600           600           -           265                                                                      -           600                                                                                                                   600                         

Active Travel- Pencoed Technology Park 898            -          898           898                                                     898           898                         

Active Travel - Bridgend to Brackla 717            -          717           717                                                     717           717                         

Local Transport Fund - Bus Corridors 150            -          150           150                                                     150           150                         

Local Transport Fund - Penprysg Road Bridge 240            -          240           240                                                     240           240                         

Local Transport Fund - Bridgend to Coychurch 750            -          750           750                                                     750           750                         

Safe Routes - Coity Higher 218            -          218           218                                                     218           218                         

Coychurch Crem Works 1,008         -          1,008        173                                                     173           835                                                                                                                   1,008                      

Retaining Wall Replacement, Bettws 11             11             -           164              11                                                       11                                                                                                                                  11                           

Civil Parking Enforcement 38             38             -           38                                                       38                                                                                                                                  38                           

City Deal 42,134      7,880       34,254      3,447           2,595                                     (2,595)        -           5,552        4,055        4,310        6,029        6,043        7,567        7,570        762           246           42,134                    

Carriageway Resurfacing & Renewal of Footways 4,003        3,745       258           1,568           417                                        583           1,000        3,003                                                                                                                4,003                      

Extension to Cornelly Cemetery 314           314           -                                                                   -           314                                                                                                                   314                         

Extension to Porthcawl Cemetery 216           216           -                                                                   -           216                                                                                                                   216                         

Street Lighting Energy Efficiency 2,017        2,017        -           483              600                                                     600           1,417                                                                                                                2,017                      

Regeneration & Development                  -            -                         

Porthcawl Resort Investment Focus 1,216        631          585           1,038           1,144                                                  1,144        72                                                                                                                     1,216                      

Coastal Risk Management Program - Porthcawl 6,032        1,509       4,523                                                                -           2,750        3,132        150           6,032                      

Porthcawl Regeneration 2,543        2,543        -                            -           2,543                                                                                                                2,543                      

Special Regeneration Funding 990           990           -                           70                                                       70             920                                                                                                                   990                         

Bridgend Townscape Heritage Initiative  -            -           -                                                                   -                                                                                                                                 -                         

Porthcawl Townscape Heritage Initiative 475           285          190           489              475                                                     475                                                                                                                                475                         

Economic Stimulus Grant 887           887           -                                                                   -           887           887                         

Business Support Framework 180           180           -           27                90                                                       90             90                                                                                                                     180                         

Llynfi Valley Development Programme 2,246        2,246        -           2,246                                                  2,246                                                                                                                             2,246                      

Purchase of Land at Salt Lake Car Park, Porthcawl 64             64             -           36                64                                                       64                                                                                                                                  64                           

VRP- Bryngarw Country Park 500            -          500           250                            250           250           500                         

VRP - Parc Slip 400            -          400           329                            329           71             400                         

UCPEF 700            -          700           100                                                     100           600           700                         

UCLG 220            -          220           50                                                       50             170           220                         

Maesteg Town Hall Cultural Hub 7,473        2,442       5,031        417              550                                                     550           6,422        501                                                                                                      7,473                      

Smart System and Heat Programme 500           500           -                                                                   -           450           50                                                                                                        500                         

Caerau Heat Network 6,293        1,168       5,125                      -           1,939        2,434        1,531        389           6,293                      

Community Projects 828           828           -                           139                                                     139           239           50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             828                         

Corporate Landlord                   -                         

Corporate Landlord - Energy Savings Strategy 1,300        1,300        -           50                                                       50             1,250                                                                                                                1,300                      

Investing in Communities 2,000        2,000        -           1,124                    (1,124)        -           2,000        2,000                      

Evergreen Hall 40             40             -           40                              40             40                           

Enterprise Hub - Innovation Centre 4,199        1,243       2,956        97                989                                                     989           2,458        707           45                                                                                           4,199                      

Raven's Court 462           462          20                                                       20             442           462                         

Minor Works 11,620      11,620      -           206              222                                                     222           1,228        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        11,620                    

Fire Precautions 216           216           -           211                                                     211           5                                                                                                                       216                         

DDA Works 109           109           -           109                                                     109                                                                                                                                109                         

Civic Offices External Envelope 12             12             -           2,538           12                                                       12                                                                                                                                  12                           

Relocation of Depot Facilities 192           192           -           984              192                                                     192                                                                                                                                192                         

Waterton Upgrade 8,144        8,144        -           342                                                     342           2,495        5,307                                                                                                   8,144                      

Bridgend Market 25             25             -           25                                                       25                                                                                                                                  25                           

Relocation of Registrars 296           296           -           4                  296                                                     296                                                                                                                                296                         

Non-Operational Assets 480           480           -                                                                                   -           480                                                                                                                   480                         

Capital Asset Management Fund 820           820           -           20                                                       20             800                                                                                                                   820                         

Total Communities 133,908 72,333 61,575 18,483 21,588 7 0 (3,374)       18,221      46,589 18,216 8,066 8,448 8,073 9,597 9,600 2,792 2,276 2,030 133,908                  

Chief Executive's

Corporate Capital Fund 2,000        2,000                                                               -           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           2,000                      

ICT  -                         

Investment in ICT 300           300           -                           300                                                     300                                                                                                                                300                         

Digital Transformation 520           520           -           520                                                     520                                                                                                                                520                         

ICT Laptop Replacement (Life Expired) 86             86             -           314              86                                                       86                                                                                                                                  86                           

Data Centre 330           330           -                           330           330                                                                                                                                330                         

P
age 164



CUMULATIVE

Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Total Costs 

to 31-3-19

Council 

January 

2020

New 

Approvals Vire Slippage

Revised 

2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 Total 2019 - 2030

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total 2019-2030
2019-2020 FUTURE YEARS

Digital Meeting Spaces 100           100           -           51                100                                                     100                                                                                                                                100                         

Housing / Homelessness                                            -                         

Housing Renewal / Empty Properties 1,101        1,101        -           99                101                                                     101           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           1,101                      

Valleys Taskforce Empty Properties Grant 300           105          195                                                                   -           300                                                                                                                   300                         

Comfort Safe & Security Grants  -            -           -                                                                   -                                                                                                                                 -                         

Emergency Repair Lifetime Grant  -            -           -                                                                   -                                                                                                                                 -                         

Disabled Facilities Grants 21,993      21,993      -           1,623           2,493                                                  2,493        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        21,993                    

Enable Grant 180            -          180                        180                                        180                                                                                                                                180                         

Brynmenyn Homelessness Unit 90             90             -           81                90                                                       90                                                                                                                                  90                           

Total Chief Executive's 27,000 26,625 375 2,168 4,020 180 0 0 4,200        2,550 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 27,000                    

Unallocated 9,080        9,080        -                                                                                   -           713                                                               477           1,725        2,055        2,055        2,055        9,080                      

Total  Expenditure 237,140 134,527 102,613 75,157 33,700 2,148 0 (5,711)       30,137      56,434 27,681 26,096 28,860 19,644 14,370 13,905 7,097 6,581 6,335 237,140                  

Expected Capital Resources

General Capital Funding

General Capital Funding - General Capital Grant 29,297      29,297      -           3,727        3,727        3,997        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        29,297                    

General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing 43,366      43,366      -           3,938        3,938        3,986        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        43,366                    

Capital Receipts - Schools 808           808           -           207                                                     207           601                                                                                                                   808                         

Capital Receipts - General 20,311      20,311      -           3,616                         (46)           (296)          3,274        11,730      5,307                                                                                                   20,311                    

Earmarked Reserves 26,898      26,898      -           5,552                         46            (3,316)       2,282        11,282      4,640        1,677        3,185        1,082        1,375        1,375                                  26,898                    

Revenue Contribution 853           853           -           795           7                                            802           51                                                                                                                     853                         

Prudential Borrowing (Directorate Funded) 4,329        4,329        -           282                                                     282           4,047                                                                                                                4,329                      

Prudential Borrowing (Corporately Funded) 4,402        4,402        -           67                                          266           333           1,769        2,300                                                                                                   4,402                      

SALIX Interest Free Loan - WG 2,017        2,017        -           600                                                     600           1,417                                                                                                                2,017                      

Llynfi Development Site Loan - WG 2,246        2,246        -           2,246                                                  2,246        2,246                      

Sub-Total General Capital Funding 134,527 134,527 0 21,030 7 0 (3,346)       17,691      38,880 18,582 8,012 9,520 7,417 7,710 7,710 6,335 6,335 6,335 134,527                  

External Funding Approvals

WG - Highways Grant 1,600         -          1,600        1,600                    1,600                                                                                                   1,600                      

WG - Other 1,100        1,100        255                                        255           725           120                                                                                         1,100                      

WG - 21st Century Schools 34,918       -          34,918      560                            (176)          384           905           39             11,852      14,004      7,266        468                                                  34,918                    

WG - School Maintenance Grant 1,961         -          1,961        1,961            1,961        1,961                      

WG - Vibrant & Viable  -            -           -                                          -                                                                                                                                 -                         

WG - Enable Grant 180            -          180                        180               180                                                                                                                                180                         

WG - Safe Routes in Communities 461            -          461           461                            461                                                                                                                                461                         

WG - Porthcawl Revetment 55              -          55             55                              55                                                                                                                                  55                           

WG - Coastal Risk Mangement Program - Porthcawl 4,523         -          4,523         -           2,062        2,349        112           4,523                      

WG - Eastern Promenade 155            -          155           155                            155                                                                                                                                155                         

WG - Integrated Care Fund (ICF) 65              -          65             65                              65                                                                                                                                  65                           

WG - Welsh Medium Capital Grant 2,600         -          2,600        110           (30)            80             816           710           994                                                                                         2,600                      

WG - Infant Class Size Grant 740            -          740           721           (170)          551           189                                                                                                                   740                         
WG - Economic Stimulus Grant 887            -          887           887                                        887           887                         
WG- VRP 900            -          900           579                            579           321           900                         
WG - TRI 920            -          920           150                                        150           770           920                         

Westminster 30,677       -          30,677      1,989                         (1,989)        -           3,977        3,128        3,128        4,504        4,505        5,722        5,713                                  30,677                    

CSC Foundry 3,577         -          3,577                      -           113           175           430           443           456           470           482           762           246           3,577                      

S106 346            -          346           346                            346                                                                                                                                346                         

Transport Grant 2,755         -          2,755        2,755        2,755                                                                                                                             2,755                      

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) 1,007         -          1,007        240                            240           671           96                                                                                                        1,007                      

EU  11,526       -          11,526      1,238                         1,238        5,849        2,482        1,568        389                                                                            11,526                    

Other 1,660         -          1,660        504                                        504           1,156                                                                                                                1,660                      

Sub-Total External Funding Approvals 102,613 0 102,613 12,670 2,141 0 (2,365)       12,446      17,554 9,099 18,084 19,340 12,227 6,660 6,195 762 246 0 102,613                  

Total Funding Available 237,140 134,527 102,613 33,700 2,148 0 (5,711)       30,137      56,434 27,681 26,096 28,860 19,644 14,370 13,905 7,097 6,581 6,335 237,140                  

Funding Shortfall/Surplus 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  -           0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  -                         

P
age 165



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 BREP Recommendation Cabinet Response Action to be Completed by 

1 

In terms of Legal and Procurement’s 
obligations to the MTFS, the panel 
recommended that that funding is increased 
to address, for example, specific support to 
new initiatives e.g. Community Asset Transfer 
Scheme (CATS). 

With regard to ensuring that appropriate resource 
is made available to progress CAT across the 
Council a business case has been prepared by the 
CAT officer to increase capacity and enable the 
CAT process to be accelerated. This includes 
proposals to increase resource in the relevant 
areas of property and legal, and the change 
management fund has been increased accordingly 
to allow appropriate bids for funding to be 
supported. 

Corporate Management 
Board to approve the 
business case March 2020, 
to allow implementation early 
in the new financial year 
when it is anticipated there 
will be an increase in demand 
to progress CAT. 

2 

The Panel therefore recommend to Cabinet 
that there needs to be further work done to 
break the silo approach to budgeting. 

There has been a significant change in approach 
over recent years to ensure that the whole budget, 
and its implications, are considered jointly by 
Cabinet/CMB. Cabinet believe therefore that the 
‘One Council’ approach is largely adopted in 
setting the budget but recognise that there is 
always more that can be done and will endeavour 
to continue to work with the Chief Executive and 
senior managers to ensure this happens. 

The budget setting process 
for the 2021/22 budget will 
start initially in June 2020 and 
the principle of operating as 
‘One Council’ will be 
reinforced as a key priority 
and principle 

3 

The Panel recommends that Cabinet and 
CMB review statutory and non-statutory 
services with particular emphasis on non-
statutory preventative services being 
beneficial and cost effective to the Authority. 

The distinction between statutory and non-statutory 
services is not always a helpful one in determining 
priorities. It is recognised that what is more 
important is understanding and evidencing the 
impact of services. Certainly, for example, some of 
the early intervention non statutory services in both 
Education and Social Care have demonstrable 
impact in managing and preventing demand for 
some of the statutory services in those areas. 
Cabinet and CMB will continue to review the 
impact of various interventions and ensure that 
investment is made in those services that  are 
most cost effective and make the most difference. 
 

This process is ongoing but 
informed by some of the 
performance information that 
will become available at the 
end of quarter 3 and the year 
end, quarter 4, corporate 
performance assessment. 

P
age 167



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 BREP Recommendation Cabinet Response Action to be Completed by 

4 

The Panel recommend to Cabinet that they 
review the Authority’s financial relationship 
with partners, especially within the 
Community Safety Partnership. 

There are clearly some examples where the 
potential to seek greater financial contributions 
from relevant partners should be considered and 
potentially pursued. For example: contributions 
towards the costs of operating the CCTV service 
(already being pursued with the police), the post 16 
school transport service and numerous examples 
where town and community councils might 
reasonably make a contribution towards sustaining 
or enhancing a service. These will continue to be 
explored thoroughly as part of the annual budget 
setting process and as part of the ongoing 
relationship and collaboration arrangements with 
partners. 

Ongoing as part of existing 
partnerships and 
collaborations. 

5 

BREP therefore recommend to Cabinet to 
establish a more strategic approach to 
working in partnership with TCC’s to support 
the MTFS. 

The Chief Executive has prepared a paper, that 
has been agreed by Group Leaders, seeking to  
review and change the nature of the existing Town 
and Community Council Forum and potentially 
create a ‘ Board ‘ with an annual work programme 
to enable the Council and Town and Community 
Councils to work better in partnership, with agreed 
strategic priorities.  

Initial paper to be presented 
to March Town and 
Community Council Forum 
and implemented for the next 
financial year subject to the 
input and agreement of T   
and CC’s. 

6 

BREP considers the outcome of the scrutiny 
process with regards to CAT in the financial 
year 2020/21 and that Cabinet endorses this 
recommendation. 

 The CAT process was fully reviewed during the 
2019/20 financial year resulting in streamlining of 
the process to make it simpler and quicker. This 
new process has not yet had the opportunity to bed 
in but Cabinet are content that BREP continue to 
monitor and look at the success of CAT through 
2020/21 and recommend where they think further 
improvements can be made, as real transfers 
emerge. 

Ongoing through 2021/22 as 
part of the BREP process. 

  

P
age 168



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 BREP Recommendation Cabinet Response Action to be Completed by 

7 

That BREP considers the outcome of the 
scrutiny process with regards to the 
consultation process in relation to Home to 
School Transport and advises Cabinet/CMB 
on any issues that could be discussed outside 
of the Scrutiny process and that Cabinet/CMB 
support this. 

The proposals to amend the local authority’s 
Home-to-school/College Transport Policy has 
followed good practice guidance in offering a full 
12-week public consultation with bespoke 
engagement with learners.  This follows the same 
approach that the local authority took in 2014 when 
the policy was previously consulted upon.  Scrutiny 
will be presented with the outcome of this 
consultation in March 2020 to review the approach 
and provide recommendations to Cabinet as part 
of their consideration on the policy proposals and 
consultation report. 

31st March 2020 

8 

The Panel recommend that Cabinet ask the 
Corporate Director, Education and Family 
Support to review KS2 PAN to allow some 
flexibility where children are refused entry to 
their closest school and therefore putting 
extra pressures on the family to transport 
their children to a school further away with the 
costs being passed onto the Authority. 

The local authority has a statutory duty to ensure 
the effective and efficient education of all pupils.  
The published admission number (PAN) of a 
school is directly related to the capacity of the 
school.  Any decision to breach the PAN should 
not be taken lightly and the School Admissions 
Code 2013 identifies that the admission number 
reflects the school's ability to accommodate pupils 
and it should not be exceeded other than in 
exceptional circumstances.  Although there are 
pressures on places within certain year groups in 
primary schools in Bridgend, no school is currently 
at capacity.  The additional financial pressure of 
transporting pupils to alternative schools cannot be 
considered as an exceptional circumstance to 
admit over a school’s PAN.   
 
 

Ongoing 

  

P
age 169



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 BREP Recommendation Cabinet Response Action to be Completed by 

8 
cont. 

 It is not uncommon for local authorities to transport 
pupils to schools that are not their nearest suitable 
schools especially when these pupils have been 
admitted as ‘in-year transfers’.  The local authority 
is unable lawfully to hold back places for pupils for 
in-year admissions on the basis of, for example, a 
house move.  There has not been a significant 
escalation and therefore cost of the need for 
school transport for pupils refused admission to the 
nearest suitable school to other schools in the 
county borough. 
 
The School Modernisation Team is currently 
leading on a school capacity review to assess 
whether additional capacity can be secured from 
the existing accommodation at each school (eg by 
using intervention spaces as teaching 
spaces).  Additionally, there are proposals to 
expand capacity through Band B of the 21st 
Century Schools Modernisation Programme. 

 

9 

That Cabinet continues to support schools 
with deficit budgets but looks to extend this 
support by engaging with schools at the initial 
budget planning process. 

Education and Family Support and Finance 
officers will continue to support schools with the 
financial management process. Termly meetings 
are held with headteachers and governors from 
schools in deficit budget positions. Support is 
provided during the deficit budget setting process 
and schools are actively involved when monitoring 
progress, additional support is provided from the 
Directorate where possible. 

Ongoing 

  

P
age 170



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 BREP Recommendation Cabinet Response Action to be Completed by 

10 

Cabinet considers a political approach to the 
WG Minister for Finance and Trefynydd to 
discuss the current management of grant 
funding. A Pan Wales approach could be 
taken to ensure some of this grant funding 
could be included in the revenue support 
grant. 

Work has been undertaken on reviewing the 
quantum and spread of our grants. Inevitably there 
will be timing issues and restrictions on the use of 
grants, particularly in some cases the short term 
nature of the funding. Representations are made 
through the Society of Welsh Treasurers and the 
WLGA to streamline grants wherever possible and 
to give more certainty on longer term funding. We 
are working with the WG on funding flexibilities. 

 

11 

That Cabinet and CMB ensure that all 
previous recommendations on charging are 
delivered and take a fresh look at commercial 
opportunities to support the MTFS. 

The Council continues to look proactively at 
commercial opportunities. Currently, for example, 
there are a number of property and energy related 
schemes that are being explored but clearly the 
terms of any financial agreement and the risk 
profile has to be right for the Council and meet the 
principles of its capital strategy. One of the 
challenges remains weighing up the amount of 
time and resource that is necessary to pursue 
commercial opportunities against the likely 
commercial return and a number of proposals have 
been rejected in previous years for this reason. 
Sometimes for smaller schemes it is difficult to 
prioritise speculative projects when the capacity in 
areas such as Property, Energy and Street Scene 
are already very stretched. 

Cabinet is happy to receive 
from BREP and scrutiny any 
specific suggestions for 
commercial consideration as 
part of the 2021/22 budget 
setting process. 

  

P
age 171



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 Scrutiny Committee Recommendations Cabinet Response Action to be 
Completed by 

 Social Services and Wellbeing   

1.1 

RE SSW26, particularly in respect of Bridgend 
Resource Centre, the committee would welcome 
further investigation into the quality of provision and the 
efficacy of the current approach, which should be one 
council. 

BRC provides a day service for 50 young adults 
with very complex needs and 8-12 people with 
advanced dementia. The day service has 1 
manager, 2 team leaders, 6 assistant team 
leaders and 30 day support workers. The 
management structure is 4% of the overall day 
services budget whereas a few years ago the 
management structure was 16% of the overall 
budget. The Service has recently revised the 
service principles and have a new quality audit 
tool which will commence in March 2020. There 
have been no reported issues of the quality of 
care or support delivered at the Centre. The 
resource centre is equipped to deal with complex 
conditions and complex behaviours and the staff 
are all trained up to at least QCF level 2 although 
most staff have a QCF 3 and some have level 5. 
 
The building is a key feature of the success of the 
model. It has been purpose built to a very high 
specification and is therefore able to effectively 
manage high risk behaviours. E.g. managing the 
risk of people wandering off/leaving the building 
by a very advanced door control system. It has 
also proved to be a cost effective model. This 
model for those individuals with very complex 
needs was initiated in order to provide an 
improved quality provision and better outcomes 
for individuals as well as being cost effective. It 
would not be cost effective to re-produce the 
Bridgend Resource Centre model elsewhere. 

Development of 
alternative day time 
opportunities to 
continue with close 
financial monitoring 
by Group Manager 
and Head of Service 

P
age 172



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 Scrutiny Committee Recommendations Cabinet Response Action to be 
Completed by 

 Social Services and Wellbeing   

1.1 
cont. 

 There are also a number of people with a learning 
disability who receive day time support from the 
independent sector. The cost of this is under 
close scrutiny as there has been an increase in 
costs over the last 12 months. The individuals 
have received a very individual and at times 
bespoke service which has been of a high 
standard but this has not been cost effective. The 
service has recently reviewed the care needs to 
those attending the Centre and as a result have 
identified 12 individuals who are going to be 
introduced to a community daytime service. This 
will free up places for 12 people who are currently 
within the independent provision. This will in turn 
have a positive impact on the budget.  
 
There are a further number of people with a more 
moderate learning disability who receive day time 
support closer to the community in which they live 
and there are 4 bases across the Borough where 
people are able to attend and get the support that 
they have been assessed as needing. The 
service is currently reviewing the day time model 
which make sure that assessment of need are 
based on a preventative and strength based 
approach. As result there are now a range of 
alternative support and community options 
available to people with a learning disability. 
Development in this area will continue. 
 

 

P
age 173



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 Scrutiny Committee Recommendations Cabinet Response Action to be 
Completed by 

 Communities   

2.1 

In respect of budget pressure COM10 Members asked 
that the £2m realm fund prioritise gully and culvert 
maintenance in particular.  

It is intended that investment will be made in 
improvements to gulleys and culverts as part of 
the programme of works to invest an additional £2 
million in the ‘public realm’ across the County 
Borough. It should be noted however that not all 
gulleys and culverts are on Council land or the 
responsibility of the Council to maintain so we are 
also working with relevant partners such as V2C 
Housing to ensure that they properly understand 
and carry out their maintenance responsibilities.  

The proposed 
programme of work 
for the 2020/21 
‘public realm’ fund is 
currently being 
prepared by officers 
for approval by the 
Cabinet Member 
prior to the start of 
the 2020/21 
financial year. 

2.2 

Regarding COM42a Members recommend that 
condition surveys should be completed on all assets to 
ensure the condition of the asset is known before being 
handed over. Members also asked for confirmation on 
how these assets will be monitored and what strategy 
is in place if an asset is seen to be deteriorating. 

Condition surveys are in the process of being 
carried out for all building assets that have been 
identified as priorities for CAT, such as parks 
pavilions. In addition it is proposed to make a high 
level assessment of other assets such as playing 
fields to better understand their current state and 
investment requirement. It is proposed that all 
CAT is on the basis of full repairing responsibility 
passing to the relevant group or town and 
community council under the terms of a lease or 
licence.  
 

Ongoing as part of 
the approved CAT 
process. 

  

P
age 174



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 Scrutiny Committee Recommendations Cabinet Response Action to be 
Completed by 

2.2  
cont. 

 The Council will continue to monitor the assets 
under the terms of the lease and reserve the right 
to step in if it clear that assets are deteriorating. 
However, the whole basis of CAT is that it is in 
the interests of the relevant club(s) or group to 
ensure that the assets are maintained to a 
standard that they remain in beneficial use. It 
should be noted that the alternative that the 
Council is proposing in the absence of CAT for 
some facilities is that often those assets would 
close and not be maintained anyway as there 
would not be the financial resource to do so.  

 

 Education and Family Support   

3.1 

In respect of EFS1 and EFS41 Home to School 
Transport, Post 16 Education and the School 
Modernisation Programme with the development of 
new schools and its impact on existing catchment 
areas and Section 106 Agreements there needs to be 
a one Council approach with officers from Education, 
Planning and Finance working in a holistic manner to 
provide footways and crossing points thereby negating 
the reliance on and the cost of school transport.  That 
safe routes to school be part of the review of Post 16 
education.   

Planning officers, finance officers and highway 
safety officers are closely integrated into the 
School Modernisation Programme’s governance 
arrangements.  Traffic impact assessments are 
developed for each scheme and include 
discharging the council’s statutory responsibility 
to consider active travel arrangements.  Schemes 
and the peripheral transport infrastructure 
supporting those schemes include specific 
requirements for active travel links into 
communities.   

Ongoing 

  

P
age 175



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 Scrutiny Committee Recommendations Cabinet Response Action to be 
Completed by 

3.1  
cont. 

 However, there is no match funding from Welsh 
Government to support these initiatives from the 
School Modernisation Programme and must be 
paid for fully by the council.  These active travel 
links need formal identification as available routes 
to school.  However, as post-16 education is non-
statutory, there is no legal basis to consider 
available routes to school in the context of post-
16 learners. 
 
Officers will ensure that throughout the planning 
for Band B projects of the School Modernisation 
Programme, that there is early discussion with 
transport planning officers to assess and act on 
opportunities to bid for grant from Welsh 
Government to support additional active travel 
links where needed, to support new school builds 
and to reduce the burden on home-to-school 
transport. 

 

3.2 A request be made to the Police to establish the 
differing levels of support the Police, PCSOs and 
School Liaison Officers provide to support schools 
across the County Borough. 
 

Officers will work with colleagues in South Wales 
Police to develop this 

30th April 2020 

  

P
age 176



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 Scrutiny Committee Recommendations Cabinet Response Action to be 
Completed by 

3.3 

In relation to EFS5 with regard to the increase in 
number of pupils eligible for free school meals, that it 
be established whether the Pupil Development Grant 
can be used for the provision of food for breakfast 
clubs.   
 

There are set criteria on what the PDG Access 
grant can be used for and provision of food for 
breakfast clubs does not fall under the criteria. 

 

 Chief Executive’s   

4.1 

In relation to the consultation ‘Shaping Bridgend’s 
Future’, Members suggested that future Budget 
Consultation's should include a caveat at the bottom 
stating that 'should the settlement be more generous, 
this could be subject to change’ or similar. 
 

A phrase could be included within the budget 
consultation document highlighting that the 
proposals could be subject to change if the final 
settlement is better or worse than the current 
projections.   

To be included in 
the 2020/21 budget 
consultation in 
September 2020 

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny   

5.1 

In relation to EFS41 the Committee expressed concern 
at the proposal to seek the full cost recovery of Post 16 
transport as it believed its removal would impact on the 
economy and disadvantage pupils living in rural areas 
and in valley communities from accessing post 16 
education due to the distances they would have to 
travel to attend lessons. The Combined Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee requested that Cabinet consider 
the removal of this budget reduction proposal from the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy until such time as the 
consultation on post 16 education had been 
completed.   

This saving relates to the current policy proposal 
to remove the local authority’s discretion to 
provide post-16 learners with free home-to-school 
or home-to-college transport.  The view of 
Scrutiny Committee is noted and will be reported 
to Cabinet as part of the responses to the public 
consultation on this proposal. 

30th April 2020 

5.2 

In relation to budget reduction proposal EFS33 that 
Cabinet consider not removing escorts on primary 
school service with fewer than 8 pupils on the grounds 
of safety to the pupils, to protect the drivers of home to 
school transport and in the interest of road safety.    

The view of BREP will be reported to Cabinet as 
part of the responses to the public consultation on 
this proposal. 30th April 2020 

P
age 177



APPENDIX H 
CABINET RESPONSE TO CRI OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON BUDGET ISSUES 

 

 

 Scrutiny Committee Recommendations Cabinet Response Action to be 
Completed by 

5.3 

In relation to budget reduction proposal CEX19 a 
request be made to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner that the police consider making a 
contribution towards the funding of the CCTV service 
due to the use of CCTV footage by the police in 
detecting crime and in securing convictions.  That the 
Authority explore working collaboratively with other 
local authorities on the provision of the CCTV service. 

See earlier answer to number 4 of Corporate 
Scrutiny Recommendations. We are already in 
dialogue with the Police, and the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, both about directly getting 
an annual financial contribution towards the cost 
of operating the CCTV service but also about 
collaborating with other neighbouring authorities 
to share the cost of the service, now that the 
historic arrangement with the Vale of Glamorgan 
Council has ended.    

It is anticipated that 
a formal response 
with be forthcoming 
from the Police 
before the end of 
this financial year 
now that their 
annual precept 
figure for the 
2020/21 budget is 
known.  

5.4 

That the Authority continue to lobby the Welsh 
Government through the Welsh Local Government 
Association to fully fund the cost of legislative changes 
in order to alleviate those pressures and new 
responsibilities placed on local government to deliver 
the Welsh Government’s agenda.       

This is something that is a fairly continuous 
process, directly in terms of the Council’s 
responses to consultations and through the 
WLGA where collectively the local authorities in 
Wales will make the case for local government to 
be properly funded, particularly when it seems 
that ‘new burdens’ emerge through legislation.  

 Ongoing process. 

5.5 

The Committee expressed that other agencies, 
particularly the NHS were not co-operating with the 
Authority in publicising the EU Settlement Scheme and 
requested that the Chief Executive raise this matter 
through the Public Service Board and Regional 
Partnership Board.  Additionally, the Committee 
requested that the Chief Executive write to the Welsh 
Government requesting that it undertakes a media 
campaign to publicise the EU Settlement Scheme to 
encourage citizens to register to become UK citizens.   

The feedback we have had is that this does not 
appear to be a particular problem in terms of 
other agencies cooperating with publicising the 
EU settlement scheme. However, there is always 
more that can be done and Cabinet will request 
that the Chief Executive writes to Welsh 
Government requesting further effort and publicity 
to promote the scheme.  

March 2020 

  
 

P
age 178



APPENDIX I

IDENTIFIED RISK 

Last 

Reviewed

Li Im Total Li Im Tota

l

1

The council is 

unable to make 

robust medium to 

long term decisions 

requiring service 

change

It is harder each year to make 

ongoing budget reductions as 

easier decisions have already 

been made.  If more difficult 

decisions about cutting or 

reducing service levels 

against a background of 

declining budgets are not 

made, then the council will not 

deliver the changes 

necessary to achieve a 

balanced budget which will 

result in it being in breach of 

its legal responsibilities.

4 5 20 Treat

The council manages this risk through existing budget and business planning 

processes which include early identification of savings targets and development 

of options for cabinet, challenge from BREP, scrutiny and formal and informal 

briefings of members and political groupings.      

Develop proposals for a stronger focus on future 

and multiple year financial planning including 

scrutiny and outline budget decisions by elected 

members for multiple years. 

Cabinet and Corporate Management Board have 

met regularly as part of the budget planning 

process for 2020-21 and beyond.  This has 

focussed not only on the immediate requirement 

for an indicative £10 million savings for 2020-21 

but also discussion to begin to shape a longer 

term strategy for the Council based on projected 

savings over the next 3-4 years.

CMB Dec-2019 Mar-2020

Feb-2020 

Then ongoing 

quarterly 

review

3 5 15
Smarter use of 

resources

Review and rationalisation of management 

activity. Dec-2019 N/A Oct-2019

Further development of a 'One Council' culture 

and transformational change has progressed 

since the appointment of a new Chief Executive, 

initially on an interim basis in January 2019 and 

then on a permanent basis in May 2019. Much 

work has been done to bring together 

Directorates and a real corporate approach by 

CMB. This is work in progress and there is still 

occasionally some inconsistency, but huge 

progress has been made in working as a unified 

team.

A review of Council processes has meant that 

some deemed unnecessary and bureaucratic  

have ceased but full compliance with those that 

remain is required.  The Chief Executive's 

Directorate is being embedded to provide a 

coordinated and efficient corporate support 

service.  The Human Resource/Occupational 

Development review will ensure, among other 

things, that managers are given the right training 

to meet current challenges and that a more 

balanced approach to promoting and enhancing 

the wellbeing of those staff in work is developed, 

as well as teaming with those who unfortunately 

are absent from work through sickness.

Dec-2019 Mar-2020 Ongoing

CORPORATE RISK ASSESSMENT

FEBRUARY 2020

All Well-Being 

Objectives
Treat

The council has a number of transformations in place that either directly support 

specific proposals for service improvement and /or financial savings.   Further 

transformations have been identified that are intended to support a "One council 

culture" and support staff and managers through transformation. 

CMB 2 22

Residual risk 

score

The council is 

unable to deliver 

transformation 

including agreed 

financial savings

If the council is unable to 

change the way that staff 

work, including new roles, 

collaborations and the 

acquisition of new skills, it will 

be unsuccessful in delivering 

service transformation which 

will lead to it not meeting its 

commitments within available 

budgets. 

4 4 16 4

Well-Being 

Objective

ACTION PLAN

No.

There is a risk that 

if..
Consequences of risk

Raw risk score

Control 

method

How is the council addressing this risk
Key actions to be established - NB business 

as usual activity not reflected here
Who

Next 

Review

Action 

completed 

by 

P
age 179



IDENTIFIED RISK 

Last 

Reviewed

Li Im Total Li Im Tota

l

Residual risk 

score

Well-Being 

Objective

ACTION PLAN

No.

There is a risk that 

if..
Consequences of risk

Raw risk score

Control 

method

How is the council addressing this risk
Key actions to be established - NB business 

as usual activity not reflected here
Who

Next 

Review

Action 

completed 

by 

3

The council is 

unable to  respond 

to legislative change

If reducing budgets and a 

reducing workforce decreases 

the council’s ability to ensure 

compliance with statutory 

requirements and to adapt 

successfully to an ever 

changing legislative 

landscape there is a risk that 

the council will be in breach of 

its legal responsibilities and 

may receive adverse 

regulatory reports, adverse 

publicity, fines and ultimately 

the threat of prosecution.

5 4 20
Treat or 

Transfer

The council manages this risk in a number of ways that are contingent on the 

particular service area affected.  This might include reducing service quality or 

reprioritising a response to a legislative change over other activity or transferring 

risk - for example, where legally possible, by transferring responsibility to 

another provider.  However, some service areas are subject to a non delegable 

duty of care.  Examples of where the council has shared risk are Leisure and 

Waste.

No further actions to be commissioned at this 

stage. 

CMB Dec-2019 Mar-2020

Complete with 

ongoing 

review

3 4 12
All Well-Being 

Objectives

4

The council is 

unable to identify 

and deliver 

infrastructure 

required in the 

medium to longer 

term

If the council does not raise 

sufficient capital to maintain 

its infrastructure, including 

roads, street lights, buildings 

and technology then it may 

deteriorate bringing financial 

and safety risks which could 

lead to adverse incidents, 

reports, publicity, fines and 

ultimately prosecution.

4 5 20 Treat

The council has a ten year capital programme.  The development of this 

programme and arrangements for its review and updating are well established. 

However the council has identified scope to improve upon this to ensure that 

these needs are balanced with other demands for capital (such as new 

schools).

A revised capital strategy has been prepared and 

agreed by Council setting out capital spending 

plans and priorities for the next 10 years. The 

Capital Programme will be reviewed quarterly and 

will be updated by Cabinet and Council. 

CMB Dec-2019 Mar-2020

Complete with 

ongoing 

review

3 5 15

Supporting a 

successful 

sustainable 

economy and 

smarter use of 

resources

5

The council is 

unable to develop 

positive working 

relationships across 

all partners within 

the new region to 

ensure that the 

needs of the 

Bridgend community 

are fairly recognised 

in the immediate 

future.

If the council is unable to 

successfully build on the 

progress made, during the 

transitional year, of operating 

within a new region with the 

health Board, local 

government and third sector 

partners, there is a risk that 

appropriate care to citizens 

through new service models 

and relationships will be 

slowed down or not be 

delivered resulting in citizens 

receiving a less satisfactory 

service with poorer outcomes. 4 4 16 Treat

In April 2019  the council appointed a 2 year fixed term Programme Manager 

specifically to support Bridgend transition effectively into the new region. This 

has enabled Bridgend to influence and shape the new region by ensuring 

effective governance and appropriate membership on the Regional Partnership 

Board and the associated groups set up as part of regional arrangements. 

Bridgend are leading  the regional work on reviewing the existing governance 

arrangements and ensuring that the necessary changes are made so that the 

processes will be fit for the future. Progress is being overseen by the Regional 

Partnership Board and a report will be provided to the RPB in March 2020. The 

Leader, Cabinet Member for SS and Early Help, the Cabinet member for 

WBFGA and the Corporate Director of SS & WB all sit on the RPB. There is a 

Senior Officer Group (TLG) that sits below the RPB and the Director and 

Programme Manager sit on this. Heads of Service and other Officers are 

working closely with their counterparts across the region. Good relationships 

have been established at political and senior managerial levels with the new 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board and the Cabinet Member in an 

Independent CTB Board Member.  By working with the new region, Bridgend 

has continued to receive Integrated Care Funding for a range of bids that have 

enabled either the continuation of previously funded services or assisted with 

the development of new service initiatives.  In addition Bridgend has benefitted 

from the allocation of Transformation Funding from Welsh Government and 

actively contributes to the regional processes that are overseeing the allocation 

of the Transformation Funding which is reported to and scrutinised by Welsh 

Government. 

Continue to work with the Health Board, local 

government and third sector partners to ensure 

processes are in place to develop regional 

approaches to service delivery. This includes 

effective management and monitoring of regional 

grant funding that is directed through the 

Partnership Board and the ongoing development 

of integrated services.

CMB Dec-2019 Mar-2020 Apr-2020 2 4 8

Helping people 

and 

communities to 

be more healthy 

and resilient and  

smarter use of 

resources

P
age 180



IDENTIFIED RISK 

Last 

Reviewed

Li Im Total Li Im Tota

l

Residual risk 

score

Well-Being 

Objective

ACTION PLAN

No.

There is a risk that 

if..
Consequences of risk

Raw risk score

Control 

method

How is the council addressing this risk
Key actions to be established - NB business 

as usual activity not reflected here
Who

Next 

Review

Action 

completed 

by 

The review by internal audit  identified gaps in 

completion of mandatory training through e 

learning.  These gaps are identified, reported on 

and monitored by Human Resources Department.

The full range of Safeguarding activities was 

reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 

3 July 2019.

Dec-19 Mar-2020

Completed 

with ongoing 

monitoring

Inspection of Youth Offending by her Majesty's 

Inspectorate Probation (HMIP) has identified the 

need to ensure that all links between Youth 

Offending Services and other early help or social 

care services are effective and effectively 

documented.  An action plan has been agreed by 

Cabinet and Corporate Management Board and 

rapid improvement will be made before an 

anticipated inspection in six months time.    

Significant work has been undertaken to mitigate 

risks associated with the Youth Justice Services. 

There is now an agreed protocol in place between 

Youth justice and Social Care services which 

details a set of actions to be monitored and steps 

to take where the systems potentially fails. The 

action plan is being closely monitored by the 

Management board with frequent updates to other 

strategic forums. A ‘mock ‘ inspection undertaken 

by the Youth Justice Board in February 2020 

indicates marked improvement in all areas.

Dec-19 Mar-2020 Jan-2020

Attendance at cyber resilience training.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

Jan-2020

The council responds appropriately to 

WLGA/WG/UK Government consultations and 

seeks to influence the development of any future 

regional investment programme, via informed 

discussions with WG        

The situation is being monitored on an ongoing 

basis.             

Dec-2019 Ongoing

16 9
All Well-Being 

Objectives
Treat

The council has anti virus installed which is regularly updated.  All critical data is 

backed up and located offsite.  Software update processes exist that includes 

the installation of patches. Security awareness training is provided to all 

employees.                                                                                       The council 

has established emergency planning arrangements including a Major Incident 

Plan and contributes to the SWLRF (South Wales Local Resilience Forum) and 

SWRT (South Wales Resilience Team). Contract conditions are included in 

relevant contracts. The terms of these conditions will vary depending on the 

nature of the contract, but will cover compliance with GDPR ( General Data 

Protection Regulation), security of personal information and general cyber 

security. Where contracts are awarded via a framework the necessary 

conditions will be imposed by the contracting agency for the framework.

CMB Mar-20207

The council is 

unable to plan for 

and recover from 

major threats to 

service continuity 

such as civil 

emergencies, 

school failure, cyber 

attack and 

discontinuation of 

funding streams and 

major contracts

If the council does not have 

the capacity and expertise to 

plan for and protect itself 

against major threats such as 

cyber-attack, civil 

emergencies and significant 

financial variations there is a 

risk that there may be a failure 

to deliver services and a 

balanced financial position 

which could harm citizens  

who rely on council services. 

4 4

2 5 10

Helping people 

and 

communities to 

be more healthy 

and resilient and  

smarter use of 

resources

33

6

The council fails to  

safeguard 

vulnerable 

individuals e.g. 

children, adults in 

need of social care, 

homeless etc.

If budgets  and the workforce 

continue to decline there is a 

risk that the council will be 

unable to provide the 

necessary services to 

vulnerable people resulting in 

the possibility that vulnerable 

people will not be kept safe 

and be encouraged to greater 

safe self-reliance.

4 5 20 Treat

The council has well established mechanisms to ensure compliance with 

statutory responsibilities.  This includes its own operational safeguarding board 

and active management of demand and caseloads.                                                                    

All meetings of CMB and of Cabinet/CMB have a standing item to consider 

safeguarding matters and allow for appropriate management actions to be taken 

quickly. Good management oversight with robust quality assurance and risk 

management arrangements will mitigate presenting risks.

CMB

P
age 181



IDENTIFIED RISK 

Last 

Reviewed

Li Im Total Li Im Tota

l

Residual risk 

score

Well-Being 

Objective

ACTION PLAN

No.

There is a risk that 

if..
Consequences of risk

Raw risk score

Control 

method

How is the council addressing this risk
Key actions to be established - NB business 

as usual activity not reflected here
Who

Next 

Review

Action 

completed 

by 

The council will continue to monitor the profile of 

the workforce and identify challenges through the 

business planning process.  Appropriate action 

plans will be developed.                                               

Dec-2019 Mar-2020 Ongoing

The staff survey has been completed and a range 

of actions implemented.  These will improve 

engagement and feedback and shape the 

learning and development programme. The 

council will prioritise role specific training to 

enable staff to do what is expected of them, it will 

promote good practice examples of staff 

development and maximise access to funded 

learning and development programmes.  e.g. WG 

and TUC. A further Staff Survey is currently 

underway.

Dec-2019 Mar-2020 Ongoing

Social Services have quarterly forum meetings 

with providers where risks, issues and pressures 

are identified.  There are regular contract 

monitoring visits to monitor performance and 

quality.

Dec-2019 Mar-2020 Ongoing

Directorates to monitor the financial performance 

and stability of contractors on an ongoing basis.  

Dialogue with some major suppliers is required 

and contingency planning has been progressed. Dec-2019 Mar-2020 Ongoing

Control Method Definition 

Definition 

Treat

Transfer 

Helping people 

and 

communities to 

be more healthy 

and resilient and  

smarter use of 

resources

Treat or 

Transfer

The council's strongest defence against this is through its procurement strategy 

and procurement processes.  When tendering for services the council requires 

contingency arrangements to be in place to allow for the eventuality of supplier 

failure (for example in the case of refuse and recycling collection contracts). The 

council also seeks to shape the market where possible to avoid over reliance on 

single suppliers (for example in social care). Where appropriate contract 

conditions are included to ensure the contractor has the appropriate level of 

security  required for the service they provide. This will differ depending on the 

nature of the service and the legal requirements applicable. 

CMB 4 3 129

Important council 

services are 

compromised due to 

the failure of a key 

supplier 

If the suppliers of council 

services are not resilient there 

is a risk that they may fail to 

deliver those services leading 

to disruption for citizens and 

the council, which will be 

impacted as it seeks to 

restore provision and suffers 

a loss of reputation.

4 4 16

CMB 3 4 12
All Well-Being 

Objectives
16 Treat

The council has workforce planning in place (through directorate level service 

planning) and is prioritising finite training budget to ensure that key skills and 

qualifications are targeted.  In addition the council is using apprenticeships to 

actively bring in or develop key skills (such as Welsh language skills or ICT 

capability). This investment will be enhanced in 2020/21. In specific service 

areas the council is actively seeking opportunities to collaborate where this will 

enhance capacity or resilience.

8

The council is 

unable to attract or 

retain a workforce 

with the necessary 

skills to meet the 

demands placed 

upon the authority 

and its services

If there is a continual 

decreasing number of suitably 

skilled and experienced staff 

then there may not be the 

expertise required to deliver 

services and protect the 

interests of the council. This 

could lead to the wellbeing of 

citizens suffering and a loss 

of moral amongst the 

remaining staff if they feel 

unsupported and are seeking 

to work elsewhere. 
4 4

To continue with the activity, but at the same time take action to bring the risk to an acceptable level

Transferring the responsibility of the risk to outside the Council.

Meaning 

P
age 182



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

 REPORT TO COUNCIL

26 FEBRUARY 2020

REPORT OF THE INTERIM HEAD OF FINANCE AND SECTION 151 OFFICER 

COUNCIL TAX 2020-21 

1. Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Council with details of the Council
Tax requirement for the County Borough Council together with the
requirements of the Police & Crime Commissioner for South Wales and
Community/Town Councils.

2. Connections to Well-Being Objectives / Other Corporate Priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following well-being objectives:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make 
the county a good place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the 
skills, qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 
taking early steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming 
vulnerable or dependent on the Council and its services.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 
physical, human and technological) are used as effectively and 
efficiently as possible and support the development of resources 
throughout the community that can help deliver the Council’s priorities. 

2.2 The Council, as the billing authority, is required to formally approve the 
Council Tax for its area. Council tax collected from local residents makes up 
around one quarter of the funding for the Council’s net revenue budget.

3. Background

3.1 The final budget proposals have been placed before Council for approval
as the Council has to calculate its budget requirement in accordance with
Section 32 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and set the level of
Council Tax for 2020-21.

3.2 Section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires billing 
authorities to calculate the basic amount of council tax in a financial year. 
Section 34 of the Act further requires the billing authority to calculate the basic 
amount of council tax for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or 

Page 183

Agenda Item 9



more special items relate, such as a Community/Town Council precept 
requirement.

4.     Current Situation / Proposal

4.1 Council is expected to approve the Bridgend County Borough Council budget 
for 2020-21 at its meeting on 26 February 2020, and the budget is shown in 
Table 1 below:

Table 1: Net Revenue Budget 2020-21

 
 Revenue  
Budget         
2020-21

 £000
Service Directorate Budgets:  
Central Education & Family Support 21,379
Schools 99,552
Education and Family Support 120,931
Social Services & Wellbeing 70,894
Communities 27,790
Chief Executive’s 18,228
Total Directorate Budgets 237,843
  
Corporate Budgets:  
Capital Financing 7,329
Levies 7,459
Repairs and Maintenance 870
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 15,254
Apprenticeship Levy 650
Pension Related Costs 430
Insurance Premiums 1,438
Other Corporate Budgets 15,612
Total Corporate Budgets 49,042
 Net Budget Requirement 286,885

4.2 The net budget requirement for Bridgend County Borough Council for 2020-21 
is £286.885 million, and the amount to be funded from Council Tax is 
£83,757,919, as shown in Table 2 below. This equates to a Council Tax of 
£1,537.06 on a Band D property, an increase of 4.5%. This proposed increase 
of 4.50% equates to 85p per week for a person living in a Band A property 
and £1.27 per week for someone living in a Band D property (62% of 
properties in Bridgend are lower than a Band D).

Page 184



Table 2 – Net Budget Funding

           £ %
Revenue Support Grant 153,441,858 53.48
Non Domestic Rates 49,685,392 17.32
Council Tax Income 83,757,919 29.20
Total 286,885,169 100%

4.3 The Police & Crime Commissioner for South Wales has notified the Council 
that their precept for the financial year ending 31 March 2021 will rise to 
£14,860,870 which equates to a Council Tax of £272.72 on a Band D 
property, a 5.9%  increase.  The 2020-21 precept was agreed by the South 
Wales Police and Crime Panel on 30 January 2020.

4.4 The average Council Tax for the County Borough for 2020-21 is shown in 
Table 3 below.

Table 3 – Average Council Tax Increase 2020-21

2019-20 2020-21 % 
change

Council Tax Base - Band D equivalents 53,710.97 54,492.29 1.45%
   

£ £ % 
change

Bridgend County Borough Council 1,470.87 1,537.06 4.5%
Community Council average 48.80 52.36 7.3%
Police & Crime Commissioner for South 
Wales 257.52 272.72 5.9%

Band D Property average council tax 1,777.19 1,862.14 4.78%

Page 185



4.5 The average Council Tax increase for Bridgend County Borough Council and 
each of the precepting bodies is provided in Table 4 below:

Table 4 – Average Council Tax Increase 2020-21

Bridgend County 
Borough Council 

Community Council 
average

Police & Crime 
Commissioner for 

South Wales

Average Band D 
Property Council Tax

0.00%
1.00%
2.00%
3.00%
4.00%
5.00%
6.00%
7.00%
8.00%

Band D Council Tax % Increase 2020-21

4.6 The Council, as the billing authority, is required to formally approve the 
Council Tax for its area. This must be set to meet the net budget requirement 
of the Council and its precepting authorities and is set out in Table 5 below.

Page 186



Table 5 – Total Average Band D Council Tax Requirement 2020-21

Requirement Band D
Authority £

Net Tax 
Base Council 

Tax  £
Bridgend County Borough Council 83,757,919 54,492.29 1,537.06
Local Precepts    
Brackla Community Council 169,630 4,193.59 40.45
Bridgend Town Council 637,980 5,946.79 107.28
Cefn Cribwr Community Council 40,000 549.40 72.81
Coity Higher Community Council 109,100 3,918.73 27.84
Cornelly Community Council 150,000 2,587.42 57.97
Coychurch Higher Community Council 10,600 341.99 31.00
Coychurch Lower Community Council 26,155 652.16 40.11
Garw Valley Community Council 120,630 2,294.35 52.58
Laleston Community Council 218,246 4,957.59 44.02
Llangynwyd Lower Community Council 9,000 168.78 53.32
Llangynwyd Middle Community 
Council

58,000 1,051.80 55.14

Maesteg Town Council 330,919 5,648.89 58.58
Merthyr Mawr Community Council 4,000 150.60 26.56
Newcastle Higher Community Council 50,000 1,740.94 28.72
Ogmore Valley Community Council 93,796 2,605.44 36.00
Pencoed Town Council 160,000 3,455.19 46.31
Porthcawl Town Council 441,000 8,047.67 54.80
Pyle Community Council 120,000 2,506.52 47.88
St Brides Minor Community Council 59,400 2,317.95 25.63
Ynysawdre Community Council 45,000 1,356.49 33.17
   
Borough Budget Requirement 
(including Community Councils) 86,611,375 54,492.29 1,589.42

Police & Crime Commissioner for 
South Wales 14,860,870 54,492.29 272.72

TOTAL 101,472,245 54,492.29 1,862.14

4.7 The Council is also required to approve the Council Tax charges for Band D 
properties for the chargeable financial year beginning 1 April for each of the 
community areas and these are shown in Table 6 below.  All calculations are 
for a Band D equivalent property.

Page 187



Table 6 – Council Tax 2020-21 per Town and Community Council

Town or Community Council Bridgend 
CBC

Community 
Council

Police & 
Crime 

Commissioner 
for South 

Wales 

Total

 £ £ £ £
Brackla Community Council 1,537.06 40.45 272.72 1,850.23
Bridgend Town Council 1,537.06 107.28 272.72 1,917.06
Cefn Cribwr Community Council 1,537.06 72.81 272.72 1,882.59
Coity Higher Community Council 1,537.06 27.84 272.72 1,837.62
Cornelly Community Council 1,537.06 57.97 272.72 1,867.75
Coychurch Higher Community Council 1,537.06 31.00 272.72 1,840.78
Coychurch Lower Community Council 1,537.06 40.11 272.72 1,849.89
Garw Valley Community Council 1,537.06 52.58 272.72 1,862.36
Laleston Community Council 1,537.06 44.02 272.72 1,853.80
Llangynwyd Lower Community Council 1,537.06 53.32 272.72 1,863.10
Llangynwyd Middle Community Council 1,537.06 55.14 272.72 1,864.92
Maesteg Town Council 1,537.06 58.58 272.72 1,868.36
Merthyr Mawr Community Council 1,537.06 26.56 272.72 1,836.34
Newcastle Higher Community Council 1,537.06 28.72 272.72 1,838.50
Ogmore Valley Community Council 1,537.06 36.00 272.72 1,845.78
Pencoed Town Council 1,537.06 46.31 272.72 1,856.09
Porthcawl Town Council 1,537.06 54.80 272.72 1,864.58
Pyle Community Council 1,537.06 47.88 272.72 1,857.66
St Brides Minor Community Council 1,537.06 25.63 272.72 1,835.41
Ynysawdre Community Council 1,537.06 33.17 272.72 1,842.95

4.8 For sake of clarity, the resulting charges for each Band are reproduced in 
Appendix A.

5. Effect on Policy Framework and Procedure Rules

5.1 The budget setting process is outlined within the Council’s Constitution and 
Financial Procedure Rules. The budget is set in accordance with the statutory 
provisions set out in Local Government Finance Act 1992.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 The Council Tax is determined as part of the Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS) budgetary process. The MTFS is reported separately to
Council and contains details of the high level Equality Impact Assessment 
which has been undertaken on the budget setting process. The proposals 
contained within that report cover a wide range of services and it is inevitable 
that the necessary budget reductions will impact on the local population in 
different ways. Council Tax charges do not have a negative equality impact. 

Page 188



7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 
this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives as a result of this 
report.

  
8. Financial Implications

8.1 These are outlined within the report.

9. Recommendations

9.1 Subject to approval of the Council’s proposed net budget requirement for 
2020-21, Council is asked to approve:

 a Band D Council Tax for Bridgend County Borough Council of 
£1,537.06 for 2020-21, and

 the Council Tax charges for Band D properties for 2020-21 for
each of the community areas as outlined in Table 6. 

Gill Lewis CPFA
Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer 

February 2020

Contact Officer:
Fran Mantle CPFA
Finance Manager Governance & Exchequer
Ext.3286. Email: frances.mantle@bridgend.gov.uk

Background Papers:
Final Local Government Revenue and Capital Settlements 2020-21
Cabinet Report – MTFS 2020-21 to 2023-24 – 25 February 2020
Council Report – MTFS 2020-21 to 2023-24 – 26 February 2020

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

COUNCIL TAX 2020-21

TOWN OR COMMUNITY COUNCIL A B C D E F G H I

Bracla - Brackla 1233.49 1439.06 1644.65 1850.23 2261.39 2672.55 3083.72 3700.45 4317.19

Pen-y-bont - Bridgend 1278.04 1491.04 1704.05 1917.06 2343.07 2769.08 3195.10 3834.11 4473.13

Cefn Cribwr 1255.06 1464.23 1673.41 1882.59 2300.94 2719.29 3137.65 3765.17 4392.70

Coety Uchaf - Coity Higher 1225.08 1429.25 1633.44 1837.62 2245.98 2654.33 3062.70 3675.23 4287.77

Corneli - Cornelly 1245.17 1452.69 1660.22 1867.75 2282.80 2697.85 3112.92 3735.49 4358.07

Llangrallo Uchaf - Coychurch Higher 1227.19 1431.71 1636.25 1840.78 2249.84 2658.90 3067.97 3681.55 4295.14

Llangrallo Isaf - Coychurch Lower 1233.26 1438.80 1644.34 1849.89 2260.97 2672.06 3083.15 3699.77 4316.40

Cwm Garw - Garw Valley 1241.57 1448.50 1655.43 1862.36 2276.21 2690.07 3103.93 3724.71 4345.50

Trelales - Laleston 1235.87 1441.84 1647.82 1853.80 2265.75 2677.70 3089.67 3707.59 4325.52

Llangynwyd Isaf - Llangynwyd Lower 1242.07 1449.07 1656.09 1863.10 2277.12 2691.14 3105.17 3726.19 4347.22

Llangynwyd Ganol - Llangynwyd Middle 1243.28 1450.49 1657.70 1864.92 2279.34 2693.77 3108.20 3729.83 4351.47

Maesteg 1245.57 1453.16 1660.76 1868.36 2283.55 2698.74 3113.93 3736.71 4359.50

Merthyr Mawr 1224.23 1428.26 1632.30 1836.34 2244.41 2652.48 3060.57 3672.67 4284.78

Castellnewydd Uchaf - Newcastle Higher 1225.67 1429.94 1634.22 1838.50 2247.05 2655.60 3064.17 3676.99 4289.82

Cwm Ogwr - Ogmore Valley 1230.52 1435.60 1640.69 1845.78 2255.95 2666.12 3076.30 3691.55 4306.81

Pencoed 1237.39 1443.62 1649.85 1856.09 2268.55 2681.01 3093.48 3712.17 4330.87

Porthcawl 1243.05 1450.22 1657.40 1864.58 2278.93 2693.28 3107.63 3729.15 4350.68

Y Pil - Pyle 1238.44 1444.84 1651.25 1857.66 2270.47 2683.28 3096.10 3715.31 4334.53

Llansantffraid-ar-Ogwr - St Brides Minor 1223.61 1427.53 1631.47 1835.41 2243.28 2651.14 3059.02 3670.81 4282.61

Ynysawdre 1228.63 1433.40 1638.17 1842.95 2252.49 2662.03 3071.58 3685.89 4300.21

Band                                           2020-21

P
age 191



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 REPORT TO COUNCIL  
 

26 FEBRUARY 2020 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM HEAD OF FINANCE AND SECTION 151 OFFICER  
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL STRATEGIES 2020-21 ONWARDS  
 

1. Purpose  
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Council the Treasury Management Strategy 
2020-21 (Appendix A) which includes the Treasury Management Indicators, and the 
Capital Strategy 2020-21 to 2029-30 (Appendix B) which includes the Prudential 
Indicators for approval.  

 
2. Connections to Corporate Improvement Objectives / Other Corporate Priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priorities:-   
 

1. Supporting a successful economy – taking steps to make the county a good place 
to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to ensure that our 
schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions of all people 
in the county.  

 
2. Helping people to be more self-reliant – taking early steps to reduce or prevent 

people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council and its services. 
 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, physical, human 

and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as possible and support 
the development of resources throughout the community that can help deliver the 
Council’s priorities.  

 
2.2 Prudent treasury management arrangements will ensure that investment and borrowing 

decisions made by officers on behalf of the Council support smarter use of financial 
resources and hence assist in the achievement of Corporate Priorities. Also, capital 
investment in the Council’s assets is a key factor in meeting the Council’s Wellbeing 
Objectives as set out in the Corporate Plan. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 Both treasury management and the control on capital expenditure are based in 

legislation. The Council’s treasury management activities are regulated by the Local 
Government Act 2003 which provides the powers to borrow and invest, as well as 
providing controls and limits on this activity. The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003, as amended, develop the controls and powers 
within the Act. This requires the Council to undertake any borrowing activity with regard 
to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code 
for Capital Finance in Local Authorities and to operate the overall treasury function with 
regard to the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services. 

  

Page 193

Agenda Item 10



  

 

3.2 The 2003 Regulations also contain detailed provisions for the capital finance and 
accounting controls, including the rules on the use of capital receipts and what is to be 
treated as capital expenditure. They modify accounting practice in various ways to 
prevent adverse impacts on authorities’ revenue resources. The Local Authorities 
(Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 relaxed the 
constraints around loan capital transactions, specific share capital transactions and 
bonds placing for local authorities in Wales and enables the Council to invest in certain 
instruments which were previously treated as capital expenditure (for example Money 
Market Funds (MMF)) without the potential revenue cost of Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) and without the proceeds from sale being considered a capital receipt. 

 
3.3 As well as the legislation, the Council manages its Treasury Management and Capital 

activities in accordance with the following associated guidance:- 
 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice  
 CIPFA’s The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  
 The Welsh Government (WG) revised Statutory Guidance on Local Authority 

Investments 
 
3.4 In December 2017, CIPFA published new editions of Treasury Management in the 

Public Services: Code of Practice and the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities. The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Treasury Management 
Code now covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other non-financial 
assets which the Council holds primarily for financial return. This is in response to 
changes within the marketplace with Councils diversifying their portfolios with more 
investment properties. 

 
3.5 The revised Prudential Code placed a new requirement on local authorities from 1 April 

2019 to determine a Capital Strategy, to be approved by 31 March by full Council, which 
demonstrates that the Authority takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in 
line with service objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, 
prudence, sustainability and affordability. Local Authorities need to have in place a 
Capital Strategy that sets out the long-term context in which capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are made and gives due consideration to both risk and reward and 
impact on the achievement of priority outcomes.  

 
3.6 The Capital Strategy contains the Prudential Indicators and the Treasury Management 

Strategy contain the Treasury Management Indicators. 
 
3.7 The Capital Strategy should demonstrate how the Council ensures that all of its capital 

and investment plans and borrowing are prudent and sustainable. It is intended to give 
a high level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services along with an overview of 
how associated risk is managed and the implications for future sustainability. 

 
3.8 The Treasury Management Strategy requires that formal and comprehensive objectives, 

policies and practices, strategies and reporting arrangements are in place for the 
effective management and control of treasury management activities, and that the 
effective management and control of risk are the prime objectives of these activities. 

 
 
 
 

Page 194



  

 

 
4.  Current Situation / Proposal 
 
4.1 The Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 (Appendix A) confirms the Council’s 

compliance with the Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice.  It 
also fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to both the CIPFA Code and the Welsh Government Guidance. 

 
4.2 The Treasury Management Strategy is an integrated strategy where borrowing and 

investments are managed in accordance with best professional practice. The Council 
borrows money either to meet short term cash flow needs or to fund capital schemes 
within the capital programme but loans taken are not associated with particular assets. 
The Council is exposed to financial risks including the potential loss of invested funds 
and the effect on revenue of changing interest rates. The Council endeavours to 
minimise the risks by investing its funds prudently, and having regard firstly to the 
security of investments then to their liquidity and finally to the seeking the highest rate 
of return, or yield. The Strategy outlines the Council’s definition of specified and non-
specified investments, the financial limits for each category of investments and the 
approved counterparties with associated credit ratings.  

 
4.3 The Capital Strategy 2020-21 to 2029-30 (Appendix B) was presented to the Corporate 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 13 February 2020 for information. It confirms 
the Council’s compliance with the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities. It sets out the guiding principles for capital decisions as to:- 

 
1. Focus capital investment on delivery of the Council’s Objectives and Priorities 
2. Ensure strong governance over decision-making 
3. Ensure that capital plans are affordable, sustainable and prudent 
4. Maximise and promote the best use of available funds  

 
4.4 The Capital Strategy sets out a framework for the self-management of capital finance 

and examines the following areas: 
 

Capital expenditure and investment plans 
Prudential Indicators 
External debt 
Treasury Management 

 
It reports on the delivery, affordability and risks associated with the long-term context in 
which capital expenditure and investment decisions are made. 
 

4.5 The Local Authority (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (Wales) 
Regulations 2008 requires the Council to produce and approve an Annual Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement before the start of the financial year. Where a 
Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside revenue resources to 
repay that debt in later years and this is charged to revenue. This Statement is attached 
at Appendix B - Schedule A. 
 

5.  Effect on Policy Framework and Procedure Rules 
 
5.1 As required by 3.5 of the Financial Procedure rules, the Chief Finance Officer will be 

responsible for preparing a Capital Strategy for submission to Council for approval prior 
to the start of each financial year.   

Page 195



  

 

 
5.2 As required by 20.2 of the Financial Procedure Rules, contained within the Council’s 

Constitution, the Chief Finance Officer will be responsible for preparing and presenting 
an annual Treasury Management Strategy for Council to approve prior to the start of 
each financial year.  
 

6. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 Projects within the Capital Strategy will be subject to the preparation of Equality Impact 

Assessments before proceeding. 
 
7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications 
 
7.1 The report contributes to the following goals within the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015: 
 

 A prosperous Wales 
 A resilient Wales 
 A Wales of cohesive communities 
 A globally responsive Wales 

 
7.2 The wellbeing objectives are designed to complement each other and are part of an 

integrated way of working to improve wellbeing for the people in Bridgend County 
Borough. In developing the Treasury Management and Capital Strategies, officers have 
considered the importance of balancing capital resources over the short-term and 
minimising the revenue costs of debt with longer-term objectives of managing the 
Council’s long term capital programme. Both the Treasury Management and Prudential 
Indicators are forward looking and are set to support future sustainability. 

 
8.  Financial Implications 

 
8.1 The financial implications are reflected within the report. 
 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 Council is recommended to approve: 
 

 the Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 including the Treasury 
Management Indicators 2020-21 to 2022-23 (Appendix A); 

 the Capital Strategy 2020-21 to 2029-30 including the Prudential Indicators 2020-
21 to 2022-23 (Appendix B);  

 the Annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement 2020-21 (Appendix 
B - Schedule A). 

 
Gill Lewis CPFA 
Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer  
 
12 February 2020 
 
Contact Officer: 
Nigel Smith 
Interim Group Manager – Chief Accountant 
Ext.3605. E_mail: nigel.smith@bridgend.gov.uk 

Page 196



  

 

 
Background documents  
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Local Authorities (Fully Revised 2017) 
CIPFA The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (Fully Revised 2017) 
 

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

 

Treasury 
Management 

Strategy 
2020-21 

 
Bridgend County Borough Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 199



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 2  
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
The Council carries out its treasury management activities in accordance with the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (2017) (the ‘Code’).  These 
require the Council to set out the policies and objectives of its treasury management 
activities and to manage its treasury risks in accordance with the Code.   
 
CIPFA has adopted the following as its definition of treasury management activities: 
 
‘The management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.’ 
 
The definition of ‘Investments’ above includes: 
 

 Treasury Management investments (held for the prudent management of 
financial affairs), and 

 Non-Treasury Investments, undertaken as part of a Capital Strategy either in 
the course of provision of services; or made for commercial reasons purely to 
make a financial gain.  These are managed outside of normal treasury 
management activity 

 
In addition, the Welsh Government (WG) issued revised Guidance on Local Authority 
Investments in November 2019 that requires the Authority to approve an investment 
strategy before the start of each financial year.  This Strategy fulfils the Authority’s legal 
obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to both the CIPFA 
Code and the WG Guidance.  In accordance with the WG Guidance Council would be 
asked to approve a revised Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) should the 
assumptions on which it is based change significantly.  This might be for example a 
large unexpected change in interest rates, in the Council’s Capital Programme, or in 
the level of its investment balance, or a material loss in the fair value of a non-financial 
investment identified as part of the year end accounts preparation and audit process, 
or a change in Accounting Standards.   
 
Local authorities are required to separately approve a Capital Strategy for capital 
expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments. The 
Council’s Capital Strategy includes the Prudential Indicators along with details 
regarding the Council’s non-treasury investments. The CIPFA Code requires the 
Council to set a number of Treasury Management Indicators which are forward looking 
parameters and enable the Council to measure and manage its exposure to treasury 
management risks which are integral to the TMS. The Capital Strategy and TMS should 
be read in conjunction with each other as borrowing and investments are directly 
impacted upon by capital plans. 
 
The Council has an integrated TMS where borrowing and investments are managed 
in accordance with best professional practice, which is assessed either from internal 
expertise or consultation with our external advisers. The Council borrows money either 
to meet short term cash flow needs or to fund capital schemes approved within the 

Page 200



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 3  
 

capital programme. Therefore any actual loans taken are not generally associated with 
particular items of expenditure or assets. The Council is exposed to financial risks 
including the potential loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing 
interest rates. The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are therefore 
central to the Council’s TMS. Should these change significantly, a revised TMS will be 
presented to Council for approval.  A half year review of treasury management 
performance will also be presented to Council for approval as will an annual report for 
the financial year  
 
The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of 
its treasury management policies and practices to Cabinet, and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions to the Section 151 Officer, who will 
act in accordance with the organisation’s strategy, Treasury Management Practices 
(TMP) and CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 
Quarterly reports will be presented to Cabinet. The Council nominates the Audit 
Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury 
management strategy and policies and regular reports will be presented to Audit 
Committee for their consideration. 
 
2.0 ECONOMIC CONTEXT   

Economic background: The UK’s progress negotiating its exit from the European 
Union, together with its future trading arrangements, will continue to be a major 
influence on the Council’s TMS for 2020-21. The Bank of England maintained Bank 
Rates at 0.75% in December 2019 following a 7-2 vote by the Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC).  The Committee’s latest projections for activity and inflation were 
set out in the November Monetary Policy Report and were based on the assumption 
of an orderly transition to a deep free trade agreement between the United Kingdom 
and the European Union. Despite keeping rates on hold, MPC members did confirm 
that if Brexit uncertainty drags on or global growth fails to recover, they are prepared 
to cut interest rates as required.  Moreover, the downward revisions to some of the 
growth projections in the Monetary Policy Report suggest the Committee may now be 
less convinced of the need to increase rates even with a Brexit deal. 

Credit outlook: Credit conditions for larger UK banks have remained relatively benign 
over the past year.  The UK’s departure from the European Union was delayed three 
times in 2019 and while there remains some concern over a global economic 
slowdown, this has yet to manifest in any credit issues for banks.  Meanwhile, the post 
financial crises banking reform is now largely complete, with the new ringfenced banks 
embedded in the market. 
 
Looking forward, the potential for a “no-deal” Brexit and/or a global recession remain 
the major risks facing banks and building societies in 2020-21 and a cautious approach 
to bank deposits remains advisable. 
 
Interest rate forecast: The Council’s treasury management advisor Arlingclose is 
forecasting that the Bank Rate will remain at 0.75% until the end of 2022.  The risks 
to this forecast are deemed to be significantly weighted to the downside, particularly 
given the result of the general election, the need for greater clarity on Brexit and the 
continuing global economic slowdown.  The Bank of England, having previously 
indicated interest rates may need to rise if a Brexit agreement was reached, stated in 

Page 201



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 4  
 

its November Monetary Policy Report and its Bank Rate decision to hold rates that the 
MPC now believe this is less likely even in the event of a deal. 
 
Gilt yields have risen but remain at low levels and only some very modest upward 
movement from current levels are expected based on Arlingclose’s interest rate 
projections.  The central case is for 10-year and 20-year gilt yields to rise to around 
1.00% and 1.40% respectively over the time horizon, with broadly balanced risks to 
both the upside and downside.  However, short-term volatility arising from both 
economic and political events over the period is a near certainty. 
  
3.0     EXTERNAL DEBT AND INVESTMENT POSITION 
 
On 31 December 2019, the Council held £96.87 million of borrowing and £38.95 million 
of investments. The external debt and investment position is shown in table 1 below 
and more detail is provided in sections 4.0 Borrowing Strategy and 5.0 Investment 
Strategy.  
 

     Table 1: Council’s external debt and investment position as at 31 December 2019 
 

 
* (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 14.25 years remaining term 
** Loan from the Welsh Government Central Capital Retained Fund for regeneration works within the Llynfi Valley which has not yet commenced 
***the funds provide instant access  
 

Table 2 below shows forecast changes borrowing and investments and has been 
produced using estimates of capital spend and forecasts on useable reserves for the 
current financial year and the next three years. The Capital Plans highlight that the 
Loans CFR, which is the Council’s need to borrow to fund capital expenditure, is 
increasing year on year due to additional prudential borrowing. 
 
 

Principal as at 
31 March 19

Average 
Rate

£m %
External Long Term Borrowing
Public Works Loan Board (77.62) 4.70
Lender's Option Borrower's Option (19.25) 4.65
Total External Long Term Borrowing (96.87) 4.69
Other Long Term Liabilities
Private Finance Initiative* (16.83)
Llynfi Loan** (2.25)
Other Long Term Liabilities (1.22)
Total Other Long Term Liabilities (20.30)
Total Gross Debt (117.17)
Treasury Investments
Banks 4.90 0.91
Building Societies 2.00 0.78
Local Authorities 22.50 0.91
Money Market Funds*** 9.55 0.74
Total Treasury Investments 38.95 0.86
Net Debt (78.22)

Page 202



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 5  
 

Table 2: Balance sheet summary and forecast 
 

 
*The accounting practice followed by the Council requires financial instruments in the accounts (debt and investments) to be 
  measured in a method compliant with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) so these figures will differ from  
  other figures in the TMS which are based on the actual amounts borrowed and invested  
 

Where a Council finances capital expenditure by borrowing it must put aside revenue 
resources to repay that debt in later years, known as ‘Minimum Revenue Provision’ or 
MRP. The Local Authority (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (Wales) 
Regulations 2008  requires the Council to produce and approve an Annual Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement before the start of the financial year that details 
the methodology for the charge as detailed in the Council’s Capital Strategy. The 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are the underlying 
resources available for investment.  The Council’s current strategy is to maintain 
borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known as internal 
borrowing. This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low and counterparty risk 
is relatively high. The Council is forecasting an increased CFR due to the level of 
prudential borrowing in the capital programme and the impact of the new MRP policy 
approved by Council in September 2018.  Changes in the accounting treatment for 
leases under International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 16 - will also have an 
impact and, once this impact is known, an updated TMS will be presented to Council 
for approval.  As the implementation of the new Standard is for 2020-21, further work 
is needed before the changes are applied.  This requires the Council to ‘bring on’ to 
the balance sheet a ‘Right of Use Asset’ and an equivalent liability, for any assets it 
leases or is presumed to lease though service contract arrangements  
 
 

Liability benchmark: To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an 
alternative strategy, a liability benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk 
level of borrowing. This forecasts the minimum amount of debt the Council could hold 
if its internal resources are used in lieu of external borrowing.  This assumes the same 
forecasts as table 2 above, but that cash and investment balances are kept to a 
minimum level of £10 million at each year-end to maintain sufficient liquidity but 
minimise credit risk. CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
recommends that the Council’s total debt should be lower than its highest forecast 
CFR over the next three years. Table 3 below shows that the Council complied with 
this in 2018-19 and expects to comply with this recommendation during 2019-20, 
2020-21 and the following two years.  More detail is provided in the Capital Strategy. 
 

 

31 March 19 
Actual

31 March 20 
Estimate

31 March 21 
Estimate

31 March 22 
Estimate

31 March 23 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Capital Financing Requirement 170.88 172.08 172.20 178.25 178.50
Less: Other Debt Liabilities (16.31) (15.57) (14.77) (13.90) (12.97)
Loans Capital Financing Requirement 154.57 156.52 157.44 164.35 165.53
Less: External Borrowing (96.87) (96.87) (103.09) (105.39) (105.39)
Internal Borrowing 57.70 59.65 54.35 58.96 60.14
Less: Usable Reserves (76.70) (70.54) (48.13) (38.37) (36.69)
Less: Working Capital (2.00) - - - -
Investments 21.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00
New Borrowing - cumulative 0.00 0.00 16.22 30.59 33.45

Page 203



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 6  
 

Table 3: Liability benchmark  
 

 
 
4.0 BORROWING STRATEGY 
 
The Council currently holds £96.87 million of loans as part of its strategy for funding 
previous years’ capital programmes. The balance sheet forecast in table 2 above 
shows that the Council will have to borrow over the next three years as detailed in 
table 4 below: 
 
 Table 4: New Borrowing 
 

 
 
The Section 151 Officer will monitor and update the liability benchmark assumptions 
on an on-going basis and report any significant changes within the treasury 
management monitoring reports to Cabinet, Audit Committee and Council as 
appropriate. This could be as a result of changes in the level of useable reserves at 
year end, slippage within the Capital Programme or changes within the working capital 
assumptions. 
 
The Council’s primary objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately 
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of those 
costs over the period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans 
should the Council’s long-term plans change is a secondary objective. 
 
Therefore the major objectives to be followed in 2020-21 are: 
 
 to minimise the revenue costs of debt 
 to manage the Council’s debt maturity profile i.e. to leave no one future year with a 

high level of repayments that could cause problems in re-borrowing  
 to effect funding in any one year at the cheapest cost commensurate with future 

risk 
 to monitor and review the level of variable interest rate loans in order to take greater 

advantage of interest rate movement 
 to reschedule debt if appropriate, in order to take advantage of potential savings as 

interest rates change 

31 March 19 
Actual

31 March 20 
Estimate

31 March 21 
Estimate

31 March 22 
Estimate

31 March 23 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Loans Capital Financing Requirement 154.57 156.52 157.44 164.35 165.53

Less: Usable Reserves (76.70) (70.54) (48.13) (38.37) (36.69)
Less: Working Capital (2.00) - - - -
Plus: Minimum Investments 21.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00
Liability Benchmark 96.87 95.98 119.31 135.97 138.84

31 March 19 
Actual

31 March 20 
Estimate

31 March 21 
Estimate

31 March 22 
Estimate

31 March 23 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

New Borrowing 0.00 0.00 16.22 14.37 2.86

Page 204



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 7  
 

 to optimise the use of all capital resources including borrowing, both supported and 
unsupported, usable capital receipts, revenue contributions to capital and grants 
and contributions 

 
Given the significant cuts to public expenditure in recent years and in particular to local 
government funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to address the key 
issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt 
portfolio. The uncertainty over future interest rates increases the risks associated with 
treasury activity.  As a result the Council will take a cautious approach to its treasury 
strategy. With short term interest rates currently much lower than long term rates, it is 
likely to be more cost effective in the short term to either use internal resources or 
borrow short term instead.  
 
The Section 151 Officer will take the most appropriate form of borrowing depending 
on the prevailing interest rates at the time. However, with long term rates forecast to 
rise modestly in future years, any such short term savings will need to be balanced 
against the potential longer term costs. The Council’s treasury management advisers 
will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. The last time 
the Council took long term borrowing was £5 million from the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB) in March 2012. As detailed above, it is anticipated that there will be a 
requirement for new long term borrowing in 2020-21, 2021-22 and 2022-23. It is 
anticipated that this would be from PWLB and for estimate purposes it has been 
assumed that this will be over 30 years.  
 
Alternatively, the Council may arrange forward starting loans during 2020-21 where 
the interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years. This would 
enable certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a cost of carry in the 
intervening period. In addition, the Council may borrow short term (normally for up to 
one month) to cover unexpected cash flow shortages.  
 
Sources of borrowing: The approved sources of long term and short term borrowing 
are: 

• PWLB and any successor body 
• any institution approved for investments (see Investment Strategy below) 
• any other bank or building society authorised  to operate in the UK 
• any other UK public sector body 
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except the Council’s Pension Fund) 
• capital market bond investors 
• special purpose companies created to enable local authority bond issues 
 
Other sources of debt finance: In addition, capital finance may be raised by the 
following methods that are not borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities: 
 

 leasing 
 hire purchase 
 Private Finance Initiative 
 sale and leaseback 

 

Page 205



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 8  
 

The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the 
PWLB, but the government increased PWLB rates by 1% in October 2019 making it 
now a more expensive option.  The Council will look to borrow any long-term loans 
from other sources such as Welsh Government and local authority loans and bank 
loans, which may be available at more favourable rates. Alternatively the Council may 
arrange forward starting loans, where the interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash 
is received in later years.  This would enable certainty of cost to be achieved without 
suffering a cost of carry in the intervening period. 
 
LOBOs: The £19.25 million shown in table 1 above, relates to Lender’s Option 
Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans which have a maturity date of 2054, however these 
may be re-scheduled in advance of this maturity date.  The LOBO rate and term may 
vary in the future depending upon the prevailing market rates, the lender exercising 
their option to increase rates at one of the bi-annual trigger points and therefore the 
Council being given the option to accept the increase or to repay the loan without 
incurring a penalty. There are two trigger points in 2020-21 and although the Council 
understands that the lender is unlikely to exercise this option in the current low interest 
rate environment, an element of refinancing risk remains and the Council would take 
the option to repay these loans at no cost if it has the opportunity to do so in the future.  
 
Short term and variable rate loans: These loans expose the Council to the risk of 
short term interest rate rises should interest rates change. 
 
Debt rescheduling:  The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and 
either pay a premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current 
interest rates. Other lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption 
terms.  The Council may take advantage of this and replace some higher rate loans 
with new loans at lower interest rates, or repay loans without replacement, where this 
is expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk.  
 
Maturity structure of borrowing indicator: This indicator is set for the forthcoming 
financial year to control the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk with respect to the 
maturity of the Council’s external borrowing and has been set to allow for the possible 
restructuring of long term debt where this is expected to lead to an overall saving or 
reduction in risk. It is the amount of projected borrowing maturing in each period as a 
percentage of total projected borrowing. The upper and lower limits on the maturity 
structure of borrowing will be: 
 
Table 5: Treasury Management Indicator Maturity Structure of Borrowing 2020-21 
 

 
 
 

Refinancing rate risk indicator  
Maturity structure of  borrowing 2020-21 

Upper limit lower limit 

 Under 12 months  50% 0% 
 12 months and within 24 months 25% 0% 
 24 months and within 5 years 25% 0% 
 5 years and within 10 years 40% 0% 
 10 years and within 20 years 50% 0% 
  20 years and above 60% 25% 

Page 206



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 9  
 

5.0 INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
 
The preparation each year of an Investment Strategy is central to the Welsh 
Government statutory guidance on Local Authority Investments. It encourages the 
formulation of policies for the prudent investment of the surplus funds that authorities 
hold on behalf of their communities. In addition, the need for the Strategy to be 
approved by full Council ensures that these policies are subject to the scrutiny of 
elected Members: this is particularly important as since 2004 central government no 
longer closely regulates local government investment. 
 
The Council holds surplus funds representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves and as shown in table 1 above in section 3, 
the balance at 31 December 2019 was £38.95 million. Investments are estimated to 
drop to between £10 and £20 million by 31 March 2020. As in previous years this is 
due partly to increased expenditure expected to be incurred in respect of the capital 
programme and the reduction in income collected from Council Tax in February and 
March 2020 as the majority of residents continue to pay Council Tax over 10 months 
rather than 12. Based on its cash flow forecasts, the Council anticipates its investment 
balances in 2020-21 to range between £10 million to £55 million with an average 
investment rate of between 0.75% to 1.00% depending on the Bank Rate and 
investment types, which will be reviewed at half year and reported to Council. The 
actual balance varies because of the cash flow during the year as to when income is 
received (such as specific grant income, housing benefits subsidy and Revenue 
Support Grant) and payments are made (such as salaries and wages, major capital 
expenditure and loan repayments). 

The Council may also hold investment properties with a view to securing a financial 
return, such as rental income.  The Council will consider such investment opportunities 
should they arise, in line with CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services 
Code of Practice.  As at 31 December 2019, the Council owned £4.635 million of 
investment properties with an expected return of £0.478 million in 2020/21, 
representing a rate of return of 10.3%. 

Both the CIPFA Code and the Welsh Government Guidance require the Council to 
invest its funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments while seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s main 
objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and 
return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 
unsuitably low investment income. Where balances are expected to be invested for 
more than one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total return that is equal to or 
higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending power of 
the sum invested.  
The major objectives are: 

 to maintain capital security 
 to maintain portfolio liquidity so funds are available when expenditure is 

needed  
 to achieve the yield on investments commensurate with the proper levels of 

security and liquidity 
 

Page 207



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 10  
 

Negative interest rates: If the UK enters into a recession in 2020-21, there is a small 
chance that the Bank of England could set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is 
likely to feed through to negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment 
options. This situation already exists in some other European countries. In this event, 
security will be measured as receiving the contractually agreed amount at maturity, 
even though this may be less than the amount originally invested. 
 
Strategy: The Council’s investments have historically been placed in mainly short term 
bank and building society unsecured deposits and local and central government. 
However, investments may be made with any public or private sector organisations 
that meet the credit criteria detailed below. Given the increasing risk and very low 
returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, the Council will consider further 
diversifying into more secure and/or higher yielding asset classes during 2020-21 as 
appropriate in consultation with the Council’s treasury management advisers. The 
majority of the Council’s surplus cash is currently invested in Money Market Funds 
(MMF) and with other local authorities but the Council will continue to look at 
investment options in line with the limits detailed below. 

 
With short term interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, due 
consideration will also be given to using surplus funds to make early repayments of 
long term borrowing if appropriate options become available as referred to in section 
4.0  Borrowing Strategy.  
 
Business Models:  Under the new IFRS 9, the accounting for certain investments 
depends on the Council’s “business model” for managing them.  The Council aims to 
achieve value from its internally managed treasury investments by a business model 
of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore these investments will continue 
to be accounted for at amortised cost.  
 
Approved counterparties: The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the 
counterparty types shown in table 6 below, subject to the cash limits and the time limits 
shown. These cash/time limits are per counterparty and relate to principal only 
and exclude any accrued interest.  
 
Table 6: Approved investment counterparties and limits 
 
These limits must be read in conjunction with the notes immediately below the 
table.  The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank must 
not exceed the cash limit for secured investments: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 208



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 11  
 

Credit Rating Banks 
(including 
building 

societies) 
Unsecured 

Banks 
(including 
building 

societies) 
Secured 

Government Corporates  
 

Registered 
Providers         

UK Central 
Government 

n/a n/a £ Unlimited  n/a n/a 
50 Years 

UK Local 
Authorities  

n/a n/a £12,000,000 n/a n/a 
10 Years 

AAA 
 

£3,000,000     
   

£6,000,000   £6,000,000            £3,000,000  £3,000,000  

5 Years 
 

20 Years 50 Years 20 Years 20 Years 

AA+ 
 

£3,000,000  
      

£6,000,000   £6,000,000            £3,000,000  £3,000,000  

5 Years 10 Years 25 Years 10 Years 10 Years 
AA 
 

£3,000,000  
       

£6,000,000    £6,000,000             £3,000,000  £3,000,000  

4 Years 5 Years 15 Years 5 Years 10 Years 
AA- 
 

£3,000,000   
      

£6,000,000    £6,000,000           £3,000,000  £3,000,000  

3 Years 4 Years 10 Years 4 Years  10 Years 
A+ 
 

£3,000,000   
     

£6,000,000    £3,000,000           £3,000,000  £3,000,000  

2 Years 3 Years 5 Years 3 Years 5 Years 
A 
 

£3,000,000     
     

£6,000,000   £3,000,000           £3,000,000  £3,000,000  

13 Months 2 Years 5 Years 2 Years 5 Years 
A- 
 

£3,000,000    
      

£6,000,000    £3,000,000           £3,000,000  £3,000,000  

6 Months 13 Months 5 Years 13 Months 5 Years 
None 
 

£1,000,000  
        

n/a see above central 
government and 
local authority 
limit 
 

n/a £3,000,000  

6 Months  5 Years 
Pooled Funds  £6,000,000 per fund  

 
Credit rating: Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long-term 
credit rating from a selection of external rating agencies to ensure that this lies within 
our agreed minimum credit rating. Where available, the credit rating relevant to the 
specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit 
rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit 
ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into 
account. Schedule A shows the equivalence table for credit ratings for three of the 
main rating agencies Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s and explains the different 
investment grades.   

Page 209



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 12  
 

Banks unsecured:  Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured 
bonds with banks and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  
These investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator 
determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail.  Where additional amounts received 
into our accounts with our own bankers are received too late in the day to make an 
investment the same day, the limit in table 6 will not apply as this does not count as 
an investment. 
 
Banks secured: Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other 
collateralised arrangements with banks and building societies.  These investments are 
secured on the bank’s assets, which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of 
insolvency, and means that they are exempt from bail-in. Where there is no investment 
specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a 
credit rating, the highest of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating 
will be used to determine cash and time limits.   
 
Government: Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, 
regional and local authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments 
are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although 
they are not zero risk.  Investments with the UK Central Government may be made in 
unlimited amounts for up to 50 years. 
 
Corporates: Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than 
banks and registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are 
exposed to the risk of the company going insolvent. Loans to unrated companies will 
only be made following an external credit assessment and consultation with the 
Council’s treasury management advisers. 
 
Registered providers: Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by, or secured on the 
assets of registered providers of social housing and registered social landlords, 
formerly known as housing associations. These bodies are tightly regulated by the 
Welsh Government and as providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of 
receiving government support if needed. 
 
Pooled funds: Shares or units in diversified investment vehicles consisting of any of 
the above investment types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the 
advantage of providing wide diversification of investment risks, coupled with the 
services of a professional fund manager in return for a fee.  Short-term Money Market 
Funds that offer same-day liquidity and very low or no volatility will be used as an 
alternative to instant access bank accounts, while pooled funds whose value changes 
with market prices and/or have a notice period can be used for longer investment 
periods.  

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes 
other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. As 
these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a 
notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s 
investment objectives will be monitored regularly. 

Page 210



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 13  
 

Operational bank accounts: The Council may incur operational exposures, for 
example though current accounts, collection accounts and merchant acquiring 
services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets greater 
than £25 billion. These are not classed as investments, but are still subject to the risk 
of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept to a minimum. The Bank of 
England has stated that in the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 
billion are more likely to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the 
Council maintaining operational continuity.  

Risk assessment and credit ratings: Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by 
the Council’s treasury advisers, who will notify the Council of changes as they occur.  
 
Long-term ratings are expressed on a scale from AAA (the highest quality) through to 
D (indicating default).  Ratings of BBB- and above are described as investment grade, 
while ratings of BB+ and below are described as speculative grade.  The Council’s 
credit rating criteria are set to ensure that it is very unlikely the Council will hold 
speculative grade investments, despite the possibility of repeated downgrades. 
 
Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved 
investment criteria then: 
 
• no new investments will be made 
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be 
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 

investments with the affected counterparty 
 

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible 
downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch negative”) so that 
it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only investments that can be 
withdrawn will be made with that organisation until the outcome of the review is 
announced.  This policy will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term 
direction of travel rather than an imminent change of rating. 

Other information on the security of investments: The Council understands that 
credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment default.  Full regard 
will therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the 
organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, financial 
statements, information on potential government support, reports in the quality 
financial press and analysis and advice from the Council’s treasury management 
adviser. No investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive 
doubts about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria. 

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations as happened in 2008 and 2011, it is not generally reflected in credit 
ratings, but can be seen in other market measures.  In these circumstances, the 
Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and 
reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level of 
security. The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market 
conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of high 
credit quality are available to invest the Council’s cash balances, then the surplus will 
be deposited with the UK Government via the Debt Management Office  or invested 

Page 211



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 14  
 

in government treasury bills for example, or with other local authorities. This will cause 
a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will protect the principal sum 
invested. 

Specified investments: The Welsh Government Statutory Guidance on Local 
Government Investments defines specified investments as those: 
 denominated in pound sterling 
 due to be repaid within 12 months of arrangement 
 not defined as capital expenditure by legislation, and 
 invested with one of: 

o the UK Government 
o a UK local authority 
o a town or community council or      
o body or  investment scheme of “high credit quality”                                 

    
The Council defines “high credit quality” organisations and securities as those 
having a credit rating of A- or higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country 
with a sovereign rating of AA+ or higher. For money market funds and other pooled 
funds “high credit quality” is defined as those having a credit rating of A- or higher. 

Non-specified investments: Any investment that does not fall into the criteria 
detailed above under the Specified investments definition. The Council does not intend 
to make any investments denominated in foreign currencies nor any defined as capital 
expenditure. Non-specified investments will therefore be limited to: 
 long-term investments, i.e. those that are due to mature 12 months or longer from 

the date of arrangement 
 investments with bodies and schemes not meeting the definition on high credit 

quality 
 

The Welsh Government Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments  
requires the Council’s Investment Strategy to set an overall limit for non-specified 
investments which is currently set at £20 million. Table 7 below shows the non-
specified categories and the relevant limits and although the total of the individual 
limits exceed £20 million, at any one point in time a maximum of £20 million could 
be invested in these non-specified investments.  
 
Table 7: Non-specified investment limits 
 

 
 

 Category Cash limit 

Total long-term investments                 £15m 

Total investments  without credit ratings  or rated below  the 
Council’s definition of “high credit quality” (A-) 
(except the UK Government and UK local authorities) 

                £10m  

Total investments (except pooled funds)with institutions 
domiciled in foreign countries with a sovereign rating below AA+ 

                  £3m 

Total Non-Specified Investments Outstanding                   £20m 

Page 212



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 15  
 

Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: All investments longer than 
365 days (non-specified) will be made with a cautious approach to cash flow 
requirements and advice from the Council’s treasury management advisers will be 
sought as necessary.  

Where the Council invests, or plans to invest, for periods longer than a year, an upper 
limit is set for each forward financial year period for the maturing of such investments. 
The purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring 
losses by seeking early repayment of long term investments. The limits on the long 
term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end will be as shown 
in table 8 below. 
 
Table 8: Treasury Management Indicator Principal sums invested for periods 
longer than a year 
 
Price risk indicator 2020-21 

£m 
2021-22 

£m 
2022-23 

£m 
Limit  on principal invested beyond 
financial year end 

 
15 

 
10 

 
8 

 
Investment Limits: In addition to the above limits, the combined values of specified and 
non-specified investments with any one organisation are subject to the approved 
investment limits detailed in table 9 below.  

Table 9: Investments limits  
 

 Category Cash limit 
Any single organisation, except the UK Central and Local 
Government 

£6m 

UK Central Government unlimited 

UK Local Authorities (per Authority) £12m 

Any group of organisations under the same ownership £6m per group 

Any group of pooled funds under the same management  £6m per manager 

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £10m per broker 

Foreign countries £6m per country 

Registered providers and registered social landlords £5m in total 

Unsecured investments with Building Societies £6m in total 

Money market funds (MMF) £20m in total 

 
A group of banks under the same ownership will be treated as a single organisation 
for limit purposes. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do 
not count against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified 
over many countries. 

The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank must not exceed 
the cash limit for secured investments. 

Liquidity Management: The Council forecasts on a prudent basis the maximum 
period for which funds may be committed therefore minimising the risk of the Council 

Page 213



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 16  
 

being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. A limit 
of £15 million (table 8 above) has been set for 2020-21 for long term investments and 
this has been set with reference to the Medium Term Financial Strategy and cash flow 
forecast as shown in the principal sums invested for periods longer than a year 
indicator in table 7 above. This represents just under 30% of the maximum amount of 
investments that the Council anticipates to have at any one point in time in 2020-21. 
 
6.0 INTEREST RATE EXPOSURES BORROWING AND INVESTMENTS 

The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and 
investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council, 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing financial 
instrument periods. For instance, a rise in variable and fixed interest rates would 
have the following effects: 

 borrowings at variable rates – the interest charged to revenue within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement will rise; 

 borrowings at fixed rates – the fixed rate protects the Council from increased 
interest charges as an equivalent loan would now cost more. The fair value 
of the borrowing (liability) will fall; 

 investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement will rise;  

 investments at fixed rates – the fixed rate prevents the Council from receiving 
higher investment income from the same principal invested. The fair value of 
the investment (asset) will fall. 

 
An indicator has been set in table 10 below to measure the net impact over one year 
on the revenue account of both a 1% rise and a 1% fall in all interest rates for borrowing 
net of treasury investments.  This is calculated on the assumption that maturing loans 
and investments will be replaced at rates 1% higher or lower than they would otherwise 
have been on their maturity dates and that the treasury investment and borrowing 
portfolios remain unchanged over the coming year.  Interest rates can move by more 
than 1% over the course of a year, although such instances are rare. 
 
Table 10: Treasury Management Indicator Interest Rate Exposures 
 

Interest rate risk indicator £'000 
One year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates (264) 

One year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates 181 
 

The figure for the 1% fall in interest rates indicator is not the same figure as the 1% 
increase (but reversed) as the borrowing relates to variable LOBO loans where it is 
assumed that the lender would not exercise their option if there was a fall in interest 
rates.   All other borrowing does not have a rate reset in the next year and is with the 
PWLB at fixed rates. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 214



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 17  
 

     7.0  PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
 

Performance indicators are set to assess the adequacy of the treasury function over 
the year. These are distinct historic indicators as opposed to the treasury management 
and prudential indicators which are predominantly forward looking.  
 
One debt performance indicator is where the average portfolio rate of interest is 
compared to an appropriate average available such as the average PWLB Debt for 
Welsh and UK local authorities. The rate of return on investments can be monitored 
against the average rate of return on investments against the Bank Rate and the 
average rate of return on investments as compared to the average rate of Arlingclose’s 
Welsh local authority clients at each relevant quarter/year-end. 
 
8.0  NON-TREASURY INVESTMENTS 
 
The Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily 
for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful 
investment management.  Such activities includes loans, investments in subsidiaries 
and investments in property.  Welsh Government Guidance defines a loan as a written 
or oral agreement where the council temporarily transfers cash to a third party, joint 
venture, subsidiary or associate who agrees a return according to the terms and 
conditions of receiving the loan, except where the third party is another local authority.  
The council can demonstrate that its financial exposure to loans is proportionate by 
setting the limit as set out in table 11 below. 
 
Table 11: Loan Limits 
 

 
 
A schedule of the Council’s existing non-treasury investments (currently limited to 
owned property) is set out in table 12 below: 
 
Table 12: Non-treasury investments 
 

 
 
The Council considers that the scale of its investment properties is proportionate to the 
resources of the Council, since such investment represents less than 1% of its total 
long term assets. 
 

Loan limit £'000
Limit on loans to third parties 1,000

Non-treasury investments
Fair Value

£'000
Bridgend Science Park - Units 1 & 2 3,200             
Waterton Cross Land 600                 
Brynmenyn Industrial Estate Plot 53 220                 
Village Farm Plots 32,119 & 120 415                 
Tyrewise Bridgend 200                 
Total 4,635             

Page 215



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 18  
 

In accordance with Welsh Government Investment Guidance, these will be classified 
as non-treasury investments. 
 
9.0  IFRS9 – LOCAL AUTHORITY OVERRIDE 
 
The Welsh Government legislated in the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 for a statutory override for fair 
value gains and losses on most pooled investment funds not to be taken to revenue 
until 2023-24.  The statutory override takes effect for the 2019/20 financial year.  This 
has the effect of allowing any unrealised capital gains or losses arising from qualifying 
investments to be held on the balance sheet until 31 March 2023: this will enable 
Councils to initiate an orderly withdrawal of funds if required.   

 
     10.0 OTHER ITEMS 
 

In line with the CIPFA Code and Welsh Government guidance the following also forms 
part of the Council’s TMS. 
 
Financial Derivatives: In the absence of any explicit legal power to do so, the Council 
will not use standalone financial derivatives such as swaps, forwards, futures and 
options. Derivatives embedded into loans and investments including pooled funds and 
forward starting transactions may be used and the risks they present will be managed 
in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy. 
 

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II (MIFID II): From January 2018, MIFID 
II changed the classification of local authority investors. It reclassified local and public 
authorities as retail investors. The Council has opted up to professional client status 
with its providers of financial services, including treasury management advisers, 
banks, building societies and brokers, allowing it access to a greater range of services 
but without the greater regulatory protection afforded to individuals and small 
companies. Given the size and range of the Council’s treasury management activities, 
the Section 151 Officer believed this to be the most appropriate status.  
       
Investment training: The needs of the Council’s treasury management staff for 
training in investment management are assessed every six months as part of the staff 
appraisal process and also if the responsibilities of individual members of staff change. 
 
Training is received from the Council’s treasury management advisers, CIPFA and 
other bodies in the form of training courses and seminars. The Council also supports 
personal development so individuals enhance their own knowledge through reading 
CIPFA guidance, publications and research on the internet.  
 
Investment advisers: The Council appointed Arlingclose Limited as treasury 
management advisers following a tender exercise in August 2016. They were awarded 
a four year contract, to provide advice and information relating to its borrowing and 
investment activities and capital finance issues. The contract will be reviewed annually 
and either party may at any time terminate this agreement on 3 months prior written 
notice. The quality of this service is controlled by having regular meetings with the 
advisers and regularly reviewing the service provided.  As the contract is due to end in 

Page 216



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 19  
 

September 2020 a re-tendering exercise will be undertaken during the spring and early 
summer 2020. 
 
Investment of money borrowed in advance of need: CIPFA’s Prudential Code sets 
out that authorities should never borrow for the explicit purpose of making an 
investment return.  Therefore borrowing in advance of need purely to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed is against the principles, however, the Council 
could potentially borrow in advance of need where this is expected to provide the best 
long term value for money. Since amounts borrowed will be invested until spent, the 
Council is aware that it will be exposed to the risk of loss of the borrowed sums, and 
the risk that investment and borrowing interest rates may change in the intervening 
period.  These risks will be managed as part of the Council’s overall management of 
its treasury risks. 
 
As the Council has an integrated TMS, borrowing is not linked to the financing of 
specific items of expenditure. The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as 
at 1 January 2020 was in excess of the actual debt of the Council as shown in table 2 
above indicating there was no borrowing in advance of need. More detail is provided 
in the Prudential Indicators in the Council’s Capital Strategy. 
 
    

      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 217



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 20  
 

Schedule A 
 
 

         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 218



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 21  
 

GLOSSARY 
 

Annuity 

A method of repaying a loan where the cash payment remains 
constant over the life of the loan, but the proportion of interest 
reduces and the proportion of principal repayment increases over 
time.  Repayment mortgages and personal loans tend to be repaid 
by the annuity method. 

Asset 
Management 

The stewardship of capital assets, including decisions around on-
going maintenance and eventual disposal 

Authorised limit 
The maximum amount of debt that a local authority may legally 
hold, set annually in advance by the Council itself.  One of the 
Prudential Indicators. 

BACS 
Bankers’ automated payment system.  UK bulk payments system 
allowing transfers between bank accounts with two days’ notice, 
for a small charge. 

Bail-in 

A method of rescuing a failing financial institution by cancelling 
some of its deposits and bonds.  Investors may suffer a reduction 
in their investment, but may be given shares in the bank as part 
compensation.  

Bail-out 
A method of rescuing a failing financial institution by the injection 
of public money.  This protects investors at the expense of 
taxpayers. 

Bank Regulated firm that provides financial services to customers. 
Bank of 
England 

The central bank of the UK, based in London, sometimes just 
called ‘the bank’. 

Bank Rate 
The official interest rate set by the Monetary Policy Committee, and 
the rate of interest paid by the Bank of England on commercial 
bank deposits.  Colloquially termed the ‘base rate’. 

Bond 
A certificate of long-term debt issued by a company, government, 
or other institution, which is tradable on financial markets 

Borrowing 
Usually refers to the stock of outstanding loans owned and bonds 
issued. 

Broker 
Regulated firm that matches either borrowers and lenders (a 
money broker) or buyers and sellers of securities (a stockbroker) 
with each other in order to facilitate transactions 

Brokerage Fee charged by a broker, normally paid by the borrower 
Building 
Society 

A mutual organisation that performs similar functions to a retail 
bank but is owned by its customers 

Capital 

(1) Long-term, as in capital expenditure and capital receipts 
(2) Principal, as in capital gain and capital value 
(3) Investments in financial institutions that will absorb losses 
before senior unsecured creditors 

Page 219



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 22  
 

Capital 
Expenditure 

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of fixed 
asset that are expected to provide value for longer than one year, 
such as property and equipment, plus expenditure defined as 
capital in legislation such as the purchase of certain investments 

Capital 
Finance 

Arranging and managing the cash required to finance capital 
expenditure, and the associated accounting. 

Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 
(CFR) 

A local authority’s underlying need to hold debt for capital 
purposes, representing the cumulative capital expenditure that has 
been incurred but not yet financed.  The CFR increases with capital 
expenditure and decreases with capital finance and MRP. 

Capital Receipt 

Cash obtained from the sale of an item whose purchase would be 
capital expenditure.  The law only allows local authorities to spend 
capital receipts on certain items, such as new capital expenditure.  
They are therefore held in a capital receipts reserve until spent. 

Capital 
strategy 

An annual policy document required by the Prudential Code that 
sets out a local authorities’ high-level plans for capital expenditure, 
debt and investments and its Prudential Indicators for the 
forthcoming financial year. 

CIFPA 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy – the 
professional body for accountants working in the public sector.  
CIPFA also sets various standards for local government – eg 
Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code 

Cost of Carry 
When a loan is borrowed in advance of need, the difference 
between the interest payable on the loan and the income earned 
from investing the cash in the interim 

Counterparty The other party to a loan, investment or other contract 
Counterparty 
limit 

The maximum amount an investor is willing to lend to a 
counterparty, in order to manage credit risk. 

Credit rating 

Formal opinion by a credit rating agency of a counterparty’s future 
ability to meet its financial obligations.  As it is only an opinion, 
there is no guarantee that a highly rated organisation will not 
default. 

Credit rating 
agency 

An organisation that publishes credit ratings.  The three largest 
agencies are Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s but there are 
many smaller ones. 

Credit risk The risk that a counterparty will default on its financial obligations. 

Debt 

(1) A contract where one party owes money to another party, such 
as a loan, deposit, or bond. 
(2) In the Prudential Code, the total outstanding borrowing plus 
other long-term liabilities 

Page 220



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 23  
 

Default 
Failure to meet an obligation under a debt contract, including the 
repayment of cash, usually as a result of being in financial difficulty 

Deposit 
A regulated placing of cash with a financial institution.  Deposits 
are not tradable on financial markets. 

DMO 
Debt Management Office – an executive agency of HM Treasury 
that deals with central government’s debt and investments. 

Fair value IFRS term for the price that would be obtained by selling an 
investment, or paid to transfer debt, in a market transaction.  

FCA  Financial Conduct Authority – UK agency responsible for 
regulating financial markets and the conduct of financial 
institutions, brokers, custodians, fund managers and treasury 
management advisors.  

Financial 
institution  

A bank, building society or credit union. Sometimes the term also 
includes insurance companies.  

Financial 
instrument  

IFRS term for investments, borrowing and other cash payable 
and receivable.  

Financing 
costs  

In the Prudential Code, interest payable on debt less investment 
income plus premiums less discounts plus MRP.  

Forward deal  An arrangement where a loan or deposit is arranged in advance 
of the cash being transferred, with the advance period being 
longer than the standard period (if any) for such a transaction.  

GDP  Gross domestic product – the value of the national aggregate 
production of goods and services in the economy. Increasing 
GDP is known as economic growth.  

General Fund  A local authority reserve that holds the accumulated surplus or 
deficit on revenue income and expenditure, except on council 
housing.  

Gilt  Bond issued by the UK Government, taking its name from the 
gilt-edged paper they were originally printed on.  

IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standards, the set of accounting 
rules in use by UK local authorities since 2010.  

Impairment  A reduction in the value of an investment caused by the 
counterparty being in financial difficulty.  

Inflation risk  The risk that unexpected changes in inflation rates cause an 
unplanned loss, for example by costs rising faster than income.  

Interest  Compensation for the use of cash paid by borrowers to lenders 
on debt instruments.  

Interest rate 
risk  

The risk that unexpected changes in interest rates cause an 
unplanned loss, for example by increased payments on 
borrowing or lower income on investments.  

Page 221



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 24  
 

Internal 
borrowing  

A local government term for when actual “external” debt is below 
the capital financing requirement, indicating that difference has 
been borrowed from internal resources instead; in reality this is 
not a form of borrowing.  

Investment 
property  

Land and buildings that are held purely for rental income and/or 
capital growth. Investment properties are not owner-occupied and 
provide no direct service benefit.  

Investment 
strategy  

A document required by investment guidance that sets out a local 
authority’s investment plans and parameters for the coming year. 
Sometimes forms part of the authority’s treasury management 
strategy.  

Lease  A contract where one party permits another to make use of an 
asset in return for a series of payments. It is economically similar 
to buying the asset and borrowing a loan, and therefore leases 
are often counted as a type of debt.  

Lessee  Party to a lease contract that uses an asset owned by the lessor.  

Lessor  Party to a lease contract that own an asset but permits another 
(the lessee) to use it.  

Liability 
benchmark  

Term in CIPFA’s Risk Management Toolkit which refers to the 
minimum amount of borrowing required to keep investments at a 
minimum liquidity level. Used to compare against the actual and 
forecast level of borrowing.  

LIBOR  London interbank offer rate - the benchmark interest rate at which 
banks offer to lend cash to other banks. Published every London 
working day at 11am for various currencies and terms. Due to be 
phased out by 2022.  

Liquidity risk  The risk that cash will not be available to meet financial 
obligations, for example when investments cannot be recalled 
and new loans cannot be borrowed.  

Loan  Contract where the lender provides a sum of money (the 
principal) to a borrower, who agrees to repay it in the future 
together with interest. Loans are not normally tradable on 
financial markets. There are specific definitions in government 
investment guidance.  

Loans CFR  The capital financing requirement less the amount met by other 
long-term liabilities; i.e. the amount to be met by borrowing.  

LOBO  Lender’s option borrower’s option – a long-term loan where the 
lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate 
on pre-determined dates. The borrower then has the option to 
either accept the new rate or repay the loan without penalty. 
LOBOs increase the borrower’s interest rate risk and the loan 
should therefore attract a lower rate of interest initially.  

Long-term  Usually means longer than one year.  

Page 222



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 25  
 

Market risk  The risk that movements in market variables will have an 
unexpected impact. Usually split into interest rate risk, price risk 
and foreign exchange risk.  

Maturity  (1) The date when an investment or borrowing is scheduled to be 
repaid.  
(2) A type of loan where the principal is only repaid on the 
maturity date.  

MiFID II  The second Markets in Financial Instruments Directive - a 
legislative framework instituted by the European Union to 
regulate financial markets in the bloc and improve protections for 
investors.  

Monetary 
policy  

Measures taken by central banks to boost or slow the economy, 
usually via changes in interest rates. Monetary easing refers to 
cuts in interest rates, making it cheaper for households and 
businesses to borrow and hence spend more, boosting the 
economy, while monetary tightening refers to the opposite. See 
also fiscal policy and quantitative easing.  

Monetary 
Policy 
Committee 
(MPC)  

Committee of the Bank of England responsible for implementing 
monetary policy in the UK by changing Bank Rate and 
quantitative easing with the aim of keeping CPI inflation at around 
2%.  

Money market 
fund (MMF)  

A collective investment scheme which invests in a range of short-
term assets providing high credit quality and high liquidity. 
Usually refers to CNAV and LVNAV funds with a WAM under 60 
days which offer instant access, but the European Union 
definition extends to include cash plus funds.  

Money markets  The markets for short-term finance, including deposits and T-bills. 
See also capital markets.  

MRP  Minimum revenue provision - an annual amount that local 
authorities are required to set aside and charge to revenue for 
the repayment of debt associated with capital expenditure. Local 
authorities are required by law to have regard to government 
guidance on MRP.  

Net borrowing  Borrowing minus treasury investments.  
Net revenue 
stream  

In the Prudential Code, income from general government grants, 
Council Tax and rates.  

Non-specified 
investments  

Government term for investments not meeting the definition of a 
specified investment or a loan upon which limits must be set. 
Since 2018, the term does not apply to treasury investments in 
England. Not applicable in Scotland.  

Other long-
term liabilities  

Prudential Code term for credit arrangements.  

Page 223



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 26  
 

Operational 
boundary  

A prudential indicator showing the most likely, prudent, estimated 
level of external debt, but not the worst-case scenario. Regular 
breaches of the operational boundary should prompt 
management action.  

Operational 
risk  

The risk that fraud, error or system failure leads to an unexpected 
loss.  

Pension Fund  Ringfenced account for the income, expenditure and investments 
of the local government pension scheme. Pension fund 
investments are not considered to be part of treasury 
management.  

Private 
Finance 
Initiative (PFI)  

A government scheme where a private company designs, builds, 
finances and operates assets on behalf of the public sector, in 
exchange for a series of payments, typically over 30 years. 
Counts as a credit arrangement and debt.  

Property fund  A collective investment scheme that mainly invests in property. 
Due to the costs of buying and selling property, including stamp 
duty land tax, there is usually a significant fee charged on initial 
investment, or a significant difference between the bid and offer 
price.  

Prudential 
borrowing  

Another term for unsupported borrowing.  

Prudential 
Code  

Developed by CIPFA and introduced in April 2004 as a 
professional code of practice to support local authority capital 
investment planning within a clear, affordable, prudent and 
sustainable framework and in accordance with good professional 
practice. Local authorities are required by law to have regard to 
the Prudential Code.  

Prudential 
indicators  

Indicators required by the Prudential Code and determined by the 
local authority to define its capital expenditure and asset 
management framework. They are designed to support and 
record local decision making in a manner that is publicly 
accountable.  

PWLB  Public Works Loans Board - a statutory body operating within the 
DMO that lends money from the National Loans Fund to local 
authorities and other prescribed bodies and collects the 
repayments.  

Refinancing 
risk  

The risk that maturing loans cannot, be refinanced, or only at 
higher than expected interest rates leading to an unplanned loss. 
Managed by maintaining a smooth maturity profile.  

Supported 
borrowing  

Borrowing for which the repayment costs are supported by 
government grant.  

T-bill  Treasury bill - a bill issued by a government.  
TMS  (1) Treasury management strategy.  

(2) Treasury management system.  
Treasury bill  See T-bill.  

Page 224



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 27  
 

Treasury 
investments  

Investments made for treasury management purposes, as 
opposed to commercial investments and service investments.  

Treasury 
management  

The management of an organisation’s cash flows, investment 
and borrowing, with a particular focus on the identification, control 
and management of risk. Specifically excludes the management 
of pension fund investments.  

Treasury 
management 
advisor  

Regulated firm providing advice on treasury management, capital 
finance and related issues.  

Treasury 
Management 
Code (TM 
Code)  

CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 
Services and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes, to which local 
authorities are required by law to have regard.  

Treasury 
management 
indicators  

Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code to assist 
in the management of credit risk, interest rate risk, refinancing 
risk and price risk.  

Treasury 
management 
policy 
statement  

Document required by the Treasury Management Code setting 
out a local authority’s definition of and objectives for treasury 
management.  

Treasury 
management 
practices 
(TMPs)  

Document required by the Treasury Management Code setting 
out a local authority’s detailed processes and procedures for 
treasury management.  

Treasury 
management 
strategy  

Annual report required by the Treasury Management Code 
covering the local authority’s treasury management plans for the 
forthcoming year.  

Unsupported 
borrowing  

Borrowing where the cost is self-financed by the local authority. 
Sometimes called prudential borrowing since it was not permitted 
until the introduction of the Prudential Code in 2004. See also 
supported borrowing.  

Working capital  The cash surplus or deficit arising from the timing differences 
between income/expenditure in accounting terms and 
receipts/payments in cash terms.  

 
 

 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Capital Strategy 

2020-21 to 2029-30 
  
   

 

 
  

APPENDIX B 

Page 227



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code for 
Capital Financing in Local Authorities (2017) placed a requirement on local authorities to 
determine a Capital Strategy, to be approved by full Council, which demonstrates that the 
authority takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service objectives 
and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and 
affordability. Local Authorities should have in place a Capital Strategy that sets out the long-
term context in which capital expenditure and investment decisions are made and gives due 
consideration to both risk and reward and impact on the achievement of priority outcomes.  
 
This Capital Strategy is the policy framework document that sets out the principles to be used 
to guide the allocation of capital investment across all the Council’s services and informs 
decisions on capital spending priorities within the Council’s 10 year Capital Programme. It also 
reports on the delivery, affordability and risks associated with this Strategy.  
 
 
1.1 AIMS AND PRINCIPLES 
 
The Capital Strategy is presented to Council as a Policy Framework document, and links with 
the Corporate Plan, Treasury Management Strategy (TMS), Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) and the Council’s Asset Management Plan (AMP). It sets out: 
 

 what is capital expenditure/investment and why we incur it; 
 the Council’s overall capital objectives, priorities and plans; 
 how the Council’s capital expenditure/investment will be funded/resourced 
 how the Council’s capital expenditure/investment plans will be appraised; 
 how capital plans will be approved, monitored and reported upon; and 
 the skills and knowledge required to deliver the capital plans. 

 
The Capital Strategy should be read in conjunction with the Council’s TMS which covers the 
Council’s Investment Strategy and Borrowing Strategy and the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) policy which is attached as Schedule A to this document. The Council’s borrowing and 
MRP policy are directly impacted by capital plans. 
 
The capital programme is a key element of the MTFS. The MTFS provides a set of clear 
principles which drive the budget and spending decisions of the Council. There are thirteen 
principles in total, but the following three refer specifically to the capital programme and 
Strategy: 
 

10.  Capital investment decisions are in alignment with the Council’s Capital Strategy, 
and mitigate any statutory risks taking account of return on investment and sound 
option appraisals.  

 
11. Prudential borrowing is only used to support the capital programme where it is 

affordable and sustainable within the Council’s overall borrowing limits and the 
revenue budget over the long term. 

 
12. Decisions on the treatment of surplus assets are based on an assessment of the 

potential contribution to the revenue budget and the capital programme. 
  

Page 228



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

 
The Capital Strategy sets out a number of guiding principles on the following: 
 
PRINCIPLE 1 : Focus capital investment on delivery of the Council’s   
                           Objectives and Priorities 

 Ensuring that capital investment plans are driven by the Council’s Corporate Plan 
 Ensuring decision-makers are clear on the positive contribution capital investment 

makes to our Wellbeing objectives 
 Appraising all investments in the context of objectives/priorities 

 Ensuring there is a corporate business planning process incorporating service 
transformation and the impact on property assets 

PRINCIPLE 2 : Ensure strong governance over decision-making 
 Ensuring that proposals demonstrate that a rigorous process of options appraisal 

has been followed, requiring evidence of need, cost, risk, outcomes and methods of 
financing 

 Schemes will only be added once an affordable business plan is in place and it 
demonstrates value for money 

 All major capital schemes have a lead Project Sponsor and follow project 
management principles 

 The approval process within the Financial Procedure Rules contained in the 
Constitution are strictly adhered to 

PRINCIPLE 3 : Ensure capital plans are affordable, sustainable and prudent 
 Promote capital investment which allows invest to save outcomes and which 

contribute to future MTFS savings 
 Make sure assets perform at an optimal level through effective ongoing asset 

management and are consistent with levels of investment 
 Review and challenge the Council’s assets, including the need, cost and 

performance of the estate 
 Maximise the use of Internal Borrowing and maintain an under-borrowed position 

compared to its Capital Financing Requirement if feasible 
PRINCIPLE 4 : Maximise and promote the best use of available funds 

 Generate funding, where possible, from the rationalisation of existing assets with a 
strong Disposal Strategy 

 Minimise the use of ring-fencing capital receipts to ensure a One-Council approach 
 Bidding for external funds where appropriate and ensuring that there are effective 

working relationships with external funders 
 Have clear policies for the consumption of our reserves  
 Ensuring that there is effective pre- and-post project appraisal 
 Ensuring up to date property information relating to condition surveys, life cycle costs 

and maintenance back logs 
 An estates strategy which tracks lease covenant compliance 

 
  

Page 229



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENT 
 
2.0 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 

 
Capital investment is technically described as: 
 
 “Expenditure on the acquisition, creation, or enhancement of ‘long term assets’”  
 
This generally consists of land, property and plant which have a useful life of more than 1 
year, but can also include funding passed on to other bodies in order for them to undertake 
capital works. Expenditure outside this definition will be, by definition, revenue expenditure.  
 
Expenditure can be capitalised where it relates to the: 
 

 Acquisition, reclamation, enhancement or laying out of land. 
 Acquisition, construction, preparation, enhancement or replacement of 

roads, buildings and other structures. 
 Acquisition, installation or replacement of movable or immovable plant, 

machinery, apparatus vehicles or vessels. 
 

Enhancement of an existing fixed asset means: 
 

 To lengthen the useful life of the asset; or 
 To increase substantially the open market value of the asset; or 
 To increase substantially the extent to which the asset can be used for the purposes 

of, or in connection with, the functions of the Council. 
 

 

Within the Accounting Policies for the Council, expenditure on the acquisition, creation or 
enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, 
provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  
Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future 
economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an 
expense when it is incurred. 

All expenditure on Property, Plant and Equipment is recognised irrespective of value.  
Capital expenditure below £40,000 is considered non-enhancing and is immediately 
impaired unless cumulatively over more than one year the expenditure would amount to 
more than this value. 

The Council currently does not make use of any capitalisation flexibilities nor capitalise any 
borrowing costs associated with the capital programme. 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are linked to the Corporate Plan, Asset 
Management Plan, priorities and service delivery plans with the inclusion of the ‘Future 
Property Needs’ within the business plan template. 

The Council has acquired relatively few property assets over the last few years. Its focus has 
been on releasing or remodelling existing assets. From time to time it has acquired property 
required for service developments, for example purchasing land and buildings for school 
modernisation projects. It has also secured £1 million capital funding for commercial property 
investment, which has been partially spent on acquiring an income producing leased property. 

Page 230



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

To date the remainder is unspent as no suitable options which meet the Council’s criteria have 
been forthcoming.  
 
In 2020-21, the Council is planning capital expenditure of £56.434 million as summarised 
below: 

Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure  

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 
Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23  

Estimate 

£m 

Council Fund services 27.614 30.137 55.954 27.681 26.096 

Investment Properties   0.480   

TOTAL 27.614 30.177 56.434 27.681 26.096 

 
 

2.1 CAPITAL FINANCING 
 

The Council receives an annual ‘General Capital Funding’ allocation from Welsh Government, 
which comprises General Capital Grant and un-hypothecated Supported Borrowing. Revenue 
funding to repay the supporting borrowing is included within the Revenue Support Grant.  
Further details of funding sources are detailed in Schedule B.  

 
All capital expenditure must be financed either from external sources (government grants and 
other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or 
net financing requirement (borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative (PFI)). The 
planned financing of the expenditure outlined in Table 2 is as follows: 
 
Table 2: Capital financing 

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 
Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

£m 

External sources 12.407 18.419 21.551 11.496 20.481 

Own resources 9.044 6.565 23.664 9.947 1.677 

Net Financing 
Requirement  

6.163 5.153 11.219 6.238 3.938 

TOTAL 27.614 30.137 56.434 27.681 26.096 

 

The net financing requirement or ‘debt’ is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and 
leases must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from 
revenue which is known as Minimum Revenue Provision, or MRP. As well as MRP, the Council 
makes additional voluntary revenue contributions to pay off Prudential or Unsupported 
Borrowing. The total of these are shown in Table 3 below:- 
  

Page 231



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

Table 3: Replacement of debt finance  

 2018-19  

Actual 

£m 

2019-20 

Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

£m 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) 

2.858 2.885 2.925 2.938 3.007 

Additional Voluntary 
Revenue Provision 

1.459 1.459 1.505 2.201 2.628 

Total MRP & VRP 4.317 4.344 4.430 5.184 5.635 

Other MRP on Long term 
Liabilities 

0.641 0.690 0.743 0.801 0.863 

Total Own Resources 4.958 5.034 5.173 5.985 6.498 

 
The existing Capital Programme will be approved by Council before the start of the 2020-21 
financial year as part of the MTFS. 
 
The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and 
reduces by the MRP amount within the year. The CFR is expected to increase by £6.046 
million during 2020-21. Based on the above figures for expenditure and financing, the 
Council’s estimated CFR is as follows: 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 
 2018-19  

Actual 

£m 

2019-20  

Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23  

Estimate 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR) 

   
 

 

Opening CFR adjusted excluding 
PFI & other liabilities 

153.2390 155.0844 155.8938 162.6820 163.7373

Opening PFI CFR 
Total Opening CFR 
Movement in CFR excluding PFI & 
other liabilities 
Movement in PFI CFR 
 

17.640 
170.879 

1.845 
 

(0.640) 
 

17.000 
172.084 

0.809 
 

(0.690) 
 

16.309 
172.203 

6.790 
 

(0.743) 
 

15.567 
178.249 

1.054 
 

(0.801) 
 

14.766 
178.503 
(1.697) 

 
(0.863) 

 
Total Movement in CFR 1.205 0.119 5.047 0.253 (2.560) 
Closing CFR  172.084 172.203 178.249 178.503 175.942 
Movement in CFR represented 
by :- 

     

Net Financing Need for Year 
(Table 2 Above) 

6.163 5.153 11.219 6.238 3.938 

Minimum and Voluntary Revenue 
Provisions 
MRP on PFI and Other Long Term 
Leases (Table 3 above) 

(4.317) 
 
 

(0.641) 

(4.344) 
 
 

(0.690) 

(4.430) 
 
 

(0.743) 

(5.184) 
 
 

(0.801) 

(5.635) 
 
 

(0.863) 
Total Movement 1.205 0.119 6.046 0.253 (2.560) 

 
  

Page 232



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL PLANS 
 
3.0 CAPITAL PROGRAMME BY WELLBEING OBJECTIVE  

Within the Corporate Plan, there are three Wellbeing Objectives namely:- 

 Supporting a Successful Sustainable Economy 
 Helping People and Communities to be more Healthy and Resilient 
 Smarter Use of Resources 

 

In accordance with PRINCIPLE 1 above, the majority of schemes within the existing Capital 
Programme link to the Council’s Wellbeing Objectives, but there are also schemes that relate 
to Core Services and Statutory Functions. 

Supporting a Successful Sustainable Economy 

The proposed capital programme includes a number of new and existing projects which will 
help to support a successful economy through regeneration and local development schemes. 
For example, the redevelopment of Maesteg Town Hall will provide improved community 
facilities to include the town library and performance spaces, as well as offering improved 
accessibility for visitors and creating jobs; and new Enterprise Hubs will create new business 
workspace.  Regeneration work will continue to progress in Porthcawl following the acquisition 
of Salt Lake Car Park.  There are also new allocations in respect of road safety improvements 
in a bid to improve access across the highway to residential and commercial areas and a 
commitment to invest in highways into the future. These supplement those existing schemes, 
such as the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal (CCRCD) investment, which will be targeted to 
focus on raising economic prosperity, increasing job prospects and improving digital and 
transport connectivity.  

Helping People and Communities to be more Healthy and Resilient 

In addition to the current programme of recommissioning adult home care and developing 
extra care there is approximately £2 million annually invested in supporting people to be self-
reliant through the Welsh Government funded disabled facilities grant scheme. Further to this 
there is a total budget of £1 million to facilitate Community Asset Transfer (CAT) to ensure 
that as many buildings as possible can be kept open and provide long-term community 
benefits. 

  Smarter Use of Resources 

One of the Council’s Corporate Priorities is to ensure that we have Smarter Use of Resources 
and crucially this includes assets. The Council’s AMP 2021 strategic aim is to have a lean 
sustainable estate that enables the authority to live within its means and support delivery of 
our wellbeing objectives. This is achieved through review and challenge on a geographic and 
service led basis and exploring how property assets can help enable innovative options for 
service transformation and maximising regeneration and growth. Examples of schemes within 
this priority include:- 

 The Schools’ Modernisation Programme and Strategic Review of Post-16 Education 
and Training - to provide sufficient school places in the right area and in new and 
improved schools by delivering 21st Century Schools, which will result in capital 
investment of around £49 million over the next 5 years.   

 Porthcawl - the Council has substantial land holdings in Porthcawl which it is looking 
to bring forward to support regeneration of the area and to generate capital receipts. 

 Community Asset Transfers – Review of assets and support services to enable the 
successful transfer of those most suitable to community groups and organisations.  

Page 233



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

3.1 OTHER KEY DRIVERS 
 
As well as the Corporate Plan, there are other key drivers of the Council’s capital plans. 
These are: 
 

 Asset management requirements 
 Health and Safety works 

 

3.2  ASSET MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS 

The Council’s Asset Management Plan vision has been re-aligned with the Corporate Plan 
2018-22 reviewed for 2019-20 “One Council Working Together to Improve Lives” as follows: 

“To have a lean sustainable estate that enables BCBC to live within its means and 
support delivery of our wellbeing objectives”  

 
The following clear principles drive the on-going challenge and management decisions relating 
to our assets: 

1. The AMP 2021 supports and maintains alignment with the MTFS and the Corporate 
Plan, linking with other resource strategies. 

2. Capital investment decisions support the Council’s corporate priorities and mitigate 
any statutory risks taking account of return on investment and sound option appraisals. 

3. Decisions on the treatment of surplus assets are based on an assessment of the 
potential contribution to the revenue budget and the capital programme. 

4. A balance will be maintained within the non-operational portfolio between rental 
income, capital receipts, economic development/ community support. 

5. Capital receipts generated will support the capital programme. 
 

 
The Council also has a Highways Asset Management Plan (HAMP). The HAMP needs to 
take in account the following: 
 

1. Much of the infrastructure serving the northern half of the county borough was originally 
constructed in the early 1900’s and was not designed to cope with the current demands 
(economic, social and environmental) placed upon it. 

2. The BCBC highway network is continuously growing with no sign of abatement. The 
Council has seen much in the way of development over the last decade, resulting in a 
significant increase in the amount of asset requiring management. 

3. Highway Authorities have a statutory duty to maintain highways and ensure that they 
are available for safe use by all. 
 

The HAMP is an essential document that sets out how the levels of service for the 
infrastructure network determined by the Council will be achieved. The HAMP is therefore a 
“living” document that will be subject to continual review and development. 

 

3.3  HEALTH AND SAFETY WORKS 

There is an earmarked reserve for Asset Management including funding for Condition 
Surveys. Up to date condition surveys for the whole estate are currently being commissioned, 
which will include planned preventative maintenance data. This will inform the Council’s 
budget allocation for both revenue and capital repairs, maintenance and new build. Given the 

Page 234



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

limited capital and revenue funding and the currently known high level of maintenance 
backlog, a prioritisation matrix for budget allocation has been developed.  The Matrix works to 
give highest priority to Health and safety works. Given the potential level of funding compared 
to the demand for repairs and maintenance, this may lead to the closure of buildings or the 
drive for further capital investment in new build projects. Once fully implemented the Corporate 
Landlord model will be able to effectively inform the capital funding planning and decision 
making as it relates to asset management. 

For highway structures, the current basis for prioritisation is one of reactive safety repairs, 
where the asset is risk assessed using a standardised matrix. This risk assessment is then 
considered against the individual assets Bridge Condition Indices (BCI) rating. This allows the 
prioritisation of schemes and allocation of the available budget to ensure the best value is 
achieved. A similar approach is applied to carriageway and footway schemes, where 
combinations of technical survey, site inspections and reports from members of the public  
determine the basis for the prioritisation of works. 

In 2019-20 a new Capital Asset Management Fund of £1.5 million and a Highways Asset 
Management Fund of £1.2 million were established. The intention of these is to fund those 
schemes that have been prioritised by the condition surveys as posing a Health and Safety 
risk either within buildings or within our Highways Infrastructure. The aim will be to replenish 
these reserves as funding allows. The monitoring of these reserves will be undertaken on a 
regular basis. 

 
3.4 COMMERCIAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The Council will consider, if the opportunities arise, the purchase of land and property as an 
investment – to both generate an ongoing income stream or to realise an increased capital 
value in the future. There are two ways that an authority can generate income from investment 
properties namely:- 
 

 Direct purchase of investment property – through Capital Programme 
 Investment in a Property Unit Trust – through Treasury Management 

 
The first would see authorities investing in property by directly purchasing/developing 
properties with the intention of securing a revenue income from that investment. Investment 
in property leaves the Council open to all of the risks that would go with such a policy, such 
as devaluations, maintenance issues and potential tenant default, as well as the potential 
benefits such as a long term asset on the balance sheet and rental income. The second route 
would be to receive income from property by investing in an appropriate property unit trust. 
Returns from this fund are typically in the order of 5.5%-6% per annum though at a fee from 
the fund manager. It is an actively managed property fund, which means that fund managers 
have the potential for growth in the income as, over time, higher rents can be achieved by 
buying properties in areas where demand is growing, by adjusting the exposure to different 
areas of the market and by improving the quality of the properties as appropriate.  These funds 
present greater risk and such investments will be considered in line with the Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

 
As well as the benefit of rental income from the direct purchase of an investment property, 
there might also be capital appreciation of the asset though this will only be realised once the 
asset is sold and a capital receipt is generated which could be then recycled to purchase 
replacement investment properties which would then not incur capital financing costs. 
 
A strategy based on investment in properties does have the following risks:- 
 

 Low liquidity and flexibility 
 Physical/structural issues with buildings 

Page 235



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

 Greater exposure to economic, cultural and technological changes 
 Void periods 

 
But against this it has the potential benefits of:- 
 

 Over a longer term a higher financial return and capital growth than other current 
investments 

 A wider range and variety of investment tools 
 

The Council does have an existing investment portfolio which is 100% based within the County 
Borough and primarily the office and industrial sectors. The income streams are generally 
spread between the single and multi-let office investments on Bridgend Science Park, the 
multi-let industrial estates and the freehold ground rent investments. The portfolio therefore 
does not accord with the risk balance in location and sectoral terms to the majority of 
investment portfolios and is also management intensive, with a large number of units relative 
to the overall income and value. The total value of Investment Properties was £4.635 million 
as at 31 March 2019.  This would be expected to generate a rental income of £478,000 per 
annum excluding any vacant or rent-free periods.   
 
There are limited opportunities within the existing investment portfolio to release / sell 
properties, as the current emphasis is to enhance income return (as opposed to capital value). 
The majority of the investments held are high yielding and an improved income stream is 
unlikely on any re-investment.  
 
The majority of the Council’s investment portfolio has grown organically. In 2014 the Council 
approved £1 million within the capital programme and spent £520,000 on acquiring an office 
building, which generates a rental income of £56,000 per year or just over 9% return on the 
investment. There is a further £480,000 available but as yet no suitable options have been 
identified within the Bridgend area, which would produce a reasonable return and at 
acceptable levels of risk. The Council may in the future wish to consider expanding its property 
investment portfolio, in which case it would need to review the criteria and investment strategy 
and consider the investment taking into account the level of associated risk.  
 
 
3.5 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY (TMS) 

 
 Treasury Management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash available 
to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved. Surplus cash is 
invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by borrowing, to avoid excessive 
credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current account. The Council is typically cash rich in 
the short term as revenue income is received before it is spent, but cash poor in the long term 
as capital expenditure is incurred before being financed. The revenue cash surpluses are 
offset against capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall borrowing. 
 
 
3.6 BORROWING STRATEGY  
 

      The Council’s major objectives when borrowing are:- 
 

 to minimise the revenue costs of debt 
 to manage the Council’s debt maturity profile i.e. to leave no one future year with a high 

level of repayments that could cause problems in re-borrowing  
 to effect funding in any one year at the cheapest cost commensurate with future risk 
 to forecast average future interest rates and borrow accordingly 

Page 236



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

11 | P a g e  
 

 to monitor and review the level of variable interest rate loans in order to take greater 
advantage of interest rate movement 

 to reschedule debt if appropriate, in order to take advantage of potential savings as interest 
rates change 

 to optimise the use of all capital resources including borrowing, both supported and 
unsupported, usable capital receipts, revenue contributions to capital and grants and 
contributions 

 
3.7 LIMITS TO BORROWING ACTIVITY 

 
The Council’s long term borrowing at 31 December 2019 was £96.87 million. External 
borrowing can arise as a result of both capital and revenue expenditure and timing of cash 
flows. As the Council has an integrated TMS, there is no association between individual loans 
and particular types of expenditure. The Council makes use of internal borrowing and 
maintains an under-borrowed position in accordance with PRINCIPLE 3 above. The capital 
borrowing need (Capital Financing Requirement) has not been fully funded with loan debt as 
cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary 
measure. Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt, which comprises borrowing, 
PFI and Other Long Term Liabilities, are shown below compared with the Capital Financing 
Requirement:-    
 
Table 5: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 
Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23  

Estimate 

£m 

Debt (incl. PFI & leases) 117.891 116.867 117.867 118.867 122.867 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

172.084 172.203 178.249 178.503 175.942 

 
Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except 
in the short-term. As can be seen, the Council expects to comply with this in the medium term. 
 
To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. Further details of 
the Liability Benchmark can be found within the Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21. It 
does show that an additional £33.45 million will need to be borrowed for the period 2020-21 
to 2022-23 based on the assumptions within the Capital Programme and the use of Capital 
Receipts and Reserves. The actual amount will be monitored and assumptions challenged 
and borrowing will only be taken if there is no opportunity to use Internal Borrowing. 

The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised 
limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational 
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit. 

  

Page 237



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

12 | P a g e  
 

Table 6: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m 

 2018-19  

Actual 

£m 

2019-20  

Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23  

Estimate 

£m 

Authorised limit – 
borrowing 

Authorised limit – other 
long term liabilities 

145.000 

30.000 

145.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

175.000 

30.000 

Authorised Limit Total 175.000 175.000 200.000 200.000 205.000 

Operational boundary – 
borrowing 

Operational boundary – 
other long term liabilities 

105.000 

 

25.000 

105.000 

 

25.000 

140.000 

 

20.000 

150.000 

 

20.000 

150.000 

 

20.000 

Operational Boundary 
Limit Total 

130.000 130.000 165.000 175.000 170.000 

      

Total Borrowing and 
Long Term Liabilities 

117.891 116.867 117.867 118.867 122.867 

 
 
3.8 INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

The Council’s major objectives when investing are:- 

 to maintain capital security 
 to maintain liquidity so funds are available when expenditure is needed  
 to achieve the yield on investments commensurate with the proper levels of security 

and liquidity 
 

Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term is invested, for example with the government, 
other local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the risk of loss. Money that 
will be held for longer terms is invested more widely to balance the risk of loss against the risk 
of receiving returns below inflation. Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held 
in pooled funds, where an external fund manager makes decisions on which particular 
investments to buy and the Council may request its money back at short notice. 
 
Table 7: Treasury management investments 

 2018-19  

Actual 

£m 

2019-20  

Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

£m 

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

3.400 0.100 - - - 

Short term Investments 20.000 31.650 34.085 7.421 7.000 

Longer term Investments 4.000 12.000 3.000 3.000 3.000 

TOTAL 27.400 43.750 37.085 10.421 10.000 

 
Loans to Other Organisations 
The Council can make investments to assist local public services, including making loans to 
small businesses to promote economic growth. The Council will assess these opportunities 

Page 238



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

13 | P a g e  
 

and will only consider if such investments break even after all costs. Loans to such 
organisations will be approved as part of the capital programme. 

 

3.9 OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES 
 
Private Finance Initiative 
The Council has a Private Finance Initiative (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a 
Secondary School in Maesteg. This forms a long-term liability for the Council (with fourteen 
years remaining on the term) which is £17.0 million at 31 March 2019 including the short term 
liability of £0.69 million included as current liabilities in the Council’s balance sheet in the 
Statement of Accounts. This is a technical adjustment and is equivalent to the amount that is 
paid during 2020-21.  
 
 
Pension Guarantees 
The Council has entered into a number of long-term contracts for services that have been 
outsourced to service providers. These often involve the transfer of Council employees to the 
new service provider. Employee’s rights are protected under the provision in Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE). However, pension rights 
are not fully covered within TUPE regulations. The Council have thus given a pension 
guarantee to Awen. This guarantee means that if an admitted body fails to pay its pension 
obligations then the Council will be responsible for taking on those obligations. 

 

3.10 REVENUE BUDGET IMPLICATIONS 
 

The financing of capital expenditure via interest on loans and MRP are charged to the revenue 
budget, offset by any investment income receivable.  Table 8 below shows the proportion of 
the budget that will need to be set aside to finance capital expenditure, which is expected to 
increase over the life of the current capital programme, accelerating the pressure that capital 
expenditure, funded from debt, puts on the revenue budget. 

Table 8: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 2018-19  

Actual 

£m 

2019-20 

Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

£m 

Capital Financing Central 
 

6.451 6.617 6.995 7.291 7.545 

Other Financing costs  3.406 3.406 3.451 4.147 4.575 

TOTAL FINANCING COSTS 
 

9.857 10.023 10.446 11.439 12.120 

Proportion of net revenue stream 3.71% 3.70% 3.85% 4.20% 4.44% 

 
The central revenue budget for capital financing for 2020-21 is £7.329 million as detailed in 
Table 9 below. The Projection for 2019-20 is lower than the actual spend 2018-19 because of 
the change in MRP Policy that Council approved in September 2018. The Interest Paid budget 
2019-20 reflects the need to fund the increased costs of borrowing which is anticipated to rise 
over the period from 2019-20 to 2022-23 by £33.45 million. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 239



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

14 | P a g e  
 

Table 9: Central Capital Financing Revenue Budget 2020-21 

 2018-19 

Actual 

£m 

2019-20 

Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Budget 

£m 

Interest Paid 4.534 4.792 5.345 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 2.858 2.754 2.918 

Other Financial Instruments 
 

0.008 0.009 0.009 

Interest Received 
 

(1.012) (1.019) (0.943) 

 
Central Capital Financing Budget 

8.387 6.536 7.329 

 
 
There are also Financing Budgets within the Directorates for Prudential Borrowing and for the 
payment of the PFI School and other Lease Liabilities. These are detailed in Table 10 below:- 
 
Table 10: Directorate Capital Financing Revenue Budget 2020-21 

 2018-19  

Actual 

£m 

2019-20  

Projection 

£m 

2020-21 

Budget 

£m 

Additional Voluntary MRP 1.459 1.459 1.505 

PFI & Lease Liability Payments 
 

2.086 1.947 1.947 

 
Directorate Capital Financing Budget 

3.545 3.406 3.451 

 
 
Table 11 shows how there will be increased revenue pressure on the capital financing budgets 
over the MTFS period:- 
 
Table 11: Capital Financing Revenue Budget 2019-20 and Projected Costs  

 2020-21 

Projection 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

£m 

 
Central Capital Financing Budget (Table 9) 

7.329 7.329 7.329 

Directorate Capital Financing Budget (Table 10) 3.406 3.451 3.451 
Total Capital Financing Budget 10.735 10.780 10.780 
Total Financing Costs (Table 8) 10.023 10.446 11.439 
Under/(Over) Spend 0.712 0.334 (0.659) 

  
This would be the worst case scenario with unsupported borrowing being used for future 
schemes should the Council not have available the cash resources currently held as 
earmarked reserves. The Council will endeavour to minimise the revenue pressure by 
maximising alternative capital resources such earmarked reserves and capital receipts. 

Page 240



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

15 | P a g e  
 

RESOURCING STRATEGY 
 
4.0  FINANCIAL CONTEXT 

 
Whilst the aims and priorities will shape decisions around capital expenditure, there is 
recognition that the financial resources available to meet priorities are constrained in the 
current economic and political climate. The context for capital expenditure decisions is as 
follows: 
 

 The Council does have capital resources and expects to receive more resources in the 
future with an annual allocation from Welsh Government, potential s106 Monies or 
grant approvals. 

 The Council does have a Disposal Strategy and has capital assets which it could sell 
and use receipts to reinvest 

 The Council is currently servicing debt of £97 million of fixed interest loans, at an 
average interest rate of 4.7%  

 The Council’s MTFS shows a funding gap so any additional capital expenditure which 
is not funded through capital resources will increase this gap unless that expenditure 
delivers revenue savings or income. 

 
There had been a steady decline in the amount of general capital funding received from Welsh 
Government over several financial years. However, a letter from the First Minister in November 
2019 identified £100 million across Wales (2018-19 £50 million, 2019-20 £30 million, 2020-21 
£20 million) of new general capital funding. For 2020-21 the Council has received its share of 
the final instalment of £20 million (circa £0.9 million for Bridgend). Further to this the Council 
has also received a share of an additional £15 million across Wales (circa £0.7 million for 
Bridgend) to enable local authorities to respond to the urgent need to decarbonise.  For 2020-
21 Bridgend has received an increase in general capital funding of £318,000 more than the 
amount received in 2019-20 and £761,000 more than was originally anticipated.  In light of the 
above context, it is imperative that capital expenditure plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable.  

 
4.1 PRINCIPLES FOR ALLOCATION OF CAPITAL ALLOCATION 
 
The governing principles which underpin the allocation of capital resources are set out in the 
following diagram: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 241



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

16 | P a g e  
 

 
Funding Source 

Nature of Capital 
Expenditure 

General 
Capital 
Funding / 
Supported 
Borrowing 

Capital 
Receipts / 
Uncommitted 
Reserves 

Interest Free 
Loan 

Unsupported 
Borrowing - 
Corporate 
Funding 

Unsupported 
Borrowing - 
Directorate 
Funding 

Mandatory 
     

Corporate Priority 
     

Investments which 
attracts Matched 
Funding 

     
Invest to Save / 
Income Generation - 
Commercial 

     
 

 Eligible for funding from this source 
 Not eligible for funding from this source 

 

In summary the main principles of capital allocation are: 

General Capital Funding and Supported Borrowing from Welsh Government will be prioritised 
towards mandatory capital investments. This includes investment required to meet health and 
safety requirements. This principle also applies to uncommitted capital receipts and capital 
reserves. 

 
Beyond this, any consideration will be given to capital schemes which directly support the 
achievement of the Council’s corporate objectives.  

 
Unsupported (Prudential) Borrowing will be prioritised as follows: 

 
 To mandatory capital expenditure, including health and safety requirements. This will 

be considered to be an inescapable budget pressure and will be included in future 
years’ budgets as part of the annual budget setting process.  

 
 To capital expenditure which directly supports the achievement of the Council’s 

corporate priorities. Borrowing for such projects will be funded corporately through an 
increase in budget allocation, which must be approved by full Council. Such borrowing 
commits the Council to interest and repayments during the asset life, and therefore it 
must be recognised that as budgets are reduced, the financing costs must be met by 
budget cuts elsewhere.  
 

 To capital expenditure which attracts a high level of matched funding. This is 
particularly important as the Council tries to maximise every £1 it spends on capital 
with schemes involving external grants or contributions from partners. The aim is for 

Page 242



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

17 | P a g e  
 

the Council to ensure that it invests in its strategic buildings and town centre 
infrastructure as grant funding and inward investment opportunities become available 
by allocating uncommitted reserves, maximising interest free loans or unsupported 
borrowing. 

 
 To capital expenditure which provides a good financial return. Borrowing for such 

projects must be funded by the directorate, and therefore the financial benefit accruing 
to the directorate will be net of financing costs. This approach aligns the directorate 
incentives with the corporate benefit of such projects. Advantage will be taken of 
interest free loans where available. 

  

Page 243



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

18 | P a g e  
 

CAPITAL INVESTMENT APPRAISAL 
 
5.0 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE BIDS 

 
The Council will maintain a rolling ten year capital programme, to be updated on an annual 
basis (or more frequently as required) to take into account revised priorities, new schemes and 
changes in the availability of funding. The current year’s programme is monitored on a quarterly 
basis by Cabinet and updated programmes approved by Council. 
 
The Council’s Capital Programme contains a number of recurrent Annual Allocations, which 
are the first call on its General Capital Funding. These allocations are reviewed annually with 
a view to determining whether they are still essential, relevant and achieving the outcomes 
expected, and amended accordingly. 
 
Where capital resources allow as a result of additional general capital grant, earmarked 
reserves or capital receipts, as part of the MTFS process, Directorates will be requested from 
September each year to submit Expressions of Interest for new capital schemes, outlining: 
 

 Proposed Project 
 Timescale 
 Potential Cost 
 Potential Revenue Savings 
 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 Risk of not Undertaking 

 
 
These will be ranked in order of fit to: 
 

1. Link to Wellbeing Objectives: 
2. High level of Risk of not progressing, based on the following criteria  

 
High High risk to BCBC in terms of service delivery and/or meeting MTFS Savings 

e.g. Urgent/ Essential Works to prevent imminent building failure and closure. 
Requirement to meet approved Bridgend Change Programme Project to deliver 
MTFS Savings 

Medium Medium risk to BCBC in terms of service delivery and/or meeting MTFS Savings 
e.g. identified works required over the next 2 to 5 years. Requirement to meet 
Proposed Bridgend Change Programme Project to deliver MTFS Savings 

Low Low risk to BCBC in terms of service delivery and/or meeting MTFS Savings e.g. 
identified works desirable , Requirement to meet yet to be identified Bridgend 
change Programme Project to deliver MTFS Savings 

 

3. Service is able to meet any additional revenue costs arising from the 
scheme e.g. increased Business Rates, running costs. 

4. Ability to attract matched funding / high leverage ratio. 
5. An appropriate return on investment where appropriate. 
 

 

  

Page 244



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

19 | P a g e  
 

5.1 EVALUATION APPROACH 
 
As stated, the Council only has a limited amount of resources, and needs to have regard to 
the overall affordability of the capital programme in future years. Each scheme, therefore, 
needs to be evaluated to ensure it meets the Council’s objectives and in accordance with 
PRINCIPLE 1 above. 
 
The business plan put forward for a capital project will be reviewed to ensure it takes account 
of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability. Investment 
decisions will consider risk and reward and how the project contributes to the achievement of 
corporate objectives. The phasing of projects over more than one financial year will be 
assessed to ensure timetabling of plans and budgeting is realistic and funding is available over 
the life of the project. 
 
The revenue implications for each capital bid are considered at the initial evaluation stage, 
covering both staffing /running costs associated with the bid and the financing costs over the 
lifetime of the asset created. One of the Chief Finance Officer’s requirements when reviewing 
capital bids is to ensure that the revenue implications are realistic. The options appraisal 
exercise undertaken for larger projects seeks to ensure that the lifetime revenue implications 
of a capital project are fully considered and evaluated, are affordable and are included in the 
MTFS in accordance with PRINCIPLE 2 above. 
 
Successful projects will then be required to complete a full Business Case to be considered in 
more detail by Corporate Management Board and Cabinet for eventual inclusion in the Capital 
Programme to be incorporated in the MTFS, to be approved by Council.  
 
The Council can also make Treasury investments including overnight deposits, fixed term 
investment, money market funds, property funds and government bonds. These investments 
are made in accordance with the TMS which is approved alongside the Capital Strategy. 
 
In Year Approvals 
 
Any bids for capital funding outside of the annual MTFS bidding round should be accompanied 
by a full business case and be supported by the appropriate Director, Section 151 Officer and 
Cabinet. All funding sources should be fully identified before the bid is taken forward for 
Council approval for inclusion in the capital programme.  
 
In line with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules, schemes for which external funding has 
been approved (grants, S106 etc) will be added to the capital programme once the funding 
has been accepted and included in the next capital programme report to Council. 

 
In addition, any urgent expenditure not included in any budget approval, which needs to be 
agreed prior to the next meeting of Council, may only be incurred with the approval of the 
Chief Finance Officer, subject to a maximum value of £100,000. Any such decision requires 
approval by either the Chief Executive Officer (or can be sub-delegated to the Section 151 
Officer) under the Scheme of Delegation, Scheme B1 paragraph 2.2. 
  

Page 245



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

20 | P a g e  
 

GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.0 STRATEGY 

It is important given the risks surrounding Capital Projects that the appropriate Governance 
framework is in place. This is highlighted in PRINCIPLE 2 above. 
 
The Prudential Code sets out a clear governance procedure for the setting and revising of a 
capital strategy and prudential indicators i.e. this should be done by the same body that takes 
the decisions for the local authority’s budget – i.e. Full Council. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer will prepare a Capital Programme for consideration by Corporate 
Management Board (CMB) and Cabinet. It must be approved by Council in accordance with 
the Financial Procedure Rules of the Council’s Constitution. 

Variations to the capital programme, other than those permitted under Rules 3.4.7 and 3.4.9 
of these Rules, shall require the approval of the Council following a report of the Chief Finance 
Officer after taking into consideration the recommendations of the Cabinet. 
 

6.1 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE/INVESTMENT DECISION 

A monitoring process is in place which:  

 Reports on variances in expenditure and slippage on schemes and seeks explanations 
from project managers to report back to CMB and Cabinet to inform future planning 
decisions 

 Quarterly capital monitoring reports will be prepared for Cabinet which should include 
details of any virements between projects as well as projections of likely year end 
spend. 
 

A post project appraisal of all projects in accordance with the Project Management Toolkit 
must be completed to demonstrate how objectives have been met, how final costs compared 
to budget and what revenue costs / savings materialised.  This information will be reported 
back to feed future appraisal exercises.   

 
6.2 RISK MANAGEMENT 

Major capital projects require careful management to mitigate the potential risks which can 
arise. The effective monitoring, management and mitigation of these risks is a key part of 
managing the capital strategy. 
  
General risks are those which are faced as a consequence of the nature of the major projects 
being undertaken. Most of these risks are outside of the Council’s control but mitigations have 
been developed as part of the business planning and governance process.  
 
The effective management and control of risk are also prime objectives of the Authority’s 
treasury management activities. The treasury management strategy therefore sets out various 
indicators and limits to constrain the risk of unexpected losses and details the extent to which 
financial derivatives may be used to manage treasury risks.  
 
  

Page 246



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

21 | P a g e  
 

7.0  KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS 
 

Within Finance, the Capital Programme and TMS are managed by professionally qualified 
accountants or staff with extensive Local Government finance experience. They all follow a 
Continuous Professional Development Plan (CPD) and attend courses on an ongoing basis 
to keep abreast of new developments and skills. The Council subscribes to the CIPFA 
Financial Advisory Network (FAN) and as a result has access to courses and documentation 
on developments within the capital and treasury management fields. The Council’s Section 
151 Officer is the officer with overall responsibility for Capital and Treasury activities and is a 
professionally qualified accountant and follows an ongoing CPD programme. All Treasury 
Management Practices (TMPs) are reviewed and updated as necessary. 
 
Where Authority staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of external 
advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field.  The Authority currently employs 
Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers. This approach is more cost effective 
than employing such staff directly and ensures that the Authority has access to knowledge 
and skills commensurate with its risk appetite.   

All the Council’s commercial projects have project teams from all the professional disciplines 
from across the Council and when required external professional advice is also taken. Project 
management tools are used and there is a strong project management ethos within the 
Council. Throughout the Council is a good mix of professional qualified staff and staff with both 
commercial and local authority experience. There is a Corporate Landlord team consisting of 
skilled and professional staff covering design and management, estates and valuation, 
statutory compliance, strategic asset management planning, facilities management, 
management and commissioning of repairs and maintenance and energy management to 
introduce new energy efficiency measures such as upgraded heating, lighting, insulation and 
investigating new technological solutions that will enable staff to be fully agile and provide a 
better service, while an online portal is being developed that will provide information, process 
customer requests and enable staff to log jobs and track progress. The Regeneration Team 
within the Communities Directorate has been successful in applying for monies from various 
sources such as Welsh Government, Heritage Lottery and European monies. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 247



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

22 | P a g e  
 

        Schedule A 
ANNUAL MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION STATEMENT 2020-21  
  
The Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement needs to be approved by Council 
before the start of each financial year. The MRP charges for 2020-21 will be on the 
following bases:- 
 

i. Capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 and any capital expenditure 
after 1 April 2008 that is government supported expenditure and does not result 
in a significant asset will be based on the Capital Financing Requirement after 
accounting adjustments on a straight line basis over 45 years 

ii. Supported capital expenditure that results in a significant asset (based on an 
internal assessment) incurred on or after 1 April 2008 and all unsupported 
capital expenditure, exercised under the Prudential Code, the MRP charge will 
be based on the Asset Life Method. The minimum revenue provision will be at 
equal annual instalments over the life of the asset. The first charge can be 
delayed until the year after the asset is operational but this will be at the 
discretion of the Section 151 Officer 

iii. for assets reclassified as finance leases under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) or resulting from a Private Finance Initiative, the MRP charge 
will be regarded as met by a charge equal to the element of the rent/charge that 
goes to write down the balance sheet liability for the year 

iv. Where loans are made to other bodies for their capital expenditure with an 
obligation for the bodies to repay, no MRP will be charged.  The capital receipts 
generated by the annual repayments on those loans will be put aside to repay 
debt instead 

v. MRP may be waived on expenditure recoverable within a prudent period of time 
through capital receipts (e.g. land purchases) or deferred to when the benefits 
from investment are scheduled to begin or when confirmed external grant 
payments towards that expenditure are expected. 

 
The MRP Charge 2020-21 based on the estimated capital financing requirement is 
detailed below:-  
 
 Options Estimated 

Capital 
Financing 

Requirement 
31/03/20 

£m 

2020/21 
Estimated 

MRP 
 
 

£m 
Capital expenditure before 01/02/2008 and any 
after 01/04/2008 that does not result in a 
significant asset (Supported) 

(i) 124.940 2.793 

Supported capital expenditure that results in a 
significant asset, incurred on or after 1 April 
2008 (Supported) 

(ii) 3.157 0.132 

Unsupported capital expenditure, exercised 
under the Prudential Code (Unsupported) 

 27.796 1.505 

PFI, Finance Leases and other arrangements – 
PFI School 

(iii) 16.310 0.743 

TOTAL  172.203 5.173 
 

Page 248



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

23 | P a g e  
 

Schedule B 

Sources of Capital Investment 

Borrowing  
 
The Council is able to borrow money on the money market or from the Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) to fund capital schemes or, on a short term basis, use its own internal resources 
(i.e. cash flow). However, for all schemes initially funded from borrowing, the Council will have 
to fund the repayment and interest costs and any on-going related revenue support. With the 
exception of the Welsh Government’s allocation of Supported Borrowing, all other borrowing 
is unsupported i.e. where associated interest and debt repayment costs must be met from 
existing revenue budgets, Council Tax, savings or additional income generation. 
 
The Council is only able to borrow for “unsupported borrowing” (also known as Prudential 
Borrowing) under the guidance contained in the CIPFA Prudential Code whereby, in summary, 
the Council is required to ensure that all borrowing is both prudent and affordable.  
 
All schemes funded from Prudential Borrowing are approved by full Council, and in 
accordance with MTFS PRINCIPLE 11 must be affordable and sustainable, with payback met 
from Directorate or Council revenue budgets over a period no longer than the life of the asset. 
Projects requiring funding through prudential borrowing should submit a robust business case 
to include forward predictions of affordability, with the aim that projects should be self-funding 
(i.e. create a revenue stream so that the cost of borrowing is cost neutral on Council Tax). 
  
The potential for Prudential Borrowing is not unlimited and must be considered within the 
Council’s overall borrowing limits. Whenever Prudential Borrowing is under consideration, the 
means of payment must be clearly identified. Typically this can be from: 
 

 Income or savings generated by the investment; 
 Budget reductions made elsewhere in the Directorate to compensate; 
 Additional recurrent funding approved by Council as part of the budget setting process.  

 
There may be the need for borrowing where there is no identifiable future revenue stream, for 
example, to repair or construct infrastructure assets. This may be to support Corporate 
Priorities. The cost of such borrowing falls on the council tax payer through payments of debt 
interest on the Council’s revenue account and repayment of debt over a specified period of 
time. This is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). There may still be a need for 
such borrowing but each proposal should be reviewed on a case by case basis with the project 
evaluation clearly stating how the borrowing is to be afforded. Given the significant ongoing 
financial challenges facing this Council, it is likely that such schemes will be an “exception”.  
 
External Grants  
 
The Council receives annual capital grant funding from Welsh Government and is able to bid 
for grant funding directly to other government departments or from other grant awarding 
bodies.  
 
The annual funding from Welsh Government is not ring-fenced so the Council has flexibility in 
in how it allocates this funding. It is proposed that this is earmarked in the first instance to 
works deemed to be of a mandatory nature e.g. health and safety, or towards Wellbeing 
Objectives. 
 
Any additional capital grant funding received from external sources must be managed in line 
with the Council’s Grants Policy. Delegated authority is required to bid for and accept any 
external funding, and external funding applications should be supported by a strong business 

Page 249



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

24 | P a g e  
 

case which demonstrates how the project meets the Council’s Corporate Priorities and how 
any future revenue costs will be met. 
 
Capital Receipts from Asset Disposals 
 
The Council generates capital receipts from the sale of surplus assets. Maximisation of these 
receipts will increase the amount that can be spent on capital investment. Capital receipts 
cannot be spent on revenue items. 
 
The Council has a statutory obligation to deliver best consideration under S123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and will seek to obtain market value in its disposals. However, there 
are exceptions and there will sometimes be a balance to strike where disposals can achieve 
social, economic or environmental policy objectives which contribute towards the Corporate 
Plan. In such instances, consideration will be given to the Value for Money that this represents.  
 
The Council has also introduced a Community Asset Transfer (CAT) Strategy, where it 
considers the transfer of assets to third party groups at less than best consideration to support 
its objectives.  The Council will consider, on a case-by-case basis, the potential transfer of 
assets to an alternative provider after a full assessment of the long-term (full life) risks and 
rewards of the transfer, including the achievement of best value including potential market 
value, linked to the Council’s aims and objectives.  Where the Council proposes to dispose of 
or grant a long lease at nil consideration, or at a value below market value, a valuation will be 
undertaken to ensure that the Council is fully aware of the receipt that it is foregoing as a result 
of the Community Asset Transfer. 
 
A key principle of the Council’s Capital Strategy, PRINCIPLE 4, is that, unless specifically 
agreed by Cabinet for exceptional circumstances, all capital receipts will be treated as general 
capital funding and allocated according to determined priorities. This supports the “One 
Council” approach. However, this does not negate the need for Council to approve any 
proposed schemes from that receipt. One example of where the Council has departed from 
the principle is with regards to school disposals and the ring fencing of those capital receipts 
to fund the School Modernisation Band A Programme. There may potentially be other 
schemes where the Council decides to set aside receipts in this way and these will be 
approved within the reporting of the Capital Programme.  
 
The Council will aim to maximise its capital receipts, where possible, by enhancing the land 
prior to disposal. In relation to development sites it will produce a technical pack which will 
include site investigations, planning briefs, utilities and drainage information, as relevant. The 
Council will consider the most appropriate method of disposal by way of private treaty, tender 
or by public auction. Generally it will dispose of assets on the open market, in order to robustly 
demonstrate that it has delivered best consideration. However, there will be occasions when 
it will sell off market to a single bidder. In these instances it will seek an independent valuation 
to assess the capital receipt and to affirm that best consideration has been delivered.  
  
S106 contributions  
 
Section 106 (S106) Agreements are legal agreements between Local Authorities and 
developers; these are linked to planning permissions and can also be known as planning 
obligations. A section 106 agreement is designed to make a development possible that would 
otherwise not be possible, by obtaining concessions and financial contributions from the 
developer. Any contributions received from the developer are ‘ring-fenced’ for the purpose as 
set out in the relevant S106 agreement and are applied to fund schemes within the capital 
programme once an eligible scheme has been identified. S106 contribution agreements can 
be used, for example, for the provision of educational facilities, highways infrastructure, 
affordable housing, play areas and open spaces, in line with the Council’s adopted policy on 
the use of section 106 agreements. Consideration of available S106 funding should be taken 

Page 250



Bridgend County Borough Council – Capital Strategy 
 

25 | P a g e  
 

when agreeing the capital programme for future years to maximise the use of the available 
funding and reduce the reliance on other sources of funding. Contributions can be time limited 
in that if they are not spent within an agreed timescale, typically 5 – 10 years, dependent on 
what has been agreed in the S106 agreement, any funds not spent in line with the agreement 
would have to be repaid to the developer. 
 
Revenue and Reserves  
 
The Council is able to use revenue funding and reserves for capital schemes. However, as a 
result of competing revenue budget pressures and the continued reduction in government 
funding for revenue expenditure, the Council’s policy is generally not to budget to use revenue 
or reserves to directly fund capital projects, unless funding has already been set aside.  
 

 

Page 251



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Approval of Minutes
	6 Presentation by the South Wales Fire and Rescue Authority
	7 Corporate Plan 2018-2022 Reviewed for 2020-21
	Appendix A Corporate Plan
	Appendix B Corporate Plan Well-being Assessment

	8 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-24
	Annex 1 2020 EIA Full Assessment MTFS
	Annex 2 WBFGA Template 2020-21
	Annex 3 MTFS Strategy 2020-24 Final
	Appendix A Budget Pressures February 2020
	Appendix B MTFS Budget Reduction Proposals for 2020-21 to 2023-24 250220
	Appendix C - Fees and Charges 2020-21
	Appendix D - Base Budget by Service Area
	Appendix E Directorate Base Budgets In Line With Corporate Priorities
	Appendix F Reserves and Balances 2020-21
	Appendix G Capital Programme 2019-2030
	Appendix H Cabinet Response to Scrutiny Recommendations 2020-21
	Appendix I Corporate Risk Assessment

	9 Council Tax 2020-21
	Appendix A - Council Tax

	10 Treasury Management and Capital Strategies 2020-21 Onwards
	Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21
	Appendix B Capital Strategy 2020-21


